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AUTHORIZATION

To the best of my knowledge, | hereby certify that the information contained in this Contract Approv
al Request Form and any additional information submitted in connection with this request is true an
d accurate and that all expenditures that will be made in reliance on this authorization are in confor
mance with the Nassau County Approved Budget and not in conflict with the Nassau County Multi-
Year Financial Plan. | understand that NIFA will rely upon this information in its official deliberation

S.

CNCLAN 23-JUL-20
Authenticafed User Dafe
COMPTRCLLER'S CFFICE

To the best of my knowledge, | hereby certify that the information listed is true and accurate and is
in conformance with the Nassau County Approved Budget and not in conflict with the Nassau Cou
nty Multi-Year Financial Plan.

Regarding funding, please check the corract response:

_ | certify that the funds are available to be encumbered pending NIFA approval of this contract.

If this is a capital project:
| certify that the bonding for this contract has been approved by NIFA.
Budget is available and funds have been encumbered but the project requires NIFA bonding authorization

Authenficated User

|

afe

|

NIFA

Amount being approved by NIFA: _

Payment is not guaranteed for any work commenced prior to this approval.

Authenticafed User Dafe

NOTE: All confract submissions MUST include the County's own routing slip, current NIFS pri
ntouts for all relevant accounts and relevant Nassau County Legislature communication docu
ments and relevant supplemental information pertaining to the item requested herein.

NIFA Contract Approval Request Form MUST be filled out in its entirety before being su
hmitted to NIFA for review.

NIFA reserves the right to request additional information as needed.



WHEREAS, the firm of WELSBACH ELECTRIC CORP. OFL.L

[“Vendor”] has submitted the lowest responsible bid for the work described in
the contract in accordance with all Federal, State and Local Law as determined by the
Department, and

WHEREAS, the funding for this contract is from Operating fundsapproved by

the Nassau County Legisiature, and

RESOLVED, that the Rules Committee of the Nassau County Legislature,
based on the representations of the Department and the recommendation of the
Commissioner of the Department, authorizes the County Executive to award and execute

the said contract with the vendor.



HL O This is a renewal, extension or amendment of an existing contract.
The contract was originally executed by Nassau County on ‘date]. Thisis a
renewal or extension pursuant to the contract, or an amendment within the scope of the contract or RFP

(copies of the relevant pages are attached). The original contract was entered into
after

[describe
procurement methed, i.e., RTP, three proposals evaluated, etc.] Attach a copy of the most recent evaluation

of the contractor’s performance for any contract to be renewed or extended. If the coniractor has not

received a satisfactory evaluation, the department must explain why the contractor should nevertheless be
permitted to continue to contract with the county.

IV. O Pursuant to Executive Order No. 1 of 1993, as amended, at least three
proposals were solicited and received. The attached memorandum from the

department head describes the proposals received, along with the cost of each
proposal.

[1 A. The contract has been awarded to the proposer offering the lowest cost proposal; OR:

O B. The attached memorandum contains a detailed explanation as to the reason(s) why the
contract was awarded to other than the lowest-cost proposer. The attachment includes a specific
delineation of the unique skills and experience, the specific reasons why a proposal is deemed

superior, and/or why the proposer has been judged to be able to perform more quickly than other
Proposers.

V. O Pursuant to Executive Order No. 1 of 1993 as amended, the attached

memorandum from the department head explains why the department did not
obtain at least three proposals.

L1 A. There are only one or two providers of the services sought or less than three providers
submitted propoesals. The memorandum describes how the contractor was determined to be the
sole source provider of the personal service needed or explains why only two propesals could be
obtamed. If two proposals were obtained, the memorandum explains that the contract was
awarded to the lowest cost proposer, or why the selected proposer offered the higher quality
proposal, the proposer’s unique and special experience, skill, or expertise, or its availability to
perform in the most immediate and timely manner.

[l B. The memorandum explains that the confractor’s selection was dictated by the terms of a
federal or New York State grant, by legislation or by a court order. (Copies of the relevant
documents are attached).

Ll C. Pursuant to General Municipal Law Section 104, the department is purchasing the services
required through a New York State Office of General Services confract

no. , and the attached memorandum explains how the purchase is
within the scope of the terms of that contract.




Certificate of No Change Form

All fields must be filled.

A materially false staterment willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this certification, and/or the failure to
conduct appropriate due diligence in verifying the information that is the subject of this certification, may result in

rendering the submitting entity non-responsible for the purpese of contract award.

A materially false statement willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this certification may subject the person
making the false statement to criminal charges.

l, _ Joseph P Flerio state that | have read and understand all the items contained in the
disclosure documents listed below and certify that as of this date, these items have not changed. | further certify that,
to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, those answers are full, complete, and accurate; and that, {o the
best of my knowledge, information, and belief, those answers continue to be full, complete, and accurate.

In addition, | further certify on behalf of the submitting vendor that the information contained in the principal
guestionnaire(s) have not changed and have heen verified and continue, to the best of my knowledge, to bea full,
complete and accurate.

| understand that Nassau County will rely on the information supplied in this certification as additional inducement to
enter into a contract with the submitfing entity.

Vendor Disclosures
This refers to the vendor infegrity and disclosure forms submitted for the vendor doing business with the County.

Name of Submitting Entity: Welshach Eleciric Corp. of L.I.
Vendor's Address: - 300 Newtown Rd Plainview NY US 11803
Vendor's EIN or TIN: 11-2354251

Forms Submitted:

Political Campaign Contribution Disclosure Form:
05/02/2020 03:43:03 PM

Lobbyist Registration and Disclosure Form;
05/02/2020 03:43:21 PM

Business History Form certified:
06/10/2020 01:28:09 PM

Consultant's, Contractor's, and Vendor's Disclosure Forn:
05/02/2020 03:43:34 PM




Business History Form

The contract shall be awarded to the responsible propaser who, at the discretion of the County, faking intc
consideration the reliability of the proposer and the capacity of the proposer to perform the services required by the
County, offers the best value to the County and who will best promote the public interest.

In addition to the submission of proposals, each proposer shall compieie and submit this questionnaire. The
questionnaire shall be filled out by the cwner of a sofe proprietorship or by an authorized representative of the firm,
corporation or partnership submitting the Proposal.

NOTE: All questions require a response, even f response is "none” or "not-applicable.” No blanks.

(USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECESSARY TO FULLY ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS).

Date:
1)
2)

06/10/2020
Proposer's Legal Name: Welshach Electric Corp. of .1
Address of Place of Business: 300 Newtown Rd

City: Plainview State/Province/Territory: _NY Zip/Postal Code: 11803

Country: US

Mailing Address (if different):

City: State/Province/Territory: Zip/Postal Code: _
Country:

~ Phone;
Does the business own or rent ifs facilities? Rent If other, please provide details:

8)

9)

Dun and Bradstreet number:  01-272-5168

Federal [.D. Number:  11-2354251

The proposeris a: Corporation (Describe)

Does this business share office space, staff, or equipment expenses with any other business?
YES NO X lifyes, please provide details:

Does this business confrol one or more other businesses?
YES | | NO | X | If yes, please provide details:

Does this business have one or mere affiliates, and/or is it a subsidiary of, or controlled by, any cther business?
YES [ X _1NO | | If yes, please provide details:

| Welsbach Electric Corp. of L.l. is a wholly cwned subsidiary of Emcor Group, Inc. See Emcor Group, Inc. 2019




c) In the past 10 years, you besn convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony and/or any other crime, an
element of which relates fo truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business?
YES NO X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

d) In the past 5 years, been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES | | NO [ X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the

circumstances and corrective action taken.

e) [n the past 5 years, been found in violation of any administrative, statutory, or regulatory provisions?
YES | | NO [ X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

15) _In the past (5) years, has this business or any of its owners or officers, or any other affiliated business had any
_ sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license

held?
YES | | NO [ X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the

circumstances and corrective action taken.

18)  Forthe past (5) tax years, has this business failad to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any appiicable
federal, state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES | | NO | X | If yes, provide details for each such year. Provide a detailed response to all
guestions checked YES'. If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and aitach it to the
guestionnaire.

17 Conflict of Interest:
a) Please disclose any conflicts of interest as outlined below. NOTE: If no conflicts exist, please expressly
state "No conflict exists."
(i) Any material financial relationships that your firm or any firm employee has that may create & conilict
of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| No conflict exists.

(i) Any family relationship that any employee of your firm has with any County public servant that may
create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau
County.

| No conilict exists.




vi)  Annual revenue of firm;
| 18000000 }

vii}  Summary of relevant accomplishments
| Largest traffic and street lighting contractor on Long Island. Public safety is our priority. \

viii)  Copies of all state and local licenses and permits.

3 File(s) Uploaded: DP, Town of Hemp Tr-Town Exp 12.31.20.pdf, DP, Town of North Hemp Exp
12.31.22.pdf, DP, Town of Oyster Bay Exp 12.31.20.pdf

B. Indicate number of years in business.
| 64
C. Provide any other information which would be appropriate and helpful in determining the Proposer’'s capacity

and reliability to perform these services.

| Current Traffic Signal Maintenance contractor and current Traffic Signal Operations contractor

D. Provide names and addresses for no fewer than three references for whom the Proposer has provided similar
services or who are qualified to evaluate the Proposer's capability to perform this work.

Company New York Staie D.O.T.

Contact Person Andrew Mareska

Address 140 Niken Court
_ City Hauppauge State/Province/Territory  NY
. Country us

Telephone (631} 904-3010

Fax #

- E-Mail Address AMareska@Dot.State . NY.gov

Company Nassau County DPW

Contact Person Sheila Dukacz

Address 1194 Prospect Ave, Suite 183

City Westhbury State/Province/Territory  NY
Country Us

Telephone (516) 572-0465

Fax # (516) 571-8363

E-Mail Address SDukacz@NassauCountyNY.gov

Company ~Town of Huntingten

Contact Person Brad Kusko

Address 300 Newtown Rd

City Plainview State/Province/Territory  NY
Country Us

Telephone (516) 454-C023

Fax # (631) 351-3066

E-Mail Address Joe_Florio@EmgcorGroup.com




% Welsbach

Electric of Long fsland

An EMCOR Company

Business History Forin

Referring to affirmative answer to Question 13

Walsbach Electric Corp. of LI,
300 Newtown Road

Plainview, NY 11803
516.454,0023 « Fax: 516.454.0282

13. In the past 5 years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business been the
subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and local regulatory
agencies? And/or, in the past 5 years, has any owner and/or officer of an affiliated business been the subject of an
investigation by any government agency, Including but not limited to federal, state and {ocal regulatory agencies, for
matters pertaining to that individual's position at or relationship to an affillated business.

The following is a schedule detalling same for the past five (5) years:

J.C. HIGGINS CORP {Including its division, Tucker Mechanical)

Date Agency Complaint Outcome

02/23/2015 OSHA Fallure to establish a program consisting of an Settlement: 3/16/2015

energy control procedure, employee training and Paid: $ 6,300
= periodic inspactions to ensure that before any Citation: Serious

employee performed any servicing of maintenance on a
machine or equipment where the unexpected energizing ,
startup or release of stored energy could occur and cause
injury, the machine or equipment shall be isalated from
the energy source and rendered inoperative,

03/18/2015 OSHA The employer did not instruct each employee in Settlement: 4/24/2015

the recognition and avoldance of unsafe

conditions and the regutations applicable to

his/her environment to control or eliminate any hazards of
other exposure to illness or injury. The employer did to
instruct employees in the proper tools to be used to install
bits on a Milwaukee coring machine or to inspect drill bits
for surfaces that are not smooth which could create a
hazard by shagging a loose article of closing or a glove.

Paid: § 4,850
Citation: Serious

Except for common ownership by the same parent, there Is no direct relationship between Welsbach Electric Corp.
of L.I. and J.C. Higgins Corp., including no common management, persennel, facilities or operations.

HERITAGE MECHANICAL SERVICES, INC.

Date Agency Complaint Cutcome
12/16/2015 OSHA Citation 2, ltem 2 - Energy Control Program. The Citation: Serious
employer shail establish a program consisting of Abated
energy control procedures and employee training. Paid: $ 3,000
12/16/2015 QSHA Citation 2, ltem 3 - Procedures shall be developed, Citation: Serious
documented and utilized for the control of Abated
potentially hazardous energy when employees are Paid: $ 3,000

engagad in tha activities to change dies on the equipment.
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Sustainability o

Ifore than ever, in everything we From pet adoption events,
do, we bring an environmental cook-offs and SK runs to
consciousness 1o oul projects. Qur
growing expertise in energy-saving
soltions continues to help hundreds
of clients consarve and save,

goif outings and shalter
woluntesring, EMCOR
people make it a point 10
get out there, get involvad,
and give back.

] ¥ Becauss we are
50 vigilant about working
safely so we can be there
for cur families and loved =SER

ones, EMCOR achieved the =,

sacond lowest rate of injury % ?58 B SL? E} E]G E"{
in our history: 1.09 TRIR Notonlydowe make it a
for the year.

F

prienly o hire veterans, but
overseas roops love our boxes
Tilled with much-appreciated
blankets, socks, food items,
personai care items, and dozens
of other essentials, Wa shippad
250 boxes i1 2019, with sven




important site-based arkd mobile technician contracts, We
acquireg four companies in 2018 aliowing us 1o expand owr
geographic presence and increase our techaical capabilities,

Our Industrial Services segmeant had much improved annual
performance in 2019, and our trajeciory continued 1o improve
post-Hurricane Harvey, We launchad soveral new sefvic
offerings, and this allowad us 16 increase owr customer
penetration. Our customers know that the EMCOR industrial
Services team can deliver under tha most demanding job
conditions with the right peopie ai the right time.

Our UK, segment continues 1o be a bright spot for EMCOR, We
have buill a leading Building Services business that serves some
of the most demanding customers inthe UK Theteamhas a
long and successiul track record of delivering customer focused
facifities services solutions over extended periods of time.

EMCOR's record financial performance and oparating results
were made possible becatse we are unified by our EMCOR
Values of Mission First, People Always. Many have asked ma
why Mission First {rather than People First}, and my answer is
always the sama: we have to perform well in order 1o take care of
out peeple in a sustained weay. And, our people are EMCOR's

and we did itwitn OT1E OF OUT

most important asset. We are in the business of deploying
some of the most skilled tradespeopie in the worid te install,
cONSTUCE, sevice and maintain some of the most complex
nrojacts, facilides, ingustrial compiexes, and manufacturing
nlanis in the United States and the United Kingdom. We are
nimbie, flexible and responsive to the ever-changing needs
and demands of out customers.

While we never know what our future challenges will be,

| o know that our leadership team will confront them
head-on and sirive to deliver long-term, successiul results
for our sharehoiders,

Anthony 1, Guzz
Chalrman, President and Chief Bxecutive Officer

Anthony J. Guzz
Chairman, Presidert and Chief Executive Officer

Cur Reach

Cur coast-to-coast
influence is more than
just geographicai—
EWMCOR touches and
improves millions of
lives at every level of






UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C, 20549

FORM 10-K

# ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 CR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 15934
For the fiscal vear ended December 31, 2019

3 TRANGSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission file number 1-8267
EMCOR Group, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter}

Delaware 112125338
{State ot other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization} (1LR.S. Employer Identification Wumber)
301 Merritt Seven Norwalk, Connecticut 06851-1092
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, Including area code: (203) 849-7800
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act;

Title of each class Trading Symbol Name of each exchange an which registered
Comman Stock ’ EME New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
TIndicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seascned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes @ No OO

Tndicate by check mark if the registrant is notrequired te filereports pursuantto Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act. Yes I3 No B h

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months {or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports),
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 60 days. Yes @ No 1

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (Section 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months {or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to submit such files), Yes @ Ng I

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (Section 228.403) is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part 1T of this Form 1G-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. &

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller
reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller
reporting company,” and “emerging growth company™ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large Accelerated Accelerated MNon accelerated Smaller Reporting Emerging Growth
Filer & Filer 0 Filer [ Company 0 Company i3

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for
complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes O No @

The aggregate market value of the commen steck held by non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately $3,785,000.000 as of
the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, based upon the closing sale price on the New
York Stock Exchange reperted for such date. Shares of conumon stock held by each executive officer and director and by each person
who owns 5% or more of the outstanding common stock (based solely on filings of such 5% holders) have been excluded from such
calculation as such persons may be deemed 1o be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is nof necessarily & conclusive

determination for other purposes.
Nuinber of shares of the registrant’s comimon stock outstanding as of the close of business on February 21, 2020; 54,259,161 chares.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Part TIL Portions of the definitive proxy statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which document will be filed with
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain information included in this report, or in other materials we have filed or will file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC™) (as well as information included in oral statements or other written statements made or to be made by
us) contains or may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995 (the “1995 Act™). Such statements are being made pursuant to the 1995 Act and with the intention of obtaining the benefit
of the “Safe Harbor” provisions of the 1995 Act, Forward-looking statements are based on information available to us and our
perception of such information as of the date of this report and our current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about
the industries in which we operate and the beliefs and assumpticns of our management. You can identify these statements by the
fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. They contain words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“project,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “may,” “can,” “could,” “might,” variations of such wording and other words or phrases of
similar meaning in connection with a discussion of cur future operating or financial performance, and other aspects of our business,
including market share growth, gross profit, project mix, projects with varying profit margins, selling, general and administrative
expenses, and trends in our business and other characterizations of future events or circumstances. From time to time, forward-
looking statements are also included in our other periodic reports cn Forms 10-Q and 8-K, in press releases, in our presentations,
on our website and in other material released to the public. Any or all of the forward-looking statements included in this report.
and in any other reports or public statements made by us are only predictions and are subject torisks, uncertainties and assumptions,
including those identified below in the “Risk Factors” section, the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations® section, and other sections of this report, and in our Forms 10-Q for the three months ended March 31,
2019, June 30, 2019 and September 30, 2019 and in other reports filed by us from time to time with the SEC as well as in press
releases, in our presentations, on our website and in other material released to the public. Such risks, uncertainties and assumptions
are difficult to predict, beyond our control and may turn out to be inaccurate, causing actual results to differ materially from those
that might be anticipated from our forward-locking staternents. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. However, any further disclosures made on related
subjects in our subsequent reports on Forms 10-X, 10-Q and 8-K should be consulted.



PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

References to the “Company,” “EMCOR,”™ “we,” “ns,” “our” and similar words refer to EMCOR Group, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise,

General

We are one of the largest electrical and mechanical construction and facilities services firms in the United States. In addition,
we provide a number of building services and industrial services. In 2019, we had revenues of approximately $2.2 billicn. Cur
services are provided to a broad range of commercial, industrial, utility and institutional customers through approximately 80
operating subsidiaries and joint venture entities, Qur executive offices are located at 301 Merritt Seven, Norwalk, Connecticut
06851-1092, and our telephone number af those offices is (203) 8§49-7800.

We specialize principally in providing construction services relating to electrical and mechanical systems in all types of facilities
and in providing various services relating to the operation, maintenance and management of facilities, including refineries and
petrochemical plants.

Our electrical and mechanical construction services primarily involve the design, integration, installation, start-up, operation
and maintenance, and provision of services relating to:

+ Electric power transmission and distribution systems;

+  Premises electrical and lighting systems;

«  Process instrumentation in the refining, chemical processing, food processing and mining industries;
+ Low-voltage systems, such as fire alarm, security and process control.systems;

+  Voice and data commmumnications systems;

+  Roadway and transit [ighting and fiber optic lines;

« Heating, ventilation, air conditioning, refrigeration and clean-room process ventilation systems;
+ Fire protection systems;

+  Plumbing, process and high-purity piping systems;

+  Controls and filtration systems,

«  Water and wastewater ireatmient systems;

»  Central plant heating and cooling systems;

» Crane and rigging services;

+  Millwright services; and

+  Steel fabrication, erection, and welding services.

Qur building services operations, which are provided to a wide range of facilities, including commercial, utility, institutional
and governmental facilities, include:

+  Commercial and government site-based operations and maintenance;

+ Facility maintenance and services, including reception, security and catering services;
s+ Qutage services to utilities and industrial plants;

+  Military base operations support services;

»  Mobile mechanical maintenance and services;



Our electrical and mechanical construction services primarily involve the design, integration, installation and start-up of, and
provision of services relating to: (a) electric power transmission and distribution systems, mcluding power cables, conduits,
distribution panels, transformers, generators, uninterruptible power supply systems and related switch gear and controls;
(b) premises electrical and lighting systems, including fixtures and controls; (¢) process instrumentation in the refining, chemical
processing, food processing andmining industries, (d) low-voltage systems, such as fire alarm, security and process control sy stems;
(&) voice and data communications systems, including fiber-optic and low-voltage cabling; (f) roadway and transit lighting and
fiber-optic lines; (g) heating, ventilation, air conditioning, refrigeration and clean-room process ventilation systems; (h) fire
protection systems; (i} plumbing, process and high-purity piping systems; () controls and filtration systems; (k) water and
wastewater treatment systems; (I} central plant heating and cooling systems; (m) cranes andrigging; {n) millwrighting; and (¢) steel
fabrication, erection and welding,

Our electrical and mechanical construction services generally fall into one of three categories: (a) large installation projects with
contracts often in the multi-million dollar range that involve the construction of manufacturing and commercial buildings and
institutional and public works projects or the fit-out of large blocks of space within commercial buildings, (b) large and medium
sized capital and maintenance projects for manufacturing, petrochemical, «il and gas, industrial and commercial clients and
(c) smaller installation projects typically involving fit-out, renovation and retrofit work.

Our United States electrical and mechanical construction operations accounted for about 60% of our 2019 total revenues, Of

such revenues, approximately 40% were generated by our electrical construction operations and approximately 60% were generated
by our mechanical construction operaticns.

We provide elecirical and mechanical construction services for both large and small installation and renovation projects, Qur
largest projects have included those: {(a) for institutional purposes (such as educational and correctional facilities and research
laboratories); (b) for manufacturing purposes (such as pharmaceutical plants, steel, pulp and paper mills, food processing,

. automotive and semiconductor manufacturing facilities and power generation); (¢) for transportation purposes (such as highways,
~ bridges, airports and transit systems); (d} for commercial purposes (such as office buildings, data centers, convention centers,

sports stadiums and shopping malls); (e} for hospitality purposes (such as resorts, hotels and gaming facilities); (f) for water and
wastewater purposes; (g) for healtheare purposes; (h) for process facilities (such as oil and gas refineries and chemical processing
plants); and (i) for oil and gas pipeline compressor stations and terminal and metering facilities. Our largest projects, which typically
range in size from $10.0million up to and occasionally exceeding $150.0 million and are frequently multi-year projects, represented
approximately 34% of our electrical and mechanical construction services revenues in 2019

Our projects of less than $10.0 million accounted for approximately 66% of our electrical and mechanical constiuction services
revenues in 2019. These projects are typically completed in less than one year. They usually involve electrical and mechanical
construction services when an end-user or owner undertzkes construction or modification of a facility to accommaodate & specific
use. These projects frequently require electrical and mechanical systems to meet special needs such as critical systems power
supply, fire protection systems, special environmental controls and high-purity air systems, sophisticated electrical and mechanical
systems for data centers, new production lines in manufacturing plants, ard office arrangements in existing office buildings. They
are not usuzlly dependent upon the new construction market. Demand for these projects and types of services is often prompted

by the expiration of leases, changes in technology, or changes in the customer’s plant or office layout in the normal course of a
customier’s business.

We have a broad customer base with many long-standing relationships. We perform construction services pursuant to contracts
with owners (such as corporations, municipalities and ofher governmental entities), general contractors, systems suppliers,
construction managers, developers, other subcontractors, and tenants of commercial properties. Institutional and public works
projects are frequently long-term complex prajects that require significant technical and management skills and the financial
strength to obtain bid and performance bonds, which are ofter; a condition to bidding for and wimning these projects.

We also install and maintain lighting for streets, highways, bridges and tunnels, traffic signals, computerized traffic centrol
systems, and signal and conumunication systems for mass transit systems in several mefropolitan areas. In additicn, in the United
States, we manufacture and install sheet metal air handling systems for both our own mechanical construction operations and for

unrelated mechanical contractors. We also maintain welding and pipe fabrication shops tn support of some of cur mechanical
operations.

Our United States building services segment offers a broad range of services, including operation, maintenance and service of
mechaniczl, electrical, plumbing, and building autormation systems; commercial and government site-based operations and
maintenance; facility maintenance and services, including outage services to utilities and manufacturing facilities; military base
operations support services; mobile mechanical maintenance and services; floor care and janitorial services; landscaping, lot
sweeping and snow removal; facilities management; vendor management; call center services; installation and support for building
systems; program development, management and maintenance with respect to energy systems; technical consulting and diagnostic



Competition

In our construction services, building services and industrial services businesses, we compete with national, regional and local
companies, many of which are small, owner-operated entities that carry on their businesses in a limited geographic area, as well
as with certain foreign companies.

We believe that the electrical and mechanical construction services industry is highly fragmented and our competition includes
thousands of small companies across the United States. In the United States, there are a few public companies focused on providing
either efectrical and/or mechanical construction services, such as Integrated Electrical Services, Inc., Comfort Systems USA, Inc.
and Tutor Perini Corporation, A majority of our revenues are derived from projects requiring competitive bids; however, an invitation
to bid is often conditioned upon prior experience, technical capability and financial strength, Because we have total assets, annuel
revenues, access to bank credit and surety bonding, and expertise significantly greater than most of our competitors, we believe
we have a significant competitive advantage over our competitors in providing electrical and mechanical construction services.
Competitive factors in the electrical and mechanical construction services business include: (a) the availability of qualified and/
or licensed personnel; (b) reputation for integrity and quality; (c) safety record; (d) cost structure; (e) relationships with customers;
(f) geographic diversity; (g) the ability to control project costs; (h) experience in specialized markets; (i) the ability to obtain surety
bonding; (j) adequate working capital; (k) access to bank credit; and (1) price. However, there are relatively few significant barriers
10 entry to several types of our construction services,

While the building services industry is alse highly fragmented, with most competitors operating in a specific geographic region,
anumber of large United States based corparations such as AECOM Technology Corporation, Johnson Controls, Inc., Fluor Corp.,
18] Worldwide Services, Cushman & Wakefield Inc., CBRE Group, Inc., Jones Lang LaSalle Incorporated, Sodexo, Inc., Aramark
Corporation and ABM Industries Incorporated are engaged in this field, as are large original equipment manufacturers such as
Carrier Corp. and Trane Inc. In addition, we compete with several regional firms serving all or portions of the markets we target,

_such as Brickman Valley Crest, Inc., Kellermeyer Bergensons Services, Inc., SMS Assist, LLC and Ferandinoe & Sons, Inc. Our
" principal services competitors in the United Kingdom include CBRE Group, Inc., Bouygues UK Ltd., 1SS UK L., and MITIE
“Group ple. The key competitive factors in the building services business include price, service, quality, technical expertise,
‘geographic scope and the availability of qualified personnel and managers. Due to our size, both financial and geographic, and
our technical capability and management experience, we believe we are in a strong competitive position in the building services
“business. However, there are relatively few barriers to entry to most of our building services businesses.

The market for providing industrial services includes large national providers, as well as numerous regional companies. In the
-manufacture of heat exchangers, we compete with both U.S. and foreign manufactures, Competitors within this industry include
TV Industrial Companies Ltd., Matrix Service Company, United Plant Services, Inc., Turner Industries, Team, Inc., Cust-O-Fab,
Dunn Heat, Wyatt Field Service Company, and DeepWell Enerey Services, LLC, among others. The key competitive factors in
the industrial services market consist of service, quality, ability to respond quickly, technical expertise, price, safety record and
availability of qualified personnel. Due to cur technical capabilities, safety record and skilled workforce, we believe that we are
in a strong competitive position in the industrial services markets that we serve. Because of the complex tasks associated with

turnarounds and the precision required in manufacturing heat exchangers, we believe that the barriers fo entry in this business are
significant.

Employees

At December 31, 2019, we employed approximately 36,000 people, approximately 59% of whom are represented by various
unions pursuant to approximately 400 collective bargaining agreements between our individual subsidiaries and local unions. We

believe that our employee relations are generally good. Only two of these collective bargaining agreements are national or regional
in scope.

Remaining Unsatisfied Performance Obligations

Our remaining unsatisfied performance obligations (“remaining performance obligations™) at December 31, 2019 were §4.04
billion. Remaining performance obligations increase with awards of new contracts and decrease as we perform work and recognize
revenue on existing contracts. We include a project within our remaining performance obligations at such time as the project is
awarded and agreement on contract ferms has been reached. Our remaining performance obligations include amounts related to
contracts for which a fixed price contract value is not assigned when a reasonable estimate of total transaction price can be made.

Remaining performance obligations include unrecognized revenues to be realized from uncompleted construction contracts.
Although many of our construction contracts are subject to cancellation at the election of our customers, in aceerdance with industry
practice, we donot limit the amount of unrecognized revenue included within remaining performance obligations for these contracts
due to the inherent substantial economic penalty that would be incurred by our customers upon cancellation. We believe our
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to a variety of risks, mcluding the risks described below as well as adverse business and market conditions
and risks associated with foreign operations, The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing us. Additionel
risks and uncertainties not known to us or not described below which we have not determined to be material may also impair our
business operations. You should carefully consider the risks described below, together with all other information in this report,
including information contained in the “Business,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” sections. If any of the following risks actually
oceur, our business, financial position, results of operations and/or cash flows could be adversely affected, and we may not be able
to achieve our goals. Such events may cause actual results to differ materially from expected and historical results, and the trading
price of our common stock could declins.

Economic downturns have historically led to reductions in demand for our services. Negative conditions in the credit markets
may adversely impact our ability to operate our business. The level of demand from our clients for our services has been, in the
past, adversely impacted by slowdowns in the industries we service, as well as in the economy in general, When the general level
of economic activity has been reduced from historical levels, certain of our ultimate customers have delayed or cancelled projects
or capital spending, especially with respect to more profitable private sector work, and such slowdowns adversely affect our ability
10 grow, reducing our revenues and profitability. A number of economic factors, including financing conditions for the industries
we serve, have, in the past, adversely affected our ultimate customers and their ability or willingness to fund expenditures. General
concerns about the fundamental soundness of domestic and foreign economies may cause ultimate customers to defer projects
even if they have credit available to them. Worsening of financial and macroeconomic conditions could have a significant adverse
effect on our revenues and profitability.

Many of our clients depend on the availability of credit to help finance their capital and maintenance projects. At times, tightened
availability of credit has negatively impacted the ability of existing and prospective ultimate customers to fund projects we might

-otherwise perform, particularly those in the more profitable private sector. As a result, our ultimate customers may defer such

- projects for an unknown, and perhaps lengthy, period. Any such defesrals would inbibit our growth and would adversely affect
- our results of operations.

o

In a weak economic environment, particularly in a period of restrictive credit markets, we may experience greater difficulties
in collecting payments from, and negotiating change orders and/or claims with, our clients due to, among other reasons, 2 diminution
in our ultimate customers’ access to the credit markets. If clients delay in paying or fail to pay a significant amount ef our outstanding
receivables, or we fail to successfully negotiate a significant portion of our change orders and/or claims with clients, it could have

-an adverse effect on our liguidity, results of operations and financial position.

QOur business has traditionally laggad recoveries in the general economy and, therefore, after an economic dewntown we may
not recover as quickly as the economy at large.

The loss of one or a few customers could have an adverse effect on us. Although we have long-standing relationships with many
of our significant clients, our clients may unilaterally reduce, fail to renew or terminate their contracts with us at any time. A loss
of business from a significant client, or a number of significant clients, could have a material adverse effect on cur business,
financial position and results of operations.

Our business is vulnerable to the cyelical nature of the markets in which our clients operate and is dependent upon the fiming
and funding of new awards. We provide construction and maintenance services to ultimate customers operating in a number of
markets which have been, and we expect will centinue to be, cyclical and subject fo significant fluctuations due to & variety of
factors beyond our control, including economic conditions and changes in client spending.

Regardless of economic or market conditions, Investment decisions by our ultimate customers may vary by location or as a
result of other factors like the availability of Jabor, relative construction costs or competitive conditions in their industries. Because

we are dependent on the timing and funding of new awards, we are therefore vulnerable to changes in our clients’ markets and
investment decisions.

Our business may be adversely affected by significant reductions in government spending or delays or disruptions in the
government appropriations process. Some of our businesses derive a significant portion of their revenues from federal, state and
Jocal governmental agencies. As aresult, reduced or delayed spending by the federal government and/or state and local governments
may have a material and adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Significant
reductions in spending aimed at reducing federal, state or local budget deficits, the absence of'a bipartisan agreement on the federzl
government's budget, the impact of sequestration or other changes in budget priorities could result in the deferral, delay, disruption
or cancellation of projects or contracts that we might otherwise have sought to perform, personnel reductions, or the closure of
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Our business may be affected by weather conditions. Adverse weather conditions, particularly during the winter season, could
impact our construction services operations as those conditions affect our ability to perform efficient work outdeors in certain
regions of the United States, adversely affecting the revenues and profitability of those operations. However, the absence of snow
in certain regions of the United States during the winter could also cause us o experience reduced revenues and profitability in
our United States building sarvices segment, whick has meaningful snow removal operations. In addition, cooler than normal
temperatures during the summer months ceuid reduce the need for our services, particularly in our businesses that install or service
air conditioning units, and resulf in reduced revenues and profitebility during the period such unseasonal weather conditions persist.
Hurricanes and other severe weather may cause our projects to be delayed or canceled by our customers. The increased incidence
of severe weather and its related Impacts, such as hurricanes, flooding and wildfires, could adversely impact our operations.

Natural disasters, terrorist attacks and other catastrophic events could disrupt owr operations and services, Natural disasters,
acts of terrorism and other catastrophic events, and the acticns taken by the United States and/or other governments or actors in
response to such events, may result in property damage, supply disruption or economic dislocations throughout the country.
Although it is not possible ta predict such events or their consequences, these events could increase the volatility of our financial
results due to decreased demand and unfereseen costs, with partfal or no corresponding compensation from clients,

Cur business may be gffected by the work environment, We perform our work under a variety of conditions, including but not
limited to, difficult terrain, difficult site conditions and busy urban centers where delivery of materials and availability of labor
may be impacted, clean-room environments where strict procedures must be followed, and sites which contain harsh or hazardous
conditions, especially at chemical plants, refineries and other process facilities. Performing work under these conditions can
increase the cost of such work or negatively affect efficiency and, therefore, our profitability.

Our dependence upon fixed price contracts could adversely gffect our business. We currently generate, and expect to continue
to generate, a significant portion of our revenues from fixed price contracts. We must estimate the tofa] costs of a particular project
to bid for fixed price contracts. The actual cost of labor and materials, however, may vary from the costs we originally estimated.
These variations, along with other risks, inherent in performing fixed price contracts, may cause actual gross profits from projects

<to differ from those we originally estimated and could result in reduced profitability or losses on projects. Depending unon the
*size of a particular project, variations from the estimated contract costs can have a significant impact on our operating results for
- any fiscal quarter or year.

[

We could incur additional cosis io cover cartain guarantees or other contractual requirements. In some instances, we guaraniee
completion of a project by a specific date or price, cost savings, achievement of certain performance standards or performance of
- our services at a certain standard of quality. For other arrangements, including those within our government services operations,
the terms of our contracts may include provisions which require us to achieve certain minority participation or small or disadvantaged
business “set-aside”™ goals. If we subsequently fail to meet such guarantees, or comply with such provisions, we may be held
responsible for costs resulting from such failures, including payment of penalties or liguidated or other damages. To the extent
that any of these events oceur, the total costs of a project could exceed the original esiimated costs, and we would experience
reduced profits or, in some cases, a loss.

Many of our contracts, especially our building services contracts for govermmental and non-governmenial entities, may be
canceled an short notice, and we may be unsuccessjil in replacing such contracts if they are canceled or as they are completed
or expire. We could experience a decrease in revenues, net income and liquidity if any of the following occur:

+ customers cancel a significant number of contracts;

+ we fail to win a significant number of our existing contracts upon re-bid;

+ we complete a significant number of non-recurring projects and cannot replace them with similar projects; or
« we fail to reduce operating and cverhead expenses consistent with any decrease in our revenues.

We may be unsuccessful in generating imternal growth. Cur ability fo generate internal growth will be affected by, among other
factors, our ability to:

+ expand the range of services offered to customers to address their evolving needs;
« attract new customers; and

+ retain and/or increase the number of projects performed for existing customers.



Adverse resolution of litigation and other legal and regulatory proceedings may harm owr operating results or financial position.
From time to time, we are a party to lawsuits and other legal proceedings, most of which occur in the normal course of our business.
These actions and proceedings may involve actual or threatened claims by customers, employees or other third parties for, among
other things, compensation for alleged personal injury, workers” compensation, employment discrimination, breach of contract,
property damage or other general commercial disputes, In addition, we may be subject to class action claims alleging violations
of the Fair Labor Standards Act and state wage and hour laws, Litigation and other legal proceedings can be expensive, lengthy
and disruptive tonormal business operations, and their cutcome is inherently uncertain and difficult to accurately predict or quantify.
In addition, plaintiffs in many types of actions may seek punitive damages, civil penalties, consequential damages or other losses,
or injunctive or declaratory relief, An unfzvorable resolution of a particular legal proceeding or claim, whether through a settlement,
mediation, court judgment or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial position
and cash flows, and in some cases, on our reputation or our ability to obtain projects from customers, including governmental
entities. See Ttem 3. Legal Proceedings and Note 16 - Commitments and Contingencies of the notes to consclidated financial

statements included in Ttem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, for more information regarding legal proceedings
in which we are involved.

Opportunities within the government sector could lead to increased governmental rules and regulations applicable to us. Asa
government contractor we are subject to a number of procurement rules and other regulations, any deemed violation of which
could lead to fines or penalties or a loss of business. Government agencies routinely audit and investigate government contractors.
Government agencies may review a confractor’s performance under its contracts, cost structure and compliance with applicable
laws, regulations and standards. If government agencies determine through these audits or reviews that costs are improperly
allocated to specific contracts, they will not reimburse the contractor for those costs or may require the contractor to refund
previously reimbursed costs. If government agencies determine that we are engaged in improper activity, we may be subject to

“civil and criminal penalties and debarment or suspension from doing business with the government. Government contracts are
. _also subject to renegotiation of terms by the government, termination by the government prior to the expiration of the term, and
" non-renewal by the government.

A material portion of our business depends on our ability to provide surety bonds. We may be unable fo compete for or work on
. certain projects if we are not able to obtain the necessary surety bonds. Our construction contracts frequently require that we
obtain from surety companies and provide o our customers payment and performance bonds as a condition to the award of such
contracts. Such surety bonds secure our payment and performance obligations. Under standard terms in the surety market, surety
. companies issue bonds on a project-by-project basis and can decline to issue bonds at any time or require the posting of collateral
as a condition to issuing any bonds. Current or future market conditions, as well as changes in our sureties’ assessment of our or
their own operating and financial risk, could cause our surety companies to decline to issue, or substantially reduce the amount
of, honds for our work or to increase our bonding costs, These actions can be taken on short notice. If our surety companies were
to limit or eliminate cur access to bonding, our alternatives would include seeking bonding capacity from other surety companies,
increasing business with clients that do not require bonds and posting other forms of collateral for project performance, such as
letters of credit, parent company guarantees or cash, We may be unable to secure these alternatives in a timely manner, on acceptable
terms, or at all. Accordingly, if we were to experience an interruption or reduction in the availability of bonding, we may be unable
to compete for or work on certain projects, Increases in the costs of surety bonds could also adversely impact our profitability.

We are effectively self-insured against many potential liabilities. Althongh we maintain insurance policies with respect to a broad
range of risks, including automobile liability, general liability, workers’ compensation and employee group health, these policies
do not cover ail possible claims and certain of the policies are subject to large deductibles. Accordingly, we are effectively self-
insured for a substantial number of actual and potential claims. In addition, if any of our insurance carriers defaulted on its obligations
to provide insurance coverage by reason of its insolvency or for other reasons, our exposure to claims would increase and our
profits would be adversely affected. Cur estimates for unpaid claims and expenses are based on known facts, historical trends and
industry averages, utilizing the assistance of an actuary. The determination of such estimated liabilities and their appropriateness
are reviewed and updated at least quarterly. However, these liabilities are difficult to assess and estimate dus to many relevant
factors, the effects of which are often unknown, including the severity of an injury or damage, the determination of liability in
proportion to other parties, the timeliness of reported claims, the effectiveness of our risk management and safety programs and
the terms and conditions of our insurance policies. Cur accruals are based upon known facts, historical trends and our reasonable
estimate of future expenses, and we believe such accruals are adequate. However, unknown or changing frends, risks or
circumstances, such as increases in claims, a weakening economy, increases in medical costs, changes in case law or legislation,
or changes in the nature of the work we perform, could render our curent estimates and accruals inadequate. In such case,
adjustments to our balance sheet may be required and these increased liabilities would be recorded in the period that the experience
becomes known. Insurance carriers may be unwilling, in the future, to provide our current levels of coverage without a significant
increase in insurance premiums, self-insured retention limits, or collateral requirements to cover our obligations (o them. Tncreased
collateral requirements may be in the form of additional letters of credit and/or cash, and an increase in collateral requirements
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We recognize revenue for the majority of our construction projects based on estimates; therefore, variations of actual resulfs
Jrom owr assumptions may reduce our profitability. In accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles,
we record revenue as work on the contract progresses. The cumulative amount of revenues recorded on a contract at a specified
point in time is that percentage of total estimated revenues that costs incurred to date bear to estimated total costs. Accordingly,
contract revenues and total cost estimates are reviewed and revised as the work progresses. Adjustments are reflected In coniract
revenues in the period when such estimates are revised. Estimates are based on manpagement’s reasonable assumptions and
experience, but are only estimates. Variations of actual results from assumptions on an unusually large project or on a number of
average size projects could be material. We are also required to immediately recognize the full amount of the estimated loss on a
contract when estimates indicate such & foss. Such adjustments and accrued losses could result in reduced prefitability, which
could negatively impact our cash flow from operations.

Failyre to maintain effective infernal controls over financial reporting could adversely impact our ability to timely and accuraiely
report financial results and comply with our reporting obligations, which could materially qffect our business. We maintain robust
internal control over financial reperting. However, regardless of how internal conirel systems are designed, implemented, and
enforced, they cannot ensure with absclute certainty that our policy objectives will be met in every instance. Because of the inherent
limitations of all such systems, our internal controls over financial reporting may not always prevent or detect misstatements.
Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could adversely affect our ability to accurately and timely
report financial results, to prevent or detect fraud, or to comply with the requirements of the SEC or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, which could necessitate a restatement of our financial statements, and/or result in an investigation, or the imposition of
sanctions, by regulators. Such failure could additionally expose us to litigation and/or reputational hann, impair our ability to
obtain financing, or increase the cost of any financing we obtain. All of these impacts could adversely affect the price of our
commmon stock and our business overall.

v We are increasingly dependent on sophisticated information technology systems; our business and results of operations are
subject to adverse impacts dve to disruption, failure, and cybersecurity breaches of these sysfems. We and our customers and third
party providers rely on information technology systems, hardware, and software to run critical accounting, project management,
and financial information systems. We rely upon security measures, products, and services to attempt to secure cur information
technology systems and the confidential, proprictary, and sensitive information they contain, However, our information technology
systems and those of our customers and third-party providers are subject to cyber-attacks, hacking, other intrusions, failure, and
damsage, which result in operational disruption and could result in information misappropriation, such as theft of intellectual
property or inappropriate disclosure of customer data or confidential or personal information. On February 15, 2020, for examgle,
we became aware of an infiltration and encryption of portions of our information technology network. This attack disrupted our
operations that utilize the impacted pertions of the networl. We continue to assess the magnitude of the consequences and we are
actively seeking to mitigate the effects, As of the date of this filing, the Company continues its efforts to restore the pertions of
such systems that remain impacted and is unable to predict when the entire network will be functional. In addition, the proper
functioning of our information technology systems could be impacted by other causes and cireumstances beyond our control,
including the decision by scftware vendors to discontinue further development, integration or long-term software maintenance
support Tor our information systems, or hardware interruption, damage or disruption as a resuit of power outages, natural disasters,
or computer network failures. Key business processes are subject to interruption to the extent that our information technology
systems, or those of our customers or third party providers, are disabled for a long period of time. Such operational disruptions
and/or misappropriation or inappropriate disclosure of information results in lost or reduced revenues, negative publicity, or business
delays that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial positien and resulis of operations. We may expend

significant resources to protect against such system disruptions and security breaches or to alleviate or remediate problems cansed
by such disruptions and breaches.

Our failure to comply with anti-bribery statutes such as the Forefgn Corrupt Practices Act and the UK. Bribery Act of 2010
could result in fines, criminal penalties and other sanctions that could have an adverse effect on our business. The U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA™), the UK. Bribery Act of 2010 (the “Bribery Act™} and similar anti-bribery laws in other
jurisdictions generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to forejgn officials for the
purpose of obtaining or retaining business or securing an improper advantage. We conduct a modest amount of business In a few
countries that have experienced corruption to some degree, Our policies require that all of our employees, subcontractors, vendors
and agents worldwide must cemply with applicable anti-bribery laws. However, there is no assurance that our policies and
procedures fo ensure comphiance with the FCPA, the Bribery Act and similar anti-bribery laws will eliminate the possibility of
liability under such laws for actions taken by our emplayees, agents and intermediaries. If we were found to be liable for violations
under the FCPA, the Bribery Act or similar anti-bribery laws, either due to our own acts or omissions or due to the acts or omissions
of others, we could incur substantial legal expenses and suffer civil and criminal penalties or other sanctions, which could have a
material adverse effect on cur business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as our reputation, In addition, whether
or not such expenses, penalties or sanctions are actually incarred, the actual or alleged violation of the FCPA, the Bribery Act or



ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our operations are conducted primarily at leased properties. The following table lists facilities over 50,000 square feet, both
leased and owned, and identifies the business segment that is the principal user of each such facility.

Lease Expiration

Approximate Date, Unless
Squsare Feet Owned

17905 and 18101 S. Broadway ' '
Carson, California (b} _ o 68,160 . 73172020
1168 Fesler Street
El Cajon, California (b) 67,560 8/31/2025
22302 Hathaway Avenue S . _ o

- Hayward, California (b) _ 105,000 7/31/2021
4462 Corporate Center Drive
Los Alamites, California (a) 57,863 12/31/2026
3535 Medford Street : ' _ 7 = , , B
Los Angeles, California (2) : : _ = ~ 60,000 5/31/2021
940 Remillard Court
San Jose, California {c) 119,560 7/31/2029
35 Gerber Road _
South Windsor, Connecticut (c) _ 60,047 - 12/31/2028
2227 Plunkett Road
Conyers, Georgia (b) 100,400 10/31/20G29
3100 Woodcreek Drive
Downers Grove, Blinois (a) 56,551 713172027
2219 Contractors Drive
Fort Wayne, Indiana (b) 175,000 7/31/2023
5210 Investment Drive
Fort Wayne, Indiana (b} 89,579 10/31/2023
7614 and 7720 Opportunity Drive
Fort Wayne, Indiana (b} 156,993 7/31/2031
2655 Garfield Avenue
Highland, Indiana {(a) 58,065 6/30/2034
4250 Highway 30
St. Gabriel, Louisiana (d) 90,000 Owned
1750 Swisco Road
Sulphur, Louisiana {d) 112,000 Owned
J18-01 and 111-21 14th Avenue
College Point, New York {a) 73,013 2/29/2024
70 Schmiit Boulevard
Farmingdale, New York (b) 76,380 713172026
3000 Comfort Court
Raleigh, North Carolina (c) 70,000 12/31/2023
6101 and 6025 Triangle Drive
Raleigh, North Carolina (b) - 53394 1273172024
2900 Newpark Drive
Barberton, Ohio (b) 113,663 10/31/2027
3976 Southern Avenue
Cincinnati, Chio (b) ' 60,575 10/31/2025
16251 SE 98th Avenue
Clackamas, Oregon (a) 98,860 12/31/2020

1700 Markley Street
Norristown, Pemmsybvania (¢) 90,767 9/30/2021



ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in several legal proceedings in which damages and claims have been asserted against us. We belizve that we
have a number of valid defenses to such proceedings and claims and intend to vigorously defend ourselves. Other petential claims
may exist that have not yet been asserted against us. We do not believe that any such matters will have a material adverse effect
on our financial position, results of operations or liguidity. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties and the outcome of litigation
is not predictable with assurance. It is possible that some litigation matters for which liabilities have not been recorded could be
decided unfavorably to us, and that any such unfavorable decisions could have a material adverse effect on our financial position,
results of operations or liquidity.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Ttem 104 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.104) is included in Exhibit 95 to this
Form 10-K.



PARTII
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information. Qur common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “EME”,

The following table sets forth high and low sales prices for our common stock for the periods indicated as reported by the New
York Stock Exchange:

2019

High Low
First Quarter § 7460 $ 38.05
Second Quarter $ 8827 $ 73.46
Third Quarter $ 8955 §° 79359
Fourth Quarter $ 9354 § 81.65
2018 High Low
First Quarter : 3 ' $ 8508 § 7326
Second Quarter § 8204 § 7226
‘Third Quarter $ 8137 § 73.73
Fourth Quarter $ 7618 $ 57.29

Holders. As of February 21, 2020, there were approximately 400 stockholders of record and, as of that date, we estimate there
were 58,382 beneficial owners holding cur common stock in nominee or “street” name.

Dividends. We have paid quarterly dividends since October 25, 2011, We expect that such quarterly dividends will be paid in the
foreseeable future, Prior to October 25, 2011, no cash dividends had been paid on the Company’s common stock. We currently
pay a regular quarterly dividend of $0.08 per share, Our 2016 Credit Agreement places limitations on the payment of dividends
on our common stock. However, we do not believe that the terms of such agreement currently materially limit our ability to pay
aquarterly dividend of $0.08 per share for the foreseeable future. See Note 10 - Debt of the notes to consolidated financial statements
included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for further information regarding our 2016 Credit Agreement.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Eguity Compensation Plans. The following table summarizes, as of December 31,
2019, certain information regarding equity compensation plans that were approved by stockholders and equity compensation plans
that were not approved by stockholders. The information in the table and in the notes thereto has been adjusted for stock splits.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
A B C

Number of Securities
Remaining Available

Weighted Average for Future Issuance
Number of Securities to Exercise Price of under Equity
be Issued upon Exercise Qutstanding Compensation Plans
of Qutstanding Optiens, QOptions, Warrants {Excluding Securities
Plan Category Warrants and Rights and Rights Reflected in Column A)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Security Holders 500,888 0§ 0.96 W 1,160,086 @
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by
Security Holders — — —
Total 509,888 $ 0.96 1,160,086

(1) Included within this amount are 489,888 restricted stock units awarded to our non-employee directors and emnployees. The weighted average
exercise price would have been $24.48 had the weighted average exercise price calculation excluded such restricted stock units.

(2) Represents shares of our common stock available for future issuance under our 2010 Incentive Plan {the "2010 Plan"), which may be issuable
in respect of options and/or stock appreciation rights granted under the 2010 Plan and/or may also be issued pursuant to the award of

restricted stock, unrestricted stock and/or awards that are valued in whole ar in part by reference to, or are otherwise based on the fair market
value of, our common stock.



ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL IYATA

The following selected financial data has been derived from our audited financial statements and should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements, the related notes thereto and the report of our independent registered public accounting
firm thereon included elsewhere in this and our previously filed annual reports on Form 10-K.

See Note 4 - Acquisitions of Businesses and Note 5 - Disposition of Assets of the notes to consolidated financial statements
included in Item §. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for a discussion regarding acquisitions and dispositions. During
the third quarter of 2014, we ceased construction operations in the United Kingdom. The results of the construction operations of
our United Kingdom segment for all periods are presented as discontinued operations.

Income Statement Data
{In thousands, except per share data)

Révenueé
Gross profit

Imbainnent loss on goodwill and identifiable intangilﬁie '

assets
Operating income
Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Tnc.

~" Basic earnings (loss) per common share:
" From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

Diluted eamnings (loss) per commen share:
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

Balance Sheet Data
(In thousands)

Equity 1

Total assets

Goodwill

Borrowings under revolving credit facility

Term loan, including current maturities _
Other long-term debt, mcluding current maturities
Finance lease liabilities, including current maturities

Years Ended December 31,

24019 2018 2017 2016 20158
$9,174,611  $8,130,631 - $7,686,999 $7,551,524 -$6,718,726
$1,355,868 $1,205453 $1,147,012 $1,037.862 § 944,479
$. - — §. 907 § 57819 $ 2428 § -
$ 460,892 § 403,083 § 328,902 $ 306,929 $ 285,336
$ 325,140 § 283,531 $ 227,196 § 181,935 $ 172,286
¢ 578 § 492 $ 385 § 305 § 274

— (0.04) (0.01) (0.05) (0.00)

$ 578 $ 488 $§ 384 $ 300 § 274

$ 575§ 48 $ 38 § 302 § 272

. (0.04) (0.01) {0.05) (0.00)

$ 575 § 485 $ 38 § 297 § 272
As of Becember 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2018
$2,057,780 $1,741441 $1,674,117 $1,537,942 $1,480,056
$4,830,358 $4,088.807 $3,965,904 $3,852,438 $3,506,706
$1,063,911 § 990,887 § 964,893 § 979,628 § 843,170
$ 30,000 $ 25000 $ 25000 $ 125000 § —
$ 254431 § 269,620 $ 284810 $ 300,000 § 315000
$ — 3 9§ 20 % 31§ 44
$ 0679 § 4213 § 4571 § 3,732 $ 3,869

(1) Since the inception of our common stock repurchase program in 2017 through December 31, 2019, we have repurchesed approximately
15.9 million shares of our cenumon stock for appreximately $751.5 million. We have paid quarterly dividends since October 25, 2011, We
currently pay a regular quarterly dividend of $0.08 per share, and we expect that quarterly dividends will be paid in the foreseeable future.

These transactions result in a reduction of our equity.
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The results of our operations for 2019 set new company records in terms of revenues, operating income, net income attributable
to EMCOR Group, Inc., and diluted eamings per conunon shars from continuing operations. Operating margin (operating income
as a percentage of revenues) for 2019 remained consistent with our previously established annual record of 5.0%.

Revenues increased by 12.8% from $8.1 billion for the year ended December 31, 201 810 $9.2 billion for the year ended Decernber
31, 2019. Operating income for 2019 of $460.9 million, or 5.0% of revenues, increased by $57.8 million compared to operating
income of $403.1 million, or 5.0% of revenues, in 2018.

The strong operating results were due torevenue growth and an increase in operating income within all of our reportable segments,
as well as operating margin expansion across all such segments, except for our United States mechanical construction and facilities
services segment due to a change in revenue mix compared to the prior year.

Impact of Acquisitions

In order to provide a more meaningful period-over-period discussion of our operating results, we may discuss amounts generated
or Incurred (revenues, gross profit, selling, general and administrative expenses and operating income) from companies acquired.
The amounts discussed reflect the acquired companies® operating results in the current reported period only for the time peried
these entities were not owned by EMCOR in the comparable prior reported period.

During 2019, we completed the acquisition of Batchelor & Kimball, Inc. (“BKI™), a leading full service provider of mechanical
construction and maintenance services. This acquisition strengthens our position and broadens our capabilities in the Scuthern and
Southeastern regions of the United States, and the results of its operations have been included within our United States mechanical
construction and facilities services segment. In addition to BK, during 2019, we acquired: (a) a company which provides electrical
contracting services in central Iowa, the results of operations of which have been included within our United States electrical
construction and facilities services segment, (b) a company which provides mechanical contracting services in south-central and

. " eastern Texas, the results of operations of which have been included within our United States mechanical construction and facilities

services segment, and (¢) four companies included within our United States building services segment, consisting oft (i) a company
which provides mobile mechanical services in the Southern region of the United States and (if) three companies, the results of
operations of which were de minimis, which bolster our presence in geographies where we have existing operations and provide
either mobile mechanical services or building automation and controls solutions.

We acquired four companies in 2018. Two companies provide mobile mechanical services, one within the Eastern region and
the other within the Western region of the United States, The third company is a full service provider of mechanical services within
the Southern region of the United States. The results of operations for these three companies have been included in our United
States building services segment. The fourth company provides electrical construction and maintenance services for industrial and
commercial buildings in North Texas, and its results have been included in our United States electrical construction and facilities
services segment.

Companies acquired in 2019 and 2018 generated incremental revenues of $290.3 million and incremental operating income of
$16.6 million, inclusive of $5.3 million of amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets, for the vear ended
December 31, 2019,



vear ended December 31, 2019 were partially offset by a decrease In revenues from our shop services operations, primarily as a
result of a reduction in new build heat exchanger sales.

Our United Kingdom building services segment revenues were $423.3 million in 2019 compared to $414.9 million in 2018.
The increase in revenues within this segment was primarily the result of: (a) new contract awards within the commercial and
institutional market sectors and (b) increased project activity with existing customers. Unfavorable exchange rates for the British
pound versus the United States dollar negatively impacted this segment’s revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 by $15.5
million.

Cost of sales and Gross profit

The following table presents cost of sales, gross prefit (revenues less cost of sales), and gross profit margin (gross profit as a
percentage of revenues) for the years snded December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thonsands, except for percentages):

2019 2018
Costof sales L $ 7,818,743 § 6,925,178
Gross profit ' ' $ 1,355,868  $ 1,205,453
Gross proﬁi’margin - _ ' ) N 148% - 14.3%

Our gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2019 was §1,355.9 million, a $150.4 million increase compared to gross profit
of $1,205.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, Qur gross profit margin was 14.8% for 2019 and 2018, The increase
in consolidated gross profit was due o an increase in gross profit from all of our reportable segments, partially as a resuit of an
increase In revenues within each segment during 2019, Additionally, gross profit within our United States elecirical construction
and facilities services segment, our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, and our United States
building services segment was favorably impacted by incremental gross profit generated by companies acquired.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

The following table presents selling, general and administrative expenses and SG& A margin (selling, general and administrative
‘expenses as a percentage of revenues) for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands, except for percentages):

| 2019 2018
< Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 893453 § 799,157
“Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues 9.7% 9.8%

‘Our selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $893.5 million, a $54.3 million
increase compared to selling, general and administrative expenses of $799.2 miilion for the year ended December 31,2018, Selling,
general and adminisirative expenses as a percentage of revenues were 9.7% and 9.8% for 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase
in selling, general and adminisirative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 included $35.1 million of incremental
expenses directly related to companies acquired in 2019 and 2018, including amortization expense attributable to identifiable
intangibie assets of $4.5 million. In addition to the impact of acquisitions, selling, general and administrative expenses nereased
due to: (a} an increase in salarics and related emplovee benefit costs, partially as a result of an increase in headeount to support
our revenue growth, (b) an increase in incentive compensation expense, due to higher annual operating results than in the prier
year, (¢) an increase in information techuology costs related te various initiatives currently in process, and (d) an increase in certain
non-income hased taxes. The decrease in SG&A margin for the vear ended December 31, 2019 was primarily due te an increase
in revenues without commensurate increases in our overhead cost structure.

Restructuring expenses

Restructuring expenses, primarily relating to employee severance obligations, were $1.5 million and $2.3 millien for the vears
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the balance of restructuring related
obligations yet to be paid was $1.6 million. The obligations cutstanding as of December 31, 2019 will be paid pursuant to our
contractual obligations throughout 2020 and 2021. No material expenses in connection with restructuring from continuing
operations are expected to be incurred during 2020.

Impairment loss on goodwill and identifiable intangible assets

No impairment of our identifiable intangible assets was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2019. During 2018, we
recorded a 50.9 million non-cash impairment charge associated with a finite-lived subsidiary trade name within cur United States
industrial services segment. No impainment of our goodwill was recognized for the yvears ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.



Operating income of our United States building services segment was $114.8 million, or 5.4% of revenues, and $93.8 million,
or 5.0% of revenues, in 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase in operating income for the year ended December 31, 2019 was
primarily atiributable 1o our mobile mechanical services operations, as a result of increased gross profit from project, controls,
and service repair and maintenance activities, In addition, operating income benefited from increased gross profit within our
commercial site-based services operations, as a result of scope expansion on certain existing contracts, and our energy services
operations, dve to an increase in large project activity. Companies acquired in 2019 and 2018 contributed incremental operating
income of $10.4 million, inclusive of $4.8 million of amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets. These
inereases were partially oifset by a reduction in operating income from our government site-based services operaticns as a result
of a decrease in gross profit due to the loss of certain contracis within their portfolio, which were not renewed pursuant to rebid.
The increase in operating margin of this segment for the vear ended December 31, 2019 was attributable to an increase in gross
profit margin, primarily from building automation and controls and repair project activities within our mobile mechanical services
operations,

Our United States industrial services segment operating income for the year ended December 31, 2019 was §44.3 million, a
$16.7 million increase compared to operating income of $27.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Operating margin
ofthis segment was 4.1% and 3.0% for 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase in operating income for the year ended December
31, 2019 was primarily due to an increase in demand for our service offerings during the year as we experienced a more normalized
demand pattern within our field services operations as compared te the prior year. The increase in operating margin for the year
ended December 31, 2019 was primarily attributzble to a decrease in the ratio of selling, general and administrative expenses to
revenues, partially as aresult of an increase in revenues without commensurate increases in this segment’s overhead cost structure.

Our United Kingdom building services segment operating income for the year ended December 31, 2019 was §18.3 million, or
4.3% of revenues, compared to operating income of $15.9 million, or 3.8% of revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2018.
" Operating income increased primarily as a result of increased gross profit within the commercial market sector due te: (a} an
increase in project activity with existing customers and (b) new confract awards. This segment’s operafing income was negatively
impacted by $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 related to the effect of unfavorable exchange rates for the British
pound versus the United States dollar. The increase in operating margin for the year ended December 31, 201% was attributable
to an increase in gross profit margin, partially as a result of a favorable project mix during the year.

Our corporate administration operating loss was $101.7 million for 2019 compared to $90.4 million in 2018. The increase in
corporate administration expenses for the vear ended December 31, 2019 was primarily due to: {(a) an increase in employment
costs, such as incentive compensation and salaries, (b) an increase in professional fees as aresult of various information technology
nitiatives currently in process, and {¢) an increase in certain non-income based taxes.

Non-operating items

Interest expense was $13.8 million and $13.5 millien for 2019 and 2018, respectively. Interest income was $2.3 million and
$2.7 million for 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase in interest expense for 2019 was due to higher average interest rates,
partiaily offset by the impact of reduced average outstanding borrowings. The decrease in interest income was & result of lower
average daily cash balances during the first half of 2019,

For joint ventures that have been accounted for using the consolidation method of accounting, noncontrolling interests represent
the aflocation of earnings to our joint venture partniers who ejther have a minority-ownership interest in the joint venture or are
not at risk for the majority of Josses of the joint venture.

Our 2019 income tax provision from continuing operations was $125.7 million compared to $102.1 million for 2018, The actual
income tax rate on income from continuing operations before income taxes, less amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests,
was 27.9% and 27.6% for 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase in the 2019 income tax provision was primarily driven by
increased income from continuing operations before income taxes, The increase in the income tax rate was primarily due to: (a)
a increase in our state deferred (ax rate, partially as a result of a change in the mix of income, and (b) the continued application
of the Tax Cuts and Jebs Act (the “Tax Aci”), including the application of guidance regarding certain permanent differences and
other nondeductible expenses.

Discontinued operations

During the third quarter of 2014, we ceased construction eperations in the United Kingdom. The results of the construction

operations of our United Kingdom segiment for all perjods are presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements as discontinued
operations.



2018 versus 2017
Overview

The following table presents selected financial data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands, except
percentages and per share data):

2018 2017

Revenues o o _ ' $ 8,130,631 § 7,686.999

Revenues increase from prior yéar 5.8% 1.8%
Re._éﬁﬁctuﬂng expenses ' ' _ ' h $ 2306 $ - 1,577
Impairment loss on goodwill and identifiable intangible assets 8 907 $ 57,819
Operating Income = . $ 403,083 § 328,902

Operating income as a pércéntage of revenues ' 5.0%  43%
Incomne from continuing operations o - $ 285922 § 228,050
Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. § 283531 § 227,186
Diluted earnings per commen share frem continuing operations ¥ 489 $ - 333

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 increased by approximately 5.8% compared to revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2017 as a result of revenue growth within all of our reportable segments.

Operating income increased to $403.1 million, or 5.0% of revenues, in 2018 from $328.9 million, or 4.3% of revenues in 2017.
Operating income increased within all of our reportable segments, except for our United States electrical construction and facilities
services segment and otr United States industrial services segment. Operating margin increased within our United States mechanical
construction and facilities services segment and our United States building services segment, while operating margin declined
within our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment and our United States industrial services segment.
Operating margin remained flat within our United Kingdom building services segment. The decrease in operating income and
operating margin within our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment was atiributable to $10.0 million
of losses incurred in 2018 on & transportation construction project in the Western region of the United States, which negatively
impacted operating margin of this segment by 0.6% and our consolidated operating margin by 0.1%. Operating income and operating
margin within our United States industrizl services segment declined as the results for the year ended December 31, 2017 benefited
from $18.1 million of gross profit related to the recovery of certain contract costs previously disputed on a project completed in
2016, which favorably impacted operating mergin of this segment by 2.1%, and consclidated operating margin by 0.2%, in 2017,

Operating income for 20617 included $57.8 million of norn-cash impairment charges, which resulted in a 0.8% negative impact
on the Company’s operating margin,

The increase in net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. and diluted earnings per common share from continuing operations
in 2018 was due to an increase in operating income and the reduction in the U1.S federal corporate tax rate due to the enactinent
ofthe Tax Act. Our dilited earnings per common share from continuing operations for 2018 additionally benefited from a decrease
in the weighted average number of shares cutstanding as a result of the continued repurchase of our commen stock.

Impact of Aequisitions

We acquired four companies in 2018, Two companies previde mobile mechanical services, one within the Fastern region and
the other within the Western region of the United States. The third company is a full service provider of mechanical services within
the Southern region of the United States. The results of these three companies have been included in our United States building
services segment. The fourth company provides electrical construction and maintenance services for industrial and cominercial

buildings in North Texas, and its results have been included In our United States electrical construction and facilities services
segment.

We acquired three compeanies during 2017. One company provides fire protection and alarm services primarily in the Southern
region of the United States. The second company provides millwright services for manufacturing companies threughout the United
States, Both of their results have been included in our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment. The

third company provides mobile mechanical services within the Western region of the United States, and its results have been
included in our United States building services segment.

Companies acquired in 2018 and 2017 generated incremental revenues of $90.1 million and incremental operating income of

$5.8 million, inclusive of $2.9 million of amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets, for the year ended
Tecemher 31, 2018,



Cost of sales and Gross profit

The following table presents cost of sales, gross profit, and gross profit margin for the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017
(in thousands, except for percentages):

2018 2017
Cost of sales $6,925,178 ° § 6,539,987
Gross profit $ 1,205,453  § 1,147,012
Gross profit margin ' 14.8% o 149%

Our gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $1,205.5 miltion, a $58.4 million increase compared to gross profit
of $1,147.0 milkion for the year ended December 31, 2017. Our gross profit margin was 14.8% and 14.9% for 2018 and 2017,
respectively, The increase in gross profit was attributable to improved operating performance within all of our reportable segments,
except for the United States electrical construction and facilities services segment, Gross profit and gross profit margin for the
year ended December 31,2017 were favorably impacted by the recovery of certain contract costs previously disputed en a project
that was completed in 2016 within our United States industrial services segment, resulting in $18.1 million of gross profit and a
0.2% favorable impact on the Company’s 2017 gross profit margin.

Selling, general and administrarive expenses

The following table presents selling, general and administrative expenses and SG&A margin, for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017 (in thousands, except for percentages):

2018 2017
Selling, general and administrative expenses 3 799,157 § 758,714

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues 9.8% S.9%

Qur selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018 were $799.2 millior, a $40.4 million
increase compared to selling, general and administrative expenses of $758.7 million for the year ended December 31,2017, Selling,
general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues were 9.8% and 9.9% for 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase
in selling, general and administrative expenses for the vear ended December 31, 2018 included $12.5 million of incremental
expenses directly related to companies acquired in 2018 and 2017, including amortization expense attributable to identifiable
intangible assets of $1.3 million. In addition to the impact of acquisitions, selling, general and administrative expenses increased
due to: (a) an increase in salaries, partially as a result of an increase in headcount due to higher revenues than in the prior year, (b}
an increase in incentive compensation expense, due to higher annual operating results than in the prior year, and (¢) increases in
other selling, general and administrative expenses, such as information technology, consulting and other professicnal fees, The
decrease in SG&A margin for the year ended December 31, 2018 was partially due to a reduction in the provision for doubtful
accounts, primarily within our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment and our United States building
services segment, as well as an increase in revenues without commensurate increases in our overhead cost structure.

Restructuring expenses

Restructuring expenses, primarily relating io severance obligations, were $2.3 miltion and $1.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the balance of restructuring related cbligations
yet to be paid was $1.6 million: and $0.5 million, respectively. The majority of such obligations outstanding as of December 31,

2018 and 2017 were paid during 2019 and 2018, respectively, and the remainder will be paid pursuant to our contractual obligations
throughout 2020 and 2021.

Impairment loss on goodwill and identifiable intangible assets

During the second quarter of 2018 and prier to our 2018 annual impairment test on Qctober 1, we recorded a $0.9 miliion non-
cash mnpairment charge associated with a finite-lived subsidiary trade name within our United States industrial services segment.
No additional impairment of our identifiable intangible assets was recognized for the year ended December 31,2018, Additionally,
no impairment of our goodwill was recognized for the yvear ended December 31, 2018.

In conjunction with our 2017 annual impairment test, we recognized $57.8 million of non-cash impairment charges. Of this
amount, $57.5 million related to goodwill within our United States industrial services segment and $0.3 million related to a
subsidiary trade name within our United States building services segment. The goodwill impainment primarily resulted from both
lower forecasted revenues and operating margins from our United States industrial services segment, which had been adversely
affected by poor market conditions, predominately within its shop services operations due to: (a) a prolonged curtailment in capital

spending from customers, (b} increased foreign competition and (¢) economic uncertainty within certain South American markets
which rcansed n1s fo bmit orr norsntt nf annorhmities within aench comtriec



in gross profit margin, partially as a result of the successful close-out of certain large hospitality and food processing construction
projects.

Operating income of our United States building services segment was $93.8 million, or 5.0% of revenues, and $81.7 millien,
or 4.7% of revenues, in 2018 and 2017, respectively, The increase in operating income for the year ended December 31, 2018 was
due to increases in operating income from: (a) our energy services operations, due to large project activity, (b) our government
site-based services operations, partially as a result of an increase in indefinite-delivery, indefinite-quantity project activity, (c) our
mobile mechanical services cperations, as z result of increases in gross profit from project, service and control activities, and (d)
our commercial site-based operations, partizlly as a result of (i) scope expansion on existing contracts and (ii) an increase in snow
removal activities from comtracts that are based on a per snow event basis. Additionally, companies acquired in 2018 and 2017
within our mobile mechanical services division, contributed incremental operating income of $2.4 million, inclusive 0f §1.7 million
of amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets, for the year ended December 31, 2018, The increase in
operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2018 was attributable to an increase n gross profit margin and a decrease in
the ratio of selling, general and administrative expenses to revenues.

Operating income of our United States industrial services segment of $27.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018
decreased by $11.6 million compared to operating income of $39.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 as the results
for 2017 benefited from the recognition of $18.1 million of gross profit associated with the recovery of certain contract costs which
were previously disputed on a preject completed in 2016, Such decrease was partially offset by increased demand and improved
operating performance within both our shop and field services operations, partially as a result of greater turnaround project activity
during the second half of 2018 as this division began to recover from the negative impact of Burricane Harvey, which resulted in
the cancellation of previously scheduled turnarounds during 2017 and early 2018. Operating margin for the year ended December
31,2018 was 3.0% compared to operating margin of 4.5% for the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in operating margin
was primarily atiributable to the resolution of the aforementioned project dispute, which favorably impacted this segment’s operating

.. margin by 2.1% in 2017. Excluding the impact of this recovery, operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2018, improved

year over year, primarily as & resuit of a decrease in the ratio of selling, general and administrative expenses to revenues.

Our United Kingdom building services segment operating income for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $15.9 million

- compared to operating income of $12.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, Operating income increased primarily due

_to an increase in gross profit from project activity with existing customers. In addition, the results for the year ended December

- 31, 2018 benefited from an increase in gross profit from new confract awards within the commercial, institutional and water and

wastewater market sectors, This segment’s results included an increase in operating income of $0.6 million relating to the effect
of favorable exchange rates for the British pound versus the United States dollar.

Our corporate administraticn operating loss was $90.4 million for 2018 compared to $87.8 million in 2017. The increase in
corporate administration expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018 was due to an increase in consulting and other professional
fees, primarily related to certain information technology and cybersecurity initiatives currently in process.

Non-operating items

Interest expense was $13.5 millicn and $12.8 wmillion for 2018 and 2017, respectively. Interest income was $2.7 million and
$1.0 miltion for 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase in interest expense and interest income resulted from higher interest
rates. The increase in interest expense was partially offset by the impact of reduced average outstanding borrowings.

Qur 2018 income tax provision from continning operations was $109.1 million compared to $90.7 million for 2017, The actual
income tax rates on income from continuing operations before income taxes, less amounts attributable to noncontrelling interests,
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, were 27.6% and 28.5%, respectively. The increase in the 2018 mcome fax
provision was primarily due to increased income before income taxes. The decrease in the 2018 actual income tax rate was due
to the net impact of the Tax Act, including the reduction of the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35% in 2017 to 21% in 2018,
offset by the benefit associated with the re-measurement of our net deferred tax liability balance in 2017.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

The following section discusses our principal liquidity and capital resources, as well as ouwr primary liquidity requirements and
sources and uses of cash. Our cash and cash equivalents are maintained in highly liquid investiments with original maturity dates
of three months or less.

Our short-term liguidity requiremnents primarily arise from: () business acquisitions and joint venture investments, (b) working
capital requirements, (¢) cash dividend payments, (d) interest and principal payments related to our outstanding indebtedness, and
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secured by substantially all of our assets. The 2016 Credit Agreement contains various covenants providing for, among other things,
maintenance of certain financial ratios and certain limitations on payment of dividends, common stock repurchases, investments,
acquisitions, indebtedness, and capital expenditures. Wa were in compliance with all such covenants as of December 31, 2019 and
2018. A commitment fee is payable on the average daily unused amount of the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility, which ranges from
0.15% to 0.30%, based on certain financizl tests. The fee was 0.15% of the unused amount as of December 31, 2019, Borrowings
under the 2016 Credit Agreement bear interest at (1) a base rate plus a margin of 0.00% to 0.75%, based on certzin financial tests,
or (2) United States dollar LIBOR (1.80% at December 31, 2019) plus 1.00% to 1,75%, based on certain financial tests, The base
rate is determined by the greater of {a) the prime commercial lending rate anncunced by Bank of Montreal frem time to time
{4.75% at December 31, 2019), (b) the federal funds effective rate, plus % of 1.00%, (c) the daily one month LIBOR rate, plus
1.00%, or {d) 0.00%. The interest rate in effect at December 31, 2019 was 2.80%. Fees for letters of credit issued under the 2016
Revolving Credit Facility range from 1.00% to 1.75% of the respective face amounts of outstanding letters of credit and are
computed based on certain financial tests, Debt issuance costs are amortized over the life of the agreement and are included as
part of interest expense. The 2016 Term TL.oan previcusly required us to make principal payments of $5.0 million on the last day
of March, June, September and December of each year, which commenced with the calendar quarter ended December 31, 2016,
On December 30, 2016, we made a payment of $100.0 million, of which $5.0 million represented our required guarterly payment
and $95 .0 million represented a prepayment of outstanding principal. Suchprepayment was applied against the remaining mandatory
quarterly payments on a ratable basis. As a result, commencing with the calendar quarter ended March 31, 2017, our required
quarterly payment has been reduced to $3.8 million. All unpaid principal and interest is due on August 3, 2021. As of December
31,2019 and 2018, the balance of the 2016 Term Loan was $254.4 million and $269.6 million, respectively. As of December 31,
2019 and 2018, we had approximately $109.0 million of letters of credit outstanding. There were $50.0 million and $25.0 million
in borrowings outstanding under the 2616 Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Share Repurchase Program and Dividends

On September 26, 2011, our Board of Directors (the “Board™) authorized us to repurchase up to $100.0 million of our outstanding
éommon stock. Subsequently, the Board has from time to time mcreased the amount of our commen stock that we may repurchase.
Since the inception of the repurchase program, the Board has authorized us to repurchase up to $950.0 million of our cutstanding
common stock. No shares of our commen stock were repurchased during the year ended Decamber 31, 2019, Since the inception
of the repurchase program through December 31, 2019 we have repurchased approximately 15.9 million shares of our common
stock for approximately $791.5 million, As of December 31, 2019, there remained authorization for us to repurchase approximately
$158.5 million of our shares. The repurchase program has no expiration date, does not obligate the Company to acquire any
particular amount of common stock, and may be suspended, recommenced or discontinued at any tiine or from time to time without
prior notice. We may repurchase our shares from time to time to the extent permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements,
imcluding provisions in our 2016 Credit Agreement, placing limitations on such repurchases, The repurchase program has been
and will be funded from our operations.

We have paid quarterly dividends since October 25, 2011, We currently pay a regular quarterly dividend of $0.08 per share. Qur
2016 Credit Agreement places limitations on the payment of dividends on our coramon stock. However, we do not believe that
the terms of such agreement currently materiaily limit our ability to pay a quarterly dividend of $0.08 per share for the foreseeable
future. The payment of dividends has been and will be funded from our operations.

Qff Balance Sheet Arrangements and Other Commitments

The terms of our construction contracts frequently require that we obtain from surety companies (“Surety Companies™) and
provide to our customers payment and performance bonds (“Surety Bonds™) as a condition to the award of such contracts. Surety
Bonds are issued in refurn for premiums, which vary depending on the size and type of the bond, and secure our payment and
performance obligations under such coniracts, We have agreed te Indemnify the Surety Companies for amounnts, if any, paid by
themn in respect of Surety Bonds issued on our behalf. Public sector contracts require Surety Bonds more frequently than private
sector contracts and, accordingly, our bonding requirements typically increase as the amount of our public sector work increases.
In addition, at the request of labor unions representing certain of our employees, Surety Bonds are sometimes provided to secure
obligations for wages and benefits payable to or for such employees. As of December 31, 2019, based on the percentage-of-
completion of our projects covered by Surety Bonds, our aggregate estimated exposure, assuming defaults on all our then existing
contractual obligations, was approximately $1.2 billion, which represents approximately 30% of our total remaining performance
obligations. We are not aware of any losses In connection with Surety Bonds, which have been posted on our behalf, and we do
not expect to incur significant losses in the foresseable future.

From time to time, we discuss with our current and other Surety Bond providers the amounts of Surety Bonds that may be
available to us based on our financial strength and the absence of any default by us on any Surety Boud issved on our behalf and
believe those amounts are currently adequate for our needs, However, if we experience changes in our bonding relationships or if
there are adverse changes in the surety industry, we may (2) seek to satisfy certain customer requests for Surety Bonds by posting



Certain Insurance Matters

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we utilized approximately $108.9 million of letters of credit obtained under our 2016
Revolving Credit Facility as collateral for insurance obligations.

New Accounting Pronouncements

We review new accounting standards to determine the expected impact, if any, that the adoption of such standards will have on
our financial position and/or results of operations. See Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the notes to
consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for further information
regarding new accounting standards, including the anticipated dates of adoption and the effects on our consolidated financial
position, results of operations or liquidity.

Anpplication of Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are based on the application of significant accounting policies, which require management
to make significant estimates and assumptions. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 - Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies of the notes to consolidated financial statements included i Itern 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data of this Form 10-K. We beligve that some of the more critical judgment areas in the application of accounting policies that
affect our financial conditicn and results of operations are the impact of changes in the estimates and judgments pertaining to:
(a) revenue recagnition from contracts with customers; (b collectibility or valuation of accounts receivable; (¢) insurance liabilities;
(d) income taxes; and () goodwill and identifiable intangible assets.

Revenue Recognition from Contracts viith Customers

We believe our most critical accounting policy s revenue recognition in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 606™). In accordance with ASC 606, the Company recognizes revenue
by applying the following five step modek: (1} identify the contract with a customer, (2) identify the performance obligations in
the contract, {3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract, and
(5} recognize revenue as performance obligations are satisfied.

The Company recognizes revenue at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring a promised good or
service to its customers. A good or service is considered to be transferred when the customer obtains control. The Cempany can
transfer control of a good or service and satisfy its performance obligations either over time or at a point in time. The Company
transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time
if one of the following three criteria are met: (a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Company’s performance as we perform, (b) the Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced, or (¢) the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to us, and
we have an enforcealyle right to payment for performance completed to date.

For our performance obligations satisfied overtime, werecognize revenue by measuring the progress toward complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. The selection of the method to measure progress towards completion can be either an input method
or an output method and requires judgment based on the nature of the goods or services to be provided.

For our construction contracts, revenue is generally recognized over time as our performance creates or enhances an asset that
the custammer controls as if is created or enhanced. Our fixed price construction projects generaily use a cost-to-cost input method
1o measure our progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation as we believe if best depicts the transfer of
control to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on cur contracts, Under the cost-to-cost measure of progress, the extent of
progress towards completion is measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs at completion of
the performance obligation. For our unit price construction contracts, progress towards complete satisfaction is measured threugh
an output method, such as the amount cf units produced or delivered, when our performance does not produce significant amounts
of work in process or finished goods prior to complete satisfaction of such performance obligations.

For our services contracts, revenue is also generally recognized over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits of our performance as we perform the service. For our fixed price service contracts with specified service periods,
revenue is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over such service period when our inputs are expended evenly, and the
customer receives and cansumes the benefits of our performance throughout the contract term,

The timing of revenue recognition for the manufacturing of new build keat exchangers within our United States industrial services
segment depends on the payment terms of the contract, as our performance does not create an asset with an alternative use fo us.

~



respectively, were recorded net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $14.5 million and $15.4 miltion, respectively. The decrease
in our allowance for doubtful accounts was primarily due to the write-off of previously reserved accounts receivable. Specific
accounts receivable are evaluated when we believe a customer may not be able to meet its financial obligations due to the
deterioration of its financial condition or its credit ratings. The ellowance for doubtful accounts requirements are based on the best
facts available and are re-¢valuated and adjusted on a regular basis as additjonal information is received.

Insurance Liabilities

We have loss payment deductibles for certain workers’ compensation, automobile liability, general liability and property claims,
have self-insured retentions for certain other casualty claims and are self-insured for employee-related healthcare claims. In addition,
we maintain a whelly-owned eaptive insurance subsidiary to manage certain of our insurance liabilities. Losses are recorded based
upon estimates of our liability for claims incurred and for claims incurred but not reported. The liabilities are derived from known
facts, historical trends and industry averages utilizing the assistance of an actuary to determine the best estimate for the majority
of these obligations, We believe the liabilities recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for these obligations are adequate.
However, such obligations are difficult te assess and estimats due to numerous factors, including severity of injury, determination
ofliability in proportion to other parties, timely reporting of eccurrences and effectiveness of safety and risk management programs.
Therefore, if our actual experience differs from the assumptions and estimates used for recording the liabilities, adjustments may
be required and will be recorded in the period that the experience becomes known. Qur estimated net insurance liabilities for
workers® compensaticn, autemaobile liability, general liability and property claims increased by $7.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 compared fo ths year ended December 31, 2018, partially as as result of greater potential exposures, including
the impact of acquired companies. If our estimated insurance liabilities for workers’ compensation, automobile liability, general
liability and property claims were to increase by 10%, it would have resulted in $17.0 million of additional expense for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

Income Taxes

We had net deferred income tax liabilities at December 31, 2019 and 2018 of $71.7 million and $70.8 million, respectively,
primarily resulting from differences between the carrying value and income tax basis of certain identifiable intangible assats,
goodwill, and depreciable fixed assets, which will Impact our taxable income in future periods. Included within these net deferred
income tax liabilities are $176.2 million and $104.1 million of deferred income tax assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. A valuation allowance is required when it is more likely than not that all ar a portion of a deferved income tax asset
will not be realized. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the total valuation allowance on deferred income tax assets, related to
state net operating loss carryforwards, was approximately $3.5 million and $3.9 million, respectively. The ultimate realization of
deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible. Based on our taxable income, which has generally exceeded the amount of our net deferred fax
asset balance and projections of future taxable income, we have determined that it is more likely than not that the net deferred
income tax assets will be realized.

Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2019, we had $1,063.9 million and $611.4 milljon, vespectively, of goodwill and net identifiable intangible
assets (primarily consisting of our coniract backlog, developed technology/vendor network, customer relationships, and trade
names) arvising out of the acquisition of companies. As of December 31, 2018, goodwill and net identifiable intangible assets were
$990.9 million and $488.3 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, approximately 13.4% of our goodwill related to our
United States electrical construction and facilities services segment, approximately 28.1% related to our United States mechanical
consfruction and facilities services segment, approximately 27.2% related to our United States building services segment, and
approximately 31.3% related to our United States industrial services segment. The changes to goodwill since December 31, 2018
were the result of acquisitions completed in 2019 and purchase price adjustments related to acquisitions completed in the fourth
quarter of 2018, The determination of related estimated useful lives for identifiable intangible assets and whether those assets are
tmpaired involves significant judgments based upon short and long-term projections of future performance. These forecasts reflect
assumptions regarding the ability to successiully integrate acquired companies, as well as macroeconomic conditions, Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 350, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other” (“ASC 350} requires that goodwill and other identifiable
mtangible assets with indefinite useful lives not be amortized, but instead be tested at Jeast annually for impainment (which we
test each October 1, absent any earlier identified impairment indicators), and be written down if impaired. ASC 350 requires that
goodwill be allocated to its respective reporting unit and that identifiable intangible assets with finite lives be amortized over their
useful lives,



We have certain businesses, particularly within our United States industrial services segment, whose results are highly impacted
by the demand for some of our offerings within the industrial and oil and gas markets. Future performance of this segment, along
with a continued evaluation of the conditions of its end user markets, will be important to ongoing impairment assessments. Should
this segment’s actual results suffer a decline or expected future results be revised downward, the risk of goodwill impairment or
impairment of other identifiable intangible assets would increase.

Our development of the discounted future cash flow projections used in impairment testing is based upon assumptions and
estimates by management from a review of our operating results and business plans as well as forecasts of anticipated growth rates
and margins, among other considerations. In addition, estimates of the weighted average cost of capital for each reporting unit are
developed with the assistance of a third-party vajuation spscialist. Those assumptions and estitnates can change in future periods
and other factors used in assessing fair value, such ag interest rates, are oufside the control of management. There can be no
assuratce that estimates and assumptions made for purposes of cur goodwill and identifiable intangible asset impairment testing
will prove to be accurate predictions of the future. If cur assumptions regarding future business performance including anticipated
growth rates and margins are not achieved, or there is a rise in interest rates, we may be required fo record goodwill and/or
identifiable intangible asset impainment charges in future pariods.

Tt is not possible at this time to determine if any future impairment charge will result or, if it does, whether such a charge would
be material.



ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSQOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

. ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $14,466- and $15,361,
respectively

'5(3011tract assets
Inventories
* Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets
_P'fopeﬁy,_ plant and equipment, net
Operating lease 'right—of-use assets
Goodwill
Identifiable intangib-le assets, net
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Habilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt and finance Iease liabilities
Accounts payable
Contract liabilities
Accrued payroll and benefits
Other accrued expenses and liabilities
Operating lease liabilities, current
Total current liabilities
Borrowings under revolving credit facility
Long-term debt and finance lease Habilities
Operating lease liabilities, long-term
Othér long-term obligations
Total liabilities
Equity:
EMCOR Group, Ine. stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.10 par value, 1,600,000 shares authorized, zero issued and
outstanding '

Comiman stock, $0,01 par vaiue, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 60,359,252 and
60,123,184 shares issuc_ad, respectively

Capital surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Treasury stock, at cost 4,139,421 shares
Total EMCOR Group, Inc. stockholders’ equity
Noncontroiling interests
Total equity
Total Iiabilities and equi'ty

December 31, December 31,
2019 2018
$ 358818 § 363,907
2,030,812 1,773,620
177,830 158,243
40,446 42,321
51,976 48,116
2,659,883 2,386,207
156,187 134,351
245,471 —
1,063,911 990,887
611,444 488,286
93,462 89,076
$ 4,830,358 $ 4,088,807
$ 18092 § 16,013
665,402 652,091
623,642 552,200
382,573 343,069
195,757 170,935
53,144 —
1,938,610 1,734,398
50,000 25,000
244139 254,764
204,950 —
334,879 333,204
2,772,578 2,347,366
604 601
32,274 21,103
(89,288) (87,652)
2,367,481 2,060,440
(253,937) (253,937)
2,057,134 1,740,545
646 896
2,057,780 1,741,441

3 4,830,358

3 4,088,807
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EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiartes

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For The Years Ended December 31,

{In thousands)
2019 2018 2017

Net income inclﬁding noncontrolling interests ~o. % 323140 & 283,577 § 227,193
Other comprehensive (1055) incomme, net of tax: - ' '

Foreign i:urréncyirénslaf‘ion ﬁ@juﬂstm'ems a L o T _1,689 {_1,522)_ ' (1;3'84)

Changes in poét retirement plans o . ‘.(3,3 15 7,860 ' 8,88.7

Other comprehensive (loss) tncome  ~ - 66 - 6538 7,503
Comprehensive income ' 323,514 290,115 234,696
Less: "Cohii)rehens‘ivei(inccme} loss attributable ‘to-noncon‘mllh]g interests R Jc: . 7(4_6') s
Comprehensive income attributable to EMCOR Group, Ine. § 323514 § 290,069 § 234,699

(1) Net of tax benefit (provision) of $0.7 miltion, $(2.1) miliion, and $(1.8) million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively.

The accompenying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements,



Balance, Dg;:émber 11, 20'1 6

Net income including noncontrolling
interests

Cther comprehensive incomes

Common stock issued under share-based

compensation plans

Tax withholdiag for comman stock issued

under share-based compensation plans

Common stock issued under employee
stock purchase plan

Comemon stock dividends
REpurch;ase of common stock @
- Share-‘hased comp'e_‘nsatiél_l' é};peﬁsc
Balance, December 31, 2017

Net income including noncontrofling
interests

Other comprehensive income

Cumulative-effect adjustment &

Common stock issued under share-based

eompensation plans

EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
For The Years Ended December 31,
{In thousands)

EMCOR Group, Ine. Stockholders

Tax withholding for common stock issued

under share-based compensation plans

Common stock issued under emplovee
stock purchase plan

Common stock dividends

Repurchase of common stock @

Share-based compensation expense
Balance, December 31, 2018

Netincome including noneontrolling
interests

Other comprehensive Joss

Common stock issned under share-based

compensation plans :

Tax withholding for common stock issued

under share-based compensation plans

Common stoek issued under employee
stock pugchase plan

Common stock dividends

Distributions to noncontrolling inferests

Share-based compensation expense
Balance, December 31, 2019

)

Accumulated
other

Common  Capital comprehensive Retained Treasury  Noncontrolling

Total stock surplus (loss) income earnings stock interests
$1,'537,942 $ 606 -5 5221% % (101,703) $1,596.269 $ (18,302) § 853
227,193 - — — 227,196 — (3)
7,503 — — 7:503 - — —
1 2 0 — — - —
(3.462) — (4 — — — —
4,793 1 4,792 — —_ — —
89Ty — 164 — {19,135) — —
(90,321) (10 (55,646) — (77747 (27,351) —
9530 . — . 9939 — - — —
$1674117 5 595 5 8005 § (94,200) §1,796,556 § (37.693) § 850
283,577 — — — 283,531 — 48
6,538 — — 6,538 — — —
(854) — — — (834) —_ _
— I ) — — — —
(3,848} — {3.848) — — — _
5,765 1 5,764 — —_ — —
(18.640) — 153 — {18,793} — —_—
(216,244) — — — — (216244 —
11,036 — 11,030 — — — —
$1,741,441 § 601§ 21,103 % (87,662) $2,000440 $(253,937) § 896
325,140 — — — 325,140 — o
(1,626) — — (1,626) — - —
—_ 3 (3) — — — —
(6,431) - (6.451) — - — —
6,090 — 6,090 R _— —_ —
(17,9509 — 149 - {18,059) — —
£250) — — - - — - (250)
11,386 — 11,386 — — —-— —
$2057,780 § 604§ 32274 § {89,288) §2.367481 ${253937) & 646

Represents cumulative foreign currency trans)ation and post retirement labifity adjustments of $0.8 million and $(30.1) million, respectively, as of December

31,2019, $(0.9) million and ${86.8) million, respectively, as of December 31, 2018, and $0.5 million and $(94.7) million, respectively, as of December 31,

2017
2)
3

Beginning June 1, 2017, shares of comimen stock repurchased ave held as treasury stock by the Company,
Represents adjustment to retained earnings upon the adoption of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606.

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.



EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TQO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Company maintains an allowance for
doubtful accounts. This alicwance is based upon the best estimate of the probable Josses in existing accounts receivable. The
Company determines the allowances based upon individual accounts when information indicates the customers may have an
inability to meet their financial obligations, as well as historical collection and write-off experience. These amounts are re-evaluated
and adjusted on a regular basis as additional information is received. Actual write-offs are charged against the allowance when
collection efforts have been unsuccessful, At December 31, 2019 and 2018, our accounts receivable of $2,030.8 million and
$1,773.6 million, respectively, were recorded net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $14.5 million and $15.4 million,
respectively. The provision for doubtful accounts during 2019, 2018, and 2017 amounted to approximately §2.6 million, $2.1
million, and $7.3 million, respactively,

Inveniories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined principaily using the average cost method.
Property, plant and equipnient

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation, including amortization of assets under finance leases, is recorded
principally using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years for machinery and equipment, 3 to 7 years
for vehicles, furniture and fixtures and computer hardware/software, and 25 years for buildings. Leasehold improvements are
amottized over the shorter of the remaining life of the lease term or the expected useful life of the improvement.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable. In performing this review for recoverability, property, plant and equipment
is assessed for possible impairment by comparing their carrying vahues to their undiscounted net pre-tax cash flows expectad to
" result from the use of the asset. Impaired assets are written down to their fair values, generally determined based on their estimated
future discounted cash flows. Based on the results of our testing for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, no
impairment of property, plant and equipment was recognized.

Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite lives that are not being amortized, such as trade names, are
tested at least annually for impairment (which we test each October 1, absent any earlier identified impairment indicators) and are
written down if impaired. Identifiable intangible assets with finite Hves are amostized over their useful lives and are reviewed for
tmpairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be fully recoverable. See Note 9 -
Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets of the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Imsurance Liabilities

Insurance liabilities for automobile liability, workers’ compensation and general liability claims are determined actnarially based
on claims filed and an estimate of claims ncurred but not yet reported. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the estimated current
portion of such undiscounted insurance liabilities of $48.3 million and $44.6 miliion, respectively, were included in “Other accrued
expenses and liabilities” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The estimated non-current portion of such undiscounted
insurance Hahilities included in “Other long-term obligations” at December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $186.0 million and $179.1
million, respectively. The current portion of anticipated insurance recoveries of $13.8 million and $12.6 million at December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively, were included in “Prepaid expenses and other” and the non-current portion of anticipated insurance
recoveries of $30.9 million and $49.3 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, were included in “Other assets” in
the accompanying Consaolidated Balance Sheets.

Foreign Operations

The financial statements and transactions of our foreign subsidiaries are maintained in their functional curtency and translated
into 1.S. dollars in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 830, “Foreign Currency Matters.” Translation
adjustments have been recorded as “Accumulated other comprehensive loss,” a separate component of “Equity.”



EMCOR Group, Ine. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

In December 2019, an accounting pronouncement was issued by the FASB which simplifies the accounting for income taxes
by eliminating certain exceptions to the guidance in ASC 740 related to intraperiod tax allocations and the methodology for
caleulating income taxes in an interim period. The guidance also simplifies aspects of the accounting for franchise taxes as well
as enacted changes in tax laws or rates and clarifies the accounting for transactions that result in a step-up in the tax basis of
goodwill. The proncuncement is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption
permitted. Certain aspects of this standard must be applied retrospectively while other aspects are to be applied on a modified
retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustiment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the year of adoption. The
Company intends to adopt this accounting proncuncement on Jaruary 1, 2021, and we are currently evaluating the potential impact
on our financial position and/or results of operations.

NOTE 3 - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Company recognizes revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration 1o which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services by applying the fellowing five
step model:

(1} Identify the contract with a customer

A contract with a customer exists when: (a) the parties have approved the contract and are committed to perform their respective
obligations, (b) the rights of the parties can be identified, (c) payment terms can be identified, (d) the arrangement has commercial
substance, and (e) collectibility of consideration is probable. JTudgment is required when determining if the contractual criteria are
met, specifically in the earlier stages of a project when a formally executed confract may not yet exist, In these situations, the
Company evaluates all relevant facts and circumstances, including ihe existence of other forns of documentation or historical
experience with our customers that may indicate a contractual agreement is in place and revenue should be recognized. In
determining if the collectibility of consideration is probable, the Company considers the customer’s ability and intention to pay
such consideration through an evaluation of several factors, including an asscssment of the creditworthiness of the customer and
our prior collection history with such customer,

(2} Identify the performance obligarions in the contract

Atcontract inception, the Company assesses the goods or services promised in a contract and identifies, as a separate performance
obligation, each distinct promise to transfer goods or services to the customes. The identified performance obligations represent
the “unit of account” for purposes of determining revenue recognition. In order to properly identify separate performance
obligations, the Company applies judgment in determining whether each good or service provided is: (a) capable of being distinct,
whereby the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer, and (b) distinet within the context of the contract, whereby the transfer of the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract.

In addition, when assessing performance obligations within & contract, the Company considers the warranty provisions included
within such contract. To the extent the warranty terms provide the customer with an additional service, other than assurance that
the promised good or service complies with agreed upon specifications, such warranty is accounted for as a separate performance
abligation. In determining whether & warranty provides an additional service, the Company considers each warranty provision in
comparison to warranty terims which are standard in the industry.

Our contracts are often modified through change orders to account for changes in the scope and price of the goods or services
we are providing. Although the Company evaluates each change order to determine whether such modification creates a separate
performance obligation, the majority of our change orders are for goods or services that are not distinet within the context of our
original contract, and therefore, are not treated as separate performance obligatians,

(3} Determine the tramsaction price

The transaction price represents the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to our customers. The consideration promised within a contract may inchude fixed amounts,
variable amounts, or both. To the extent the performance obligation meludes variable consideration, including contract bonuses
and penaliies that can either increasa or decrease the transaction price, the Company estimates the amount of variable consideration
to be included in the transaction price uiilizing one of two prescribed methods, depending on which method better predicts the
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NOTE 3 - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS - (Continued)

(4) Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract

For contracts that contain multiple performance obligations, the Company aliocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation based on a relative standelone selling price. The Company determines the standalone selling price based on the price
atwhich the performance obligation would have been sold separately in similar circumstances to similar customers. Ifthe standalone
selling price is not observable, the Company estimates the standalone selling price taking into account all available information
such as market conditions and internal pricing guidelines. In certain circumstances, the standalone selling price is detenmined using
an expected profit margin on anticipated costs related e the performance obligation.

(5) Recognize revenue as performance obligations are sarisfied

The Company recognizes revenue at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring a promised good or
service to its customers. A good or service {s considered to be transferred when the customer obtains control. The Company can
transfer control of a good or service and satisfy its performance obligations either over time or at a point in time. The Company
transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time
if one of the following three criteria are met: () the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Company’s performance as we perform, (b) the Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced, or (¢) the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to us, and

-we have an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Forourperformance obligations satisfied overtime, werecognize revenue by measuring the progress toward complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. The selection of the method to measure progress towards completion can be either an input method
ar an output method and requires judgment based on the nature of the goods or services to be provided.

For our construction contracts, revenue is generally recognized over time as our performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as it is created or enhanced. Qur fixed price construction projects generally use a cost-to-cest input method
to measure our progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation as we believe it best depicts the transfer of
control to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. Under the cost-to-cost measure of progress, the extent of
progress towards completion is measured based on the ratic of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs at completion of
the performance obligation. For our unit price construction contracts, progress towards complete satisfaction is measured through
an output method, such as the amount of units produced or delivered, when our performance does not produce significant amounts
of work in process or finished goods prior to complete satisfaction of such performance obligations.

For our services contracts, revenue is also generally recognized over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits of our performance as we perform the service. For our fixed price service contracts with specified service periods,
revenue is generally recognized on a straight-iine basis over such service period when our inputs are expended evenly, and the
customer receives and consumes the benefits of our performance throughout the contract term.

The timing of revenue recognition for the manufacturing ofnew build heat exchangers within our United States industrial services
segment depends on the payment terms of the contract, as our performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to us,
For those contracts for which we have aright to payment for performance completed to date at all times throughout cur performance,
inclusive of a cancellation, we recognize revenue over time. For these performance obligations, we use a cost-to-cost input method
to measure our progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation as we believe it best depicts the transfer of
control to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our centracts. However, for those confracts for which we do not have
a right, at all times, to payment for performance ccmpleted to dafe, we recognize revenue at the point in time when control is
transferred to the customer. For bill-and-hold arrangements, revenue is recognized whemn the customer obtains contrel of the heat
exchanger, which may be prior to shipping, if ceriain recognition criteria are met.

For certain of our revenue streains, such as call-out repair and service work, outage services, refinery turnarounds, and specialty
welding services that are performed under time and materials contracts, our progress towards complete satisfaction of such

performance obligations is measured using an output method as the customer receives apd consumes the benefits of our performance
completed to date,

Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimation process, it is possible that estimates of costs to complete a performance obligation
will be revised in the near-term. For these performance obligations for which revenue is recognized using a cost-to-cost input
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NOTE 3 - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS - (Continued)

% of % of
2019 Total 2018 Total
United States building services:
Comn__nércial site-based services _ : $ 571,345 27% $ 519,641 28%
Government site-based services ' ' 176,282 8% 213,677 11%
Mechanical services 1,238,420 59% 1,032,082 55%
Energy services ' ' 120,825 6% 110,085 6%
Total segiment revenies ' ' _ - o ' - $2,106,872 $1.875,485 '
% of % of
2019 Total 2018 Total
United States industrial services:
Field services $ 922308  85% § 752,458  82%
Shop services 165,235 15% 170,651 18%
Total segmént TEVETIIES 1,087,543 623,109
Total United States operations $8,751,352 $7.715,760
% of % of
2019 Total 2018 Total
United Kingdom building services:
Service work $ 212,876 50% § 216,880 52%
Projects & extras 210,383 50% 197,691 48%%
Total segment revenues $ 423,259 $ 414871
Total worldwide operations _ $9.174,611 $8,130,631

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

Accounts recejvable are recognized in the period when our right to consideration is unconditional. Accounts receivable are
recognized net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. A considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing the likelihood
of realization of receivables,

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. Contract assets include unbilled amounts
from our fong-term construction projects when revenues recognized under the cost-to-cost measure of progress exceed the amounts
invoiced to our custamers, as the amounts cannot be billed under the terms of our contracts. Such amounts are recoverable from
our customers based upon various measures of performance, including achievement of certain milestones, completion of specified
ugnits or completion of a contract. I addition, many of our time and materials arrangements, as well as our contracis to perform
turnaround services within the United States industrial services segment, are billed in arrears pursuant to contract terms that are
standard within the industry, resulting in contract assets and/or unbilled receivables being recorded, as revenue is recognized in
advance of billings. Also included in contract assets are amounts we seek or will seek to collect from customers or others for errors
or changes in contract specifications or design, contract change orders or modifications in dispute or unapproved as to scope and/
or price, or other customer-related causes of unanticipated additional contract costs (claims and unapproved change orders). Our
confract assets do not include capitalized costs to obtain and fulfill a contract. Contract assets are generally classified as current
within the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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NOTE 3 - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS - (Continued)
Transaction Price Allocated to Remaining Unsarisfied Performance Obligations

The following table presents the transaction price allocated to remaining unsatisfied performance obligations (“remaining
performance obligations™) for each of our reportable segments and their respective percentages of total remaining performance
obligations (in thousands, except for percentages):

% of
2019 Total
Remamm g perfonnance obligations:

Umted Statas electrical constructlon and facﬂltles serwces . & 1, 036 216 3 26%
United States mechanical constructlon and fac1ht1es services 2 229, 090 -55%
Umted States buﬂdang servmes : _ - 542 269 L 13%
Umted States industrial services - 104,613 3%
Total United States operaﬁohs . _' ‘ _ ' 3,912,188 L 9T%
United Kingdom building services ” 124,176 3%
Total worldwide operations o $ 4036364  100%

Our remaining performance obligations at December 31, 2019 were $4.04 billion. Remaining performance obligations increase
- with awards of new contracts and decrease as we perform work and recognize revenue on existing contracts. We includs a project
" within our remaining performance obligaticns at such time the project is awarded and agreement on contract terms has been
reached. Our remaining performance obligations include amounts related to contracts for which a fixed price contract value is not
assigned when a reasonable estimate of total transaction price can be made.

Remaining performance obligations include unrecognized revenues to be realized from uncompleted construction contracts.
* Although many of our construction contracts are subject to cancellation at the election of our customers, in accordance with industry
practice, we do not limit the amount of unrecognized revenue included within remaining performance obligations for these contracts
due to the inherent substantial economic penalty that would be incurred by our customers upon cancellation, We believe our
reported remaining performance obligations for our construction contracts are firm and contract cancellations have not had a
material adverse effect on us.

Remaining performance obligations also include unrecognized revenues expected to be realized over the remaining teyrm of
service contracts. However, to the extent a service contract includes a cancellation clause which allows for the termination of such
contract by either party without a substantive penalty, the remaining contract term, and therefore, the amount of unrecognized
revenues included within remaining performance obligations, is limited to the notice period required for the termination.

Qur remaining performance obligations are comprised of: (a) original confract amounts, (b) change orders for which we have
recetved written confirmations from our customers, (¢) pending change orders for which we expect to receive confirmations in
the ordinary course of business, () claim amounts that we have made against customers for which we have determined we have
a legal basis under existing confractual arrengements and as to which the variable consideration constraint does not apply, and (e}
other forms of variable consideration to the extent that such variable consideration has been included within the transaction price
of our contracts. Such claim and other variable consideration amounts were immaterial for all periods presented.

Refer to the table below for additional information regarding our remaining performance obligations, including an estimate of
when we expect to recognize such remaining performance obligations as revenue (in thousands):

Within Greatey than
O0¢ year One year
Remaining performance obligations:

United States electrical constroction and facilities services $ 861,268 § 174,948
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 1,802,865 426,225
United States building services 532,540 9,729
United States industrial services 104,613 —
Total United States operations : 3,301,286 610,902

United Kingdom building services 83,558 40,618
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NOTE 5 - DISPOSITION OF ASSETS

Due to a historical pattern of losses in the construction operations of our United Kingdom segment and our negative assessment
of construction market conditions in the United Kingdom, we ceased construction operations in the United Kingdom during the
third quarter of 2014. The results of the censtruction operations of our United Kingdom segment for all periods are presented in
the Consolidated Financial Statements as discontinued operations.

No income or expense was recognized from discontinued cperations for the year ended December 31, 2019,

The results of discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017
Reveriues : " o - . $ . — § 863
Loss from d1scont1nued operatlon net of income taxes . - 8 (2,345) § .{857)
Dﬂuted loss per share from dlscontmued operation o S ' 8 ('0,._04_} (001

The loss from discontinued operations in 2018 was primarily due to the settlement of a previously outstanding legal matter. The

loss from discontinued operations in 2017 was primarily due to legal costs incurred, partially offset by revenues recognized upon
the settlement of a previously cutstanding contract claim,

Inciuded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2018 were approximately $3.7 million of current liabilities
associated with the discontinued operation, primarily consisting of contract retentions, contract warranty obligations and other

" accrued expenses. No significant Habilities remain as of Decerber 31, 2019,

NOTE 6 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following tables summarize our calculation of Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Commeon Share (“EPS™) for the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 (in thousands, except share and per share data):

2019 2018 2017
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. common
stockholders . $ 325140 § 285876 § 228,053
Loss from discontinued operation, net of lncome taxes — (2,345) (857)
Net income attributable to EMCOR. Group, Inc. common stockholders $ 325140 § 283,531 $§ 227,194
Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding used to compute basic earnings (loss) per
common share 56,208,280 58,112,838 39 234 256
Effect of dilutive securities — Share-based awards ' 311,001 a3 0;629 364 713
Shares used to compute dituted earnings (loss) per commen share _ 56,519,281 58,443,467 59,618,969

Basw earnings (loss) per common share:
From continuing operations attributable to EMCOR. Group, Tnc. common

‘stockholders % 578 $ - 492 $ . 385
From discontinucd operation — {0.04) (0.01)
Net iﬁcbme atti'ibutdble 0 EMCOR Group, Inc. common stocmoidérs $ 5.78 § 438 §$. 3.84

Diluted eammgs (loss) per common share:
From continuing operatlons attributable to EMCOR Group, Ing. common

stockholders _ § 575 % 489 S 3.83
From discontinued operation (0.04) {0.01)
Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. common stockholders $ - 573 0§ 0 4.8 & 3.82

The number of outstanding share-based awards excluded from the computation of diluted EPS for the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018, and 2017 because they would be anti-dilutive were 4,800, 550, and 2,700, respectively.
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NOTE 9 - GOODWILL AND IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS - (Continued)

to operations. The fair value of each of our reporting units is generally determined using discounted estimated future cash flows;
however, in certain circumstances, consideration is given to a market approach whereby fair value is measured based on a multiple
of earnings.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, no impairment of our goodwill was recognized. As part of our annual
impairment testing for the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $57.5 million within our
United States industrial services segment.

The weighted average cost of capital used in our annual testing for impairment as of October 1,2019 was 9.5%, 9.1% and 10.5%
for our domestic construction segments, our United States building services segment and our United States industrial services
segment, respectively, The perpetual growth rate used for our annual testing was 2.7% for all of our domestic segments. Unfavorable
changes in these key assumptions may affect future testing results. For example, keeping all other assumptions constant, a 50 basis
point increase in the weighted average costs of capital would cause the estimated fair values of our United States electrical
construction and facilities services segment, our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, our United
States building services segment and our United States industrial services segment to decrease by approximately $108.8 million,
$156.7 million, $98.0 million and $40.3 millicn, respectively. In addition, keeping all other assumptions constant, & 50 basis point
reduction in the perpetual growth rate would cause the estimated fair values of our United States electrical construction and facilities
services segment, our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, our United States building services
segment and our United States industrial services seginent to decrease by approximately $61.4 million, $90.5 million, $55.7 million
and $20.5 million, respectively. Given the amounts by which the fair value exceeds the carrying value for each of our reporting
Tnits other than our United States industrial services segment, the decreases in estimated fair values described above would not
have significantly impacted our 2019 impairment test. In the case of our United States industrial services segment, however, such
decreases would cause the estimated fair value to approach its carrying value.

We also test for the impairment of trade names that are not subject to amortization by calculating the fair value using the “relief
from royalty payments” methodology. This approach involves two steps: (a) estimating reasonable royalty rates for each trade
name and {b) applying these royalty rates to a net revenue stream and discounting the resulting cash flows to determine fair value.
This fair value is then compared with the carrying value of each trade name. If the carying amount of the trade name is greater
than the implied fair value of the trade name, an impairment in the amount of the excess is recognized and charged to operations.
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, no impairment of our indefinite-lived trade names was recognized. The annual
impairment review of our indefinite-lived trade names for the year ended December 31, 2017 resuited in a $0.3 million non-cash
impairment charge as a result of a change in the fair value of a subsidiary trade name associated with a prior acquisition reported
within our United States building services segment.

In addition, we review for the impairment of cther identifiable intangible assets that are being amortized whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that their carrving values may not be fully recoverable. This test compares their carrying values to the
undisconnted pre-tax cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets. If the assets are impaired, the assets are written down
to their fair values, generally determived based on their discounted estimated future cash flows. For the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2017, no impairment of cur other identifiable intangible assets was recognized. For the year ended December 31, 2018,
werecorded a $0.9 million non-cash impairment charge associated with a finite-lived trade name within our United States industrial
services segment.

Our development of the discounted future cash flow projections used in impairment testing is based upon assumptions and
estimates by management from a review of our operating results and business plans, as well as forecasts of anticipated growth
rates and margins, among other considerations. In addition, estimates of the weighted average cost of capital for each reporting
unit are developed with the assistance of a third-party valuation specialist. Those assumptions and estimates can change in future
periods and other factors used in assessing fair value, such as interest rates, are outside the confrol of management. There can be
no assurance that estimates and assumptions made for purposes of our goodwill and identifiable intangible asset Impainment testing
will prove to be accurate predictions of the future. If our assumptions regarding future business performance including anticipated
growth rates and margins are not achieved, or there is a rise in interest rates, we may be required to record goodwill and/or
identifiable intangible asset impairment charges in future periods. It isnot possible at this time to determine if any future impairment
charge will result or, if it does, whether such a charge would be material to our results of operations.
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NOTE 9 - GOODWILL AND IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS - (Continued)

Amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets with finite lives wag $48.1 miltion, $42.4 million, and $48.6 million
for the years ended December 31,2019,2018, and 2017, respectively. The following table presents the estimated firure amortization
expense of identifiable intangible assets in the following years (in thousands):

2020 - R o o o $ 36,680
2021 o - - o 50,792
2022 : o T - - e 48,589
2023 ' 47,650
ses o 47300
Thereafter a o - 161,226

: S - ' L% 212237

NOTE 10 - DEBT

Credit Agreement

We have a credit agreement dated as of August 3, 2016, which provides for a $900.0 million revolving credit facility (the *“2016
Revolving Credit Facility”) and a $400.C million term loan (the “2016 Term Loan™) {(collectively referred to as the “2016 Credit
Agreement™) expiring August 3, 2021, We may increase the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility to $1.3 billion if additional lenders
are identified and/or existing lenders are willing to increase their current commifments, We may allocate up to $300.0 million of
available capacity under the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility to letters of credit for our account or for the account of any of our
subsidiaries. Obligations under the 2016 Credit Agreement are guaranteed by most of our direct and indirect subsidiaries and are
secured by substantially all of our assets, The 2016 Credit Agreement contains various covenants providing for, among other things,
maintenance of certain financial ratios and certain limitations on payment of dividends, comman stock repurchases, investments,
acquisitions, indebtedness and capital expenditures. We were in compliance with all such covenants as of December 31, 2019 and
2018. A commitment fee is payable on the average daily unused amount of the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility, which ranges from
0.15% to 0,30%, based on certain financial tests, The fee was 0.15% of the unused amount as of December 31, 2019, Barrowings
under the 2016 Credit Agreement bear interest at (1) & base rate phis a margin of 0.00% to 0.75%, based on certain financial tests,
or (2} United States dollar LIBOR (1.80% at December 31, 2019) plus 1.00% to 1.75%, based on certain financial tests, The base
rate is determined by the greater of (a) the prime conunercial lending rate announced by Bank of Montreal from time to time
(4.75% at December 31, 2019), (b) the foderal funds effective rate, plus ¥ of 1.00%, (¢) the daily one month LIBOR rate, plus
1.00%, or (d) 0.00%.The inferest rate in effect at December 31, 2019 was 2.80%. Fees for letters of credit issued under the 2016
Revolving Credit Facility range from 1.00% to 1.75% of the respective face amounts of outstanding letters of credit and are
computed based on certain financial tests. Debt issuance costs are amortized aver the life of the agreement and are included as
part of interest expense. The 2016 Term Loan previously required us to make principal payments of $5.0 millicn on the last day
of March, June, September and December of each year, which commenced with the calendar quarter ended Becember 31, 2016.
On December 30, 2016, we made a payment of $100.C million, of which $5.0 million represented our required quarterly payment
and $95.0 million represented a prepayment of cutsianding principal. Such prepayment was applied against the remaining mandatory
quarterly payments on a ratable basis. As a result, commencing with the calendar quarter ended March 31, 2017, our required
auarterly payment has been reduced to $3.8 million. Allunpaid principal and interest is due on August 3, 2021, As of December 31,
2019 and 2018, the balance of the 2016 Tern Loan was $254.4 million and $269.6 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2019
and 2018, we had approximately $109.0 million of letters of credit outstanding. There were $50.0 million and $25.0 million in
borrowings outstanding under the 2016 Revelving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
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NOTE 11 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS - (Cortinuved)

We believe that the carrying values of our financial instruments, which include accounts receivable and other financing
commitments, approximate their fair values due primarily to their short-term maturities and low risk of counterparty defanlt. The
carrying value of our debt associated with the 2016 Credit Agresment approximates its fair value due to the variable rate on such
debt.

NOTE 12 - INCOME TAXES

On Pecember 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation, commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts-and
Jobs Act (“the Tax Act”). The Tax Act made broad and complex changes to the U.S. tax code, including, among other things,
reducing the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%, eliminating certain deductions including the domestic manufacturing
deduction, providing additional limitations on deductions for executive compensation, imposing a mandatory one-time transition
tax on accumulated earnings from certain foreign subsidiaries, and creating new taxes on certain foreign sourced earnings. The
Tax Act also extended the option to claim accelerated depreciation deductions by allowing companies to fully deduct qualified
property in the year such property is placed in service.

Tn 2018, we finalized our accounting for the income tax effects of the Tax Act, for which we had previously recorded provisional
amounts in our 2017 consolidated financial statements in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, During the year
ended December 31, 2017, our net federal and state deferred tax liability balances were reduced by approximately $39.3 million,
which was recorded as a reduction of income tax expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations, as U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles required a re-measurement of our deferred tax assets and lHabilities as of the date of

" epactment.

We continue to monitor for potential future changes in certain state and local tax regulations resulting from the Tax Act which
may have an impact on our consclidated income tax provision in future periods.

For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, our income tax provision was calculated based on income from
continuing operations before income taxes as follows (in thousands):

2019 2018 2017
United States $ 430,253 § 375408 § 303,854
Foreign 20,636 19,620 14,395

$ 450,889 § 395028 3 318,749

The income tax provision in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2019,
20118, and 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands):

2019 2018 2087
Current provision:
Federal ' ' h 89,264 § 75405 § 120317
State and focal 31,099 28,063 23,494
Foreign 3,685 1,389 244
124,048 104,857 144,057
Deferred provision (benefit) 1,701 4,245 (53,358)

$ 125743 % 109,106 3 90,699

Our 2019 income tax provision from continuing operations was $125.7 million compared to $109.1 million for 2018 and $90.7
million for 2017. The increase in the income tax provision for each year was primarily driven by increased income from continuing
operations before income taxes.

The actual income tax rates on income from continuing operations before income taxes, less amounts attributable tonencontrolling
interests, for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, were 27.9%, 27.6%, and 28.5%, respectively. The increase in
the 2019 actual income tax rate compared to 2018 was predominantly due to: (a) an increase in our state deferred tax rate, partially
as a result of a change in the mix of income, and (b} the continued application of the Tax Act, including the application of guidance

1 ~nn
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NOTE 12 - INCOME TAXES - (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and Habilitles are recognized in the Consolidaied Balance Sheets for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences between the canying amounis and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. The deferred
income tax assets and deferred income tax labilities recorded for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows
(in thousands):

2019 2018
Deferred income mx agsets: _ '
Excess of amounts expensed for financial statement purpos.es over amounts deducted for
income tax purposes:
Insurance liabilities B o o $ 47002 § O 44,192
Pension liability ' 2,733 3,204
Operating lease .gl_'iabi_ﬁtjies @ B _ e o B 7 B —
Deferred compensation ' ' - 7 32,685 29,300
Other (mc}udmg liabilities and reserves) ‘ o ) - - _ '25,-64’? . 27,400
Total deferred income tax assets . | - 176,245 104,096
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets : ’ . (3,463) ' (3,855)
Net deférred income tax assets - ) ' 172,782 100,241
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Costs capitalized for financial statement purposes and deducted for income tax purposes:
Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets - (156,604) {152,761)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (65,090} -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipiment (18,622) {14,904)
Other (4,212) {3,424}
Total deferred income tax ligbilities - (244,528) {171,089}
Net deferred income tax liabilities $ (71,746) § (70,848)

(1) Asdiscussed in Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the notes to consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2019,
we adopted the accounting pronouncement issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™), which required lessees to record
right-of-use assets and cotresponding lease liabilities on the balance sheet for maost leases. We adopted this pronouncement utilizing the
transition practical expedient added by the FASB, which eliminated the requirement that entities apply the new lease standard to the
comparative periods presented in the year of adoption.

The components of the net deferred income tax liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets are included in
“Orther assets™ in the amount of $3.4 million and $4.7 millien and *Other long-term obligations™ in the amount of §75.2 miliion
and $75.5 million, at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred income tax assets when it is more likely than not that
a tax benefit will not be realized. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the total valuation allowance on deferred income tax assets
was approximately $3.5 million and §3.9 million, respectively, related to state and local net operating losses. Although realization
is not assured, we believe it is more likely than not that the deferred income tax assets, net of the valuation allowance discussed
above, will be realized. The amount of the deferred income tax assets considered realizable, however, could be reduced if estimates
of future income are reduced.

At December 31, 2019, there are no longer any trading losses available for United Kingdom income tax purpeses. At December
31, 2018, we had trading losses for United Kingdom income tax purposes of approximately $4.2 million, which were utilized in
2019 and are subject to review by the United Kingdom taxing authority.

Realization of our deferred income tax assets is dependent on our generating sufficient taxable income in the jurisdictions in

which such deferred tax assets will reverse. We believe that our deferred income tax assets will be tealized through projected future
income,
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NOTE 14 - SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS - {Continued)

The income tax beneflt derived in 2019, 2018, and 2017 as a result of stock option exercises and other share-based compensation
was approximately $2.6 million, $3.6 million, and §3.9 million, respectively, of which approximately $1.0 million, $1.6 million,
and $1.6 million, respectively, represented excess tax benefits. The total intrinsic value of options (the amounts by which the stock
price exceeded the exercise price of the option on the date of exercise) that were exercised during 2019, 2018, and 2017 was
approximately 1.2 million, $2.7 million, and $2.3 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, 20,000 options, 40,000 options and 93,000 options were outstanding and exercisable,
respectively. The weighted average exercise price for all such options was $24.48. The total aggregate intrinsic value of options
outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were approximately $1.2 million, $1.4 million, and $5.3
million, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about our outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2019:

Stock Options Outstanding and Exercisable

Range of Weighted Average Weighted Average
Exercise Prices Number Remaining Life Exercise Price
$24.48 : 20,000 0.45 Years : $24.48

We have an employee stock purchase plan. Under the terms of this plan, the maximum number of shares of our common stock
~that may be purchased is 3,000,000 shares, Generally, our corporate employees and non-union employees of cur United States

" subsidiaries are eligible to participate in this plan. Employees covered by collective bargaining agreements generally are not eligible

" to participate in this plan.
NOTE 15 - RETIREMENT PLANS
Defined Benefit Plans

Our United Kingdom subsidiary has a defined benefit pension plan covering all eligible employees (the “UK Plan™); however,
no individual joining the company after October 31, 2001 may participate in the UK Plan, On May 31, 2010, we curtailed the
firture accrual of benefits for active employees under this plan.

We account for the UK Plan and other defined benefit plans in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 715,
“Compensation-Retirement Benefits™ (“ASC 7157). ASC 715 requires that (a) the funded status, which is measured as the difference
between the fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit obligations, be recorded in our balance sheet with a corresponding
adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income {loss) and (b) gains and losses for the differences between actuarial
assumptions and actual results, and unrecognized service costs, be recognized through accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss). These amounts will be subsequently recognized as net periodic peusion cost.
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NOTE 15 - RETIREMENT PLANS - (Continued)

~The components of net periodic pension cost (income) of the UK Plan for the years ended December 31,2016, 2018, and 2017
were as follows {in thousands):

2019 2018 2017
Inferest cost T ' - % 7961 $ 8085-§ 8,62
Expected return on plan assets - - (12,165) ' (13,797) ('13,508)
Amortization of urrecognized loss ' o ' ' 2,342 2,630 2,942
Net periodic pension cost (incdme) $ (1,862) $ (3,082) § {1,944)

Actuarial gains and losses are amortized using a corridor approach whereby cumulative gains and losses in excess of the greater
of 10% of the pension benefit obligation or the fair value of plan assets are amortized over the average life expectancy of plan
participants. The amortization period for 2019 was 25 years.

The reclassification adjustment, net of income taxes, for the UK Plan from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net
periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 was approximately $1.9 million, $2.1 million, and
$2.3 million, respectively. The estimated unrecognized loss for the UK Plan that will be amortized from accumulated other
comprehensive loss into net periodic pension cost over the next year is approximately $2.0 million, net of income taxes.

UK Plan Assets

The investment policies and strategies for the assets of the UK Plan are established by its trustees (whao are independent of the
Company) to achieve a reasonable balance between risk, likely retum, and administration expense, as well as to maintain funds
at a level to meet minimum funding requirements. In order to ensure that an appropriate investment strategy is in place, an analysis
of the UK Plan’s assets and liabilities is completed pericdically. Target allocation percentages vary over time depending on the
perceived risk and retumn potential of various asset classes and market conditions. The weighted average asset allocations and
weighted average target allocations at December 31, 2016 and 2018 were as follows:

Target
Asset Becember 31, December 31,

Asset Category Allacation 2019 2018

Debt : 65.0% 70.6% 71.2%
Equity 15.0% 10.5% 13.4%
Cash : 10.0% 10.5% - 6.1%
Real estate 10.0% 8.4% 9.3%
Total 100.0% 100.0% 160.0%

Plan assets of our UK Plan are invested through third-party fund managers in various investments with underlying holdings
which consist of: (a) debt securities, which include United Kingdom government debt and United States, United Kingdom, European
and emerging market corporate debt, (b) equity securities, which include marketable equity and equity like instruments across
developed global equity markets, and (¢} real estate assets, which represent trusts which invest directly or indirectly in various
properties throughout the United Kingdom.

Assets of the UK Plan are allocated within the fair value hierarchy discussed in Note 11 - Fair Value Measurements, based on
the nature of the investment. Level | assets represent cash. Level 2 assets consist of corporate debt funds, government bond funds,
and equity funds whose underlying investments are valued using observable marketplace inputs. The fair value of the level 2 assets
are generally determined under a market approach using valuation models that incorporate observable inputs such as interest rates,
bond vields, and quoted prices.
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NOTE 15 - RETIREMENT PLANS - (Centinued)
Cash Flows:
Contributions

Our United Kingdom subsidiary expects to contribute approximately $4.8 million to the UK Plan in 2020.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following estimated benefit payments are expected to be paid in the following years (in thousands):

Pension

Benefit

Payments
2020 $ 12,887
2021 $ 13,240
2022 - $ 13,603
2023 § 13,976
2024 $ . 14358
Succeeding five years b 77,912

The following table shows certain nfermation for the UK Plan where the accumulated benefit obligation is in excess of plan
7 agsets as of December 31,2019 and 2018 (in thousands);

2019 2018
Projected benefit obligation . % 322766 & 281,775
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 322,766 § 281,776
Fair value of plan assels $ 307,001 § 264,194

We also spansor three domestic retirement plans in which participation by new individuals is frozen. The benefit obligation
associated with these plans as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately $9.2 million and $8.5 million, respectively. The
estimated fair value of the plan assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately $5.7 million and $4.9 million,
respectively. The plan assets are considered Level 1 assets within the fair value hierarchy and are predominantly invested in cash,
equities, and equity and bond funds, The liability balances as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are classified as “Other long-term
obligations™ in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The measurement date for these plans is December 31 of each
year. The major assumptions used in the actuarial valuations to determine benefit abligations as of December 31, 2019 and 2018
included discount rates of 3.00% to 4.00% for 2019 and 4.00% to 4.25% for 2018. Also, included was an expected rate of return
of 7.00% for both 2019 and 2018, The net periodic pension cost associated with the domestic plans was approximately $0.3 million
for each of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. The reclassification adjustment, net of income taxes, from accumulated
other comprehensive loss into net periedic pension cost was approximately $0.2 million for each of the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018, and 2017. The estimated loss for these plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into
net periodic pension cost over the next year is approximately $0.3 million, net of income taxes. The future estimated benefit
payments expected to be paid from the plans for the next ten years is approximately $0.6 million per year.

Multiemployver Plans

We participate in approximately 200 multiemployer pension plans (“MEPPs”} that provide retirement benefits to certain unjon
employees in accerdance with various collective bargaining agreements (“CBAs™). As one of many participating employers in an
MEPP, we are potentially liable with the other participating emplovers for such plan's underfunding elther through an increase in
out required contributions, or in the case of our withdrawal from the plan, a payment based upon our proportionate share of the
plan's unfunded benefits, in each case, as described below. Our contributions to a particular MEPP are established by the applicable
CBAs; however, our required contributions may increase based on the funded status of an MEPP and legal requirements of the
Pension Protection Act of 2006 (the “PPA™), which requires substantially underfunded MEPPs to implement a funding improvement
plan (“FIP*) or a rehabilitation plan (“RP™) to improve their funded status. Factors that could impact the funded status of an MEPP
include, without limitation, investment performance, changes in the participant demographics, decline in the number of contributing
emlovers. chanees in actnarial assumntions and the utilization of extended amaortizatinn nrovisions.
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NOTE 15 - RETIREMENT PLANS - (Continued)

il T Expiration
PPA Zone Status Contributions Contributions date or range
EIN/ greater than 5% of expiration
Persion Pian FIP/RP of total plan dafes of
Pension Fund Number 2019 2018 Status 2018 2018 2017 contributions @ CBA(s)
Heating, Piping & Refrigeration - ’ o . = Fupe 2020 to
Pension Fund - 52-1058013 001 Green Green WA 4,185 2619 2437 - No - Juiy 2021
U A Local 393 Pension Trust June 2020 v
Fund Defined BEenefit 94-6355772 002 Green Green NA 3858 4,298 1,540 Yes June 2021
San Diego Electrical Pension L : _ Co C ' S May 20201
Plan - : 95-6101801 001 Green. .  Green . NA -7 - 3843 3,008 - 2,862 o Yes - May 2022
Eighth District Electrical Pension May 2020 {0
Fund 84-6100393 001 Green Green NA 3,590 3,486 3,786 Yes May 2022
Souther CaliformiaPipe Trades .-~ = o . R LT o T e a0
Reﬁremantfund _51-6108443 001_ Green Green - NA o 3,274 3,095 _3,‘907 Ne . Angust 2026
Electrical Contractors
Association and Local Union
134, IBEW Joint Pension Trust of
Chicago Pension Plan 2 51-6030753 002 Green Green NA 3204 4308 5,537 No May 2020
Worthemn California Pipe Trades . : - June 2020 to
Pension Plan 94-3196386 001 (Green Green, WA 3,077 3,104 2,943 No June 2021
NECA-IBEW Pension Trust May 2020 to
Fund 51-6029903 001 Green Green NA 2,528 2,650 3,060 No 2020
U A Phimbers Local 24'Pen.sicn -
Fund 22-6042823 001 Creen Green NA 2.460 3461 3,092 Yes April 2020
Sheet Metal Workers Pension
Plan of Southern California, Tune 2020 1o
Artizona & Nevada 95-6052257 {01 Yellow Yellow Tmpiemented 2,423 1,934 3,268 No Tune 2024
Connecticat Plumbers &
Pipefitiers Pension Fund 08-6050353 041 Grean Green NA 2231 2,104 1.98% Yes June 2021
U A Local 38 Defined Benefit June 2020 to
Pensian Plan 94-128531% 001 Green Green NA 2,030 1,551 2,097 No June 2023
Plumbing & Pipe Fitting Loesl ) :
219 Pension Fund 34-6682376 001 Red Red Tmplemented 1,937 2,197 1,335 Yes May 2020
. . September
Boilennaker-Blacksmith National 2020 10
Pension Trust 48-6168028 001 Red Red implemented 1,681 1,446 1,083 No April 2022
Plumbers & Pipefitiers Local . - B : _
Union No 502 & 633 Pension May 2020 to
Fund 61-6078145 001 Yellow Vellow Tmplemented 1,596 1,167 801 No Tuly 2022
Plumbers & Pipefitters Local 162 May 202010
Pension Fund 31-6125999 001 Yellow Yellow Implemented 1,124 1,273 801 Yes May 2022
Steamfitters Local Union o - T : )
420 Pension Plan 23-2004424 (01 Red Red Implemented - 641 106 687 Mo May 2020
Other Multiempleyer Pension
Plans 53,567 48,026 43,604 Various
Total Coniributions : _ . $215,478 © §190229  §179216

(1) The zone status represents the nrost recent available information for the respective MEPP. which may be 2018 or earlier for the 2019 year and 2017 ar earlier
for the 2018 year.

(2) This information was obtzined from the respective plan’s Form 5300 (“Forms”) for the most current available filing. These dates may not correspond with
aur fiscal year coniributions. The above noted percentages of contributions are based upon disclosures contained in the plans® Forms, Those Forms, among
other things, disclose the names of individual participating employers whose annual contributions account for smore than 5% of the aggregate annual amount
contributed by all participating employers for a plan year. Accordingly, if the annual contribution of two or more of our subsidiaries each accounted for less

than 5% of such coniributions, but in the aggregafe accounted for in excess of 5% of such contributions, that greater percentage is not available 2nd sccordingly
is not disclosed.



i

ES I

EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

we comply with all applicable regulations governing the discharge of hazardous materials mio the environment or otherwise relating
to the protection of the environment.

Af December 31, 2019, we employed appreximately 36,000 people, approximately 59% of whom are represented by various
unions pursuant to approximately 400 collective bargaining agreements between our individual subsidiaries and local unions. We

believe that our employee relations are generally good, Only twa of these collective bargaining agreements are national or regional
in scope.

Restructuring expenses, primarily related to employee severance obligations, were $1.5 million, $2.3 million, and $1.6 million
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, the balance of
our restructuring related obligations yet to be paid was $1.6 million, $1.6 million, and $0.5 million, respectively. The majority of
obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were paid during 2019 and 2018, respectively. The obligations
outstanding as of December 31, 2019 will be paid pursuant to our contractual obligations throughout 2020 and 2021, No material
expenses in connection with restructiring from continuing operations are expected to be incurred during 2020.

The changes in restructuring activity by reportable segment during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows
{in thousands):

United States

electrieal
construction United States
and facilities building Corporate
services segment  services segment  administration Total

Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 452 % 40 3 — 3 492
Charges — 882 1,424 2,306
Payments (422) - {746) — {1,168
Balance at December 31, 2018 30 176 1,424 1,630
Charges ' 443 1,078 — 1,523
Payments (30 (842) (723) (1,595
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 445 % 412 % 701 % 1,558

Government Contracts

As a government contractor, we are subject to U.S, government audits and investigations relating to our cperations, fines,
penalties and compensatory and treble damages, and possible suspension or debarment from doing business with the government.
Based on currently available information, we believe the outcome of ongoing government disputes and investigations will not
have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

Legal Matters

We are involved in several legal procesdings in which damages and claims have been asserted against us, We believe that we
have a number of valid defenses to such proceedings and claims and intend to vigorously defend ourselves. Other potential claims
may exist that have not yet been asserted against us. We do not believe that any such matters will have a material adverse effect
on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties and the outcome of litigation
is not predictable with assurance. It is possible that some litigation matters for which liabilities have not been recorded could be
decided unfavorably to us, and that any such unfavorable decisions could bave a material adverse effect on our financial position,
results of operations or liguidity.

NOTE 17 Leases

On January 1, 2019, we adopted Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, “Leases” (“*ASC 842%), This pronouncement
requires lessees to record right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities on the balance sheet for most leases. We adopted
this pronouncement utilizing the transition practical expecdient which eliminates the requirement that the new lease standard be
applied to comparative periods presented in the year of adoption.
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NOTE 17 - LEASES (Continued)
Leagse Costs

The following table presents information related 1o lease expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

2019

Finance Jease expense: _ .

Amortization expense - b 4,575
. Interestexpense - - . ' _ 427
Operating lease expense ' - 66,650
Short-term lease expense . o ' o ' 149,528
Variable lease ei;pense ' - 4924
Total lease expense - . S $ 0 226,104

Rent expense for operating leases and other rental items, including short-term equipment rentals, for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017 was approximately $121.8 million and $166.5 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31,2019,2018,
and 2017, sublease rental income was approximately $0.5 million, $0.6 million, and $0.6 million, respectively.

Lease Term and Discount Rate

The following table presents certain information related to lease terms and discount rates for leases as of December 31, 2019:

December 33,
2619

Weighted-average remaining lease term:

Operating leases 6.7 years

Finance leases 2.9 years
Weighed-average discount rate:

Operating leases . 4.04%

Finance leases 4.16%

Other Information

The following table presents supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the year ended December 31, 2019 (in
thousands):

2019
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease labilities: .
Operating cash flows used for'operating leases $ 65,757
" Operating cash flows nsed for finance leases $ C 427
Finanecin g cash flows used for finance leases 3 4,571
Right—éf—wse assets obtained in exchange for new cperating lease liabilities 5 84,089
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities $ 3,311

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2G17 (prior to the adoption of ASC 842), assets acquired under capital leases
amounted to approximately $1.1 million and $1.3 million, respectively.
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NOTE 19 - SEGMENT INFORMATION - (Continued)

and bodies; and small modification and retrofit projects, which services are nof generally related to customers’ construction
programs. The “United States industrial services™ segment principally consists of those operations which provide industrial
maintenance and services for refineries, petrochemical plants, and other custorners within the oil and gas industry. Services of this
segment include refinery fumaround planning and engineering; specialty welding; overhaul and maintenance of critical process
units; specialty technical services; on-site repairs, maintenance and service of heat exchangers, towers, vessels and piping; design,
manufacturing, repair, and hydro blast cleaning of shell and tube heat exchangers and related equipment; and construction,

maintenance, aud other support services for customers within the upstream and midstream sectors.

The following tables present information about industry segments and geographic areas for the years ended December 31, 2019,

2018, and 2017 (in thousands):

Revenues from unrelated entlties
o Umted States electncal consmlcuon and facﬂmes servwes

Unlted States mechamcal constructlon and facﬂ]tles servwes
United States hulldmg services:
United States industrial services
“Total United States operatlans
United ngdom building services -
Total worldwide operations

Total revenues:
United States electrical constraction and facilities services
United States mechanical construction and facilities services
United States buildin g services
United States industrial services
Less intersegment revenues
Total United States operations
United Kingdom building services
Total worldwide operations

81

2019 2018 2017
$ 2,216,600 '$1,954323  § 1,829,567
3340337 2,962,843 2,880,148
2,106,872 1875485 1,753,703
1,087,543 923,109 882,836
8,751,352 7,715,760 7,346,254
423,259 414,871 340,743
$ 9,174,611 §8,130,631 §$ 7,686,999
$2220,582 §$1,959,978 § 1,836,985
3,370,960 2,998918 2,911,035
2,182,390 1,942,663 1,812,763
1111264 930,724 885,198
(133,844)  (116,523)  (99,725)
8,751,352 7,715,750 7,346,254
423,259 414871 340,745
$9,174,611 §8,130,631 S 7,686,999
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2019 2018 2017
Contract assets:
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 50813 § 38412 § 35060
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 61,225 49,302 50,302
United States bu’ﬂding services 30,428 33,304 26,028
United States industrial services ' 9,820 14,- 117 3,715
Total United States operations o 152,286 135,135 115,105
United Kingdmﬁ building services 25,544 23,108 7 516
Total worldwide operations ‘ ' $ 177830 % 158243 § - 122,621
Contract liabilities:
United States electrical construction and facilities services C % 173967 $ 163951 § 178454
 United States mechanical construction znd facilities services 317,083 280,846 ' 288,699
United States building services _ ' 97,588 79,281 48,481
United States industrial services 12,404 12,307 4,615
Total United States operations ' 601,042 536,385 520,249
United Kingdom building services 22,600 15,903 3,907
Total worldwide operatioris $ 623642 § 552,290 § 524,156
Long-lived assets:
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 215780 §$ 201,333 $° 180,990
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 530,561 334,628 340,030
United States building services 458,915 436,887 409,718
United States industrial services 615,233 630,340 643,124
Total United States operations 1,820,489 1,603,188 1,573,862
United Kingdom building services 9,622 9,264 11,72%
Caorporate administration 1,431 1,072 1,494
Total worldwide operations $ 1,831,542 § 1,613,524 § 1,587,085
Total assets:
Tinited States electrical construction and facilities services $ 834,802 § 702,112 & . 617,471
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 1,536,325 1,081,005 1,071,164
United States building services - - ) : 996,664 846,221 - 764,085
United States industrial services 829,793 864,446 798,975
Total United States operations 4,197,584 3,493,784 © 3,251,695
United Kingdom building services 181,147 146,379 131,806
Corporate administration . 451,027 A48,644 . 582,403
Total worldwide operations § 4,830,358 §$ 4,088,807 § 3,965,904

During 2018, we recognized losses of $10.0 million on a transportation project within our United States electrical construction
and facilities services segment, resulting in part from contract scope issues. During 2017, we recognized $18.1 million of gross

profit associated with the recovery of certain contract costs previously disputed on a project completed in 2016 within our United
States industrial services segment,



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Dirsctors of EMCOR Group, Inc. and subsidiaries:
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying conschidated belance sheets of EMCOR Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, equity and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed
in the Index at Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referred fo as the “consalidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2019 and 2018,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles,

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOR), the Company’s internal conirol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comunission (2013
framework) and our report dated February 27, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinicn thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinicn on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Conumnission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error
or fraud. Qur audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond fo those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the acconnting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasoniable basis for our opinjon.

Critical Audit Matters .

The critical andit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that
were communicated or required o be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the financial statements and (2} mvolved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The
comnumication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters
or on the accounts or disclosures fo which they relate.



Description gf
the Mater

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Cur
Audit

Valuation of Goodwill and Indefinite Lived Intangible Assels

At December 31, 2019, the Company’s goodwill and indefinite lived trade name intangible assets were
approximately $1,063.9 million and $199.2 million, respectively. As discussed in Note § to the consolidated
financial statements, goodwill and trade names with indefinite lives are tested for impairment at least annually.

Auditing management’s annual impairment tests was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant
estimation required in determining the fair value of the reporting units for goodwill and the fair value of
trade name intangible assets, In particular, the fair value estimates for goodwill were sensitive fo significant
assumptions inherent in the Company’s discounted estimated future cash flows such as the weighted average
cost of capital, revenue growth rates, and operating margins. The fair value estimates for trade name intangible
assets were sensitive to significant assumptions inherent in the Company’s discounted estimated future cash
flows such as the royalty rate, discount rate, and revenue growth rates, The fair value estimates for goodwill
and trade name intangible assets are affected by expectations about future market or ecoromic conditions.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over
the Company’s impairment review processes for goodwill and trade name intangible assets. For example,
we tested controls over management’s review of the valuation models and significant assumptions described
above, including those developed by the Company's third-party valuation specialists.

To test the estimated fair vafue of the Company’s reporting units and trade name intangible assets, with the
support of a valuation specialist, we performed audit procedures that included, among others, assessing
methodologies and testing the significant assumptions and completeness and accuracy of the underlying
data used by the Company in its analyses. For example, we compared the significant assumptions used by
management to the historical financial results of the Company’s reporting units and to current industry and
economic trends. We assessed the historical accuracy of management’s estimates by comparing past
projections te actual performance and performed sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions to evaluate
the changes in fair value that would result from changes in the assumptions. In addition, we reviewed the
reconciliation of the aggregate fair value of the Company’s reporting units to the market capitalization of
the Company.
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Report of Independent Registered Publie Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of EMCOR Group, Inc. and subsidiaries;
Opinion on Internal Control Over Finzncial Reporting

We have audited EMCOR Group, Inc, and subsidiaries’ contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations ofthe Treadway
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, EMCOR Group, Ine. and subsidiaries (the Company)
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal contro! over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on the COSO
criteria.

As indicated in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management’s
assessment of and conclusion on the effectivensss of interral control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls
of Batchelor & Kimball, Inc. ("BKI"), which is included in the 2019 consolidated financial statements of the Company and
constituted 1.9% of total assets as of December 31, 2019 and 0.4% of total revenues for the year then ended, Qur audit of internal

control over financial reporting of the Company alse did net include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting
of BKI.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the 2019 consolidated financial statements cf the Company and our report dated February 27, 2020 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

Bacis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report
~on Internal Control over Financial Reperting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal contro! over
“financial reporting based on our audit. We are apublic accounting firmregistered with the PCAOB and arerequired to be independent
‘with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
-Securities and Exchange Cominission and the PCAOB,

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Thaose standards require that we plan and perform the
- audit to obfain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal cantrol over financial reporting was maintained in all material
- respects.

QOur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluafing the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonabie
basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limifations of Internal Control Qver Finzucial Reporfing

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes thase policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and {3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of amy evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate hecause
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate,

fs/ ErnsT & Young LLP

Stamford, Connecticut
February 27, 2020
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PART 111
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Ttem 10 with respect to directors is incorporated herein by reference to the Section of our
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2020 Arnual Meeting of Stockholders entitled “Election of Directors,” which Proxy Statement
is to be filed with the Sscurities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after the end of
the fiscal year to which this Form 10-K relates (the “Proxy Statement”). The information required by this Item 10 concerning
compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is incorporated herein by reference to the section of the
Proxy Statement entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.” The information required by this Ttem 10
concerning the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors and Audit Cominittee financial experts is incorporated by reference to
the section of the Proxy Statement entitied “Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors™ and “Corporate Governance.”
The information required by this Item 10 regarding stockholder recommendations for director candidates is incorperated by
reference to the section of the Proxy Statement entitled “Recomimendations for Director Candidates.” Information regarding our
executive officers is contained in Part 1 of this Form 10-K following Item 4 under the heading “Executive Officers of the Registrant,”
We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer and our Senior Financial Officers, which is listed
on the Exhibit Index.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Executive Compensation and Related Information,” “Potential Post Employment
Payments,” “Director Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Compensation
Committee Report.”

ITI;M 12, SECURITY OWNERSHEIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Tftem 12 (other than the information required by Section 201(d) of Regulation S-K, which is
set forth in Part I1, tem 5 of this Form 10-K) is incorporated herein by reference to the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners™ and “Security Ownership of Management.”

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Hem 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Corporate Governance.”

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information reguired by this Ttem 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the section of the Proxy Statement entitled
“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditors.”



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 27, 2020

EMCOR GROUP, INC.
(Registrant)

BY: s/ ANTHONY J. GUZZI
Anthony J. Guzzi
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 27, 2020.

/s/ AxrtaONY J. Guzz Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Anthony J. Guzzi (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ MaRrK A. POMPA

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Mark A. Pompa

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Jsf Jorn W ALTMEVER

Director
John W. Altmeyer
/s/ Davip A. B, BRoww Director
David A. B. Brown
/sf RicuarD F. Hanm, TR, Director
Richard ¥. Hamm, Jr.
fs/ Davip H. Lamiey Director
David H. Laidley
/s/ CaroL P. Lowe Director
Carol P. Lowe
fs/ M. Kevin McEvoy Director
M. Kevin McEvoy
/s/ WiLLlamM P. REID Director
William P, Reid
/s/ STEVEN B. SCHWARZWAELDER Director
Steven B. Schwarzwaelder
/s/ ROBIN WALKER-LEE Director

Robin Walker-Lee
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Incorporated By Reference to or
Filed Herewith, as Indicated Below

2{(a)

3(a-1)

3(a-2)

3(a-3)

3(a-4)

a-5)

53(b)

4a)

4(b)

4(c)

A(d)

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of June 17,2013
by and among Texas Tumarownd LLC, a Delaware
Iimited liability company, Altair Strickland Group, Inc.,
a Texascorporation, Rep Holdings LLC, a Texaslimited
liability company, ASG Key Employee LLC, a Texas
limited liability company, Repcon Key Employee LLC,
a Texas limited liability company, Gulfstar MBII, Ltd,,
a Texas limited partnership, The Trustee of the James T.
Robinson and DianaJ, Robinson 2010 Irrevocable Trust,
The Trustee of the Steven Rothbauer 2012 Descendant’s
Trust, The Co-Trustees of the Patia Strickland 2012
Descendant’s Trust, The Co-Trustees of the Carter
Strickland 2012 Descendant’s Trust, and The Co-
Trustees of the Walton 2012 Grandchildren’s Trust
(collectively, “Sellers”) and EMCOR Group, Inc.

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of EMCOR filed
December 15, 1994

Amendment dated November 28, 1995 to the Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of EMCOR.

Amendment dated February 12, 1998 to the Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of EMCOR

Amendment dated January 27, 2006 to the Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of EMCOR

Amendment dated September 18, 2007 to the Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of EMCOR

Amended and Restated By-Laws and Amendments
thereto

Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as
of August 3, 2016 by and among EMCOR Group, Inc.
and a subsidiary and Bank of Montreal, as Agent and
the lenders listed on the signature pages thereof (the
“Credit Agreement™)

Fifth Amended and Restated Security Agreement dated
as of August 3, 2016 among EMCOR, certain of its U.S.
subsidiaries, and Bank of Montreal, as Agent

Fifth Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement dated
as of August 3, 2016 among EMCOR, certain of its U.S.
subsidiaries, and Bank of Montreal, as Agent

Fourth Amended and Restated Guaranty Agreement
dated as of Aungust 3, 2016 by certain of EMCOR’s U.S.
subsidiaries in favor of Bank of Monireal, as Agent

Exhibit 2.1 1o EMCOR’s Report on Form 8-K (Date of
Report June 17. 2613)

Exhibit 3(a-5) to EMCOR’s Registration Statement on
Form 10 as originallv filed March 17. 1995 (“Form 10™)

Exhibit 3(a-2) to EMCOR's Annual Report on Form

10-K for the vear ended December 31. 1995 (%1595
Form 10-K™™)

Exhibit 3{a-3) to EMCOR’s Annual Report on Form

10-K for the vear ended December 31, 1997 (1997
Form 10-K™)

Exhibit 3(a-4) to EMCOR's Anpual Report on Form

10-E for the vear ended December 31. 2005 {2405
Form 10-K™)
Exhibit A to EMCOR’s Proxyv Statement dated Avgust

17. 2007 for Special Meeting of Stockholders held
September 18. 2007

Exhibit 3¢k} to EMCOR’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the vear ended December 31. 2016 (2016 Form
10-K>

Exhibit 4(a) to EMCOR’s Cuarterly Report on Form

10-0Q for the guarter ended September 30, 2014
{*“September 2016 Form 10-0™)

Exhibit 4(b) to the September 2016 Form 10-0

Exhibit 4(¢) to the September 2016 Form 10-0

Exhibit 4{d) 1o the September 2016 Form 16-0




EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Incorporated By Reference ta or
No, Description Filed Herewith, as Indicated Below
10G) Amendment dated as of March 29, 2010 to Severance  Exhibit 10.1 to Form §-K (Date of Report March 29.
Agreement with Anthony J. Guzzi, R. Kevin Matz and  2010) (“March 2010 Form 8-K™)
Mark A. Pompa
10(k-1) Severance Agreement dated as of October 26, 2016 Exhibit 10(]-1) to the September 2016 Form 10-0Q
between EMCOR and Maxine 1. Mauricio
10(k-2) Continuity Agreement dated as of October 26, 2016  Exhibit 10(1-2) to the September 2016 Form 10-Q
between EMCOR and Maxine L. Mauricio (*Mauricio
Continuity Agreement™)
10(k-3) Amendment dated April 10, 2017 to Mauwricio Exhibit 100-3) 10 EMCOR'’s Quarterly Report on Form
Continuity Agreement 10-0 for the quarter ended March 31. 2017
10-13 EMCOR Group, Ine. Long-Term Incentive Plan  Exhibit 10 to Form 8-K (Date of Report December 35,
(“LTIP™) 5005)
16(1-2) First Amendment to LTIP and updated Schedule A to  Exhibit 10(s-2) to 2008 Form 10-K
LTIP .
100-3) Second Amendment to LTIP Exhibit 10.2 to March 2010 Form 8-K
1003-4) Third Amendment to LTIP Exhibit 10{g-4) to EMCOR’s Quarteriv Report on Form
10-O for the quarter ended March 31. 2012 (“March
2012 Form 10-O™)
= 10(-5) Fourth Amendment to LTIP Exhibit 10(1-5) to EMCOR’s Quarterlv Report on Form
' 10-0-for the quarter ended June 30, 2013
"10(1-6) Form of Certificate Representing Stock Units issued  Exhibit 10(t-2) to EMCOR’s Annua] Repart on Fom
under LTIP : 10-K for the vear ended December 31. 2007 (2007
Form 10-IK7)
16(1-7) Fifth Amendment to LTIP Exhibit 10(3-7) to EMCOR’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the vear ended December 31, 2015 (2015
: Form 10-K™)
10(1-8) Sixth Amendment to LTIP Exhibit 10(1-8Y to 2015 Form 10-K
10(m) Key Executive Incentive Bonus Flan, as amended and  Exhibit B to EMCOR’s Proxv Statement for its Annual
restated Meeting held June 13. 2013
10{(n-1} Amended and Restated 2010 Incentive Plan Exhibit [0(g-1) to EMCOR s Quarterlv Report on Form
10-0O for the guarter ended September 30, 2015
10(n-2) Form of Option Agreement under 2010 Incentive Plan  Exhibit 10(0(i-2) to EMCOR’s Quarterlv Repart on
berween EMCOR and each non-employee director with  Form 10-O for the quarter ended June 30. 2010
respect to grant of options upon re-election at June 11,
2010 Annual Meeting of Stockhoelders
10(n-3) Form of Option Agreement under 2010 Incentive Plan,  Exhibit 10(q¥q} to 2011 Form 10-K
as amended, between EMCOR and each non-employee
director electing fo receive options as part of annual
retainer
16(0} EMCOR Group, Inc. Emplayee Stock Purchase Plan Exhibit C to EMCQOR’s Proxv Statement for its Annual
Meeting held June 18. 2008
10(p) Director Award Program Adopted May 13, 2011, as  Exhibit 10(n}n to 2011 Form 10-K
amended and restated December 14, 2011
10{(g) Amendment to Option Agreements Exhibit 100 to 2011 Form 10-K
10(r) Form of Non-LTIP Stock Unit Certificats Exhibit 1 &{(p}p) to the March 31. 2012 Form 10-Q)
10(s) Form of Director Restricted Stock Uit Agreement Exhibit 100k} to EMCOR s Quarterlv Reporton Form

10-0 for the guarter ended June 39. 2012 ‘June 2012
Form 10-0°)




EXHIBIT 11

SEE NOTE 6 TO THE ACCOMPANYING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR INFORMATION
RELATING TO THE CALCULATION OF BASIC EPS AND DILUTED EPS.



EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements;
(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-168303) pertzining to the 2010 Incentive Plan of EMCOR Group, Inc.,
(2) Registration Statement (Form $-8 No. 333-152764) pertzining to the EMCOR Group, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan,
(3} Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-147015) pertzining to the 2007 Incentive Plan of EMCOR Group, Inc.,

(4) Registration Statement (Form $-8 No. 333-112940) pertaining to the EMCOR Group, Inc. Stock Option Agreements dated
as of January 4, 1999, May 5, 1999, January 3, 2000, January 2, 2001, December 14, 2001, January 2, 2002, June 19,
2002, October 25, 2002, January 2, 2003, February 27, 2003, and Janvary 2, 2004, the EMCOR Group, Inc. 2003 Non-
Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan and the EMCOR Group, Inc. 2003 Management Stock Incentive Plan, and

(5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-186926) pertaining to the EMCOR. Group, Inc. Voluntary Deferral Plan,

of our reports dated February 27, 2020, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of EMCOR Group, Inc.
and subsidiaries, and the effectiveness of internal cornitrol over financial reporting of EMCOR Group, Inc. and subsidiaries, mcluded
in this Armual Report (Form 10-K) of EMCOR Group, Inc. for the year ended December 31,2019,

/sf Ernst & Young LLP

Stamford, Connecticut
February 27, 2020



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Mark A. Pompa, certify that:

1.
2.

Lo

Date:

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of EMCOR Group, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairty present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange ActRules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)), and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this repori is belng prepared,;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

o) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal contrel
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board ef directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal contro! over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, sunumarize
and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal confrol ever financial reporting.

February 27, 2020 /s MARK. A. POMPA

Marlk A. Pompa
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1356,
A4S ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 966 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annnal Report of EMCOR Group, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), [, Mark A. Pompa,
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Sectien $06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

2, The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.

Date: February 27, 2020 /st MARK A, POMPA

Mark A. Pompa
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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EMCOR is committed to meeting our
clients’ varying needs and challenges.
From building green high-rises to keeping
refineries operating like well-ciled machines,
- and from maintaining critical facilities and
their systems to optimizing retail locations
-~ and supporting our nation's 1f;fxiiitaw bases,
~ our operations are essential for helping

© to make the most of our clients’ operations.

N
operating companies
An e strategically positioned
k: throughout 170+ locations

Corporate Headquarters
EMCOR Group, Inc., Norwalk, CT

Business Headquariers
EMCOR Construction Services, Norwalk, CT

EMCOR Building Ser_vices. Chicago, IL
EMCOR Factllifes Services, Cincinnatl, OH
EMCOR Mechaﬁical Services, Chicago, IL
EMCOR Governmery, Services, Arlington, VA
EMCOR Customer Sotutions Center, Phoenix AZ
EMCOR Industrial Services, Leaéue City, TX

EMCOR Group (UK) ple, Surbiton, England
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License No, 1222

Electrician’s License
Town of Oyster Bay
Department of Planning and Development

Town Hall Date Expires 12/31/2020

Oyster Bay, New York 11771 Date Issued 10/31/2017

Name DANIEL T. PIQUETTE Fee Paid  5150.00
Address 7 BOSTON AVENUE MEDFORD, NY 11763

TOBDPD —~ Electrician’s License — Electrician’s Copy

(géjg/ﬁg% A& Maesacnr_ *

Commissioner
Department of Planning and Development
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EXHIBIT A

RESOLVED, that the following persons be, and hereby are, elecied to hold the
affice of the Corporation set forll opposite his'her name untd] such time as histher
snccessor is elected and shall have qualified:

Joseph Florio President, Chief Executive Officer and
and Treasurer
Danie] Piguette Assistant Vice President

Michele Vealenti Asst, Secretary, Asst, Treas, and Controller



The graph assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2014 in common stock of BMCOR Group, Inc.
and in each of the indices and assumes reimvestment of ail dividends.

& SMCOR Gioup, Inc, ~ Russell 2000 tndex = Dow Jones US Heavy Construction inda
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COUNTY OF NASSAU
LOBBYIST REGISTRATION AND DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name, address and telephone number of lobbyist(s)/lobbying organization. The term "lobbyist" means any and eve
person or organization retained, employed or designated by any client to influence - or promote a matter before -
Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads, legislators or committees, including but not
limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee and Planning Commission. Such mattars include, but are nc
limited fo, requests for proposals, development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation,
procurements. The term "lobbyist" does not include any officer, director, trustee, employee, counse! or agent of the
County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

| NONE

2. List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New York State):

| NONE

3. Name, address and telephone number of clieni(s) by whom, or on whose behalf, the tobbyist is retained, employed
or designated:

| NONE

4. Describe lobbying activity conducted, or to be conducted, in Nassau County, and identify client(s) for each activity
listed. See the last page for a complete description of icbbying acfivities.

| NONE

5. The name of persons, organizaticns or governmental entities before whom the lobbyist expects to lobby:

| NONE

8. If such lobbyist is retained or employed pursuant to a written agreement of retainer or employment, you must attach
a copy of such document; and if agreement of retainer or employment is oral, attach a written staternent of e
substance thereof. If the written agreement of retainer or employment does not contain a signed authorization from the
client by whom you have been authorized to lobby. separately attach such a written authorization from the client.



The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to Influence: any determination made by the Nassau County Legisiature,
or any member thereof, with respect to the infroduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local legislation or
resolution; any determination by the County Executive fo support, oppose, approve or disapprove any iocal legislation
or resolution, whether or not such legisiation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any determination by an
elected County official or an officer or employee of the County with respect to the procurement of goods, services or
construction, including the preparation of contract specifications, including by not limited to the preparation of requests
for proposals, or solicitation, award or administration cf a contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or
administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any determination made by
the County Executive, County Legisiature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies, boards, commissions department
heads or committees, including but not timited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee, the Planning
Commission with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation.
or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to requests for proposals,
bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an elected county official o
an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition by the county cf any
interest in real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the county, or with
respect to a franchise, concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency
of any rule having the force and effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any rate making proceeding
before an agency; the agenda or any determination of a board or commission; any determination regarding the
calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight hearing; the issuance, repeal, modification or substance of a County
Executive Order; or any determination made by an elected county official or an officer or employee of the county to
support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or regulation, including any determination made to support or
oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legisiation, rule or regulation, whether or not such legislation has
been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or reguiation has been formally proposed.

The term "lobbying” or "lobhying activities" does not include: Persons engaged in drafting legislation, rules,
regulations or rates; persons advising clients and rendering opinions on proposed legislation, rules, regulations or rates
where such professional services are not otherwise connected with legislative or executive action on such legislation or
administrative action on such rutes, regulations or rates; newspapers and other periodicals and racio and television
stations and owners and employees thereof, provided that thelr activities in connection with proposed legislation, rules,
regulations or rates are limited to the publication or broadcast of news items, editorials or other comment, or paid
advertisements; persons who participate as witnesses. attorneys or other representatives in public rule-making or rate-
making proceedings of a County agency, with respect to all participation by such persons which is part of the public
record thereof and all preparation by such persons for such participation; persons who attempt to influence a County
agency in an adjudicatory proceeding, as defined by § 102 of the New York State Administrative Procedure Act.




Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past
3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES NO X [ IfYes, provide details.

NOTE: An affirmative answer Is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of iaw, or as a
result of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES", |f you
need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire,

7.

In the past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5
in which you have been a principal owner or officer:

a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ ]NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts

cancelled for cause?
YES [ | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken,

L

C. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering info any contract with it: and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business's ability to bid or propose on
contract?

YES [ ]NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or
been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?

Page 2of5b Rev 3-2N1R



YES ] NO X If yes, provide an explanafion of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

11. In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response
to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES NO X If yes, provice an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

12. In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response io Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a resuit of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional
license held?

YES NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

13. For the past 5 tax years, have you falled to fils any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessad charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.




PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hoid a ten percent
(10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space {o
answer any question, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and aftach them 1o the
questionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPILETELY. FAILURE TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE

QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL Will BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE

AND [T WILLNOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

1.

4.

Principal Name:  Michele L Valenti

Date of birth:

Home address:

City: Babylon State/Provincef/Territory:  NY Zip/Postal Code: 11702
Counfry: us

Business Address: 300 Newtown Road

City: Plainview State/Province/Territory.  NY Zip/Postal Code: 11803

Country Us

Telephone: 518-454-0023

Other present address(es):

City: State/Province/Territory: Zip/Postal Code:
Country:

- Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)

President Treasurer

Chairman of Board - Shareholder

Chief Exec. Officer Secretary

Chief Financial Officer Partner

Vice President

(Other)

Type Description Start Date
Other _ Asst. Secretary / Asst. Treasurer 068/01/2002

Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES ] NO X I If Yes, provide details.

|

Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of
contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnzire?

YES NO X If Yes, provide details.

\




Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or
been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any poriion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptey proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?

YES [ 1NO If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to
all questions check "Yes". If you need mare space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the
guestionnaire.)

a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?

YES NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken,
!

b. fs there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?

YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
I

C. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?

YES | NO X | if yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
!

d. In the past 10 vears, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime,
an element of which relates to truthfuiness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of
business? Y
YES i:l NO if yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

| taken.

e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?

YES NO if yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
r
f. In the past 5 years, have you been found in viclation of any administrative or statutory charges?

YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corractive action
taken.




[, | Michele L Valenti | , hereby acknowledge that a materially faise statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting businass entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me fo criminal charges.

I, | Michele L Valenti | , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied fuli and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will hotify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring
after the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowiedge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional
inducement fo enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY CR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WiTH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Welsbach Electric Corp. of L.1.

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and cettified at the date and time indicated by:

Michele L Valenti [MVALENTI@EMCOR.NET]

Asst. Secretary / Asst. Treasurer

Title -

05/09/2020 09:25:31 PM

Date

Pacge50f5 Rev. 3-2016



5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization
other than the one submitting the questionnaire?

YES | NO X _1If Yes, provide details.
[

8. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Saction 5 in the past
3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES NO X I If Yes, provide details.
L

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a
result of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". if you
need mare space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past (5) years, have you and/or any affillated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5
in which you have been a principal cwner or officer:
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken,
I
b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts

cancelled for cause?
YES | I No If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

C. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-gualification standards?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business's ability to bid or propose on
contract?

YES [ |NO if yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.




10.

1.

12.

13.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past & years, have you
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related
to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed

in response to Question 57
YES NO X if ves, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response
to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory

agencies while you were a principal owner or officer?
YES NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and correciive action taken.

In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business [listed in response to Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional

ticense held?
YES NO X if yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken,

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed fo pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or cther assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES NO [ X |Ifves, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.




COUNTY OF NASSAU
CONSULTANT'S, CONTRACTOR'S AND VENDOR'S DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name of the Entity: Welsbach Eiectric Corp, of L.1.

Address: 300 Newfown Rd

City:  Plainview State/Province/Territory:  NY Zip/Postal Code: 11803

Country: Us

2. Entity's Vendor |dentification Number: 11-2354251

3. Type of Business: Public Corp {specify)

4. List names and addresses of all principals; that is, all individuals serving on the Board of Directors or comparable
body, all partners and limited partners, all corporate officers, all parties of Joint Ventures, and all members and
officers of limited liability companies (attach additional sheets if necessary):

1 File(s) uploaded WEC LI Officer Affidavit.pdf
No principals have been attached fo this form.

5. List names and addresses of all shareholders, members, or partners of the firm. If the shareholder is not an
individual, list the individual shareholders/partners/members. If a Publicly held Corporation, include a copy of the
10K inTieu of completing this section.
If none, explain,
| See Emoor Group, Inc. 2019 Annual Report (10k), Page 6 for officers of Emcor Group, Inc. and Board of Directors. ]

2 File(s) uploaded EME_AR_10K_2018.pdf, EME_AR_10K_2019.pdf
No shareholders, members, or partners have been attached fo this form.

6. List all affiliated and related companies and their relationship to the firm entered on line 1. above (if none, enter
"None"). Attach a separate disclosure form for each affiliated or subsidiary company that may take part in the
performance of this contract. Such disclosure shall be updated to include affiliated or subsidiary companies not
previously disclosed that participate in the performance of the confract.

See Emcor Group, Inc. 2019 Annual Report page 100 for affiliated companies. (Annual Report attached under Questic
3). Welsbach Electric Corp. of L.1. is the only Emcor subsidiary that will be taking part in the performance of any Nassa
County contracts.

7. List all lobbyists whose services were utilized at any stage in this matter (i.e., pre-bid, bid, post-bid, etc.). If none, en
"None." The term "lobbyist" means any and every person or organization retained, employed or designated by any clie
to influence - or promote a matter before - Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads,
legislators or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Commitiee and Planning
Commission. Such matters include, but are not fimited to, requests for proposals, development or improvement of real
property subject to County reguiation, procurements. The term "lobbyist" does not include any officer, director, frustee,
employee, counsel or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

Are there lobbyists involved in this matter?
YES [ ]NO

(&) Name, title, business address and telephone number of lobbyist(s):
| None.




The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County
Legislature, or any member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local
tegislation or resolution; any determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any
local legisltation or resolution, whether or nof such legislation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any
determination by an elected County official or an officer or employee of the County with respect to the procurement of
goods, services or construction, including the preparation of contract specifications, inctuding by not limited to the
preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or administration of a contract or with respect to the
solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any
determination made by the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies, boards,
commissions, department heads or committees, inciuding but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory
Committee, the Planning Commission, with respect o the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property
subject to County regulation, or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respeact to
requests for proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an
elected county official or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition
by the county of any interest in reat property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the
county, or with respect to a franchise, concassion or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or
rejection by an agency of any ruie having the force and affect of law; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any
rate making proceeding before an agency; the agenda or any determination of a board or commission; any
determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight hearing; the issuance, repeal,
modification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by an elected county official or an
officer or employee of the county to support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or regulation, including any
determination made to support or oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation, rule or regulation,
whether or not such legisiation has been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has been
formally proposed.

Denmm D ~F 2



Weaishach Soctrie Gor, of L1

EXHIBIT A

RESOLVED, that the following persons be, and hereby are, elected to hold the
office of the Corporation set forth opposite his/her name until such dme as histher
suocessor is elecied and shall have qualified;

Joseph Florio President, Chief Executive Officer and
and Treasurer
Danie] Piquette Asgsistent Vice President

Michele Valenti Asst, Secretary, Asst, Treas, and Controller



_and that was just 0118 6T 0L accomplishments.

Acquisitions
As we grow, our influence
grows, in 2019, we welcomed
seven new companies to the
ERCOR famity—expanding impacts healthcare
our knowledge, our skills, qualtty, transportation
and our nationat footprint. improvements, digitat
infrastructure—and is
vital o the nation’s
prograss. Our work
touches miliions of tives,




was a fantastic year for EMCOR.
We worked aver 80+ million hours in the field,

&0+ million hours worked is a stunning number

and demonstrates the scope and reach of our fisld
gperations. EMCOR set financial records for revenues
(59.17 hillion), operating income ($461 million),

net income ($325 million}, and diluted earnings

per share from continuing operations (35.75). We
had strong revenue growth of 12.8% of which 2.3%
was generated from organic actlvities in additien to
the contributions from strategic acquisitions that
strengthened our already diverse core operations.

Passionate ghout

their jobs, and squally
passionate about training
and staying up-to-date
on technoiogy and best
practices, our tragespeople ¥
are the backbone of
our company.

Cur Mechanical and Electricat Consiruction segmenis had
another great year with combinad underlying revenue growth
of 13%. Operating income mMargin was 3 styong seven percent,
We won work across end markels and geographies and

bufit our workiorce for the future, We made three important
acquisitions o fill in our gecgraphic white space and 1o open
new end markets.

Cur Building Services segment had an outstanding vaar,
setting a record for operating income margin performance,
We had excellent revenue growth and operating performance

in our Mechanical Services business. During the vear, we

.



--j Ar’;tho;iﬁf- .i;._ﬁuzz;r :

.. Chairman, President dnc
of EMCOR Group, inc
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-and sharshoider
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+ Floor care and janitorial services;

+ Landscaping, lot sweeping and snow removal;

«  Facilities management;

»  Vendor management;

+ Call center services;

» Installation and support for building systems;,

»  Program development, management and maintenance for energy systems;

« Technical consulting and diagnostic services;

+  Infrastructure and building projects for federal, state and local governmental agencies and bodies; and
+  Small modification and retrefit projects.

Our industrial services are primarily provided to customers within the oil and gas industry and consist oft

+  Om-site repairs, maintenance and service of heat exchangers, towers, vessels and piping;

« Design, manufacturing, repair and hydro blast cleaning of shell and tabe heat exchangers and related equipment;
+ Refinery turnaround planning and engineering services;

+  Specialty welding services;

+  Overhaul and maintenance of critical process units in refineries and petrochemical plants;

»  Specialty technical services for refineries and petrochemical plants; and

+  Construction, maintenance, and support services within the upstream and midstream sectors.

We provide construction services and building services directly to corporations, municipalities and federal and state governmental
entities, owners/developers, and tenants of buildings. We also provide our construction services indirectly by acting as a
subcontractor to general contractors, systems suppliers, construction managers, developers, property managers and other
subcontractors. Our indusirial services are generally provided directly to refineries and petrochemical plants. As of December 31,
2019, we had approximately 36,000 employees,

Our revenues are derived from many different customers in numerous industries, which have operations in several different
geographical areas. Of our 2019 revenues, approximately 95% were generated in the United States and approximately 5% were
generated in foreign countries, substantially all in the United Kingdom. In 2019, approximately 60% of revenues were derived
from our construction operations, approximately 28% of revenues were derived from our building services operations and
approximately 12% of revenues were derived from our industrial services operations.

During the third guarter of 2014, we ceased construction operations in the United Kingdom. The results of the construction
operations of our United Kingdom segment for all periods are presented as discontinued operations.

The broad scope of our operations is more particularly described below. For information regarding the revenues, operating
income and total assets of each of our segments with respect to each of the last three years, and our revenues and assets aftributable
to the United States and the United Kingdom for the last three years, see Note 12 - Segment Information of the notes to consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Operations

The electrical and mechanical construction services industry continues to experience growth due principally to the increased
content, complexity, and sophistication of electrical and mechanical systems resulting, in part, from growth in digital processing,
and cloud computing and data storage. In addition, facilities of all types require extensive electrical distribution systems,
sophisticated power supplies, and networks of low-voltage and fiber-optic communications cabling, Moreover, the need for
substantial environmental controls within a building, due to the heightened need to maintain extensive computer systems at optimal
temperatures, and the demand for energy savings, have over the years expanded opportunities for our electrical and mechanical
services businesses. The demand for these services is typically driven by non-residential construction and renovation activity,



services; infrastructure and building projects for federel, state and local governmental agencies and bodies; and smeli medification
and retrofit projects.

Our building services operations, which generated approximately 28% of our 2019 total revenues, provide services to owners,
operators, tenants and managers of all types of facilities both on a contractual basis for a specified period of time and on an
individual task order basis. Of our 2019 building services revenues, approximately 83% were generated in the United States and
approximately 17% were generated in the Unfted Kingdom.

Our building services operations have built upon our raditional electrical and mechanical services operations and cur client

relationships to expand the scope of services being offered and to develop packages of services for customers on a regional and
national basis.

Demand for our building services is often driven by customers’ decisions to focus on their core competencies, customers’
programs to reduce costs, the increasing technical complexity of their facilities and their mechanical, electrical, building automation,
voiceand data, and other systems, and theneed for increased reliability, especially in mechanical, electrical, and building automation
systems. These frends have led to outsourcing and privatization programs whereby customers in both the private and public sectors
seck to contract out those activities that support, but are not directly associated with, the customer’s core business. Clients of our
building services business include federal and state govermments, institutional organizations, utilities, independent power producers,
healthcare providers, and major corporaticons engaged in information technology, telecommunications, pharmaceuticals, financial
services, and manufacturing, as well as large retailers and other businesses with geographically dispersed portfolios throughout
the United States.

We caurently provide building services in a majority of the states in the United States to commereial, industrial, institutiona) and
governmental customers and as part of our operations are respensible for: (a) the oversight of all or most of the facilities operations,

_including repair and maintenance; (b} servicing, upgrade and refrofit of HVAC, electrical, plumbing and industrial piping and sheet
-metal systems in existing facilities; (¢) interior and exterior services, including floor care and janitorial services, landscaping, lot
sweeping and snow removal; (d) diagnostic and solution engineering for building systems and their components; and
(e) maintenance and support services to manufacturers and power producers.

We provide building services at a number of prominent buildings, including those that house the Secret Service, the Federal

':Depo sit Insurance Corporation, the General Accountability Office (GAO), and the Department of Health and Human Services, as
“well ag other government facilities, ncluding the NASA Jet Propulsion Laboratory, We also provide building services, as a prime

contractor or a subcontractor, to a number of military bases, including base operations support services to the Navy Natfonal Capital
Region and the Army’s Carlisle Barracks in Pennsylvania, and are inveolved in a joint venture providing building services to NASA®s
Armstrong Flight Research Center in Edwards, California. The agreements pursuant to which this division provides services to
the federal government are frequently for a base period and a number of option years exercisable at the sole discretion of the
government, are often subject to renegotiation by the government in terms of scope of services, and are subject to termination by
the government prior to the expiration of the applicable term.

Our United Kingdom subsidiary primarily focuses on building services and currently provides a broad range of services under
multi-year agreements to public and private secter customers, including utilities, airlines, airports, real estate property managers,
manufacturers, governmental agencies and the finance sector.

Qur indusfrial services operations, which generated approximately 12% of our 2019 total revenues, is a recognized leader in the
refinery turnaround market and has a growing presence in the petrochemmical market. Our industrial services businesses perform
a broad range of turnaround and maintenance services for critical units of refineries and pefrochemical plants so as to upgrade,
repair, and maintain them. Such services include tumarcund and maintenance services relating to: (a) engineering and planning
services in advance of complex refinery turnarounds; (b) overhaul and maintenance of critical process units (including hydrofluoric
allkeylation units, fluid catalytic cracking units, coking units, heaters, heat exchangers and related mechanical equipment) during
refinery and petrochemical plant shut downs; {c¢) replacement and new construction capital projects for refineries and petrochemical
plants; and (d) other related specialty services such as (i) welding (including pipe welding) and fabrication; (ii} heater, boiler, and
reformer repairs and replacements; converter repair and revamps; and vessel, exchanger and tower services; (iii) tower and colamn
repairs in refimeries and petrochemical plants; {iv) installation and repair of refractory materials for critical units in process plants
50 as to protect equipment from corrosion, erosion, and extreme temperatures; and (v) acid-proofing services to protect critical
components at refineries from chemical expesure. In additien, these businesses: (a) provide maintenance, repeir and cleaning
services for highly engineered shell and tube heat exchangers for refineries and petrochemical plants both in the field and at our
own shops, including tube and shell repairs, bundle repairs, and extraction services; (b) design and manufacture new highly
engineered shell and tube heat exchangers; and (c) provide construction, maintenance, and support services to customers within
the upstream and midstream sectors.



reported remaining performence obligations for our construction contracts are firm and contract cancellations have not had a
material adverse effect on us.

Remaining performance obligations also include unrecognized revenues expected to be realized over the remaining term of
service contracts. However, to the extent a service contract includes a cancellation clause which allows for the termination of such
cantract by either party without a substantive penalty, the remaining contract term, and therefore, the amount of unrecognized
revenues included within remaining performance obligations, is limited to the notice period required for the termination,

Our remaining performance obligations are comprised of: {a) original contract amounts, (b) change orders for which we have
received written confirmations from our customers, (¢) pending change orders for which we expect to receive confirmations in
the ordinary course of business, (d) claim amounts that we have made against customers for which we have determined we have
a lepal basis under existing contractual arrangements and as to which the variable consideration constraint does not apply, and (&)
other forms of variable consideration to the extent that such variable consideration has been included within the transaction price
of our confracts, Such claim and other variable consideration amounts were immaterial for all periods presented.

We estimate that approximately 84% of our remaining performance obligations as of December 31, 2019 will be recognized as
revenues during 2020.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, which we refer to as the “SEC”. These filings are available to the public over the internet at the SEC’s website at
hitp:/fwwnw.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file at the SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 100 F

Sfreet, N.E.,, Washington, D.C. 20549, Plzase call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the Public Reference
Room.

~Our Internet address is www.emcorgroup.com. We make available free of charge through www.emcorgroup.com our annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, as soon
as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. References to our website
“addressed in this report are provided as a convenience and do not constitute, and should not be viewed as, an incorporation by
reference of the information contained on, or available through, the website. Therefore, such information should not be considered
part of this report.

Our Board of Directors has an audit commitiee, a compensation and personnel committee and a nominating and corporate
governance committee. Each of these committees has a formal charter. We also have Corporate Governance Guidelines, which
include guidelines regarding related party transactions, a Code of Ethics for our Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial
Officers, and a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct for Dirsctors, Officers and Employees. Copies of these charters, guidelines
and codes, and any waivers or amendments to such codes which are applicable to our executive officers, senior financial officers
or directors, can be obtained free of charge on our website, www.emcorgroup.com.

You may request a copy of the foregoing filings (excluding exhibits}, charters, guidelines and codes and any walvers or
amendments to such codes which are applicable to our executive officers, senior financial officers or directors, at no cost by writing
to us at EMCOR Group, Inc., 301 Merritt Seven, Norwalk, CT 068511092, Attention: Corporate Secretary, or by telephoning us
at (203) 849-7800.



&

execute, complete and receive compensation for our current coniracts, or bid for and enter into new contracts with governmental
agencies.

An increase in the prices of certain materials used in our businesses and protectionist trade measures could adversely affect
our businesses. We are exposed to market risk of increases in certain commodity prices of materials, such as copper and steel,
which are used as components of supplies or materials utilized in our operations. We are also exposed to increases in energy prices,
particularly as they relate to gasoline prices for our fleet of approximately 11,000 vehicles. While we believe we can increase our
prices to adjust for some price increases in commodities, there can be no assurance that price increases of commodities, if they
were to occur, would be rscoverable. Additionally, cur fixed price confracts do not allow us to adjust our prices and, as a result,
increases in material or fuel costs could rednce our profitability with respect to such projects. Fluctuations in energy prices as well
as in commodity prices of materials, whether resulting from fluctuations in market supply or demand or geopolitical conditions,
including an increase in trade protection measures such as tariffs and the disruption, modification or cancellation of muftilateral
trade agreements, may adversely affect our customers and as a result cause them to curtail the use of our services, Volatility in the
price of oil has historically caused some of our refinery customers to curtail or delay maintenance or capital projects. Prolonged
volatility in the price of oil may adversely affect some of our refinery customers causing them to defer maintenance and/or capital
projects performed by companies in our United States industrial services segment or delay purchases or repairs of heat exchangers
that are manufactured and repaired by some of our companies.

Our industry is highly competitive. Our industry is served by numerous small, owner-operated private companies, a few public
companies and several large regional companies. Tn addition, relatively few barriers prevent entry into most of our businesses, As
a result, any organization that has adequate financial resources and access to technical expesrtise may become a competitor.
Competition in our industry depends on numerous factors, including price. Certain of our competitors have lower overhead cost
structures and, therefore, are able to provide their services at lower rates than we are currently able to provide. In addition, some
of our competitors have greater resources than we do. We cannot be certain that our competitors will not develop the expertise,
experience and resources necessary to provide services that are superior in quality and lower in price to ours, Similarly, we cannot
be certain that we will be able to maintain or enhance our competitive position within our industries or maintain a customer bhase
at current levels. We may also face competition from the in-house service organizations of existing or prospective customers,
particularly with respect to building services. Many of our customers employ personnel who perform some of the same types of
building services that we do. We cannot be certain that our existing or prospective customers will continue to outsource building
services in the future.

We are subject to many lows and regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate; changes ro such laws and regulations
may result in additional cosis and impact our operations. We are comimitted to upholding the highest standards of corporate
governance and legal and ethical compliance. We are subject to many laws and regulations, including various laws and regulations
that apply specifically to U.S. public conipanies. These include the rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange, the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as the various
regulations, standards and guidance put forth by the SEC and other governmental agencies to implement those laws, New laws,
rules and regulations, or changes to existing laws or their interpretations, could create added legal and financial costs and uncertainty
for us. In addition, our United Kingdom operations are subject to laws and regulations that are in some cases different from those
of the United Sates, inciuding labor laws such as the UK. Modern Slavery Act and laws and regulations governing information
collected from employees, customers and others, specifically the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulaticn, which
went ito effect in May 2013. These laws and regulations, and the economic, financial, political and regulatory impact of the
United Kingdom’s decision fo leave the Europsan Union, could increase the cost and complexity of doing business in the UK,
and negatively impact our financial position and results of operations. Our efforts to comply with evolving laws, regulations and
reporting standards may increase cur general and administrative expenses, divert management time and atiention or Hmit our
operational flexibility, all of which could have 2 material adverse effect on our business, financial position, and results of operations.
Many of our non-public competitors and competitors operating sclely in the U.S. are not subject to these laws and regulations and
the related costs and expenses of compliance.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 could have negative or unexpected consequences for our customers; reduced government
spending may adversely gffect our own business. The long-term impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 cn the general
economy cannot be reliably predicted at this time. To the extent that certain of our customers are negatively affected by the new
tax law, they may reduce spending and defer, delay or cancel projects or contracts. Reduced government revenues resulting from
the new tax lawmay also lead toreduced long-term government spending, which may negatively impact our government contracting
business.

We are a decemiralized company, which presents certain risks. While we believe decentralization has enhanced our growth and
enabled us to remain responsive to opportunities and to our customers® needs, it necessarily places significant control and decision-
making powers in the hands of local management. This presents various risks, including the risk that we may be slower or less
able to identify or reaci to problems affecting a key business than we would in a more centralized environment.



In addition, existing and potential customers may reduce the number or size of projects available to us because of general
economic conditions or due to their inability to obtain capital or pay for services we provide. Many of the factors affecting our
ability to generate internal growth are beyond cur control, and we cannot be certain that our strategies will be successful or that
we will be able to generate cash flow sufficient to fund our operations and to support internal growth. If we are not suceessful, we
may not be able to achieve internal growth, expand operations or grow our business.

The departure of key persennel could disrupt our business. We depend on the continued efforts of our senior management. The

loss of key persommel, or the inability to hire and refain qualified executives, could negatively impact our ability to manage our
business,

We may be unable to atiract and retain skilled employees. Our ability to grow and maintain productivity and prefitebility will
be limited by our abilify to employ, train and retain skilled personnel necessary to meet our requirements. We are dependent upon
our project managers and field supervisors who are responsible for managing our projects, and there can be no assurance that any
individual will continue in his or her capacity for any particular period of time. The loss of such qualified employees could have
an adverse effect on our business. We cannot be certaln that we will be able to maintain an adequate skilled labor force necessary
to operate efficiently and to support our business strategy or that labor expenses will not increase as a result of a shortage in the
supply of these skilled personnel. The availability and cost of a skilled labor foree could be impacted by factors we cannot control,
including changes in the unemployment rate, prevailing wage rates, benefit costs and competition for labor from our competitors

in the markets we serve. Labor shortages or increased labor costs could impair our ability to maintain our business or grow our
revenues,

Our unionized workforce could adversely affect our operations; our participation in many multiemployer union pension plans
couldresult in substantial llabiiities being incurred, As of December 31,2019, approximately 55% of our employees were covered
by collective bargaiming agreements. Although the majority of these agreements prohibit strikes and work stoppages, we cannot
be certain that strikes or work stoppages wiil not occur in the future. However, only two of our collective bargaining agreements
are national or regional in scope, and not all of our collective bargaining agreements expire at the same time. Strikes or work
stoppages likely would adversely impact our refationships with our customers and could have a material advarse effect on our
financial position, results of operations and cash flows. We contribute to approximately 200 multiemployer union pension plans
based upon wages paid to our union employees that could result in our being responsible for a portion of the unfunded liabilities
under such plans. Our potential liability for unfunded liabilities could be material. Under the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act, we may become liable for our proporticnate share of a multiemployer pension plan’s wnderfunding if we cease to contribute
to that pension plan or significantly reduce the employess in respect of which we make contributions to that pension plan. See
Note 15 - Retirement Plans of the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Ttem 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data for additional information regarding multiemployer plans.

Fluctuating foreign currency exchange rates impact eur financial results. We have operations in the United Kingdom, which
m 2019 accounted for approximately 5% of our revenues. Our reported financial position and results of operations are exposed to
the effects (both positive and negative) that fluctuating exchange rates have on the process of translating the financial statements
of our United Kingdom operations, which are denominated in local currencies, into the U.S. dollar. Tt is unclear at this time what
effect, if any, the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union may have on such exchange rates,

Our failure to comply with environmental imwes could result in significant ljabilities. Our operations are subject to various laws,
including environmental laws and reguiations, among which many deal with the handling and disposal of asbestos and other
hazardous or universal waste products, PCBs and fuel storage. A violation of such laws and regulations may expose us to various
claims, including claims by third parties, as well as remediation costs and fines. We own and lease many facilities. Some of these
facilities contain hazardous materials, such as lead and asbestos, and fuel storage tanks, which may be above or below ground, If
these tanks were to leak, we could be responsible for the cost of remediation as well as potential fines. As a part of our business,

we also Install fuel storage tanks and are sometimes required to deal with hazardous materials, all of which may expose us to
environmental liability.

In addition, new laws and regulations, stricter enforcement ofexisting Yaws and regulations, the discovery of previcusly unknown
contamination or leaks, the imposition of new clean-up requirements, or the exposure of our ernployees or other contractors to
hazardous materials, could require us to incur significant costs or become the basis for new or increased liabilities that could harm
our financial position and results of cperations, although: certain of these costs might be covered by insurance. In some instances,
we have obtained indemnification or covenants from third parties (including predecessors or lessors) for such clean-up and other
obligations and liabilities, and we believe such indemnities and covenants are adequate to cover such obligaticns and Habilitdes.
However, such third-party indemmnities or covenants may not cover all of such costs or third-party indemnitors may default on their
obligations. In addition, unanticipated obligations or Habilities, or future obligations and liabilities, may have a material adverse
effect on our business operations. Further, we cannot be certain that we will be able to identify, or be indemnified for, all potential
environmental liabilities relating to any acquired business.



We may incur liabilities or suffer negative financial impacts relating to occupational, health and safery maiters. Qur operations
are subject to extensive laws and regulations relating to the maintenance of safe conditions in the workplace. While we have
invested, and will continue to invest, substantial resources in our robust occupational, health and safety programs, many of our
businesses involve a high degree of operational risk, and there can be no assurance that we will avoid significant exposure. These
hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to or destruction of property and equipment and other consequential
damages and could lead to suspension of operations, large damage claims and, in extreme cases, criminal liability.

Our customers seek to minimize safety risks on their sites and they frequently review the safety records of contractors during
the bidding process. If our safety record were to substantially deteriorate over time, we might become ineligible to bid on certain
work and our customers could cancel our contracts and/or not sward us future business.

Acquisitions could adversely aifect our business and results of operations, As part of our growth strategy, we acquire companies
that expand, complement and/or diversify our businesses. Realization of the anticipated benefits of an acquisition, and avoiding
or mitigating the potential risks associated with an acquisition, will depend, among other things, upon our ability to: (a) effectively
conduct due diligence on companies we propose to acquire to identify problems at these companies and (b) recognize
incompatibilities or other obstacles to successful integratien of the acquired business with our other operations and gain greater
efficiencies and scale that will translate into reduced costs in a timely manner. However, there can be no assurance that an acquisition
we may make in the future will provide the benefits anticipated when entering into the transaction. Acquisitions we have made
and firture acquisitions may expose us to operational challenges and risks, including the diversion of management’s attention from
our existing businesses, the failure to retain key persennel or customers of the acquired business, and the assumption of unknewn
liabilities of the acquired business for which there are madequate reserves. Our ability to sustain our growth and maintain our

competitive position may be affected by our ability o identify and acquire desirable businesses and successfully integrate any
acquired business.

In addition, while we werk torapidly implement or maintain our internal controls and financial reporting standards and procedures

= in the businesses we acquire, including integrating such acquired businesses into our conseclidated financial reporting systems and

_controls, we cannot be certain that such implementation and integration will be quickly and effectively completed. Our intemal
' control processes and procedures with respect to such businesses may need to be adjusted or enhanced in order to ensure that such
_. businesses are in compliance with the regulations we are subject to as well as our internal policies and standards. Such changes

~could result in significant additicnal costs fo us and could require the diversion of management’s attention from our existing
" businesses.

Our results of operations could be adversely affecred as a result of goodwill and other identifiable intangible asset impairments.

- When we acquire a business, we record an asset called “goodwill” equal to the excess of the consideration transferred over the

fair value of the nef assets acguired. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) requires that all business combinations
be accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and that certain identifiable intangible assets acquired i a business
combination be recognized as assets apart from goodwill. FASB Accounting Standards Cedification Topic 350, “Intangibles-
Goodwill and Other” (*ASC 3507, provides that goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives
not be amortized, but instead be tested at least annually for impairment, and identifiable intangible assets that have finite useful
lives should continue to be amortized over their useful lives and be tested for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that the carrying values may not be fully recoverable. ASC 350 also provides specific guidance for testing goodwill and other non-
amortized identifiable intangible assets for impairment, which we test annually each Octaber 1. ASC 350 requires management
to make certain estimates and assumptions to allocate goodwill to reporting units and to determine the fair value of reporting unit
net assets and liabilities. Such fair value is detenmined using discounted estimated future cash flows. Qur development of these
future cash flow projections is based upon assumptions and estimates by management from a review of our operating results and
business plans as well as forecasts of anticipated growth rates and margins, among other considerations. In additicn, astimates of
the weighted average cost of capital for sach reporting unit are developed with the assistance of a third-party valuation specialist.
Those assumptions and estimates can change in future perieds and other factors used in assessing fair value, such as interest rates,
are outside the controt of management. There can be no assurance that our estimates and assumptions made for purposes of our
goodwill and identifiable intangible asset impairment testing will prove to be accurate predictions of the future, If our assumptions
regarding business plans including anticipated growth rates and margins are not achieved, or there is a rise in inferest rates, we
may be required to record goodwill andfor identifiable intangible asset impairment charges i future periods. It is net possible at

this time fo determine if any such impairment charge would result or, if it does, whether such a charge would be material to our
results of operations.

Amownts included in our remaining performance obligations may not vesult in actual revenues or translate into profits. Many
contracts are subject to cancellation or suspension on short notice at the discretion of the client, and the contracts in. our remaining
performance obligations are subject ta changes in the scope of services to be provided as well as adjustments to the costs relating
to the contract. Accordingly, there is no assurance that revenue from remaining performance obligations will actually be realized.
T onr remainine nerformance obliearions fail to materialize we comld exnerience a decline in nrafitahititv which conld reanlt in



Certain provisions of our corporate governance documents could make an acquisition of us, or a substantial interest in us, more
difficult. The following provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws, as currently in effect, as well as Delaware law,
could discourage potentia] proposals t¢ acquire us, delay or prevent a change in control of us, or limit the price that investors may
be willing to pay in the future for shares of cur common stock:

* our certificate of incorporation permits our board of directors to issue “blank check” preferred stock and to adopt amendments
to our by-laws;

*  our by-laws contain restrictions regarding the right of our stockholders to nominate directors and to submit proposals to be
considered at stockholder meetings;

* our certificate of incorporation and by-laws !imit the right of our stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders and
to act by written consent; and

*  weare subject to provisions of Delaware law, which prohibitus from engaging in any of a broad range of business transactions
with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the date such stockholder becomes classified as an
interested stockholder.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.



Lease Expiration

Appreximate Drate, Unless
Square Feet Owned
6045 East Shelhy Drive : : '
Memphis, Tennessee (c) _ o ) 7 53,618 L 543102023
937 Pine Street
Beaumont, Texas (d) 78,962 Owned
- 895 North Main Street S ' - S R
_Beaumoq’ts Fexas (d) _' o . . o - Lo -?S,QOO o ) aned
410 Flato Road
Corpus Christi, Texas (d) _ 57,000 Owned
5550 Airline Drive and 25 Tidwell Road - .- .~ . : e
- Heuston, Texas(b)- . _ _ ' S S _ 97,936 - 123112024
12415 Highway 225
La Porte, Texas (d) 78,000 Owned
2455 West 1500 South o S L : e
Salt Lake City, Utah (a) _ B ‘ . 59,677 C L 473072025
2345 South CCI1 Way
West Valley City, Utah {c) 69,229 8/31/2032

We believe that our property, plant and equipment are well maintained, in good operating condition and suitable for the purposes
for which'they are used.

See Note 17- Leases of the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Feem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data for additional information regarding lease costs. We utilize substantially all of our leased or owned facilities and believe there
will be no difficulty either in negotiating the renewal of such leases as they expire or in finding alternative space, if necessary,

(a) Principally used by a company engaged in the “United States electrical construction and facilities services” segment,
(b) Principally used by a company engaged in the “United States mechanical construction and facilities services? segment.
(¢) Principally used by a company engaged in the “United States building services™ segment.

(d) Principally used by a company engaged in the “United States industrial services” segment.



EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Anthony J. Guzzi, Age 55; President since October 2004, Chief Executive Officer since Jannary 2011 and Chairman of the
Board since June 2018, From October 2004 to January 2013, Mr. Guzzi served as Chief Operating Officer of the Company. From
August 2001 until he joined the Company, Mr. Guzzi was President of the North American Distribution and Aftermarket Division
of Carrier Corporation (“Carrier”). Carrier is a manufacturer and distributor of commercial and residential HVAC and refr geration
systems and equipmentand a provider of aftermarket services and components of its own products and those of other manufacturers
in both the HVAC and refrigeration industries.

Mark A. Pompa, Age 55; Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since April 2006 and Treasurer
since October2019. From June 2003 to April 2006, Mr. Pompa was Senior Vice President-Chief Accounting Officer ofthe Company,
and from June 2003 to January 2007, Mr. Pompa also served as Treasurer of the Company. From September 1954 to June 2003,
Mr. Pompa was Vice President and Controller of the Company.

R. Kevin Matz, Age 61; Executive Vice President-Shared Services of the Company since December 2007 and Senior Vice
President-Shared Services from June 2003 to December 2007, From April 1996 to June 2003, Mr. Matz served as Vice President
and Treasurer of the Company and Staff Vice President-Financial Services of the Company from March 1993 to April 1996.

Maxine L. Mauricio, Age 48; Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Company since January 2016. From
January 2012 to December 2015, Ms. Mauricio was Vice President and Deputy General Counse] of the Company, and from May
2002 to December 2011, she served as Assistant General Counsel of the Company. Prior to joining the Compeny, Ms. Mavricio
was an associate at Ropes & Gray LLP.



Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affilinted Purchasers
The following table summarizes repurchases of our common stock made by us during the quarter ended December 31, 2019:

MMaximum Number

Total Number of (or Approximate Dollar Value)
Shares Purchased as Part of Shares That May Yet be
Total Number of Average Price of Publicly Announced Purchased Under
Period Shares Purchased (1)(2) Paid Per Share Plans or Programs the Plan or Programs

October 1, 2019t~ . ' oo o T
October 31, 2819 : — — S ' . B138,506,858
November 1, 2019 to
November 30, 2019 -— — — $158,506,898
December 1, 2019 to : :
December 31, 2019 .— o — S : — . $138,506,898
Total — — e

(1) On September 26, 201T, our Board of Directors (the “Board™) authorized us to repurchase up to $100.0 million of our outstanding common
stock. Subsequentty, the Board has from time to time increased the amount of our common stock that we may repurchase. Since the inception
ofthe repurchase program, the Board has authorized us to repurchase up to $950.0 million of our outstanding common stock. Asof December
31, 2019, there remained authorization for us to repurchase approximately $158.5 million of our shares. No shares have been repurchased
by us since the program wes announced other than pursuant to such program. The repurchase program has no expiration, does not obligate
the Company to acquire any particular amount of common stock and may be suspended, recommenced or discontinued at any time or from
time to time without prior notice. We may repurchase our shares from time fo time to the extent permitted by securities laws and other legal
requirements, including provisions in our eredit agreement, placing limitations on such repurchases.

+{2) Excludes 28,839 shares surrendered to the Company by participants in our share-based compensation plans to satisfy minimum tax
withholdings for common steck issued under such plans,
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

We are one of the largest electrical and mechanical construction and facilities services firms in the United States. In addition,
we provide a number of building services and industrial services. Our services are provided to a broad range of commercial,
industrial, utitity and institutional customers through approximately 80 operating subsidiaries and joint venture entities. Our offices
are located in the United States and the United Kingdom.

Operating Segmtents

Our reportable segments reflect certain reclassifications of prior year amounts from our United States mechanical construction
and facilities services segment to our United States building services and our United States industrial services segments due to
changes in our internal reporting structure.

We have the following reportable segments, which provide services associated with the design, integration, installation, start-
up, operation and maintenance of varicus systems: {a) United States electrical construction and facilities services {involving systems
for electrical power transmission and distribution; premises elecirical and lighting systems; process instrumentation in the refining,
chemical processing, food processing and mining industries; low-veltage systems, such as fire alarnim, security and process control;
voice and data communication; roadway and transit lighting; and fiber optic lines); (b) United States mechanical construction and
facilities services (involving systems for heating, ventilation, air conditioning, refrigeration and clean-room process ventilation;
fire protection; plumbing, process and high-purity piping; controls and filtration; water and wastewater treatment; central plant
heating and cooling; cranes and rigging; millwrighting; and steel fabrication, erection and welding); (c) United States building
services; (d) United States industrial services; and (e) United Kingdom building services. The “United States building services®
and “United Kingdom building services” segiments principally consist of those operations which provide a portfolio of services
needed to support the operation and maintenance of customers’ facilities, mcluding commercial and governmment site-based
operations and maintenance; facility maintenance and services, including reception, seeurity and catering services; outage services
to utilities and industrial plants; military base operations support services; mobile mechanical maintenance and services; floor care
and janitarial services; landscaping, lot sweeping and snow removal; facilities management; vendor management; call center
services; installation and support for building systems; program development, managenient and maintenance for energy systems;
technical consulting and diagnostic services; infrastructure and building projects for federal, state and local governmental agencies
and bodies; and small modification and retrofit projects, which services are not generally related to customers’ construction
programs. The *United States industrial services” segment principally consists of those operations which previde industrial
maintenance and services for refineries, petrochemical plants, and other customers within the oil and gas industry. Services of this
segment include refinery tumaround plamning and engineering; specialty welding; overhaul and maintenance of critical process
units; specialty technical services; on-site repairs, maintenance and service of heat exchangers, towers, vessels and piping; design,
manufacturing, repair, and hydro blast cleaning of shell and tube heat exchangers and related equipment; and construction,
maintenance, and other support services for customers within the upstream and midstream sectors.

2019 versus 2018
Overview

The following table presents selected financial data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2011 8 (in thousands, except
percentages and per share data):

2019 2018

Revenues $9,174,611  § 8,130,631

Revenues increase from prior year 12.8% 5.8%
Restructuring expenses & 1,523 § 2,306
Impairment loss on identifiable intangible assets b3 — 3 907
Operating income S 460,892 § 403,083

Operating income as a percentage of revenues 5.0% 5.0%
Income from continuing operations : $ 325140 § 285922
Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. $ 325,140 § 283,531
Diluted earnings per common share from continuing operations 5 575§ 4.89
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Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations

Revenues

The following table presents currevenues for each of our operating segments and the approximate percentages that each segment’s
revenues were of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands, except for percentages):

% of % of
2019 Total 2018 Total
Revenues from unrelated entities:

United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 2216600  24% § 1954323 24%
United States mechanical constmctlon and facﬂ]tles servmes ' 3,340,337 6% 2 962, 843 . 37%
United States building services - N 2106872 23% 1875485 23%
United States industrial services - 087,543 2% 923,000 11%
Total United States operations T TR Is1352 95% 7715960 95%
United Kingdom buﬂdmg sewlces ' 423,259 . 5% 414,871 5%
Total worldwide operatmns : e : % 9,174,611 100% $ 8,130,631 '_':100%

As described in more detail below, revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased to $9.2 billion compared to $8.1
billion for the year ended December 31, 2018, with all reportable segments experiencing revenue growth year over year. Companies
acquired in 2019 and 2018, which are reported in our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment, our
United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment and our United States building services segment, generated
incremental revenues of $290.3 million in 2019,

Revenues of our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment were $2,216.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 compared to revenues of $1,954.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, The increase i revenues
was attributable to: (a) an increase in revenues from the commercial market sector, pr unanly as a result of several large
telecommunication construction projects, and (b) an increase in project activities within the manufacturing and institutional market

:sectors. In addition, the results for the year ended December 31, 2019 included $134.5 million of incremental revenues generated
_by companies acquired in 2019 and 2018. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in revenues due to the completion
“or substantial completion of certain large construction projects within the transportation, healthcare, and hospitality market sectors.

Our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 were
$3,340.3 million, a $377.5 million increase compared to revenues of $2,962.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The
increase in revenues was primarily attributable to an increase in revenues from the majority of the market sectors in which we
operate, including: (a) the manufacturing market sector, due to several food processing construction projects, (b) the commercial
market sector, primarily as a result of certain telecommunication and technology construction projects currently in process, and
(¢) the healthcare, water and wastewater, and institutional market sectors due to increased project activity. In addition, the results
for the year ended December 31, 2019 included $49.1 millicn of incremental revenues generated by companies acquired in 2019,
These increases were partially offset by decreased revenues within the hospitality market sector as a result of the completion of
certain large projects.

Revenues of our United States building services segment were $2,106.9 million and $1,875.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The $231.4 million increase in this segment’s revenues was due to; () incremental
revenues of $106.7 million generated by companies acquired in 2019 and 2018 within our mobile mechanical services operations,
(b) greater project, controls, and service repair and maintenance activities within our mobile mechanical services operations, (¢)
an increase inrevenues within our commercial site-based services operations, partially as a result of: (1) scope expansion on certain
contracts with existing customers and (ii) new contract awards, and (d) increased large project activity within onr energy services
operations. These increases were partially offset by revenue declines within our government site-based services operations due to
the loss of certain contracts not renewed pursuant to rebid, which resulted in a reduction in both base maintenance and indefinite-
delivery, indefinite-quantity project revenues.

Revenues of our United States industrial services segment for the year ended December 31,2019 were $1,087.5 million, a $164.4
million increase compared to revenues of $923.1 million for the vear ended December 31, 2018. The increase in revenues was
primarily due to increased maintenance and capital project activity within our field services operations. In addition, the results for
the year ended December 31, 2019 benefited from a more normalized demand pattern for our turnaround services as compared to
the prior year, which was negatively impacted by the lingering effacts of Hurricane Harvey, which led to the cancellation or deferral
of certain previously scheduled maintenance activities with our customers in the first half of 2018. The increased revenues for the
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Operating income (loss)

The following table presents by segment our operating income (loss) and each segment’s operating income (loss) as a percentage
of such segment’s revenues from unrelated entities for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands, except for
percentages):

% of % of
Segment Segment
2019 Revenues 2018 Revenues
Operating income (loss):
 United States clectrical construction and facilities services  § 161,684 7.3% § 139,430 7.1%
United States mechamcal construction and facilities services 225,040 6.7% 219,853 7.4%
United States building services 114,754 5.4% 03,827 5.0%
United States mdustrlal services ' 44,340 4.1% 27,671 3.0%
“Total United States operations . 545818 . 62% 480,731 6.2%
United ngdom building ser\nces 18,323 4.3% 15,930 3 8%
Corporate admmlstratlon : o . o {101,726) — {90415 - —
Restructulmg exXpenses (1,523) — (2,306) —_
- Impairment Joss on idertifiable intangible assets ' — - ) R—
Total worldwide operations 460,892 3.0% 403,083 5.0%
Other corporﬁte items: ' S —
Net periodic pension {cost) income 1,553 2,743
Interest expense ' (13,821) (13,5443
Interest mcome 2,265 2,746
ncome from continuing operations before income faxes $ 450,889 $ 395028

As described in more detail below, we had cperating income of $460.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared
to operating income of $403.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Operating margin was 5.0% for both periods.
Operating income and operating margin increased within all of our reportable segments except, in the case of operating margin,
our United States mechanical construction and faciiities services segment, which experienced a 0.7% decline in operating margin
as a result of a change in revenue mix compared to the prior year,

Operating income of our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment for the year ended December 31,
2019 was $161.7 miltion, or 7.3% of revenues, compared to operating income of $139.4 million, or 7.1% of revenues, for the year
ended December 31, 20]8. The $22.3 milllon increase in operating ncome for the year ended December 31, 2019 was primarily
attributable to an increase in gross profit within the commercial market sector, inclusive of certain telecommunication construction
projects, partially offset by a decrease in gross profit within the transportation market sector as a result of the completion or
substantial completion of certain multi-year construction projects. Additionally, companies acquired in 2019 and 2018 contributed
incremental operating income of $6.1 million, inclusive of $1.7 million of amortization expense associated with identifiable
intangible assets. The increase in operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2019 was attributable to an increase in gross
profit margin, partially as a result of improved project execution.

Our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment’s operating income for the year ended December 3 1,
2019 was $225.0 million, a $5.2 million increase compared to operating income of $219.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2018, Companjes acquired in 2019 centributed incremental operating income of $0.1 million, inclusive of $2.8 million of
amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets. The increase in operating income for the year ended December
31, 2019 was primarily atiributable to an increase in gross profit from activities within the commercial and institutional market
sectors, partially offset by a decrease in gross profit from construction projects within the manufacturing and hospitality market
sectors. Operating margins within this segiment for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were 6.7% and 7.4%, respectively.
The decrease in operating margin year over year was attributable to a decrease in gross profit margin, primarily within the
manufacturing market sector as a result of a change in the mix of work in the current year, including several large food processing
projects, that have not yetachieved key milestones and are therefore being recognized at lower gross profit margins. This segment’s

operating margin for the prior year was favorably impacted by the successful close-out of certain large manufacturing and h ospitality
construction projects.
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Remaining Unsatisfied Performance Obligations

The foilowing table presents the fransaction price allocated to remaining unsatisfied performance obligations (“remaining
performance obligations™) in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers” (“ASC 606"} for each of our reportable segments and their respective percentage of total remaining performance
obligations {in thousands, except for percentages}:

December 31, % of Becember 31, %o of
2019 Total 2018 Total
Remammg perfonnance obligations:

United States electrical construction and facilities services ©§ 1,036,216 26% § 1,085,571 : - 28%
United States mechamcal constructmn and facﬂmes services 2,229,090 35% 2,226,1 83 56%
Umted States building services - o ' - 542,269 13% _ 435,074 c - 11%
United States industrial services ' © 104,613 3% 86,930 2%
Total United States operations 73,912,188 97% 3833758 . 97%
United Kingdom building services ' 124,176 3% 130,524 3%
Total worldwide operations o : $ 4036364 100% $ 3964282 - 100%

Remaining performance obligations increase with awards of new contracts and decrease as we perform work and recognize
revenue on existing contracts. We include a project within our remaining performance obligations at such time as the project is
awarded and agresment on contract terms has been reached. Our remaining performance obligations include amounts related to
contracts for which a fixed price contract value is not assigned when a reasonable estimate of total transaction price can be made.

Remaining performance obligations include unrecognized revenues to be realized from uncompleted construction contracts.
Although many of our construction contracts are subject to cancellation at the election of our customers, in accordance with industry
practice, we donot limit the amount of unrecognized revenue included within remaining performance obligations for these contracts
due to the inherent substantial economic penalty that would be incurred by our customers upon cancellation. We believe our

reported remaining performance obligations for our construction contracts are firm and contract cancellations have not had a
material adverse effect on us.

Remaining performance cbligations also include unrecognized revenues expected to be realized over the remaining term of
service contracts. However, to the extent a ssrvice contract includes a cancellation clause which allows for the termination of such
contract by either party without a substantive penalty, the remaining contract term, and therefore, the amount of unrecognized
revenues included within remaining performance cbligations, is limited to the notice period required for the termination.

Our remaining performance obligations are comprised of: (a) original confract amounts, (b) change orders for which we have
recefved written confirmations from our customers, {¢) pending change orders for which we expect to receive confirmations in
the ordinary course of business, (d) claim amounts that we have made against customers for which we have determined we have
a legal basis under existing contractual arrangements and as to which the variable consideration constraint does not apply, and (&)
other forms of variable consideration to the extent that such variable consideration has been included within the transaction price
of our contracts, Such claim and other variable censideration ameunts were immaterial for afl periods presented.

Our remaining performance obligations at December 31, 2019 were $4.04 billion compared to $3.96 billion at December 31,
2018. The increase in remaining performance obligations at December 31, 2019 was attributable to a increase in remaining

performance obligations within all of our domestic segments, except for our United States electrical construction and facilities
services segment.

Computer System Attack

On February 15, 2020, we becamme aware of an infiltration and encryption of portions of our information technology network.
This attack disrupted our operations that utilize the impacted portions of the network. We continue to assess the magnitude of the
copsequences and we are actively seeking to mitigate the effects. As of the date of this filing, we continue our efforts to restore
the portions of such systems that remain impacted. We are unable to predict when the entire network will be functional, We are
additionally unable to estimate precisely the total costs which will result from the attack and the remediation efforts, We maintain

msurance coverage for these types of incidents, however, such policies may not completely provide coverage for, or offset the
costs of, this infiltration.
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Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations

Revenues

The following table presents our revenues for each of our operating segments and the approximate percentages that each
segment’s revenues were of total revenues for the ysars endad December 31,2018 and 2017 (in thousands, except for percentages):

% of % of
2018 Total 2017 Total
Revenues from unrelated entities:

United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 1,954,323 24% $ 1,829,567 249,
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 2,962,843 37% 2,880,148 37%
United States building services : : 1,87:5,4‘85 23% 1,’753,703 23%
United States industrial services 923,109 11% 882,836 12%
* Total United States operations ' - 7,715,760 95% - 7,346254  96%
United Kingdom building services ' 414,871 5% 540,745 4%
Total worldwide operations - o . $ 8,130,631 100% $ 7,686,999 = 100%

As described in more detail below, revenues for 2018 were $8.1 billion compared to $7.7 bilkion for 2017, The increase in
revenues was atfributable to increased revenues from all of our reportable segments. Companies acquired in 2018 and 2017, which
are reparted in our United States electrical construciion and facilities services segment, our United States mechanical construction

and facilities services segment, and our United States building services segment, generated incremental revenues of $20.1 million
in-2018.

Revenues of our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment were $1,954.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 compared to revenues of $1,829.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, The increase in revenues
was attributable to an increase in activity within all of the market sectors in which we operate, except for the transportation market
sector, as we approached substantial completion on several large multi-year transportation construction prajects in 2018, In addition,

the results for the year ended December 31, 2018 included $20.2 million of incremental revenues generated by a company acquired
in 2018.

" Our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018 were
$2,962.8 million, an $82.7 million increase compared to revenues of $2,880.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, The
increase in revenues was primarily attributable to an increase in revenues from commercial and institutional constriction projects,
partially offset by a decrease in revenues from large projscts within the manufacturing market sector. In addition, the results for
the vear ended December 31, 2018 included $35.3 million of incremental revenues generated by a company acquired in 2017,

Revenues of our United States building services segment were $1,875.5 million and $1,753.7 million in 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The increase in revenues was due to: (a) greater project and repair service activities within our mobile mechanical
services operations, (b) large project activity within cur energy services operations, (¢) increased revenues from government site-
based operations, partiaily as a result of additional indefinite-delivery, indefinite-quantity project activity, and (d) an increase in
snow removal activity within our commercial site-based services operations. In addition, the results for the year ended December
31, 2018 included $34.6 million of incremental revenues generated by companies acquired in 2018 and 2017. These increases

were partially offset by a decrease in revenues due to the loss of certain contracts not renewed pursuant to rebid within our
commercial site-based services operations.

Revenues of our United States industrial services segment for the year ended December 31, 2018 increased by $40.3 million
compared to the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in revenues was due to an increase in revenues from both cur field
and shop services operatiens, The increase in revenues from our field services operations was due to an increase in turnaround
project activity during the second half of 2018 as this division began to recover from the negative impact of Hurricane Harvey,
which resulted in the cancellation of previously scheduled turnarounds during 2017 and early 2018, The increase in revenues from

our shop services operations was due to increases in demand for new build heat exchangers, as well as our cleaning, repair and
maintenance services.

Our United Kingdom building services segment revenues were $414.9 million in 2018 compared to $340.7 million in 2017, The
increase in revenues was the result of increased project activity with existing customers and new contract awards within the
commercial, institutional and water and wastewater market sectors. This segment’s revenues were positively impacted by $15.2
million related to the effect of favorable exchange rates for the British pound versus the United States doilar.



Operating income (loss)

The following table presents by segiment our operating income (loss) and each segment’s operating income (Joss) as a percentage

of such segment’s revenues from unrelated entities for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands, except for
percentages):

% of % of
Segment Segment
2018 Revenues 2017 Revenues
Operating income (loss).
United Sta_‘ies electrical construction and facilities services R $ 139430 7.1% $ 150,001 C 82%
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 219,853 7.4% 192,167 7 6.7%
United States building services . n 93,827 - 5.0% 81,720 4.7%
United States industrial services . 27,671 3.0% 39,313 4.5%
Total United States operations 480,781 6.2% 463,201 6.3%
United Kingdom building services 15,930 3.8% 12,503 3.8%
© . Corporate administration -~ ' . 90415)  — {87,308} —
Restructuring expenses (2,306) — {1,577 —
_ Iﬁipairmént loss on goodwi]l and identifiable inténgib’ie assets o (907) — (577",8 1'9) =
Total worldwide operations ' ' 403,083 50% 328902 4.3%
Other corporate items:
Net periodic pension (cost) income 2,743 1,652
Interest expense {13,544) {12,770
Interest income 2,746 965
Income from continuing bperaﬁons before income taxes $ 395,028 $ 318,749

As deseribed in more detail below, we had operating income of $403.1 million for 2018 compared to operating income of $328.9
" - million for 2017. Operating margin was 5.0% and 4,3% for 2018 and 2017, respectively, Operating income increased within all
of our reportable segments, except for our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment and our United
States industrial services segment, Operating margin increased within our United States mechanical construction and facilities
services segment and owr United States building services segment, while operating margin declined within our United States
electrical construction and facilities services segment and cur United States industrial services segiment. Operating margin remained
flat within our United Kingdom building services segment.

The Company’s operating income and operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2017 incinded $57.8 million of non-
cash impairment charges, which resulted in 2 0.8% negative impact on the Company’s operaling margin. Operating income and
operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2017 benefited from the recovery of certain contract costs previously disputed

on a project completed in 2016 within our United States industrial services segment, which resulted in a 0.2% favorable impact
on the Company’s operating margin.

Operating income of our United States elecirical construction and facilities services segment for the year ended December 31,
2018 was $139.4 million, or 7.1% of revenues, compared to operating income of $150.0 million, or 8.2% of revenues, for the year
ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in operating income was attributable to a decrease in gross profit from nstitutional and
healthcare consfruction projects, partially offset by an increase in gross profit from manufacturing, hospitality and commercial
construction projects. In addition, otherwise strong performance by this segment within the transportation market sector in 2018
was negatively impacted by $10.0 million of losses incuired on a construction project in the Western region of the United States,
resulting in part from contract scepe issues. The decrease in operating margin year over year was primarily due to the loss discnssed
above, which negatively impacted this segment’s operating margin by 0.6% for the year ended December 31, 2018,

Our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment operating income for the year ended December 31,
2018 was $212.9 million, 2 $27.7 imillion increase compared to eperating income of $192.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2017, The increase in operating imcome for the year ended December 31, 2018 was attributable to an increase in gross profit
from commercial, manufacturing, and hospitality construction projects, partially offset by a decrease in gross profit from
institutional construction projects. A company acquiredin2017 contributed incremental operating income of $3.6 million, inclusive
of $0.8 million of amoitization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets, Operating margin was 7.4% and 6.7% in
2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase in operating margin for the vear ended December 31, 2018 was attributable to an increase
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macroeconomic trends may have an adverse effect on liquidity. During economic downtwrns, there have typically been fewer small
discretionary projects from the private sector and our competitors have aggressively bid larger long-term infrastructure and public
sector contracts. Short-term liquidity is also impacted by: (z) the type and length of construction contracts in place as performance
of long duration contracts typically requires greater amounts of working capital, (b) the leve] of turnaround activities within our
United States industrial services segment as such projects are billed in arrears pursuant to contractual terms that are standard within
the industry, and (c) the billing terms of our maintenance contracts, including those within our United States building services
segment. While we strive to negotiate favorable billing terms which allow us to invoice in advance of costs incurred on certain of
our contracts, there can be no assurance that such terms will be agreed to by our customers,

Long-term liquidity requirements can be expected to be met initially through cash generated from operating activities and the
botrowing capacity available under our revolving credit facility, Based upon our current credit ratings and financial position, we
can also reasonably expect to be able to secure long-term debt financing when required to achieve our strategic objectives. Over
the Jong term, our primary revenue risk factor continues to be the level of demand for non-residential construction and building
and industrial services, which are influenced by macroeconomic trends including interest rates and governmental econemic policy.
In addition, our ability to perform work is critical to meeting our long-term liquidity requirements.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents and the borrowing capacity available under our revolving credit facility
or other forms of financing available to us threugh berrowings, combined with cash expected to be generated from our operations,
will be sufficient to provide short-term and foreseeable long-term liquidity and meet our expected capital expenditure requirements.

Cash Flows

The following table presents our net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 (in thousands):

2019 2018 2017
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 355700 % 271,011 § 365,049
Net cash used in in\}esting activities P (345339) § (117,722) $ (138,093
Net cash used in financing activities $ 19,247) § (253,042) § (228,470)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 2592 8 (3421 % 3,242

Our consolidated cash balance, including cash equivalents and restricted cash, decreased by approximately $6.3 million from
$366.2 million at December 31, 2018 to $359.9 million at December 31, 2019. Net cash provided by operating activities for 201
was $355.7 million compared to $271.0 million of net cash provided by operating activities for 2018, The increase in cash provided
by operating activities was primarily due to: (a) 2 $41.6 million increase in net income and (b) the timing of cash receipts from
our customers, including payments of advanced billings on our long-term construction coniracts. Net cash used in investing
activities was $345.3 millien for 2019 compared to net cash used In investing activities of $117.7 million for 2018. The increase
in net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to an increase in payments for the acquisition of businesses. Net cash
used in financing activities for 2019 decreased by approximately $233.8 million compared to 2018 primarily as a result ofa $216.2
million decrease in funds used for the repurchase of our common stock and $25.0 million in net borrowings made under our
revolving credit facility during the 2019 period.

Our consolidated cash balance, including cash equivalents and restricted cash, decreased by approximately $103.2 million from
$469 4 million at December 31, 2017 to $366.2 million at December 31, 2018, Net cash provided by operating activities for 2018
was $271.0 mitlion compared to $366.0 million of net cash previded by operating activities for 2017. The reduction in cash flows
from operating activities was primarily due to organic revenue growth, which resulted in increased working capital levels. Net
cash used in investing activities was $117.7 million for 2018 compared to net cash used in investing activities of $138.1 million
for 2017, The decrease in net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to a reduction in payments for acquisitions of
businesses. Net cash used in financing activities for 2018 increased by approximately $24.6 million compared to 2017 primarily

due to an increase in funds used for the repurchase of common stock, partially offset by reduced debt repayments compared to the
prior year.

Debr

We have a credit agreement dated as of August 3, 2016, which provides for a $900.0 million revolving credit facility (the 2016
Revelving Credit Facility”) and a $400.0 million term loan (the “2016 Term Loan™) (coHectively referred to as the “2016 Credit
Agreement™) expiring August 3, 2021. We may increase the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility to $1.3 hillion if additional lenders
are identified and/or existing lenders are willing to increase thefr current commitments. We may allocate up to $3990.0 million of
available capacity under the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility to letters of credit for our account or for the account of any of our
subsidiaries. Obligations under the 2016 Credit Agreement are guaranteed by most of our direct and indirect subsidiaries and are
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customers to forego the requirement for Surety Bonds, (b) increase our activities in our business segments that rarely require Surety
Bonds, such as our building and industrial services segments, and/or (¢) refrain from bidding for certain projects that require Surety
Bonds, There can be no assurance that we would be able to effectuate alternatives to providing Surety Bonds to our customers or
to obtain, on favorable terms, sufficient additional work that does not require Surety Bonds. Accordingly, if we were to experience

a reduction in the availability of Surety Bonds, we could experience a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations and/or cash flows.

In the ordinary course of business, we, &t times, guarantee obligations of our subsidiaries under certain contracts. Generally, we
are liable under such an arrangement only if our subsidiary fails to perform its obligations under the contract. Historically, we have
not incurred any substantial liabilities as & consequence of these guarantees.

We do not have any other material financial guarantees or off-balance sheet arrangements other than those disclosed herein.

Contractual Obligations
The following is a summary of material contractual cbligations and other commercial commitments (in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Less

than 13 3-5 After
Contractugl Oblications Total 1 year years years S vears
Revolving credit fécility {including interest at 2,80%) U/ $ 523 8 14§ 309 § 0 — % —
Term Loan (including interest at 2.80%) 2655 223 243.2 — —
Finance leases 102 44 48 0.9 0.1
Operating leases 297.1 62.5 82.7 61.2 80.7
Open purchase cbligations @ ' 1,212.7 1,045.0 167.1 0.6 —
Other long-term obligations, including current portion @) 402.6 69.3 3235 9.8 —
“Total Contractual Obligatio;ls § 22404. § 12049 § BB22 § 725 § 80.8

Amount of Commitment Expiratiouns by Period

Total Less

N Amounts than 1-3 3-5 After
Other Commercial Commitments Committed 1 year years years S years
Letters of credit $ 1090 § 1090 % — § — § —

(1) OnAugust 3, 2016, we entered into a $900.0 million revolving credit facility (the “2016 Revolving Credit Facility™) and a $400.0 million
term Joan {the #2016 Term Loan™) (collectively referred to as the “201 4 Credit Agreement™). As of December 31, 2019, the amount outstanding
under the 2016 Term Loan was $254.4 million. As of December 31, 2019, there were borrowings ouistanding of $50.0 million under the
2016 Revalving Credit Facility.

(2) Represents open purchase orders for material and subcontracting costs related to construction and services contracts. These purchase orders
ate notreflected in EMCOR s Consolidated Balance Sheets and should not impact future cash flows as amounts should be recovered through
customer billings.

(3) Primarilyrepresents insurance related liabilities, and liabilities for deferred income taxes, incentive compensation and deferred compensation,
classified as other long-term liabilities in the Consclidated Balance Sheets, Cash payments for insurance and deferred compensation related
liabilities may be payable beyond three years, however it is not practical to estimate these payments; therefore, these liabilities are reflected
in the -3 years payment period. We provide funding to our post retirement plans based on at least the minimum funding required by
applicable regulations. In determining the minimum required funding, we utilize current actuarial assumptions and exchange rates to forecast
amounts that may be payable for up to five years in the future. In our judgment, minimum funding estimates beyond a five year time horizon
cannot be reliably estimated and, therefore, have not been included in the table.

Legal Proceedings
We are a party to lawsuits and other proceedings in which other parties seek to recover amounts from us. While litigation is

subject fo many uncertainties and the cutcome of litigaiion is not predictable with assurance, we do not believe that any such
matters will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.



inclusive of a canceilation, we recognize revenue over time. For these performance obligations, we use a cost-to-cost input method
to measure our progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation as we believe it best depicts the transfer of
control to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. However, for those coniracts for which we do not have
a right, at all times, to payment for performance completed to date, we recognize revenue at the point in time when control is
transferred to the customer. For bill-and-hold arrangements, revenue is recognized when the customer obtains control of the heat
exchanger, which may be prior to shipping, if certain recognition criteria are met.

For certain of our revenue streams, such &s call-out repair and service work, outage services, refinery turnarounds and specialty
welding services that are performed under time and materials contracts, our progress towards complete satisfaction of such
performance obligations is measured using an cutputmethod as the customer receives and consumes the benefits of our performance
completed to date.

Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimation process, it is possible that estimates of costs to complete a performance obligation
will be revised in the near-term. For those performance obligations for which revenue is recognized using a cost-to~cost mput
method, changes in total estimated costs, and related progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation, are
recagnized on a cumulative catch-up basis in the period in which the revisions to the estimates are made, When the current estimate
of total costs for a performance obligation indicate a loss, a provision for the entire estimated loss on the unsatisfied performance
obligation is made in the period in which the loss becomes evident. During 2019, there were no changes in total estimated costs
that had a significant impact on our operating results. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized losses of $10.0
million related to a changs in total estimated costs on a fransportation project within our United States electrical construction and
facilities services segment, resulting in part from contract scope issues. There were no other changes in total estimated costs that
resulted in a significant impact to our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2018,

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers, Contract assets include unbilled amounts
from our fong-term construction projects when revenues recognized under the cost-to-cost measure of progress exceed the amounts
invoiced to our customers, as the amounts cannot be billed under the terms of our contracts. Such amounts are recoverable from
£ our customers based upon various measutes of performance, incleding achievement of certain milestones, completion of specified
units or completion of a contract. In addition, many of our time and materials arrangements, as well as our contracts to perform
turnaround services within the United States industrial services segment, are billed in arrears pursuant to contract terms that are
standard within the industry, resulting in contract assets and/or unbilled receivables being recorded, as revenue is recognized in
advance of billings. Also included in contract assets are amounts we seek or will seek to collect from customers or others for errors
or changes in contract specifications or design, contract change orders or modifications i dispute or unapproved as to scope and/
or price, or other customer-related causes of unanticipated additional contract costs (claims and unapproved change orders). Qur
contract assets do not include capitalized costs to obtain and fulfill a contract. Contract assets are generally classified as current
within the Consolidated Balance Sheets,

Asof December 31,2019 and 2018, contract assets included unbilled revenues for unapproved change orders of approximately
$33.1 million and $25.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no claim amounts included within
contract assets or accounts receivable. There were contractually billed amounts and retention related to contracts with unapproved
change orders and claims of approximately $89.0 million and $96.1 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, For
contracts in claim status, confractually billed amounts will generally not be paid by the customer to us unti] final resolution of the
related claims.

Contract liabilities from our long-term construction contracts arise when amounts invoiced to our customers exceed revenues
recognized under the cosi-to-cost measure of progress. Contract Jiabilities additionally include advanced payments from our
custorners on certain contracts. Contract liabilities decrease as werecognize revenue from the satisfaction of the related performance
obligation and are recorded as either current or long-term, depending upon when we expect to recognize such revenue. The long-
term portion of contract liabilities is included in “Other long-term obligations” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets,

See Note 3 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers of the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Iiem &,
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for further disclosure regarding revenue recognition.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recognized in the period we deliver goods or provide services to our customers or when our right to
consideration is unconditional. We are required to estimate the collectibility of accounts receivable. A considerable amount of
judgment is required in assessing the likelihcod of realization of receivables, Relevant assessment factors include the
creditworthiness of the customer, our prior collection histery with the customer and related aging of the past due balances. The
provision for doubtful accounts during 2019, 2018, and 2017 amounted to approximately $2.6 million, $2.1 million, and $7.3
million, respectively. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, our accounts receivable of $2,030.8 million and $1,773.6 million,
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We test for impairment of our goodwill at the reporting unit Jevel. Qurreporting units are consistent with the reportable segments
identified in Note 19, “Segment Information”, of the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial
statements and Supplementary Data. In assessing whether our goodwill is impaired, we compare the fair value of the reporting
unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value exceeds the carrying amount, no impairment loss is recognized.
However, if the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value, the goodwill of the reporting unit is impaired and an
impairment loss in the amount of the excess is recognized and charged to operations. The fair value of each of our reporting units
is generally determined using discounted estimated future cash flows; however, in certain circumstances, consideration is given
to a market approach whereby fair value is measured based on a multiple of earnings.

As of the date of our latest impairment test (October 1, 2019), the carrying values of our United States electrical construction
and facilities services segment, our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, our United States building
services segment and our United States industrial services segment were approximately $331.0 million, $369.5 million, $546.8
million and $705.2 million, respectively. The fair values of our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment,
our United States mechanicel construetion and facilities services segment, our United States building services segment, and our
United States industrial services segment exceeded their carrying values by approximately $1,321.8 million, $2,011.5 million,
$922.3 million and $40.5 million, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, no impairment of our goodwill was recognized. As part of our annual
impairment testing for the year ended December 31, 2017, and as a result of continued adverse market conditions, we terpered
our expectations regarding the strength of a near-term recovery within our United States industrial services segment, resultin gin
anon-cash impairment charge of $57.5 million.

The weighted average cost of capital used in our annual testing for impairment as of October 1,2019 was 9.5%, 9.1% and 10.5%
for our domestic construction segments, our United States building services segment and our United States mdustrial services
segment, respectively. The perpetual growth rate used for our annual testing was 2.7% for all of our domestic segments. Unfavorable
changes in these key assumptions may affect future testing results, For example, keeping all other assumptions constant, a 50 basis

-point increase in the weighted average costs of capital would cause the estimated fair values of our United States electrical
construction and facilities services segment, our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, our United

* States buillding services segment, and our United States industrial services segment to decrease by approximately $108.8 million,

+.$156.7 million, $98.0 million, and $40.3 million, respectively. In addition, keeping all other assumptions constant, a 50 basis point

-reduction in the perpetual grewth rate would cause the estimated fair values of our United States electrical construction and facilities
services segment, our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, our United States building services
segment, and our United States industrial services segment to decrease by approximately $61.4 million, $50.5 million, $55.7
million, and $20.5 million, respectively. Given the amounts by which the fair value exceeds the carrying value for each of our
reporting units other than our United States industrial services segment, the decreases in estimated fair values described above
would not have significantly impacted our 2019 impairment test. In the case of our United States industrial services segment,
however, such decreases would cause the estimated fair value to approach its carrying value.

We also test for the impairment of trade names that are not subject to amortization by calculating the fair value using the “relief
from royalty payments” methodology. This approach involves two steps: (a) estimating reasonable royalty rates for each trade
name and (b) applying these royalty rates to a net revenue stream and discounting the resulting cash flows to determine fair value.
This fair value is then compared with the carrying value of each trade name. If the carrying amount of the trade name is greafer
than the implied fair value of the trade name, an impairment in the amount of the excess is recognized and cherged to eperations.
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, no impairment of our indefinite-lived trade names was recognized. The annual
impaimment review of our indefmite-lived trade names for the year ended December 31, 2017 resulted in a $0.3 million non-cash
mnpairment charge as a result of a change in the fair value of a subsidiary trade name associated with a prior acquisition reported
within our United States building services segment,

In addition, we review for the impairment of other identifiable intangible assets that are being amortized whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be fully recoverable, This test compares their carrying values to the
undiscounted pre-tax cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets. If the assets are impaired, the assets are written down
to their fair values, generally determined based on their discounted estimated future cash flows. For the years ended December 3 1,
2019 and 2017, no impairment of our other identifiable intangible assets was recognized. For the year ended December 31, 201 8,
werecorded a $0.9 million non-cash impairment charge associated with a finite-lived trade name within our United States industrial
Services segment.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We have not used any derivative financial instruments during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, including trading
or speculating on changes in interest rates or commodity prices of materials used in our business.

We are exposed to market risk for changes in interest rates for borrowings under the 2016 Credit Agreement, which provides
for a revolving credit facility and a term loan, Borrewings under the 2016 Credit Agreement bear interest at variable rates. For
further information on borrowing rates and interest rate sensitivity, refer to the Liquidity and Capital Resources discussion in
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. As of December 31, 20 19, there
were borrowings of $50.0 million outstanding under the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility and the balance of the 2016 Term Loan
was $254.4 million. Based on the $304.4 million borrowings outstanding under the 2016 Credit Agreement, if overall interest rates
were to increase by 100 basis points, interest expense, net of income taxes, would increase by approximately $2.2 million in the
next twelve months. Conversely, if overall interest rates were to decrease by 100 basis points, interest expense, net of income
taxes, would decrease by appreximately $2.2 miltion in the next twelve months.

It is expeocted that a number of banks currently reporting information used ta set LIBOR will stop doing so after 2021, which
could either cause LTBOR to stop publication or cause LIBOR to ne Jonger be representative of the underlying market, We believe
our exposure to market risk associated with the discontinuation of LIBOR is limited as our 2016 Credit Agreement expires pricr
to the end of 2021 and given that we are not exposed to any other material contracts that reference LIBOR.

We are exposed to construction market risk and its potential related impact on accounts receivable or contract assets on
uncompleted contracts. The amounts recorded may be atrisk if our customers’ ability to pay these obli gations is negatively impacted
by economic conditions. We continually monitor the creditworthiness of our customers and maintain on-going discussions with
cuistomers regarding contract status with respect to chenge orders and billing terms. Therefore, we believe we take appropriate
action to manage market and other risks, but there is no assurance that we will be able to reasonably identify all risks with respect
to the collectibility of these assets. See also the previous discussions of Revenue Recognition from Contracts with Customers and
Accounts Recejvable under the heading “Application of Critical Accounting Policies” in Item 7. Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Amounts invested in our foreign operations are translated into U.S, dollars at the exchange rates in effect at year end. The
resulting iranslation adjustments are recorded as accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, a component of equity, in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. We believe the exposure to the effects that fluctuating foreign currencies may have on our consolidated
results of operations is limited because our foreign operations primarily invoice customers and collect obligations in their respective
local currencies. Additionally, expenses associated with these transactions are generally contracted and paid for in their same local
currencies.

In addition, we are exposed to market risk of fluctuations in certain commodity prices of materials, such as copper and steel,
which are used as components of supplies or materials utilized in our construction, building services and industrial services
operations. We are also exposed to increases in energy prices, particularly as they relate to gasoline prices for our fleet of
approximately 11,000 vehicles. While we believe we can increase our contract prices to adjust for some price increases in
commodities, there can be no assurance that such price increases, if they were to oceur, would be recoverable. Additionally, our
fixed price contracts do not allow us to adjust our prices and, as a result, increases in material costs could reduce our profitability
with respect to projects int progress.
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EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSCLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For The Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Restructuring expenses '

[mpairment loss on goodwill and identifiable intangible assets
Operating income '

Net periodic pension (cost) income

Tnterest expense

Interest income

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax provision

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operation, net of income taxes

Net income including noncentrolling interests

* Less: Net (income) loss attributable to noncontroiling interests
Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc.

Basic earnings (loss) per common share:

From continuing operations attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. common

stockholders

From discontinued operation

Net ncome attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. common stockhelders

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:

From continuing aperations attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. common

stockholders

From discontinued operation

Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. comimon stockholders

Dividends declared per common share

2019 2018 2017
$ 9174611 $ 8,130,631 § 7.686,999
7,818,743 6,925,178 6,539,987
1,355,868  1,205453 1,147,012
893,453 799,157 738,714
1,523 2,306 1,577
— 907 57,819
460,892 403,083 328,002
1,553 2,743 1,652
(13,821) (13,544) (12,770
2,265 2,746 965
450,889 395,028 318,749
125,749 - 109,106 90,699
325,140 285,922 228,050
— (2,345) (857)
325,140 283,577 227,193
— (46) 3
$ 325140 $ 283531 § 227.196
$ 578 § 492§ 3.85
_ (0.04) (0.01)
$ 578§ 488 S 3.84
$ 575§ 489§ 3.83
_ (0.04) (0.01)
$ 575 § 485 S 3.82
$ 032§ 032§ 032

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements,
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EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Far The Years Ended December 31,
(I thousands}

Cash flows - operating activities:
Net income including noncontrolling interests
Adjustments to reconcile net Income to netcash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amoriization of identifiable intangible assets
Pravision for doubtful accounts
Deferred income taxes _
Gain on sale or disposal of property, plant aud equipment
Exocess tax benefits from share-based compansation
Equity loss (income) from unconsolidated entities
Non-cash expense for amortization of debt issuance costs
Non-cash expense from contingent consideration arrangements
Non-cash e}ipense for impairment of goodwill and jdentifiable intangible assets
Non-cash share-based compensation expense
Non-cash ingome from ¢hen ges in tmreco gnized tax benefits
Distributions from unconsolidated entities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding the effect of businesses acquired:
Increase in accounts receivable
Decrease (increase) in inventories
(Increase) decrease in contract assets
(Pecrease) increase in accounts payable
Increase in contract liahilities
Increase {decrease) in accrued payroll and benefits and other accrued expenses and Habilities
Changes in other assets and liabilities, net
Net cash provided by eperating sctivities
Cash flows - investing activities:
Payments for acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated entities
Distributions from unconsolidated entities
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows - financing activitics:
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Repayments of revolving credit facilify
Repayments of long-term debt
Repayments of finance lease liabilities
Dividends paid to stockholders
Repurchase of common stock
Taxes paid related to net share settlements of equity awards
Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan
Payments for contingent consideration arrangements
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
(Decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year &
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

(1) Tncludes $1.1 million, $2.3 million, $2.0 million and $2.0 million of restricted cash classified as ¢

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of Decernber 31, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

2019 2018 2017
$ 325140 § 283,577 § 227,193
43,945 38,472 39,915
48,142 42,443 48,594
2,628 2,123 7.264
1,701 4,249 (53,358)
(3,981) (517 (1.846)
(984) (1,646) - (1,616)
2,990 (347) (864)
1,186 1,186 1,186
1,373 186 317
— 907 57,819
11,386 11,630 9,935
— (72) 15,641)
1,074 3,110 5,506
(135,954)  (146,101)  (80,514)
4,345 (3,915) {4,936)
(10,111)  (30,935) 12,433
(33,971)  78.554 54,910
51,310 20,726 24,695
49,551 24,715y 24,017
(4,070 (7.304) 1,036
355,700 271,011 366,049
(300,980)  (72.080)  (107,223)
5,487 1,237 4,014
(48,432) © (43.479)  (34,684)
(2,252) (3,484) (675)
838 84 475
(345,339) ~ (117,722)  (13%,093)
50,000 — —
(25,000) — (100,000
(15198)  (15235) {15,202
(4.5371) (1,301) (1,445
(17.950)  (18,640)  (18.971)
—  (216244)  (93,166)
(6,451) (3.848) (3,462)
6.090 5,765 4,793
(3,917 (3.339) (1,017)
(250) — —
(19.247) ~ (253,042) (228,470}
2,592 (3.421) 3.242
(6,294) ~ (103.174) 2,728
366,214 469388 465,660

$_359.920 § 366214 § 469.288

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements,

‘Prepaid expenses and other™ in the



EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF QPERATIONS

References to the “Company,” “EMCOR,” “we,” “us,” “our” and similar words refer to EMCOR Group, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise.

We are one of the largest electrical and mechanical construction and facilities services firms in the United States. In addition,
we provide a number of building services and industrial services. We specialize principally in providing construction services
relating to electrical and mechanical systems in all types of facilities and in providing various services relating to the operation,
maintenance and management of facilities, including refineries and petrochemical plants.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCQOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidarion

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries and j oint ventures.
Significant intercompany accounts and fransactions have been eliminated. All investments over which we exercise significant
influence, but do not centrol (a 20% to 50% ownership interest), are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, For
joint ventures that have been accounted for using the consolidation method of accounting, noncontrolling interests represent the
allocation of eamings to our joint venture partners who either have a minority-ownership interest in the joint venture or are not at
risk for the majority of losses of the joint venture,

The results of operations of companies acquired have been included in the results of operations from the date of the respective
acquisition.

Principles of Preparation

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States, requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
materially differ from those estimates.

Our reportable segments reflect certain reclassifications of prior year amounts from our United States mechanical construction
and facilities services segment to our United States building services and our United States industrial services segments due to
changes in our internal reporting structure.

During the third quarter of 2014, we ceased construction operations in the United Kirgdom. The results of the censtruction
operations of our United Kingdom segment for all periods are presented as discontinued operations.

Revenue Recognition

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Cedification Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 606™)
on Japuary 1, 2018. In accordance with ASC 606, revenue is recognized when promised goods or services are transferred to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. Referto Note 3 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers of the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional
information.

For the periods presented pricr to the adoption of ASC 606, revenues from long-term construction contracts were recognized in
accordance with ASC Topic 605-35, “Revenue Recognition-Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts.” Revenues from
the performance of services for maintenance, repair and retrofit work were recognized consistent with the performance of the
services, generally on a pro-rata basis over the life of the contractual arrangement. Revenues related to the engineering,
manufacturing and repairing of shell and tube heat exchangers were recognized when the product was shipped and ail othet revenue
recognition criteria were met.

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated financial statements, we consider ail highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three
months or less to be cash equivalents. We malntain a centralized cash management system whereby our excess cash balances are
invested in high quality, short-term money market instruments, which are considered cash equivalents. We have cash balances in
certain of our domestic bank accounts that exceed federally insured limits,
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EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

Income Toaxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 749, “Income
Taxes™ (“ASC 740”). ASC 740 requires an asset and liability approach which requires the recognition of deferred income tax assets
and deferred income tax liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred income tax
assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized.

We account for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740. We recognize accruals of interest related
to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of the income tax provision.

Valuation of Share-Based Compensarion Plans

We have various types of share-based compensation plans and programs, which are administered by our Board of Directors or
its Compensation and Personnel Committee. See Note 14 - Share-Based Compensation Plans of the notes to consolidated financial
statements for additional information regarding the share-based compensation plans and programs,

We account for share-based payments in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718,
“Compensation-Stock. Compensation” (“ASC 718”), ASC 718 requires that all share-based payments issued to acquire goods or
services, including grants of emplayee stock options, be recognized in the statement of operations based on their fzir values.
Compensation expense related to share-based awards is recognized over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting
period. For shares subject to graded vesting, our policy is to apply the straight-line method in recognizing compensation expense,
ASC 718 requires the benefits of tax deductlons in excess of recognized compensation expense to be recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations when the underlying awards vest or are settled.

New Accounting Pronouncemenis

On January 1, 2019, we adopied the accounting pronouncement issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASE’ B
tor eplace existing lease accounting guidance. This pronouncement is mtended to provide enhanced transparency and comparability
by reguiring Jessees to record right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities on the balance sheet for most leases. Expenses
associated with leases continue to be recognized in a manner similar to previous accounting guidance. We adopted this
pronouncement utilizing the transition practical expedient added by the FASB, which eliminated the requirement that entities apply
the new lease standard to the comparative periods presented in the year of adoption. The adoption of this accounting g pronouncement
resulted in the recognition of cperating lease right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities on our balance sheet of §220.2
million and $227.1 million, respectively, as of January 1, 2019. Additional required disclosures have been included within Note
17 - Leases of the notes to consolidated financial statements. Such adoption did not have an impact on our liquidity, results of
operations or our compliance with the various covenants contained within our 2016 Credit Agreement as described in further detail
within Note 10 - Debt of the niotes to consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2019, we adopted the accounting pronouncement issued by the FASB related to the reporting of certain items in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (*AOCI”). This guidance provides entities the option to reclassify to retained
earnings certain tax effects stranded in AOCI as a result of tax reform. As part of our adoption of this accounting pronouncement,
we elected not to reclassify the stranded tax effects related to the retirement plans of our United States subsidiaries as such amounts
are immaterial. Tax effects remaining in AOCT will be released upon liquidation of each individual retirement plan.

In June 2016, an accounting pronouncement was issued by the FASB which changes the way in which entities estimate and
present credit losses for most financial assets, including accounts receivable. This pronouncement is effective for annual and
interim periods beginning after December 15,2019, with early adoption permitted. In preparation for adoption, we have substantially
completed a process to identify and group financial assets with similar characteristics into collective pools. We have additicnally
begun implementing, processes and internal controls to identify information, including macroeconomic forecasts and key credit
indicators, relevant to estimating expected credit losses. As a result of the procedures performed to date, we do not anticipate that
the adoption of this pronouncemient will have a material impact on our financial position and/or resulis of operations.
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EMCQOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS - (Coutinued)

amount of variable consideration to be recognized represents the sum of probability weighted amounts in a range of possible
consideration amounts, and (b) the most likely amount method, whereby the amount of variable consideration to be recognized
represents the single most likely amount in arange of possible consideration amounts. When applying these methods, the Company
considers all information that is reasonably available, including historical, current, and estimates of future performance. The
expected value method is typically utilized in situations where a contract contains a large number of possible outcomes while the
most likely amount method is typically utilized in situations where a contract has only two possible outcomes.

Variable consideration is included in the transaction price only te the extent it is probable, in the Company’s judgment, that a
significant fuiure reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized under the contract will not occur wher the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. This threshold is referred to as the variable consideration
constraint. In assessing whether to apply the variable consideration constraint, the Company considers if factors exist that could
increase the likelihood or the magnitude of a potential reversal of revenue, including, but not limited to, whether: (a) the amount
of consideration is highly susceptible to factors outside of the Company’s influence, such as the actions of third parties, (b) the
uncertainty surrounding the amount of consideration is not expected to be resolved for a long period of time, (c) the Company’s
experience with similar types of contracts is limited or that experience has limited predictive value, (d) the Company has a practice
of either offering a broad range of price concessions or changing the payment terms and conditions of similar cortracts in similar
circumstances, and (e) the contract has a large number and broad range of possible consideration amounts.

Pending change orders represent one of the most common forms of variable consideration included within contract valie and
typically represent contract modifications for which a change in scope has been authorized or acknowledged by our customer, but
the final adjustment to contract price is yet to be negotiated. In estimating the transaction price for pending change orders, the
Company considers all relevant facts, including documented correspondence with the customer regarding acknowledgment of
and/or agreement with the modification, as well as historical experience with the customer or similar contractual circumstances.

Based upon this assessment, the Company estimates the transaction price, including whether the variable consideration constraint
should be applied.

Contract claims are another form of variable consideration which is common within our industry. Claim amounts represent
revenue that has been recognized for contract modifications that are not submitted or are in dispute as to both scope and price. In
estimating the transaction price for claims, the Company considers all relevant facts available. However, given the uncertainty
surrounding claims, including the potential long-term nature of dispute resalution and the broad range of possible consideration
amounts, there is an increased likelihood that any additional contract revenue associated with contract claims is constrained. The
resolution of claims involves negotiations and, in certain cases, litigation. In the event litigation costs are incwired by us in cennection
with claims, such litigation costs are expensed as incinred, although we may seek to recover these costs.

For some transactions, the receipt of consideration does not match the timing of the transfer of goods or services to the customer.
For such contracts, the Company evaluates whether this timing difference represents a financing arrangement within the contract,
Although rare, if a contract is determined to contain a significant financing component, the Company adjusts the promised amount
of consideration for the effects of the time value of money when determining the transaction price of such contract. Although our
customers may retain a portion of the contract price until completion of the project and final contract settlement, these retainage
amounts ate not considered a significant financing component as the intent of the withheld amounts is to provide the customer
with assurance that we will complete cur obligations under the contract rather than to provide financing to the customer. In addition,
although we may be entitled to advanced payments from our customers on certain contracts, these advanced payments generally
do not represent a significant financing component as the payments are used to meet working capital demands that can be higher
in the early stages of a contract, as well as to protect us from our customer failing to meet its obligations under the contract.

Changes in the estimates of transaction prices are recognized on a cumulative catch-up basis in the period in which the revisions
to the estimates are made. Such changes in estimates can result in the recognition of revenue in a current period for performance
obligations which were satisfied or partially satisfied in prior periods. Such changes in estimates may also resuli in the reversal of
previously recognized revenue if the ultimate outcome differs from the Company’s previous estimate. There were no sighificant
amounts of revenue recognized during the year ended December 31, 2019 related to performance obligations satisfied in prior
periods. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized revenve of $7.3 million associated with the final settlement of
contract value for three projects which were completed in prior periods. For the years ended December 3 1,2019 and 2018, there
were no significant reversals of revenue recognized associated with the revision of transaction prices.
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EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TG CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS - (Continued)

of total costs for a performance obligation indicate a loss, 2 provision for the entire estimated loss on the unsatisfied performance
obligation is made in the period in which the Joss becomes evident, During 2019, there were no changes in total estimated costs
that had a significant impact on our operating results, During 2018, we recognized losses of $10.0 million related to a change in
total estimated costs on a transportation project within our United States electrical construction and facilities services seginent,
resulting in part from contract scope issues. There were no other changes in total estimated costs that resulted in a significant
impact to our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2018,

Disaggregation of Revenues

Ourrevenues are principally derived from contracts to provide construction services relating to electrical and mecharical systenss,
as well as to provide a number of building services and industrial services to our customers. Our contracts are with many different
customers in numerous industries. Refer to Note 19 - Segment Information of the notes to the consolidated financial statements
for additional information on how we disaggregate our revenues by reportable segment, as well as a more complete description
of our business.

The following tables provide finther disaggregation of our revenues by categories we use to evaluate our financial performance
within each of our reportable segments (in thousands):

% of % of
2019 Total 2018 Total
United States electrical construction and facilities services:
Commercial market sector ' $1,081,737 49% $ 839,045 43%
Institutional market sector 125,537 6% 110,046 6%
Hospitality market sector 16,985 1% 32,338 2%
Manufacturing market sector 462,953 21% 388,157  20%
Healtheare market sector 88,752 4% 126,218 6%
Transportation market sector 210,515 9% 284,464 14%
Water and wastewater market sector 19,921 1% 23,33 1%
Short duration projects ") 158,619 7% 120,100 6%
Service work 54,955 2% 34,105 2%
Less intersesment revenues (3,3714) {(3,496)
Total segment revenues $2,216,600 $1.954,323
% of Y% of
2419 Total 2018 Total
United States mechanical construction and facilities services:
Commercial market sector ) $1,185,129 36% $1,057.542 35%
Institutional market sector 313,409 9% 289,882 10%
Hospitality market sector ’ 35,385 1% G3,827 3%
Manufacturing market sector 533,699 16% 393,637 13%
Healthcare market sector 304,622 9% 240,813 8%
Transportation market sector 32,686 1% 19,415 1%
Water and wastewater market sector 202,428 6% 176,546 5%
Short duration projects ‘) 365,721 1% 318,413 11%
Service work 378,839 11% 385,671 13%
73,351,918 2975751
Less intersegment revennes (11,581) ' {i2,908)
Total segment revenues $3,340,337 $2,962,843

(I} Represents those projects which generally are completed within three months or less.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAYL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS - (Continued)

As of December 31,2019 and 2018, contract assets included unbilled revenues for unapproved change orders of approximately
$33.1 million and $25.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no claim amounts included within
contract assets or accounts receivable. There were contractually billed amounts and retention related to contracts with unapproved
change orders and claims of approximately $89.0 million and $96.1 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. For
contracts in claim status, contractnally bifled amounts will generally not be paid by the customer to us until final rezolution of the
related claims.

Confract liabilities from our long-term construction contracts arise when amounts invoiced fo our customers exceed revenues
recognized under the cosi-to-cost measure of progress. Contract liabilities additionally include advanced payments from our
customers on certain contracts. Contract liabilities decrease as we recognize revenue from the satisfaction of the related performance
obligation and are recorded as either current or long-term, depending upon when we expect to recognize such revenue. The Jong-
term portion of contract liabilities is included in “Other long-term obligations™ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Net coniract liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

2019 2018
Contract assets, current ' - § 177830 § 158243
Contract as.sét-s, non-current ' ‘— —
Contract liabilities, current (623,642) (552,290}
Contract liabilities, pon-current - (2,142) (2,069
Net coniract liahilities _ 3 (447,954) §  {396,116)

Included within net contract labilities were $406.6 million and $359.2 million of net confract liabilities on uncompleted
construction prajects as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respactively, as follows (in thousands);

2019 2018
Costs incurred on uncompleted construction contracts $ 9,885,192 § 8,656,642
Estimated earnings, thereon 1,349,338 1,172,224
11,234,530 9,828,866
Less: billings to date 11,641,082 10,188,023

$  (406,552) § (339,157)

The $51.8 million increase in net confract liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was primarily attributable to the
$47.4 million increase in the net cantract liabilities on our uncompleted long-term construction contracts, partially as a result of
the timing of billings to our customers as amounts invoiced exceeded the revenue recognized on certain large projects in the earlier
stages of completion. Contract assets and centract liabilities increased by approximately $8.2 million and $29.0 milkion, respectively,
as aresult of acquisitions made in 2019. There was no significant impairment of contract assets recognized during the period.

Contract Retentions

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, accounts receivable included $298.5 million and $254.6 million, respectively, of retainage
billed under terms of our contracts. Theseretainage amounts represent amounts which have been contractually inveiced to customers
where payments have been partially withheld pending the achievement of certain milestones, satisfaction of other contractual
conditions or completion of the project. We estimate that approximately 88% of this retainage will be collected during 2020.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, accounts payable included $64.7 miltion and $43.3 million, respectively, of retainage
withheld under terms of our subcentracts. These retainzge amounts represent amounts invoiced to the Company by our
subcontractors where payments have been partially withheld pending the achievement of certain milestones, satisfaction of other
contractual conditions or upon completion of the project. We estimate that approximately 86% of this retainage will be paid during
2020.
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EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4 - ACQUISITIONS OF BUSINESSES

Acquisitions are accounted for utilizing the acquisition method of accounting and the prices paid for them are allocated to their
respective assets and liabilities based upon the estimated fair value of such assets and liabilities at the dates of their respective
acquisition by us.

On November 1, 2019, we completed the acquisition of Batchelor & Kimball, Inc. (“BKI™), a leading full service provider of
mechanical construction and maintenance services. This acquisition strengthens our position and broadens our capabilities in the
southern and Southeastern regions of the United States, and its results of operations have been included within our United States
mechanical construction and facilities services segment. Under the terms of the transaction, we acquired 100% of BKI’s outstanding
capital stock for total consideration of approximately $220.0 million, In connection with the acquisition of BKI, we acquired
working capital of $29.8 million and other net assats of $4.9 million and have preliminarily ascribed $43.6 million to goodwill
and $141.7 million to identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the consideration transferred over the
fair value of the net assets acquired and represents the future sconomic benefits expected from this strategic acquisition. The
weighted average amortization period for the identifiable intangible assets, which consist of a trade name, customer relationships,
and contract backlog, is approximately 10.5 vears.

In addition to BKI, during 2019, we completed six other acquisitions for total consideration of $85.3 million. Such companies
include: (a) a company which provides electrical contracting services in central Towa, the results of operations of which have been
included within our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment, (b) a company which provides mechanical
contracting services in south-central and eastern Texas, the results of operations of which have been included within our United
States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, and (c) four companies within our United States building services
segment which bolster our presence in geographies where we have existing operations and provide either mobile mechanical
services or building automation and controls solutions. In connection with these acquisitions, we acquired working capital ¢f$25.3
million and other net assets of $ 1.3 million and have preliminarily ascribed $29.1 million to goodwill and $29.6 million to identifiable
intangible assets,

During 2018, we acquired four companies for total consideration of $71.6 million. Two companies provide mobile mechanical
services, one within the Eastern region and the other within the Western region of the United States. The third company is a full
service provider of mechanical services within the Southern regicn of the United States. The results of these three companies have
been included in our United States building services segment. The fourth company provides electrical construction and maintenance
services for industrial and commercial buildings in north Texas, and its results have been included in our United States electrical
construction and facilities services segment. In connection with these acquisitions, we acquired working capital of $8.7 million
and have ascribed $26.3 million to goodwill and $35.6 million to identifiable intangible assets.

During 2017, we acquired three companies for total consideration of $111.9 million. One company provides fire protection and
alarm services primarily in the Southern region of the United States. The second company provides millwright services for
manufacturing companies throughout the United States. Both of their results have been included in our United States mechanical
construction and facilities services segment. The third company provides mobile mechanical services within the Western region
of the United States, and its results have been included in our United States building services segment. In connection with thess

acquisitions, we acquired working capital of $12.3 million and other net assets of $2.3 million and have ascribed $40.7 million to
goodwill and $56.6 miilion to identifiable intangible assets,

We expect that all of the goodwill acquired in connection with these acquisitions will be deductible for tax purposes. The purchase
price allocations for the businesses acquired in 2019 are preliminary and subject to change during their respective measurement
periods. The purchase price allocations for the businesses acquired in 2048 and 2017 have been finalized during their respective
measurement periods with an insignificant impact.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7 - INVENTORIES

Inventories as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 consist of the following amounts (in thousands):

_ 2019 218
Raw materials and construction materials _ % 31,365 % 30,006
Work in process 9,081 12,315

Inventories : o S 5 40,446 § 42,321

NOTE 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following amounts as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):

2019 2018

Machinery and equipment o o $ 166,087 § 151,339
Vehicles ' 59,116 58,205
Furniture and fixtures - 22,123 20,655
Computer hardware/software 104,916 08,415
Land, buildings and leasehoid improvements 113,020 07,937
Construction in progress 10,236 14,443
Finance lease right-of-use assets & 9,609 —

485,107 440,994
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (328,220) (306,643)

$ 156,187 § 134351

(1) TFinance lease right-ofiuse asseis are recorded net of accummulated amortization. Prior to the adoption 0T ASC 842 on January 1, 2019, assets
under capital leases were recerded as machinery and equipment or computer hardware/software,

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property, plant and equipment, including finance leases, was $43.9 million,
$38.5 million, and $39.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

NOTE 9 - GOGODWILLAND IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill at December 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately $1,063.9 million and $990.9 million, respectively, and reflects
the excess of the consideration transferred in a business combination over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill
attributable to companies acquired in 2015 and 2018 has been valued at $72.7 million and $26.3 million, respectively. Accounting
Standards Codification Tepic 805, “Business Combinations™ (“ASC 805" requires that all business combinations be accounted
for using the acquisition method and that certain identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination be recognized
as assets apart from goodwill. Accounting Standards Codification Topic 350, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other” (“ASC 350
requires goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful fives, such as trade names, not be amortized, but
instead be tested at least annually for impairment (which we test each October 1, absent any earlier identified impairment indicators),
and be written down if impaired. ASC 350 requires that goodwill be allocated to its respective reporting unit and that identifiable
intangible assets with finite lives be amortized over their useful lives. As of December 31, 2019, approximately 13.4% of our
goodwill related to our United States electrical construction and facitities services segment, approximately 28.1% of our goodwill
related to our Unifed States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, approximately 27.2% of our goodwill related

to our United States building services segment and approximately 31.3% of our goodwill related to our United States industrial
services segment,

We test for impairment of our goodwill at the reporting unit level. Our reporting units are consistent with the repertable segments
identified in Note 19, “Segment Information,” of the notes to consolidated financial statements. In assessing whether our goodwill
is impaired, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill, If the fair value exceeds
the carrying amount, no impairment loss is recognized. However, if the cairying amount of the reposting unit exceeds the fair
value, the goodwill of the reporting unit is impaired and an impainment loss in the amount of the excess is recognized and charged
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2018
were as follows (in thousands):

United Stafes United States
electrical mechanical
construction construction United States United States
and facilities and facilities building industrial
services segmenf  services segment  services segment  services segment Total
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 125,707 % 256,265 % 255,733 % - 327,188 % 964,893
Acquisitions, sales and purchase price
adjustments 7,500 56 18,438 — 25,994
Balance at December 31,2018 - : I33,20-7 256,321 274_,171 327,188 990,887
Acquisitions, sales and purchase price
adjustments 9,338 48,699 14,987 — 73,024
Tntersegment transfers _ — - (5,800) - — 5800 S
Balance at December 31, 2019 L) 142,545 § 200220 § 289,158 § 332,988 § 1,063,911

The aggregate goodwill balance as of December 31, 2017 included $268.1 million of accumulated impairment charges, which

were comprised of $139.5 million within the United States building services segment and $128.6 million within the United States
industrial services segment.

S 4

Identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2019

Gross Accumulated
Carrying Accumulated kmpairment
. Amount Amortization Charge Total

. Contract backlog $ 66,745 §  (61,651) § — 8 5,094
. Developed technology/Vendor network 93,661 (60,156) — 35,505
Customer relationships 644,755 (277,601 {4,834} 362,320
Trade names (amortized) 31,148 (21,830) — 9,318
Trade names {anamortized) 251,440 — (52,233) 199,207
Total $ 1089749 §  (421238) § (57,067) § 611,444

December 31, 2018

Gross Accumudated
Carrying Accumulated Impairment
Amount Amertization Charge Total
Contract backlog ' 5 58945 § - (56,812) § — § - 2,133
Developed technolog)fNencior network 93,661 (55,3 18) — 40,343
Customer relationships ] 522 855 (240,073 . - {4,834) 277,948
Trade names (amortized) 31,148 (20,893) — 10,255
Trade names (unamortized) _ 209,840 : — (52,233) 157,607
Total . 3 918,449 § (373,096) § (57,067 § 488,286

Identifiable intangible assets attributable to businesses acquired in 2019 and 2018 have been valued at $171.3 million and $36.6
million, respectively, and consist of contract backlog, custemer relationships, and trade names. See Note 4 - Acquisitions of
Businesses of the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional information with respect to acquisitions.

Identifiable intangible amounts are amortized on a straight-line basis, as it best approximates the pattern in which the sconomic
benefits of the identifiable intangible assets are consumed. The weighted average amortization periods for the unamortized balances
remaining are, in the aggregate, approximately 8.5 years, which are comprised of the following: 0.75 years for contract backlog,
7.5 years for developed technology/vendor network, 8.75 years for customer relationships and 10.75 years for trade names.
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Long-term debt in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following amounts as of December 31,2015
and 2018 (in thousands);

2019 2018
Revolving credit facility ' : $ 50,000 $. 25,000
Term loan, interest payable at varying arnounts through 2021 254,431 269,620
Unamortized debt issuarice costs ' - {1,879) {(3,065)
Finance ]easé lisbilities 9,679 - 4213
Other | C L o - 9
Total debt ' - - - 312,231 295,777
Less: current maturities i : ' : : I S 18,092 - 16,013
Total long-term debt $ 204139 § 279,764

Finance Legse Liabilities
See Note 17 - Leases of the notes to consolidaied financial statements for additional information.
NOTE 11 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

2z We use a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value, The hierarchy, which
" gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets, is comprised of the following three levels:

. Level 1 —Unadjusted quoted market prices In active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

" Level 2 — Observable inputs, other than Level 1 inputs. Level 2 inputs would typically include quoted prices in markets that are
“ not active or financial instruments for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.

- Level 3 — Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the measurement and unobservable,
The following tables provide the assets and liabilities carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis as of December 31,
2019 and 2018 {in thousands):

Assets at Fair Value as of December 31, 2019

Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents & $ 358818 § — $ -— § 358818
Restricted cash ¥ 1,102 — — 1,102
Deferred compensation plan assets < 30,295 — — 30,295
Total § 390215 § — § — § 390215

Assets at Fair Value as of Becember 31, 2018

Asgset Category Level 1 Level 2 Levet 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents b 363907 § — $ — § 363,507
Restricted cash @ 2,307 — — 2,307
Deferred compensation plan assets © 23,124 — — 23,124
Total $ 389338 § — § — S 389,338

(1) Cash and cash equivalents consist of deposit accounts and money market funds with original maturity dates of three months or lsss, which
are Level 1 assets. At Decernber 31, 2019 and 2018, we had §164.0 million and §16£.3 million, respectively, in money market funds.

{2} Restricted cash is classified as “Prepaid expenses and other” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Restricted cash primarily represeits cash
held in account for use on customer contracts.

(3) Deferred compensation plan assets are classified as “Cther assets™ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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ROTE 12 - INCOME TAXES - (Continued)

compared to 2017 was due to the net impact of the Tax Act, including the reduction of the U.S. federal corporate tax rate ffom

35%1t0 21% in 2018, partially offset by the reduction in income tax expense associated with the re-measurement of our net deferred
tax liability balance in 2017.

ftems accounting for the differences between income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate and the income tax provision
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were as follows (in thounsands):

2019 2018 2017
Federal income taxes at the statutory Tate ' ) s 94,687 § 82946 § 111,562
State and local income taxes, net of federz] tax benefits 24;904 21,827 15,736
State tax reserves ' a ' . - M 2,543)
Permanent differences 7,149 6,584 . 4,916
Domestic manufacturing deduction ' _— - = (10,387)
Eﬁcess tax benefit from share-based compensation (733) ' (1,227 {1,3413
Goodwill impaitment ' ' : e — 17,055
Foreign income taxes (including UK statutory rate changes) (170) 70 (2,588)
Impact of federal rate change on net deferred tax labilities — — (39,343}
Federal tax reserves — &7 (1,247
Other (88) {1,020) (1,123)

$ 125749 % 109,106 3 50,699

Our income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 included $0.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively,
for the minimum tax on global intangible low-taxed income for certain earnings of our foreign subsidiaries, as required under the
Tax Act. The Company has elected to recognize such tax as an expense in the period incurred.

As of December 31, 2019, we had undistributed foreign earnings from certain foreign subsidiaries of approximately $69.8
million. Based on our evaluation, and given that a significant portion of such earnings were subject to tax in prier periods or are
indefinitely reinvested, we have concluded that any taxes associated with the repatriation of such foreign earnings would be
immaterial. As of December 31, 2019, the amount of cash heid by these foreign subsidiaries was approximately $67.7 million
which, if repatriated, should not result in any federal or state income taxes.

Tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions are recognized only if it is “more likely than not™ that the tzx position would
be sustained on its technical merits. For positions not meeting the “mare likely than not” test, no tax benefit is recognized. As of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had no unrecognized income tax benefits.

We file a consolidated federal income tax retwn including all of our U,S. subsidiaries with the Internal Revenue Service. We

additionally file income tax returns with various state, local, and foreign tax agencies. The Company is currently under examinaticn
by various taxing authorities for the years 2014 through 2018.
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NOTE 13 - COMMON STGCK
Asof December 31,2019and 2018, there were 56,215,831 and 55,983,763 shares of our common stock outstanding, respectively.
We have paid quarterly dividends since October 25, 2011, We currently pay a regular quarterly dividend of $0.08 per share.

On September 26, 2011, our Board of Directors (the “Board”) authorized us to repurchase up to $100.0 million of our outstanding
conumon stock. Subsequently, the Board has from time to time increased the amount of our common stock that we may repurchase.
Since the inception of the repurchase program, the Board has authorized us to repurchase up to $950.0 million of our outstanding
common stock. No shares of our common stock were repurchased during the year ended December 31, 2019, Since the inception
of the repurchase program through December 31, 2019, we have repurchased approximately 15.9 miilion shares of our common
stock for approximately $791.5 million. As of December 31, 2019, there remained authorization for us to repurchase approximately
$158.5 million of our shares. The repurchase program has no expiration date and does not obligate the Company to acquire any
particular amount of commeon stock and may be suspended, recomimenced or discontinued at any time or from time to time without
prior notice. We may repurchase our shares from time to time to the extent permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements,

including provisions in our 2016 Credit Agreement placing limitations on such repurchases. The repurchase program has been and
will be funded from our operations.

NOTE 14 - SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

We have an incentive plan under which stock options, steck awards, stock units and other share-based compensation may be
granted {o officers, non-employee directors and key employees of the Company. Under the terms of this plan, 3,250,000 shares
were authorized, and 1,160,086 shares are available for grant or issuance as of December 31, 2019. Any issuances under this plan
are valued at the fair market value of the common stock on the grant date. The vesting and expiration of any stock option grants
and the vesting schedule of any stock awards or stock units are determined by the Compensation and Personnel Committee of our
Board of Directors at the time of the grant. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur.

The following table sumimarizes activity regarding our stock options and awards of shares and stock units since December 31,
2016:

Stock Options Restricted Stock Units
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Shares Price Shares Price

Balance, December 31, 2016 143,006 § 23.06 Balance, December 31, 2016 492288 § 44.93
Granted — —  Granted 198,179 $ 6833
Expired — - Forfeited {1,200) § 60,68
Exercised (50,000) § 2042 Vested (180,395) § 44.57
Balance, December 31, 2017 93,000 § 24.48 Balance, December 31, 2017 508.872 % 54.13
Granted — —  Granted 135,259 § 80.37
Expired — —  Forfeited {1,250) % 7127
Exercised {53,000) §% 2448  Vested (166,295) $ 48.44
Balance, December 31, 2018 40,000 § 2448 Balance, December 31, 2018 476,586 % 63.52
Granted — —  Granted 169,766 $ 64.34
Expired — —  Forfeited (2,545 § 71.88
Exercised (20,0000 $ 2448  Vested (226,229) § 51.64
Balance, December 31,2019 20,000 § 24,48 Balance, December 31, 2019 417578 % 70.24

We recognized approximately $11.4 million, $11.0 million, and $9.9 million of compensation expense for stock units awarded
to non-employee directors and employses pursuant to incentive plans for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2018, and 2017,
respectively. We have approximately $8.7 million of compensation expense, net of income taxes, which will be recognized over
the remaining vesting periods of up to approximately 3 years. In addition, an aggregate of 72,310 restricted stock units granted
to non-employee directors vested as of December 31, 2019, but issuance has been deferred up to 3 years.

All outstanding stock options were fully vested; therefore, no compensation expense was recognized with respect io stock opticns
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017,

68



EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 15 - RETIREMENT PLANS - (Continued)

The change in benefit obligations and assets of the UK Plan for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 consisted of the
following components (in thousands):

2019 2018
Change in pension benefit obligation : . '
Renefit oblgation at beginning cf yaar - $ 281,776 § 332,618
Intereét cost - ’ ' s o 7961 - 8,085
Actuarial loss (gain) 32,866 (27,7535)
Benefitspaid ' : o (12,05%) {14,318)
Foreign curréncy exchange rate changes ' 12,222 (16,854)
Benefit obligation at end of year - - : - 322,766 . 281,776
Change in pension plan assets ' o ' -
Fair value of plan assels at beginning of year o o 264 94 . 295,968
Actual return on plan assets ' ' 38,808 (6,489)
Emplb_yer contributioi_as- ' : o 7 S 4428 - 4742
Benefits paid - (12,059) (14,318)
Foreign cﬁrreﬂcy exchange rate changes 11,630 - (15,709)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 307,001 264,194
Funded status at end of year $ (15765) §  (17,582)

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension cost and included in accumulated other comprehensive loss were as follows
(in thousands):

2019 2018
Unrecognized losses 3 94,211 § 86,768

The underfunded status of the UK Plan of $15.8 million and $17.6 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, is
included in “Other Jong-term obligations™ in the accompanying Consolidated Ralance Sheets. No plan assets are expected to be

returned to us during the year ending December 31, 2020,

The weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

2019 2018
Discount rate _ 2.1% 2.9%

The weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 3 1,2019, 2018,
and 2017 were as follows:

2019 2018 2017
Discount rate 2.9% 2.5%. 2.7%
Annual rate of return on plan assets 4.9% 5.0% 5.3%

The annual rate of return on plan assets has been determined by modeling possible returns using the actuary’s portfolic retum
calculator aad the fair value of plan assets. This models the long term expected retumns of the various asset classes held in the
portfolio and takes into account the additional benefits of holding a diversified portfolio. For measurement purposes of the liability,
the annual rates of inflation of covered pension benefits assumed for 2019 and 2018 were 2.0% and 2.1%, respectively.
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Investments valued using net asset vatue (“NAV”) as a practical expedient are excluded from the fair value hisrarchy. These
investrents include: (a) funds which invest predominanily in senior secured debt instruments, targeting diversity across regions
and sectors, as well as funds which invest in diversified credit vehicles that seek higher returns than traditional fixed income,
primarily through investments in U.S, corporate debt, global credit, and structured debt, and (b) funds which aim to provide long-
term income through investment in UK property assets. These investments are redeemable at NAV on a monthly or quarterly basis

and have redemption notice periods of up to 90 days. In addition, certain of these investments are subject to 2 lockup period of up
to 24 months.

The methods described above may produce fair values that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future
fair values, Furthermore, while the Company believes the valuation methodologies are appropriate and consistent with other market
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine fair value of certain financial instruments could result

in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

. The following tables set forth the fair value of assets of the UK Plan as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):

Assets at Fair Value as of December 31, 2019

Asset Categorv Tevel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Corporate debt fimds . 8 — § 64314 §  — 8§ 64314
Government bond funds — 49,164 — 49,164
Equity funds - — 32,356 — 32,356
Cash 32,240 — — 32,240
Total plan assets in fair value hierarchy $ 32240 § 145834 §% - 178,074
Plan assets measured using NAV as a practical expedient; @

Debt funds : 103,188
Real estate funds 25,739
Total plan assets at fair value 3 307,001

Assets at Fair Value as of December 31, 2018

Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Corporate debt fimds : $ — § 37,703 % - & 37,703
Government bond funds — 52,445 — 52,445
Equity funds ' C — 35,425 e 35,425
Cash 16,097 — — 16,097
Total plan assets in fair value hierarchy $ 16097 § 125,573 3§ — 141,670
Plan assets measured using NAV as a practical expedient: <

Debt funds ° ' 98,077
Real estate funds ' 24,447
Total plan assets at fair value § 264,104

1y Certaininvestiments measured using NAV zs a practicai expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy, The fair value amounts
£ P p ¥
presented in the table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the total fair value of plan assets.
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An FIP or RP requires a particular MEPP to adopt measures to correct its underfunding status. These measures may include, but
are not limited to: (a) an increase in our contribution rate as a signatory to the applicable CBA, (b) areallocation of the contributions
already being made by participating employers for various benefits to individuals participating in the MEPP, and/or {¢) a reduction
in the benefits to be paid to future and/or current retirees. In addition, the PPA requires that a 5% surcharge be levied on employer
contributions for the first year commencing after the date the employer receives notice that the MEPP is in critical status and a
10% surcharge on each succeeding year until 2 CBA is in place with terms and conditions consistent with the RP.

We could also be obligated to make payments to MEPPs if we either cease to have an obligation to contribute to the MEPP or
significantly reduce our contributions to the MEPP because we reduce our number of employees who ave covered by the relevant
MEPP for various reasons, including, but not limited to, layoffs or closure of a subsidiary assuming the MEPP has unfunded vested
benefits. The amount of such payments (known as a complete or partial withdrawal liability) would equal our proportionate share
of the MEPPs’ unfunded vested benefits, We believe that certain of the MEPPs in which we participate may have unfunded vested
benefits. Due to uncertainty regarding firture factors that could trigger withdrawal liability, as well as the absence of specific
information regarding the MEPP’s current financial situation, we are unable to determine (2) the amount and timing of a future
withdrawal liability, if any, and (b) whether our participation in these MEPPs could have a material adverse impact on our financial

position, results of operations or liquidity. We did not record any withdrawal liability for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018, and 2017.

The following table lists all domestic MEPPs to which our contributions exceeded $2.0 million in 2019. Additionally, this table
also lists all domestic MEPPs to which we contributed in 2019 In excess of $0.5 million for MEPPs in the critical status, “red
zone,” and §1.0 million for MEPPs in the endangered status, “orange or yellow zones,” as defined by the PPA (in thousands):

N LExpiration
(5] p
PPA Zone Status Contributions Contributions dste or range
EIN/ greater than 8% of expiraticn
Pension Plan FIP/RP of total plan dates of
Pension Fund Number 2019 2018 Status 2019 2018 2017 contributions @ CBA(s)
January
2020 1o
HNovember
National Electrical Benefit Fund 53-0181657 001 Green Green NA $16,901 §$ 10,700 $ 11,572 No 2022
National Antomatic Sprinkler June 2020 to
Industry Pension Fund 52-6054620 001 Red Red Implemented 15,924 14,888 14,228 No Tune 2022
. . February
Plumbers & Pipefitters National 202010
Pension Fund 52.6152779 Q01 Yellow Yellow lmplemented 13,821 11,868 32,550 No August 2026
. April
Sheel Metal Workers National 2020 to
Pension Fund 52-6112463 001 Yellow Yellow Implemented 11,713 10,895 12,895 No Tune 26724
Pension, Hospitalization &
Benefit Plan of the Elecirzcal - Aprl 2020 to
Industry-Pension Trust Account 13-6123601 01 Green Green NA 10,073 10,469 9,489 No April 20_22
. January
Elecirical Workers Local No 26 2020 to0
Pension Trust Fund 52.6117919 001 Greetl Green Na 8,434 5,485 4,441 Yes Tuly 2021
Plumbers Pipefitters &
Mechanical Equipment Service .
Local Unior 392 Pension Plan 31-0655223 001 Red Red Implemented 6,412 6,047 6,084 Yes June 2022
. . May 202010
Southern California IBREW-NECA November
Pension Trust Fund 95-6392774 001 Yellow Yeliow Implemented 6,277 5,754 3,669 No 2022
February
202010
Central Pension Fund -of the December
TUOE & Participating Empioyers  56-6052300 (0] Green Green WA 6,253 6.384 6,070 No 2023
Sheet Metal Workers Pension Plan June 2020 to
of Northern California 51-6115939 001 Red Red Tmplemented 6,233 5,488 6,023 No June 2036
Arizona Pipe Trades Pension : _
Trust Fand 86-6025734 001 Green | Green NA 6,071 2.640 1.662 Ves Juue 2020
December
Edison Pension Plan 93-6061681 001 Green Green NA 5,361 3,140 1,628 Yes 2020
. X : September
Pipefitters Union Local 537 2020 10
Pension Fund 51-6030858 001 Green Graen - NA 4,754 6,038 4,057 Yes Angust 2021
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The nature and diversity of our operations may result in volatility in the amount of our contributions to a particular MEFP for
any given period. That is because, in any given market, a change in the mix, volume of, or size of our projects could result in a
change in our direct labor force and a comresponding change in cur contributions to the MEPP(s) dictated by the applicable CBA.
Additionally, the amount of contributions te a particular MEPP could also be affected by the terms of the CBA, which could require
at a particular time, an increase in the contribution rate and/or surcharges. Qur contributions to various MEPPs increased by
approximately $4.8 million as a result of acquisitions made by us since 2017.

We also participated in an MEPP that is located within the United Kingdom for which we have contributed less than $0.1 million.
for each of the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, The information that we have obtained relating to this plan is not
as readily available and/or as comparable as the information that has been ascertained in the United States. Based upon the most
recently available information, the plan is 100% funded. This plan closed to future contributions and participants during 2019.

Additionally, we contribute to certain multiemployer plans that provide post retirement benefits such as health and welfare
benefits and/or defined contribution/annuity plans, among others. Our contributions to these plans were approximately $133.5
million, $135.9 million, and $130.9 million for the years ended December 31,2019,2018, and 2017, respectively. Our contributions
to other post retirement benefit plans increased by epproximately $11.0 million as a result of acquisitions made by us since 2017,

The amount of contributions to these plans is also subject for the most part to the factors discussed above in conjunction with the
MEPPs.

Defined Contribution Plans

We have defined contribution retirement and savings plans that cover eligible employees in the United States. Contributions to
these plans are based on a percentage of the employee’s base compensation. The expenses recognized for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 for these plans were approximately $32.4 million, $29.8 million, and $28.1 million,
respectively. At our discretion and subject to applicable plan documents, we may make additional supplemental matching
contributions to one of our defined contribution retirement and savings plans. The expenses recognized related to additional
supplemental matching contributions for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were approximately $6.8 million,
$6.1 million, and $5.5 million, respectively.

Our United Kingdom subsidiary also has defined confribution retirement plans. The expense recognized for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 was approximately $6.1 million, $4.9 million, and $3.9 million, respectively,

NOTE 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Contractual Guarantees

We have agreements with our executive officers and certain other key management personnel providing for severance benefits
for such employees upon termination of their employment under certain circumstances.

In the ordinary course of business, we, at times, guaraniee obligations of our subsidiaries under certain contracts, Generally, we
are liable under such an armangement only if our subsidiary fails to perform its obligations under the contract. Historically, we have
not incurred any substantial liabilities as a consequence of these guarantees.

The terms of our construction ceatracts frequently require that we obtain from surety companies {(“Surety Companies™) and
provide to our customers payment and performance bonds (“Surety Bonds™) as a condition to the award of such contracts. Surety
Bonds are issued in refurn for premiums, which vary depending on the size and type of the bond, and secure our payment and
performance obligations under such contracts. We have agreed te indemnify the Surety Companies for amounts, if any, paid by
them in respect of Surety Bonds issued on our behalf. Public sector contracts require Surety Bonds more frequently than private
sector contracts and, accordingly, our bonding requirements typically increase as the amount of our public secter work increases.
In addition, at the request of labor unions representing certain of our employees, Surety Bonds are sometimes provided to secure
obligations for wages and benefits payable to or for such employees. As of December 31, 2019, based on the percentage-of-
completion of our projects covered by Surety Bonds, our aggregate estimated exposure, assuming defaults on all our then existing
contractual obligations, was approximately $1.2 billicn. We are not aware of any losses in connection with Surety Bonds, which
have been posted on our behalf, and we do not expect to incur significant losses in the foreseeable future.

We are subject to regulation with respect to the handling of certain materials used in construction, which are classified as
hazardous or toxic by federal, state, and local agencies. Our practice is to avoid participation in projects principally involving the
remediation or removal of such materials. However, when remediation is required as part of our cantract performance, we believe

76



EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSGLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 17 - LEASES (Continued)

Aspart of our adoption, we elected to utilize the package of practical expedients permitted under the new standard, which allowed
us to not reassess: (a) whether an existing contract is or contains a lease, (b) the classification for existing leases, and (¢} initial
direct costs. Further, as permitted by the standard, we made an accounting policy election not to record right-of-use assets or lease
liabilities for leases with an initial term of 12 months or Tess, Instead, consistent with previous accounting guidance, we will
recognize payments for such leases in the staternent of operations on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

We Jease real estate, vehicles and equipment under various arrangements which are classified as either operating or finance
leases. A lease exists when a coniract or part of a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. In determining whether a lease exists, we consider whether a contract provides us with both:

(a) the right to obtain substantially ail of the economic benefits from the use of the identified asset and (b) the right to direct the
use of the identified asset.

Many of our leases include base rental periods coupled with opticns to renew or terminate the lease, generally at our discretion.
Certain Ieases additionally include options to purchase the leased asset. In evaluating the lease term, we consider whether we are
reasonably certain fo exercise such options. To the extent a significant economic incentive exists to exercise an option, that option
is included within the lease term. However, based on the nature of our Jease arrangements, options generally do not provide us
with a sighificant economic incentive and are therefore excluded from the lease term for the majority of our arrangements,

Our leases typically include a combination of fixed and variable payments. Fixed payments are generally included when
measuring the right-of-use asset and lease liability. Variable payments, which primarily represent payments based on usage of the
underlying asset, are generally excluded from such measurement and expensed as incwrred. In addition, certain of our lease
arrengements may contain a lease coupled with an arrangement to provide other services, such as maintenance, or may require us
to make other payments on behalf of the lessor related to the leased asset, such as payments for taxes or insurance. As permitted
by ASC 842, we have elected to account for these non-lease components together with the associated Jease component. This election
has been made for sach of our asset classes.

The measurement of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities requires us to estimate appropriate discount rates. To the extent the
rate implicit in the Jease is readily determinable, such rate is utilized, However, based on information available at lease
commencement for the majority of our leases, the rate implicit In the lease isnotknown. In these instances, we utilize an fncremental
barrowing rate, which represents the rate of interest that we weuld pay to borrew on a collateralized basis over a similar term.

Qur lease arrangements generally do not contain significant restrictions or covenants; however, certain of our vehicle and
equipment leases include residual value guarantees, whereby we provide a guarantee to the lessor that the value of the underlying
assct will be at least a specified amount at the end of the lease. Amaunts probable of being owed under these guarantaes are included
within the measurement of the right-of-use asset and lease Hability.

Lease Position as of December 31, 2019

The following table presents the lease-related assets and liabilities reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31,
2019 (in thousands):

December 31,
Classification on the Consolidated Balance Sheet 2019

Assets
Operating lease assets Operating lease right-of-use assets § 24547]
Finance lease assets Property, plant and equipment, net " 9,609
Total lease assets $ 255,080
Liabilities
Current .

Operating Operating lease liabilities, current $ 53,144

Finance Current maturities of long-term debt and finance lease Habilities 4,088
Noncurrent

Operating Operating lease liabilities, long-term 204,950

Finance Long-term debt and finance Jease labilities 5,591
Total lease liabilities : ' § 267,773
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EMCOR Group, Ine. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 17 - LEASES (Continued)
Maturity of Lease Liabilities

The following table reconciles future minimum lease payments on an undiscounted cash flow basis to the lease liabilities reported
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Operating Finance
Leases Leases
2020 - . : $ 62457 § 4,391
2021 , 50,505 ' 3,039
2022 ' : 42,155 1,807
2023 ' ' 35,223 743
2024 : ' 26,049 138
Thereafter - ' 80,661 129
Total minimum lease payments : o 297,050 10,247
Less: Amount of lease payments representing interest (38,956) (568)
Present value of future minimum lease payments ' _ $ 258094 % 9,679
Current portion of lease liabilities $ 53,144 § 4,088
Noncurrent portion of lease liabilities 204,950 5,591
Present value of future minimum lease payments ' $ 258094 3 9,679

- NOTE 18 - ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

~ The following presents information about cash paid for interest and income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2019,2018,
and 2017 {in thousands);

2019 2018 2017
Cash paid during the vear for:
Interest 12683 § 12435 § 11,456
Income taxes § 126169 § 123,651 § 130,226

NOTE 19 - SEGMENT INFORMATION

Cur reportable segments reflect certain reclassifications of prior year amounts from our United States mechanical construction
and facilities services segment to our United States building services and our United States industrial services segments due to
changes in our internal reporting structure,

We have the following reportable segments: (a) United States electrical construction and facilities services (involving systems
for electrical power transimission and distribution; premises electrical and lighting systems; process instrumentation in the refinin g,
chemical processing, food processing and mining industries; low-veltage systems, such as fire alarm, security and process control;
voice and data communjcation; roadway and transit lighting; and fiber optic lines); (b) United States mechanical constructicn and
facilities services (involving systems for heating, ventilation, air conditioning, refrigeration and clean-room process ventilation;
fire protection; plumbing, process and high-purity piping; controls and filtration; water and wastewater treatment and central plant
heating and cooling; cranes and rigging; millwrighting; and stee] fabrication, erection and welding); (¢) United States building
services; (d} United States industrial services; and (&) United Kingdom building services. The “United States building services™
and “United Kingdom building services” segments principally consist of those operations which provide a portfolio of services
needed to support the operation and maintenance of custemers® facilities, including commercial and government site-based
operations and maintenance; facility maintenance and services, including reception, security and catering services: outage services
to utilities and industrial plants; military base operations support services; mobile mechanical maintenance and services; floor care
and janjtorial services; landscaping, lot sweeping and snow removal; facilities management; vendor management; call center
services; installation and support for building systems; program development, management and maintenance for energy systems;
technical consulting and diagnostic services; infrastructure and building projects for federal, state and Jocal governmental agencies
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EMCOR Group, Tne, and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 19 - SEGMENT INFORMATION - (Continued)

2019 2018 2617
Operating income (loss):
United States electrical construction and faciiities services $ 161,684 § 139430 § 150,001
United States mechanical construction and facilities services . 225,040 219,853 192,167
United States building services o 114,754 - - 93.827 81,720
United. States industrial services 44,340 27,671 39,313
Total United States operations ' ' 545818 480,781 463,201
United Kingdom building services 118,323 15,930 12,905
Corporate administration . ' - (101,726)  {(90415)  (87.808)
Restructuring expenses (1,523) (2,306) - (],577)
lmpairmeht loss on goodwill and identifieble intangible assets o S : ' {90’7) i {’75‘7‘,-819)
Tota] worldwide operations ' - 460,892 403,083 328,902
Other corporate items: L ' - ' o
Net perio&ic pension (cost) income ' 1,553 ' 2,743 1,652
Tnterest expense (13,821)  (13,544)  (12,770)
Interest income 2,265 2,746 965
Income from continuing operations before income taxas $ 450889 § 395028 § 318,749
Capital expenditures:
United States electrical construction and facilities services ' b 5876 % 5993 % 4,797
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 7,890 7,504 6,663
United States building services 14,291 10,414 10,745
United States industrial services 7 15,802 18,386 9.690
Total United States operations 43,859 42297 31,903
United Kingdom building services 3,598 870 2,166
Corporate administration 975 312 615
Total worldwide operations $ 48432 § 43479 § 34,684
Depreciation and amortjzation of property, plant and equipment:
Tinited States elsctrical construction and faciiities services b 7550 § 6,221 % 6,545
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 8,764 7,803 7,504
United States building services ' 12,728 10,324 11,051
United States industrial servicss 11,154 9,943 10,589
Total United States operations 40,196 34,291 35,689
Inited Kingdom building services 2,942 3,447 3,371
Corporate administration 807 734 855
Total worldwide operations § 43945 § 38472 § 39915
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EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TCQ CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2¢ - SELECTED UNAUDITED QUARTERLY INFORMATION

(In thousands, except per share data)

Quarterly and year-to-date computations of per share amounts are made independently; therefore, the sum of per share amounts

for the quarters may not equal per share amounts for the year. The results of the construction operations of our United Kingdom
segment for all periods are presented as discontinued operations.

2019 Quarterly Results

Revenues

Gross profit

Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc.
Basic EPS from continuing operations

Basic EPS from discontinued operation

Diluted EPS from continuing operations
Diluted EPS from discontinved operation

2018 Quarterty Results
Revenues ’
© Gross profit
Impairment loss on identifiable infangible assets
¢ Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc.
‘Basic EPS from continuing operations
Basic EPS from discontinued operation

Diluted EPS from continuing operations
Biluted EPS from discontinued operation

NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

March 31

June 30

Sept, 3¢

Dec. 31

$ 2,158,728

$ 2,324,202

$ 2,287,741

$ 2,403,940

$ 308754 $ 346380 $ 335987 § 364,747
$ 72410 $ 83972 $ 81,834 § 86924
$ 129 § 149§ 1.46 § 1.54
$ 129 $ 149 S 146 § 1.54
S 128§ 149 $ 145 8 1.54
4 128 § 149 § 145 % 1.54
March 31 June 30 Sept, 30 Dec. 31

$ 1,900,388

$ 1,953,886

$ 2,047,049

$2,229.308

$ 269,119 § 290,844 $ 300339 $ 336,151
$ — § 907 % — 3 —
$ 55374 $ 70816 $ 79373 § 77,968
$ 095 § 122§ 137 § 1.39

(0.00) (0.00) (0.01) (0.02)
$ 095 § 122§ 136§ 137
$ 094 § 121§ 136 S 1.38

(0.00) (0.00) (0.01) (0.02)
$ 094 § R 135 § 136

In January 2020, we acquired a company for an immaterial emount. This company provides mobile mechanical services within
the Northeastern region of the United States, and its results will be included in our United States building services segment. The
acquisition of this business will be accounted for by the acquisition method, and the amount paid will be allocated to its respective
assets and liabilities, based upon the estimated fair value of such assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition by us.

On February 15, 2020, we became aware of an infiltration and encryption of portions of our information techmology networlk.
This attack disrupted our operations that utilize the impacted portions of the network. We continve to assess the magritude of the
consequences and we are actively seeking to mitigate the effects, As of the date of this filing, we continue our efforts to restore
the portions of such systemns that remain impacted. We are unable to predict when the entire network will be functional. We are
additionaily unable to estimate precisely the total costs which will result from the attack and the remediation efforts. We maintain
mmsurance coverage for these fypes of incidents, however, such policies may not completely provide coverage for, or offset the

costs of, this infiltration.
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Description of
the Matter

How e
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

Revernue Recognition from Long-term Construction Contracts

As described in Note 3 to the consclidated financial statements, the Company generally recognizes revenue
from long-term construction contracts over time using a cost-to-cost input method in which the extent of
progress is measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs at completion.
In addition, the revenue recognition process requires the Company to determine the transaction price that
represents the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled. A significant portion
of the Company’s revenues for the year ended December 31,2019 were derived from long-term construction
contracts.

The determination of revenue recognized from long-term construction contracts commonly requires the
Company to estimate variable consideration that arises from pending change orders, contract claims, contract
bonuses, and penalties, as well as to prepare estimates of the costs to complete contracts. Factors inherent
in the estimation processes include, among others, historical experience with customers, the potential long-
term nature of dispute resolutiens, actions of third parties as well as the Company’s experience with similar
types of confracts. Due to uncertainties attributed to such factors, auditing revenue recognized from long-
term construction confracts invoived challenging, subjective, and complex judgments.

We obtained anunderstanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company’s
controlsrelated torevenue recognition from leng-term construction contracts. For example, we tested controls
over the Company’s determination and review of estimates of variable consideration, costs to complete, and
the completeness and accuracy of data utilized in conjunction with such estimation processes.

To test the amount of revenue recognized from long-term construction contracts in the current period, we
selected a sample of contracts and performed procedures to test the project revenue and cost forecasts. For
example, we obtained and inspected the related contract agreements, amendments, and change orders to test
the existence of customer arrangements and understand the scope and pricing of the related projects;
perforimed inguiries of management and project personnel regarding facts and circumstances relevant to the
accounting for such contracts; tested key components of the estimated costs to complete, in cluding materials,
labor, and subcontractors costs; agreed actual costs incurred to supporting documentation; and recalcalated
revenues recognized based on the project's percentage of completion and management's estimate of
transaction price. In addition, we performed certain retrospective review procedures to assess management’s
historical ability to accurately estimate the transaction price and costs to camplete contracts as wel] as to
identify any significant or unusual changes in project revenue and cost forecasts during the period.
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Description of
the Matter

How We
Addressed the
Maiter in Our
Audit

Valuwation of Intangible Assets from the Acquisition of Barchelor & Kimball, Inc,

As further described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year ended Dacember 31,
2019, the Company completed the acquisition of Batchelor & Kimball, Inc. (“BKI*™) for total consideraticn
of approximately $220.0 miilion. The transaction was accounted for under the acquisition method of
accounting whereby the fotal purchase price was allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on the estimated fair value of such assets and liabilities.

Auditing the Company’s accounting for its acquisition of BKI required complex auditor judgment due to
the significant estimation uncertainty inherent in determining the fair value of identified intangible assets
for acquired customer relationships and frade names. The significant estimation uncertainty was primarily
due to the judgmenta! nature of the inpuis to the valuation models used to measure the fair value of these
intangible assets, as well as the sensitivity of the respective fair values to the underlying significant
assumptions, The significant assumptions used fo estimate the fair value of the acquired intangible assets
included discount rates, customer attrition rate, revenue growth rates, operating margins, and royalty rate.
These significant assumptions are forward-locking and could be affected by future economic and market
conditions.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company’s
controls over the valuation of intangible assets from the BKI acquisition. For example, we tested controls
over management’s review cf the valuation models and the significant assumptions described above.

To test the estimated fair value of the acquired customer relationships asset and trade name asset, we
performed audit procedures that included, among others, assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and testing the significant assumptions discussed above and the completeness and accuracy
of the underlying data used by the Company. For example, we compared the revenue growth rates, operating
margins, and customer atirition rate to historical results of the acquired business and compared the royalty
rate to current mdustry licensing agreements. We further performed sensitivity analyses to evalnate the
changes in the fair value of the acquired intangible assets that would result from changes in the significant
assumptions. In additien, we involved internal valuation specialists to assist in our evaluation of the valuation
methodologies and certain significant assumptions used by the Company.

/s/ ErnsT & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.

Stamford, Connecticut

February 27, 2020
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ITEM & CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ORN ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable,

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Based on an evaluation of our disclosure centrols and procedures (as required by Rules [3a-15(b) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934), our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Anthony J. Guzzi, and our Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer, Mark A. Pompa, have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as definsd in Rule
13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchenge Act of 1934) are effective as of the end of the period covered by this repert.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responzible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(£) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934). Our internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer or persons performing
similar functions to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of cur financial
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with 11.8. generally accepted accounting principles.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that: (a) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of assets, (b) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary te permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and Board of Directors, and {¢) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

_ acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect misstatements. A control

* system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of

- the contro] system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute

-~ assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
* to future periods are subject to the risk that cenirols may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree
- of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

On November 1, 2019, EMCOR acquired Batchelor & Kimball, Inc. (“BKI*). Since EMCOR has not fully incorperated the
internal controls and procedures of BKTinto EMCOR s internal control over financial reporting, management excluded thisbusiness
from its assessment of the effectiveness of internal contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, as permitied by
applicable regulations. EMCCR’s internal control procedures surounding the valuation of goodwill and identifiable intangible
assets related to this acquisition were, however, included in management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Excluding goodwill and identifiable intangible assets recorded in connection with this acquisition, BKI
accounted for $93.1 million, or less than 2%, of EMCOR s tetal assets as of December 31, 2019, Including goodwill and intangible
assets recorded in connection with this acquisition, BKI accounted for $275.9 million, or iess than 6%, of EMCOR’s total assets
as of December 31, 2019, BKI accountad for approximately $38.6 million, or less than 194, of EMCOR’s total revenues for the
year then ended.

As of December 31, 2019, our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal contrel over financial
reporting based on the framework established in Jnrerna! Comtrol-Tntegraied Framework (2013} issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management has determined that EMCOR’s
internal control over financial reporting is effective as of December 31, 2019,

The effectiveness of our intermal contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 has been audited by Ernst & Young
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report appearing in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form

10-K, which such report expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2019.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In addition, ocur management with the participaticn of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer or persons
performing similar fiznctions has determined that no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as that term is defined
in Rules 13(a}-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934} ocewrred during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year
ended December 31,2019 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely ta materially affect, our internal contrei over financial
reporting,

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART IV
ITEM 15, EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(ay(1) The following consolidated financial statements of EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries are
filed as part of this report under Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

Financial Statements:
Consolidated Balance Sheets - December 31, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Operations - Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017

Consolidated Statements Comprehensive Income - Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and
2017

Consalidated Statements of Cash Flows - Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Equity - Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
Notes to Consclidated Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

{a}2) The following financial statement schedule is included in this Form 10-K report: Schedule T1 -
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they arve not required, are inapplicable, or the
nformation is otherwise shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(3 For the list of exhibits, see the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page hereof,
which Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference.
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SCHEDULE IT - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(In thousands)

Balance at
Beginning Costs and Balance at
Deseription of Year Expenses Deductions End of Year
Allowznce for doubtful accounts
Year Ended December 31, 2019 5 15,361 . 2,628 _ (3,523) § 14,466
Year Ended December 31, 2018 3 17,230 2,123 (3,992) ¥ 15,361
Year Ended December 31, 2017 $ 12252 - 7264 {2,286) § 17.230

(1) Deductions primarily represent uncollectible balances of accounts receivable written off, net of recoveries.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Encorporated By Reference to or
No. Deseription Filed Herewith, as Indicated Below

10(a) Form  of Severance Agreement (“Severance Exhibit 10.1 to the April 2005 Form §-K
Agreement™) between EMCOR and each of R. Kevin
Matz and Mark A. Pompa

10(b) Form of Amendment to Severance Agreement between  Exhibit 10(¢) to EMCOR’s Quarterly Report on Form
EMCCR and each of R. Kevin Matz and Mark A, Pompa  10-0) for the quarter ended March 31. 2007 (“March

2007 Form 10~0O™

10(c) Letter Agreement dated October 12, 2004 between  Exhibit 10.1 to EMCOR’s Report on Form §-K (Date of
Anthony Guzzi and EMCOR (the “Guzzi Letter Report October 12, 2004)
Agreement™)

10(d) Form of Confidentiality Agreement between Anthony  Exhibit C o the Guzzi Letter A oreement
Guzzi and EMCOR.

10(e) Form of Indemnification Agreement between EMCOR  Exhibit F to the Guzzi Letfer Asreement
and each of its officers and directors

10(f-1) Severance Agreement (“Guzzi Severance Agreement”™)  Exhibit D to the Guzzi Letter Acreement
dated October 25, 2004 between Antheny Gurzzi and
EMCOR.

10(f-2}) Amendmernt to Guzzi Severance Agreement Exhibit 10(g-3) to the March 2007 Form 10-Q

10(g-1) Continuity Agreement dated as of June 22, 1998  Exhibit 10(f) to the June 1998 Form 10-0Q
between R. Kevin Matz and EMCOR (“Matz Continuity
Agreement”™)

10{g-2) Amendment dated as of May 4, 1999 to Matz Continuity ~ Exhibit 10(m) to the June 1969 Form 10-0O
Agreement

10(g-3) Amendment dated as of January 1, 2002 to Matz  Exhibit 10(o-3) to EMCORs Quarterly Report on Fom
Continuity Agreement 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31. 2002 (“March

. 2002 Form 10-0™)

]_O(g—4) Amendment dated as of March [, 2007 to Matz Exhibit 10(n-4) to the March 2007 Form 10-0O
Continuity Agreement

10¢h-1) Continvity Agreement dated as of June 22, 1998  Exhibif 10(¢) to the June 1998 Form 10-Q
between Mark A. Pompa and EMCOR (“Pompa
Continuity Agresment™)

10(h-2) Amendment dated as of May 4, 1999 to Pompa Exhibit 10(n) to the June 1999 Form 10-0)
Continuity Agreement

10¢h-3) Amendment dated as of Januvary 1, 2002 to Pompa  Exhibit 10(p-3) to the March 2002 Form 18-0Q
Continuity Agreement

16(h-4) Amendment dated as of March I, 2007 toc Pompa Exhibit 10{0-4} fo the March 2007 Form 10-Q
Continuity Agresment

10¢i-1) Change of Control Agreement dated as of October 25,  Exhibit E to the Guzzi Letter Agreement
2004 between Anthony Guzzi (“Guzzi™) and EMCOR
(“Guzzi Continuity Agreement™)

10(i-2) Amendment dated as of March 1, 2007 to Guzzi  Exhibit | 0(p-2) to the March 2007 Farm 10-0
Continuity Agreement

10(i-3) Amendment to Continuity Agreements and Severance  Exhibit 10(q) to EMCOR's Annual Report on Form

Agreements with Anthony J. Guzzi, R. Kevin Matz and
Mark A. Pompa
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EXEIBIT INDEX

The following materials from EMCOR. Group, Inc.’s
Ammual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019, formatted in iXBRL (Inlne
eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (i) the Consolidated
Statements of Operations, (il) the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, {v) the
Consolidated Statements of Equity and (vi) the Netes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Exhibit Incorporated By Reference to or
No. Description Filed Herewith, as Indicated Below
10(t) Director Award Program, as Amended and Restated  Exhibit 10(z} to EMCOR’s Annual Report on Form
December 16, 2014 10-K for the vear ended December 31. 2014
10(n) EMCOR Group, Inc. Veluntary Deferral Plan Exhibif 10(e(e)} to 2012 Form 10-K
10{v) First Amendment tc EMCOR Group, Ine. Voluntary — Exhibit 10(e¥e) fo 2013 Form 10-K
Deferral Plan
10(w) Form of Executive Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Exhibit 10(f)(f) to 2012 Form 10-K
10() Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy Exhibit 10l to 2015 Form 10-K
16(z) Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated June 30,  Exhibit 10(f)(f) to EMCOR s Quarterlv Report on Form
2017 betweer EMCOR and Mark A. Pompa 10-O for the quarter ended June 30, 2017
11 Computation of Basic EPS and Diluted EPS fortheyears Note 6 of the Notes to_the Consolidated Financial
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 Statements
14 Code of Ethics of EMCOR for Chief Executive Officer  Exhibit 14 t0 2003 Form 10-K
and Senior Financial Officers
21 List of Significant Subsidiaries Filed herewith
231 Consent of Emst & Young LLF Filed herewith
31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-  Filed herewith
Oxley Act of 2002 by Anthony J. Guzzi, the Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer
312 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-  Filed herewith
Oxley Act of 2002 by Mark A. Pompa, the Executive
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-  Furnished
. Oxley Actof2002 by the Chairman, President and Chief
: Executive Officer
32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-  Furnished
Oxley Act of 2002 by the Executive Vice President,
. Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
95 Information concerning mine safety vielatiens or other  Filed herewith
P regulatory matters
101 Filed

Pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-I, upon request of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Registrant
hereby undertakes to fumish a copy of any unfiled instrument which defines the rights ofholders of fong-term debt of the Registrant’s

subsidiaries.
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LIST OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES

Pyn Specialty Contracting, Inc.

MES Holdings Corporation

EMCOR Construction Services, Inc.
EMCOR International, Inc. '

EMCQR MechanicaUEléctrical Servioes (East), Inc.

EMCOR (UK) Limited

EMCOR Group (UK) plc
EMCOR Facilities Services, Ine.
EMCOR-CSI Holding Co. .

FR X Ohmstede Acquisitions Co.
Repconsﬁi:tﬁkléﬁd, Ine. ' '

100
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JURISDICTION GF INCORPORATION

Virginia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
En glémd

- England

Chio

Delawafe
'Delawa.re
'D_elaw are



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Anthony J. Guzz, certify that;

I

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of EMCOR Group, Ine.;

2, Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary tc make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misteading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange ActRules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e)), and internal contro] over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably Iikely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reperting; and

3. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s} and I have disclosed, based on cur most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors {or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intermal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

h) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2020 /s ANTHONY 1. GUZZI

Aunthony J. Guzzi
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.8.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In commection with the Annual Report of EMCOR Group, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-X for the period ended
December 31, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Anthony J. Guzz,

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that;

I, The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Actof 1934,

and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.
Date: February 27, 2020 /s ANTHONY J. GUZZI

Anthony J. Guzzi
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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Kenneth G. Armold, Commissioner
May 18, 2020
Page two

SUBJECT: Low Participation for Traffic Signal Maintenance Contract

Bid Contract No. T62250-05M

Is the market for the specified goods or services structurally Hmited (i.e. are there
geographic, capital, vendor capacity, service schedule, or other requirements) such
that the greater vendor participation fs not possible? Response: Yes, there are five
(3} approved contractors that cowld perform the trpe of work that is needed,

Survey vendors that received netice of the solicitation but did not respond lo
determine why the vendor chose not to do so. Typical responses include but are not
limited to:

8. The vendor did not see the advertisement. Response; Three hundred Soriy-
three (343) vendors were notified. Fifieen (15) vendors viewed the soliciiation
o/t e-procure, and two (2) vendors picked up the bid package,

b, The vendor does not offer the specified goods/services 85 a follow-up, ask if
the specification is 1oo specific to a cumpetitor's product (s the specification
"brand- specific” or written o one manufacturer’s or service provider's
offering?). Response: The work specificailon was not top specific so as to
restrict participafion, One vendor siated that the flability that they have 10
aesume is (oo great,

¢, The vendor is too busy with other work at this time. Response: One vendor
conigeted staied they were too busy to bid on the work.

d. The vendor is not inferested in pursuing a Counly contract at this time-as a

tollow-up, as o why this is the case. Respoase: Vendors cited a concern abo 114
the amount of other work they had af the fime of the coniract offering,

AT

Yaseph G, Pecora
Deputy Commissioner

IGPHTL:SMD:id
e Jane Houdek, Attorney, Public Works
Hareld T. Lutz, Director of Traffic Engiveering
Sheila M. Dukacz, Unit Head Traffic Signal Construction and Operations Unit

APPROVED: DISAPPROVED:
Dl A . os18/20
Kenneth 3. Arnold Date Kenneih G, Arnold Daie

Commissioner Commissioner



COUNTY OF NASSAU
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

Inter-Deparimental Memo
TO: Sheita M. Dukacz, Unit Head, Traffic Signal Construction and Operation Unit
FROM: Office of the Commissioner
DATE: February 24, 2020

SUBJECT:  CSEA Sub-Contracting Approval
Contract T62250-05M
C20-018 — Traffic Signal Maintenance

Please be aware in accordance with Section 32-3 of the CSEA/County CBA, the Department lias
met with CSEA representatives to discuss your proposed DPW contract referenced above.
Pursvant to Section 32-3 of the CSEA/County CBA, CSEA bas withdrawn its objection to the
above-referenced contract known as C20-018.

Please prepare the necessary documentation 1o proceed with your work. Once the advisement is
certified you may issue the contracter a Notice to Proceed,

If you have any questions, please speak with Jonathan Lesman.

Roseann D Alleva
Deputy Commissioner

RD:las

c: Joseph G, Pecora, Deputy Conmnissioner
Loretta Dionisio, Assistant to Deputy Commissioner
Harold T. Lutz, Director of Traffic Engineering
Jonathan Lesmen, Management Analyst 1




EEQUEST TQ INITIATE RTT Number {Qﬁ 033’7/

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS/REGUEST FOR PROPOSAL/REQUEST FOR RID CONTRACT

PART I Approvel by the Deputy Caunty Excentive for Operations must be obinied prior 1o ANY RFQ/RFP/RFBC
J RFQ [} REP [ RFBC [} In-House or Requirements Work Order

Project Title: _Traffic Signal Mzindenance Co mract _ T6225005M

Department: Public Warks Project Manager; _Sheila M., Dukacz e ugu Date: _ Junuary 28, 2020

Service Requested:_ Authorization to Advertise & Let Tralfic Signal Maintenance Contract

Justification: This contrsel will enable ns to quickly meke repairs, modifications and maintain the County’s existing 1660
trafiie signals, 350 misceltaneous deviees and 600+ strect lights and related equipment 24 hours g duy, 7 days a weelt, If this
equipment is not rovtinely malntained, there will be sa fefy Isgues and concerns, as well ag tiability issues that will oeony from
not mainteining equipment. This work must be performed by properdy trained, equipped and experisnced persernel with the
proper vehieles, 3;\& &

Requested by Department of Public Works Deparimentth pency/Office

Project Cost {or this Phase/Contract: (Plan/Design/Constroction/CM/Equipment) _$13,300,000,00

Cireig apprapritte phass

Total Project Cosl: ___§13,500,0900,00 Date Start Work: 01/01/2021  Duration: dyears_

Includes, design, consiraedon and Civi Phess being requested Phase belng requested "
Capilal Funding Approval;  YES r@ NO [ Mdf/ﬂmm'\_@@, =2 / ZD/ 20
SIGNATURE DATE

£

\
Funding Alloeation (Capital Project): 62017 (54,500,009, 00-IaMillion per year), Operating_(§9,000,000.00- $3Miflion per year

See Attached Sheet il‘muit?ye:}ir Q . 0‘{»' & ',:5 ﬁrd M/%‘
NIFS Entered : / % v g‘/g‘b! "7)-,& I AIM Entered: /Zﬂ”‘i, MA«_ / INY

syi‘iN‘ri'mRE P (’) DATE . SIGRATURE 2f24 /2e DATE
" \ ,
: —~ i . - Z
Funding Cade: (090 %7 “—%“f . Timeshest Code: £§ 124 3 fé
use this on &ll ‘ercumbrances uss this en limeshoets

Type Il Aclion @2 or, Environmental Assessment Form Reguired |}
Supplemental Bnvironmentz] Documentation

Departinent Head Approval, YES »@/ NO [} M M

State Envhﬂﬁﬂ%egﬂ};\»\"‘)uality Review Act (SEQRAY:

SIGHATURE
) | " A/Ql/b@’—crd: //

DCE/Gps Approval: YES 5}, wo [F S ) 2 2,[,/20;}.0
SUFNATURE !

FART 11: To be subinltted to Chief Deputy County Executive aftor Qunlifieations/Propusals/Continets are veceived from Responding vendars,

Vendor Quote Comment Ste Attnched Shact |}

i, -

2. _

3. —

4.

DCE{Ops Approval: YES NO Signature

Version lancary 2014



Frovided, however, that this bond is subject to the following additionsl
conditions and limitations.

a. In the esvent that the Frincipal falls to submit a financizl
statement when required by the County or in the event that an
axamination o©f the Principal indicates to the County that the
Frincipal dees not meet the financial reguirements reguired by ths
County, the undersigned will, upon demand, pay to the County of
Nassau, &z liquidated dawmages for the Principal's failure to meet
such reguiremsnts, a sum equal to the amount that would have been
reguired by a certified check if the same were deliwvered in
acoordance with the prowvisions of the contract documente and
specifications herein stated.

b. In case the Principal shall default in the performance of any
provision the undersignsd will upon demand pay Lo the County of
Nassau the full amcunt of the damages sustained by the County of
Nassau by reason of such default, except however, it is expressly
understood and agresd that the liability of the surety for any and
all claims hereunder shall in no event exceed the ameount of this
chligation as herein stated.

The Surety, for walue receiwved, hereby stipulates and agrees that the
obligation of said Surety and its bond shall be in no way impzirsd or
affacted by any extension of time within which the County of Nasszu sy
aocept such Bid; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such
extension,

Page 3
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(Acknowledament by Contrector if a corporation)

STATE DF R o.d g ile

5.

COURTY OF NOLS )

On this Ji§+% day of A , 20 40 , before me personally
came ;}QifW1 H-Jt{%fg to me known,
who, being by me duly sworn, did depose and say for himself, that he
resides in .
that he is the CQDH}A&.&?éf,ﬂrof the Weishaeh Bloctria Corp. of L. 1.
the corperation ‘described in, and which executed the foregoing
instrument; that he knows the seal of said corporation; that the geal
affixed to said instrument 1s swch corporate seal:; that it was so

affixed by ovder of the Board of Directors of said corporation, and that
he signed his name thersto by like order.

1
DAV E UBHAST tf o =
Noedr N s N YA
{g. GIGCsnaTaYY Y : ' ]
Cueiliod in Sutiok Sounty Rotary Public

Clrnlsgron Expiros Sepsembor 18,00 2,
Acknowledgment by Contracteor if a partnership)

STATE OF }
//f |
S8, @
COUNTY 23\\ ) )
Cn this \\N\ day of . , 20 . befo:@fﬁe personally
came Lo Tgfknown and known

to me to be a memirr of P

the firm described™~in and which executed thgz’fozegoiﬁg bond  ox
cbligation, and he acRugwledged to me that he subscribed the name of
saied firm theretso on b-Qélf of said firm For the purposs therein
mentioned. N, yd

Notary public

{Acknowledgment by Contractor if

STATE OF ]
)
55. ¢ e
COUNTY OF /
On this day of” hefore me personally
came / Lo me

g

known and known to“me to be Che person described in &nd who executed the

foregoing instryfient, and he duly acknowledged thathhe executed the
’ .,

game. d
/}/ \\
/ Noﬁ*sry\?ﬁbl ic

/// -
/ rage 7

Nassey County DPW 31 of 353 Cardeaal Mo, TEZ2E0-0554
Tssific Sins! Mainianance




___STATE OF NEW YORK
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

CERTIFICATE CF SOLVENCY UNDER SECTION 1111 OF THE NEW YORK INSURANCE
LAWY

It is hereby certified that

Travelers Casualty & Surety Company of America
of Martford, Connecticut

a corporation crganized under the laws of New York and duly authorized to transact
the business of insurance In this State, Is qualified to become surety or guarantor
on ail bonds, undertakings, recognizances, guaranties and other obligafions
required or permitted by taw; and that the said corporation is possessed of a

capital and surplus including gross paid-in and contributed surplus and

unassigned funds (surplus) aggregating the sum of $2 123,684,564

{Capital $6,480,000), as is shown by its sworn financial statement for the guarter
ending, December 31, 2018, on file in this Department, prior to audit.

The said corporation cannof lawfully expose itself to loss on any one risk or
hazard to an amount exceeding 10% of its surplus to policyholders, unless it shall
be protected in excess of that amount in the manner provided in Section 4118 of
the Insurance Law of this Slate.

Y n Witness Whereof, | have here-
T, unto set my hand and affixed the
TR official seal of this Department
E i;;‘% at the City of Albany, this 7th

i"f é day of April 2020.

;

R Linda A, Lacewell
LA Superintendent

%’i%w

Ellen Buxbaum
Special Deputy Superintendent




TRAVELERS CASUAL TV AND BURETY CORPANY OF AMCRICA
HARTEORD, CONNEUTIOUT GE183
FINs L STATERENT AS OF DECEWBER 31, 28

CAPITAL STOCK § 6,400,000

Rt LITIES & CLIRPLUS —
SAEH AN INVESTED GASH % Bhengts UEARMED PREWILRLS 400871558
NS 3,600, BEL 25T LOBEES TR 47 572
STOCKS ZHT. 058 064 LOSS AR USTMENT EXPENSES 174,743,158
NVESTHMERT INOOKE DUE AND AGCRUED 37,260 410 COMRAISEIINS 48,570 487
YTHER IMWESTED ARSETE 3,008, 544 TAXES, LICENEES AND FEES 14,728 b5
REHAILM BALANCES 2E%,564,263 CTHER EXPENSES 4375 feAE
IET DEFERRED TAX AREET 53,134,105 CURRENT FEEERAL AND POREIHR INCOME TAXES 18 6v4, 987
IEICRLIRANGE RESOVERSBLE ®9,209.508 RESHITTANGES AND [TERLS WOT ALLOCATEDR _ 17 BS54 748
ECUFRITIES LENDING RENVESTED SOLLATERAL ASSETS TEE00 AROUNTS WITHHELD FRETAED BY CUWEANY FOR OTHERS B8 545 OV
ECENVABLES FROK PARENT, SLESIDARIES SHD AFFILILTES 14,531,E05 RETROACTIVE REINSURANGE RESERYE ASSLIAED Ei% BEE
VEBLRYED REINSURANGE RECENARLE AND PAYARLE BET 385 POUCYHOLOER DIvDERNDS 14,400,545
TTHER ASBETS 3,574,068 BROWSION FOR REINGLURANCE 8,537, 205
ATWARGE PREIZRAS 2,540, 0BE
PAYVARLE FOR BECIRITIES LENDING 732502
CERED REMEURANGE NET PRERMUMS PAYABLE 4B,5350 B
GTHER AGORLUED EXFENSES AND LISELITIES . 431 957
TOTAL LISRILITIES E 2630 ANE
CGAPITAL STDGE, % 8 ARR 00T
FAID N HURPLIS 4273 B, YED
OTHER SURFLUE 15583.400,804
TOTAL BURPLUS TO POLICYHOLDERS £ A73 660 dse
‘OTAL ABSETR 34306 702 020 TOTAL LIABLTES & BLURFLLIS E_halE D
TATE OF SONMECTIOUT :
SOUNTY OF HARTEORD LR,
UTY OF HAITFORD b

HEHASL J DODDYY, BEIRS BULY SWORM, B6YE THAT HE 18 VICE PRESIDENT - FiaNCE OF TRAVELERE CARUIALTY SHD SURETY DOMPARY OF LMERICA,

WD TRIAT TO THE BIEST OF HIG KNOWLEDSE AND BELIZF, THE FOREGONG 15 A TRUE AND CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE FIRANGAL COMITION GF SAID

SOHPANY AR -OF THE 34927 GaY OF DECEWMBER, 2014,

IUBSCRIBED AMD BN T BEFORE RME THIS
BTH Y 0F MARDH, 2020

S A el ) Toonidage
VIGE PRESIIENT - ERERNGE o}
—
. —
i I PP S N S Y. S ol

5 TeRY FUBLIG =

SUSAN WM. WEISSLEDER
Metary Pulifie
By Commlssion Expires November 36, 2022
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PROPOSAL

Mazand& Pasr Emp%aymerﬁt ?fzn{:!p!aﬁ
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shall permit indepandent rrunltorin'g of ’{h'&a{ comp ]IET‘JE& mf_h such F‘i’iﬁtlple& :

Yes__No.
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PROPOSAL

iRA’\’ DI¥ES FEi?NT Aﬂfl C'ERTIT’I(‘ ’&TIQ‘\‘

' _ﬁm %tau Fanantﬁ:i@dw 3,1{';:3 Elﬂf‘aﬁ Dy ‘«4“1;1]1 Actof 2012, the OTfice of Gleperal
: G m pﬂsi o zia W &b s&e 311%;’: ;v‘.v”z;. W ,D*’b.ﬂ} {rm* abﬂui“n%tzsﬁ-dm:m Lasimhnt.nf:ﬁ pdj" o T

L I.‘EE'M’TI}MEW L
ﬂ_arr«apﬁb,bfémv dhal thu' L

_ ; -.,er::mm. AT or aB’e 4.115 gr_ram}' .

I 15 O muru in ureditto xl.“lﬂ[h!::f Person, mr .

Camo T m:w h\ ﬁaw or nmrf:, 1F mat puqm: wﬂ] e ﬂ 2 meén jfal pnmdL ;_mds or services in the i,ue:n} :
- SR uuil.i‘-!' i€§ Iru . :

- The Cerfification is as fellaws:

ST “}f‘_ s Certifieation that i}wi it inr;jnmmlﬁm];m']'um perion, wWherd persan
© 40 means ngmural person, corporation, company, Hmited Habitiy company, husines:

assdcistion; parinership sovigty, trast; o Ay “othér nopgovernmental entity,
organtzalion, o gronp, and eac h person signing on hehatf of any other party,
ceriifies, and in the case ol & jolnt hid o "‘-IQ]JU“-'l] of p bz\,rahsg*a #aehl pany theretn
cartifies a8 10/ifs OWh oreanization, under penalty of y periury, that to the best of its
krowledge ami bdwfﬂnt each person s noton she list greated puBsuant B paragraply
hlaf qu*\dmkmn 3 ofzection 1654 of ﬁze State Fm'LmL me Dr
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Antbhony J. Guzzi, Age 55; President since October 2004, Chief Executive Officer since January 2011 and Chairman of the
Board since June 2018. From October 2004 to January 2011, Mr. Guzzi served as Chief Operating Officer of the Company. From
August 2001 until he joined the Company, Mr. Guzzi was President of the North American Distribution and Aftermarket Division
of Carrier Corporation (“Carrier™). Carrier is a manufacturer and distributor of commercial and residential HVAC and refrigeration
systems and equipment and a provider of aftermarket services and components of its own products and those of other manufacturers
in both the HVAC and refrigeration industries.

Mark A. Pompa, Age 53; Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since April 2006 and Treasurer
since October 2019. From June 2003 to April 2006, Mr. Pompa was Senior Vice President-Chief Accounting Officer ofthe Company,
and from June 2003 to January 2007, Mr. Pompa also served as Treasurer of the Company. From September 1994 to June 2003,
Mr. Pompa was Vice President and Controller of the Company.

R. Kevin Matz, Age 61; Executive Vice President-Shared Services of the Company since December 2007 and Senior Vice
President-Shared Services from June 2003 to December 2007, From April 1996 to June 2003, Mr. Matz served as Vice President
and Treasurer of the Compeny and Staff Vice President-Financial Services of the Company from March 1993 to April 1996,

Maxine L. Mauricio, Age 48; Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Company since I anuary 2016, From
January 2012 to December 2015, Ms. Mauricio was Vice President and Deputy General Counsel of the Company, and from May
2002 to December 2011, she served as Assistant General Counsel of the Company. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Mauricio
was an associate at Ropes & Gray LLP.
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Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
The following table summarizes repurchases of our common stock made by us during the guarter ended December 31, 2019:

Maximum Nember

Total Number of {or Approximate Dollar Value)
Shares Purchased as Part of Shares That May Yet be
Total Number of Average Price of Publicly Announced Purchased Under
Period Shares Purchased (I%(2) Paid Per Share Plans or Programs the Plan or Programs

‘October 1, 201910 - B ' ' ST

October 31, 2019 : — —= o — $158,506,898
November 1, 2019 to

November 30, 2019 — — — $158,506,898
December 1, 2019 to _ . _ :

December 31,2019 S — — —_ $138,506,898
Total — — —

(1) On September 26, 2011, our Board of Directors (the “Board™) authorized us to repurchase up to $100.0 million of our outstanding commeon
stock. Subsequently, the Board has from time to time increased the amount of our common stock that we may repurchase. Since the inception
of the repurchase program, the Board has authorized us to repurchase up to $950.0 million of our outstanding common stock, As of December
31, 2019, there remained authorization for us to repurchase approximately $158.5 million of our shares. No shares have been repurchased
by us since the program was announced other than pursuant to such program. The repurchase program has no expiration, does not obligate
the Company to acquire any particular amount of common stock and may be suspended, recommenced or discontinued at any time or Trom
timne to time without prior notice. We may repurchase our shares from time to time to the extent permitted by securities laws and other legal
requirements, including provisicns in our credit agreement, placing limitations on such repurchases.

(2) Excludes 28,839 shares surrendered to the Company by participants in our share-based compensation plans to satisfv minimum tax
withheldings for commeon stock issued under such plans.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENRT’S DISCUSSION ANDY ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

We are one of the largest electrical and mechanical construction and facilities services firms in the United States. In addition,
we provide a number of building services and industrial services. Our services are provided to a broad range of conumercial,
industrial, utility and institutional customers through approximately 80 operating subsidiaries and joint venture entities. Our offices
are Jocated in the United States and the United Kingdom.

Operating Segments

Our reportable segments reflect certain reclassifications of prior year amounts from our United States mechanical construction
and facilities services segment to our United States building services and our United States industrial services segmenis due to
changes in our internal reporting structure.

We have the following reportable segments, which provide services associated with the design, integration, installaticn, start-
up, operation and maintenance of various systems: (a) United States electrical construction and facilities services (involving systems
for electrical power fransmission and distribution; premises electrical and lighting systems; process instrumentation in the refining,
chemical processing, feod precessing and mining industries; low-veltage systems, such as fire alann, security and process control;
voice and data communication; roadway and transit lighting; and fiber optic lines); (b} United States mechanical censtruction and
facilities services (involving systems for heating, ventilation, air conditioning, refrigeration and clean-room process ventilation,
fire protection; plumbing, process and high-purity piping; controls and filtration; water and wastewater treatment; central plant
heating and cooling; cranes and rigging; millwrighting; and steel fabrication, erection and welding); (c) United States building
services; (d) United States industrial services; and (e) United Kingdom building services, The “United States building services”
and “United Kingdom building services” segments principally consist of those operations which provide a portfolio of services
needed to support the operation and maintenance of customers® facilities, including commercial and government site-based
operations and maintenance; facility maintenance and services, including reception, security and catering services; cutage services
to utilities and industrial plants; military base operations support services; mobile mechanical maintenance and services; floor care
and janitorial services; landscaping, lot sweeping and snow removal; facilities management; vendor management; call center
services; installation and support for building systems; program development, management and maintenance for energy systems;
technical consulting and diagnostic services; infrastructure and building projects for federal, state and local governmental agencies
and bodies; and small modification and retrofit projects, which services are not generally related to customers’ constructicn
programs. The “United States industrial services” segment principally consists of those operations which provide industrial
maintenance and services for refineries, petrochemical plants, and other customers within the oil and gas industry. Services of this
segment include refinery turnaround planning and engineering; specialty welding; overhaul and maintenance of critical process
units; specialty technical services; on-site repairs, maintenance and service of heat exchangers, towers, vessels and piping; design,
manufacturing, repair, and hydro blast cleaning of shell and tube heat exchangers and related equipment; and construction,
maintenance, and other support services for customers within the upstream and midstream sectors.

2019 versus 2018
Overview

The foliowing table presents selected financial data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands, except
percentages and per share dafa):

2019 2018

Revenues : _ 59,174,611  $ 8,130,631

Revenues increase from prior year 12.8% 5.8%
Restructuring expenses 8 1,523 3% 2,306
Impainment loss on identifiable intangible assets b — 5 307
Operating income $ 460,892 5 403,083

Operating income as a percentage of revenues 5.0% 5.0%
Income from continuing operations £ 325,140 § 285922
Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. $ 325,140 % 283,331
Diluted earnings per common share {rom continuing operations b 575§ 4.89



Discussion and Analysis of Results of QOperations

Revenues

The following table presents our reventes for each of our operating segments and the approximate percentages that each segment’s
revenues were of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands, except for percentages);

% of % of
2019 Total 2018 Total
Revenues from unrelated entities:
United States elecirical construction and facilities services § 2,216,600 24% $ 1,954,323 24%
United States mechanical construction and faciliﬁes services 3,340,337 36% 2,962,843 37%
United States building services ' 2,106,872 °  23% 1875485  23%
United States ﬁldustrial services ' - 1,087,543 12% 023,106 11%
Tc;tal_ United States operations : ' I 8,751,352 95% 7,715,760 95%
United Kingdom building services 423,239 5% 414',871 5% .
Total worldwide operations | B 9,174,611  100% § 8,150,631  100%

As described in more detail below, revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased to $9.2 billion compared to $8.1
billion for the year ended Decemnber 31,2018, with all reportable segments experiencing revenue growth year over vear. Companies
acquired in 2019 and 2018, which are reported in cur United States electrical construction and facilities services segment, our
United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment and our United States building services segment, generated
incremental revenues of $290.3 millicn in 2019.

Revenues of our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment were $2,216.6 million for the vear ended
December 31, 2019 compared to revenues of $1,954.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, The increase in revenues
was attributable to: (a) an increase in revenues from the commercial market sector, primarily as a result of several large

“teJecommunication construction projects, and (b) an increase in project activities within the manufacturing and institutjonal market
sectors, In addition, the results for the year ended December 31, 2019 included $134.5 million of incremental revenues generated
by companies acquired in 2019 and 2018. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in revenues due te the completion
or substantial completion of certain [arge construction projects within the transportation, heaithcare, and hospitality market sectors.

Our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment revenues for the vear ended December 31, 2019 were
§3,340.3 million, a $377.5 million increase compared to revenues of $2,962.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, The
increase in revenues was primarily atributable to an increase in revenues from the majority of the market sectors in which we
operate, including: (a) the manufacturing market sector, due to several food processing construction projects, (b) the commercial
market sector, primarily as a result of certain telecommunication and technology construction projects currently in process, and
(c) the healtheare, water and wastewater, and institutional market sectors due to increased project activity, In addition, the results
for the year ended December 31, 2019 included $49.1 million of incremental revenues generated by companies acquired in 2019,

These increases were partially offset by decreased revenues within the hospitality market sector as a result of the completion of
certain large projects.

Revenues of our United States building services segment were $2,106.9 million and $1.875.5 million for the years ended
Decemnber 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The $231.4 million increase In this segment’s revenues was due to; (a) incremental
revenues of $106.7 million generated by companies acquired in 2019 and 2018 within our mobile mechanical services operations,
(b) greater project, controls, and service repair and maintenance activities within our mobile mechanical services operations, {c)
an increase in revenues within our commercial site-based services operations, partially as a result of: (i) scope expansion on certain
contracts with existing customers and (i) new contract awards, and (d) increased large project activity within our energy services
operations. These increases were partially offset by revenue declines within our government site-based services operations due to
the loss of certain contracts not renewed pursuant to rebid, which resulted in a reduction in both base maintenance and indefinite~
delivery, indefinite-quantity project revennes.

Revenues of our United States industrial services segiment for the year ended December 31,2019 were §1,087.5 million, a $164.4
million increase compared to revenues of $923.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, The increase in revenues was
primarily due to increased maintenance and capital project activity within our field services operations. In addition, the results for
the year ended December 21, 2819 benefited from a more normalized demand pattern for our tarnaround services as compared to
the prior year, which was negatively impacted by the lingering effects of Hurricane Harvey, which led to the cancellation or deferral
of certain previously scheduled maintenarce activities with our customers in the first half of 2018, The increased revenues for the
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Operating income (loss)

The following table presents by segment our operating income (loss) and each segment’s operating income (loss) as a percentage
of such segment’s revenues from unrelated entities for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands, except for
percentages):

% of % of
Segment Segment
2019 Revenues 2018 Revenues
Operating income (loss):
U'rﬁ_tea States electrical construction and facilities services $ 161,684 73% $§ 139,430 7.1%
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 225,040 6.7% 219,353 7.4%
United States building services 114,754 5.45% 93,827 3.0%
United States industrial services 44,340 4.1% 27,671 3.0%
Total United States operations 545,818 6.2% 480,781 6.2%
United Kingdom building services 18,323 4.3% 15,930 3.8%
Corporate administration . (101,726) — (90,415) - —
Restructuring expenses (1,523) — (2,3 06) —
Impairment loss on identifiable 'intangi’b]e assets - — (907 e
Total worldwide operations ‘ 460,892 5.0% 403,083 5.0%
Other corporate items:
Net periodic pension (cost) income 1,553 2,743
Interest expense {13,821) (13,544}
Interest income 2,265 2,746
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 450,889 $ 395028

* As described in more detail below, we had operating income of $460.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared
to operating income of $403.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Operating margin was 5.0% for both periods.
Operating income and operating margin increased within all of our reportable segments except, in the case of operating margm,
our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, which experienced a 0.7% decline in operating margin
as a result of a change in revenue mix compared to the prior year.

Operating income of our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment for the year ended December 31,
2019 was §161.7 million, or 7.3% of revenues, compared to operating income of $139.4 million, or 7.1% of revenues, for the year
ended December 31, 2018. The $22.3 million increase in operating income for the year ended December 31, 2019 was primarily
attributable to an increase in gross profit within the commercial market sector, inclusive of certain telecommunication constriction
projects, partially offset by a decrease in gross profit within the transportation market sector as a result of the completion or
substantial completion of certain multi-year construction projects. Additionally, companies acquired in 2019 and 2018 contributed
incremental operating income of $6.1 million, inclusive of $1.7 million of amortization expense associated with identifiable
intangible assets. The increase In operating margin for the year ended Decemnber 31, 2019 was attributable to an increase in gross
profit margin, partially as a result of improved project execution.

Our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment’s operating income for the year ended December 31,
2019 was $225.0 million, 2 $5.2 million increase compared to operating income of $219.9 million for the year eaded December
31, 20318, Companies acquired in 2019 contributed incremental operating income of $0.1 million, inclusive of $2.8 million of
amortization expense associated with identifiable ntangible assets. The increase in operating income for the year ended December
31, 2019 was primarily attributable to an increase in gross profit from activities within the commercial and institutional market
sectors, partially offset by a decrease in gross profit from construction projects within the manufacturing and hospitality market
sectors. Operating margins within this segment for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were 6.7% and 7.4%, respectively.
The decrease in operating margin year over year was attributable to a decrease in gross profit margin, primarily within the
manufacturing market sector as a result of a change in the mix of work in the current year, including several large food precessing
projects, that have not yetachieved key milestones and ars therefore being recognized at lower gross profit margins. This segment’s

operating margin for the prior year was favorably impacted by the successful close-out of certain large manufacturing and hospitality
construction projects.
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Remaining Unsatisfied Performance Obligations

The following table presents the transaction price allocated to remaining unsatisfied performance obligations (“remaining
performance obligations™) in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers” (“*ASC 606™) for each of our reportable segiments and their respective percentage of total remaining performance
obligations (in thousands, except for percentages):

December 31, % of December 31, % of
2019 Total 2018 Totel
Remaining performance obligations:

* United States electrical consﬁ‘uct’ioﬁ and facilities services $ 1,036216 26% § 1,085,571 28%
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 2,229,090 55% 2,226,183 56%
‘United States building services. ' 542269 13% 435,074 11%
United States industrial services 104,613 3% 86,930 2%

Total United States cperations ' 3,912,188 97% 3,833,758 97%
United Kingdom building services 124,176 3% 130,524 3%
Total worldwide operations S 8§ 4036364 100% § 3964282 100%

Remaining performance obligations increase with awards of new contracts and decrease as we perform work and recognize
revepue on existing contracts. We include a project within our remaining performance obligations at such time zs the project is
awarded and agreement on contract terms has been reached. Qur remaining performance obligations include amounts related to
contracts for which a fixed price confract value is not assigned when a reasonable estimate of total transaction price can be made.

Remaining performance obligations include unrecognized revenues to be realized from uncompleted construction contracts.
Althoughmany of our construction cenfracts are subject to cancellation at the election of our customers, in accordance with industry
“practice, we do not limit the amount of unrecognized revenue included within remaining performance obligations for these contracts
due to the inherent substantial economic penaity that would be incurred by our customers upon cancellation. We believe our
-reported remaining performance otligations for our construction contracts are firm and contract cancellations have not had a

-material adverse effect on us.

* Remaining performance obiigations also include unrecognized revenues expected to be realized over the remaining ‘erm of
service contracts. However, to the extent a service contract includes a cancellation clause which allows for the termination of such
contract by either party without a substantive penality, the remaining contract term, and therefore, the amount of unrecognized
revenues included within remajning performance obligations, is limited to the notice period required for the termination.

Our remaining performance cbligations are comprised of: (a) original contract amounts, (b} change orders for which we have
received written confirmations from our customers, (¢} pending change orders for which we expect to receive confirmations in
the ordinary course of business, (d} clafiim amounts that we have made against customers for which we have determined we have
a legal basis under existing contractual arrangements and as to which the variable consideration constraint does not apply, and (e)
other forms of variable consideration to the extent that such variable consideration has been included within the transaction price
of our contracts. Such claim and other variable consideration amounts were jmmaterial for all periods presented.

Our remaining performance obligations at December 31, 2019 were $4.04 billion compared to $3.96 billicn at December 31,
2018. The increase in remaining performance obligations at December 31, 2019 was attributable to a increase in remaining

performance obligations within all of our domestic segments, except for our United States electrical construction and facilities
services segment.

Computer System Attack

On February 15, 2020, we became aware of an infiltration and encryption of portions of our information technology network.
This atfack disrupted our operations that utilize the impacted portions of the network. We continue to assess the magnitude of the
consequences and we are actively seeking to mitigate the effects. As of the date of this filing, we continue our efforts to restore
the portions of such systems that remain impacted. We are unable to predict when the entire network will be functional. We are
additionally unable to estimate precisely the total costs which will result from the attack and the remediation efforts, We maintain

insurance coverage for these types of incidents, however, such policies may not completely provide coverage for, or offset the
costs of, this infiltration,
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Discussion and Aralysis of Results of Operations

Revenues

The following table presents our revenues for each of our operating segments and the approximate percentages that each
segment’s revenues were of total revenues for the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017 (in thousands, except for percentages):

% of % of
2018 Total 2017 Total

Revenues from unrelated entities:

" United States electrical construction and facilifies services § 1,954,323 24% § 1,829,567 24%
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 2,962,843 37% 2,880,148 37%
United States building services. 1,875,485 23% 1,753,703 23%
United States industrial services 023,109 11% 832,836 12%
Total United States operations - 7,715,760 5% 7,346,254 86%
United Kingdom building services 414,871 5% 340,745 4%
Total worldwide operations : $ 8,130,631 100% $§ 7,686,999  100%

As described In more detail below, revenues for 2018 were $8.1 billion compared to $7.7 biltion for 2017. The ncrease in
revenues was attributable fo increased revenues from all of our reportable segments. Companies acquired in 2018 and 2017, which
are veported in our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment, our United States mechanical construction

and facilities services segment, and our United States building services segment, generated incremental revenes of $90.1 million
in 2018,

Revenues of our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment were $1,954.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 compared to revenues of $1,829.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, The increase if revenues
.was atiributable to an increase in activity within all of the market sectors in which we operate, except for the transportation market
sector, as we approached substantial completion on several large multi-year transportation construction projects in 2018, In addition,

the results for the year ended December 31, 2018 included $20.2 million of incremental revenues generated by a company acquired
in 2018.

Cur United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018 were
$2,962.8 million, an $82.7 million increase compared tc revenues of $2,880.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, The
‘increase in revenues was primarily artributable to an increase in revenues from commercial and institutional construction projects,
partially offset by a decrease in revenues from large projects within the manufacturing market sector. In addition, the results for
the year ended December 31, 2018 included $35.3 million of incremental revenues generated by a company acquired in 2017.

Revenues of our United States building services segment were $1,875.5 million and $1,753.7 million in 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The increase in revenues was due to: (a) greater project and repair service activities within our mobile mechanical
services operations, (b) large project activity within our energy services operations, (¢) increased revenues from government site-
based operations, partially as a result of additional indefinite-delivery, ndefinite-quantity project activity, and (d) an increase in
snow removal activity within our commercial site-based services operations. In addition, the results for the year ended December
31, 2018 included $34.6 milifon of incremental revenues generated by companies acquired in 2018 and 2017. These increases
were partially offset by a decrease n revenues due to the loss of cerfain contracts not renewed pursuant to rebid within our
commercial site-based services operations,

Revenues of our United States industrial services segment for the year ended December 31, 2018 increased by $40.3 million
compared to the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in revenues was due to an increase in revenues from both our field
and shop services operations. The increase in revenuss from our field services operations was due to an increase in turnaround
project activity during the second half of 2018 as this division began to recover from the negative impact of Hurricane Harvey,
which resulted in the cancellation of previously scheduled turnarounds during 2017 and early 2018, The increase in revenues from

our shop services operations was due to increases in demand for new build heat exchangers, as well as our cleaning, repair and
maintenance services,

Our United Kingdom building services segment revenues were $414.9 million in 2018 compared ta $340.7 million in 2017. The
increase in revenues was the result of increased project activity with existing customers and new contract awards within the
commercial, institutional and water and wastewater market sectors, This segiment’s revenues were positively impacted by $15.2
million related to the effect of favorable exchange rates for the British pound versus the United States dollar.



Operating income (loss)

The following table presents by segment our operating income (loss) and each segment’s operating income (loss) as a percentage
of such segment’s revenues from unrelated entities for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands, except for
percentages):

% of % of
Segment Segment
2018 Revenues 2017 Revenues
Operating income (loss):
United States electrical construction and facilities services ) $ 139,430 1% $ 150,001 8.2%
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 219,853 7.4% 192,147 6.7%
United States building services : _ 93,827 5.0% 81,720 4.7%
United States industrial services . ' 27,671 3.0% 39,313 4.5%
Total United States opsrationé B o 480,781 6.2% 463,201 6.3%
United Kingdom building services - 15,930 3.8% 12,905 3.8%
Corporate administration - ' (%0415 0 — 87,808y = —
Restructuring expenses (2,306) — (1,577) —
Im'péii'meﬁt loss on godd\#ili and identifiable intangible assets ©07y (57,8 L) I —
Total worldwide operations 403,083 5.0% 328,502 4.3%
Other corporate items: ' ' :
Net periodic pension (cost) income 2,743 1,652
Interest expense ' {13,544) (12,770)
Interest income 2,746 965
Income from c_ontimiing operations before income taxes $ 395028 $ 318,749

As described in more detail below, we had operating income of $403.1 million for 2018 compared to operating income of $328.9
- million for 2017, Operating margin was 5.0% and 4.3% for 2018 and 2017, respectively. Operating income increased within all
" of our reportable segments, except for our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment and our United
States industrial services segment. Operating margin increased within our United States mechanical construction and facilities
services segment and our United States huilding services segment, while operating margin declined within our United Srates
electrical constroction and facilities services segiment and our United States industrial services segment. Operating margin remained
flat within our United Kingdom building services segment.

The Company’s operating income and operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2017 included $57.8 millicn of non-
cash impairment charges, which resulted in a 0.8% negative impact on the Company’s operating margin, Operating income and
operating margin for the year ended Decemnber 31, 2017 benefited from the recovery of certain contract costs previously disputed
ont a project completed in 2016 within our United States industrial services segment, which resulted in a 0.2% favorable impact
on the Company’s operating margin.

Operating income of our United States elecirical construction and facilities services segment for the year ended December 31,
2018 was $139.4 mitlion, or 7.1% of revenues, compared to operating income of $150.0 million, or 8.2% of revenues, for the year
ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in operating income was attributable to a decrease in gross profit from institutional and
healthcare construction projects, partiaily offset by an increase in gross profit from manufacturing, hospitality and commercial
construction prajects. In addition, otherwise strong performance by this segment within the transportation market sector in 2018
was negatively impacted by $10.0 million of losses incwired on a construction project in the Western region of the United States,
resulting in part from contract scope issues. The decrease in operating margin year over year was primarily due to the loss discussed
above, which negatively impacted this segmient’s operating margin by 0.6% for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment operating income for the year ended December 31,
2018 was $219.9 million, a $27.7 millicn increase compared to operating income of $192.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2017. The increase in operating income for the vear ended December 31, 2018 was atfributable to an increase in gross profit
from commercial, manufacturing, and hospitality construction projects, partially offset by a decrease in gross profit from
institutional construction projects. A company acquired in 2017 contributed incremental operating income of $3.6 million, inclusive
of $0.8 million of amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets. Operating margin was 7.4% and 6.7% in
2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase in operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2018 was attributable to an increase
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macroeconomic trends may have an adverse effect on liguidity, During economic downturns, there have typicaliy been fewer small
discretionary projects from the private sector and our competitors have aggressively bid larger Jong~term infrastructure and public
sector contracts. Short-term liquidity is also impacted by: (a) the type and length of construction contracts in place as performance
of long duration contracts typically requires greater amounts of working capital, (b) the level of tarnaround activities within our
United States industrial services segment as such projects are billed in arrears pursuant to contractual terms that are standard within
the industry, and {c) the billing terms of our maintenance contracts, including those within our United States building services
segment. While we strive to negotiate favorable billing terms which allow us to invoice in advance of costs incurred on certain of
our contracts, there can be no assurance that such terms will be agreed to by our customers,

Long-term liquidity requirements can be expected to be met initially through cash generated from operating activities and the
borrowing capacity availzble under our revolving credit facility. Based upon our current credit ratings and financial position, we
can also reasonably expect to be able to secure long-ternm debt financing when required to achieve our strategic objectives. Over
the long term, our primary revenue risk factor continues to be the level of demand for non-residential construction and building
and industrial services, which are influenced by macroeconemic trends including interest rates and governmental economic policy.
In addition, our ability to perform work is critical to mesting our long-term liquidity requirements.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivelents and the borrowing capacity available under our revolving credit facility
or other forms of financing available tc us through borrowings, combined with cash expected to be generated from cur operations,
will be sufficient to provide short-term and foresseable long-term liquidity and meet our expected capital expenditure requirements.

Cash Flows

The foilowing table presents our net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 (in thousands):

2019 2018 2017
Net cash provided by operating activities § 355700 & 271,011 $ 266,049
“Net cash used in investing activities $ (345339) $ (117.722) $ (138,093)
_';Net cash used in financing activities §(15.247) § (253,042) § (228,470)
- Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 2,592 § (3.421) % 3,242

~ Our consolidated cash balance, including cash equivalents and restricted cash, decreased by approximately $6.3 million from
$566.2 million at December 31, 2018 to $359.9 million at December 31, 2019. Net cash provided by operating activities for 2019
was $355.7 million compared to $271.0 million of net cash provided by operating activities for 2018. The increase in cash provided
by operating activities was primarily due to: (a) a $41.6 million increase in net income and (b) the timing of cash receipts from
our customers, including payments of advanced billings on our long-term construction contracts. Net cash used n nvesting
activities was $345.3 million for 2019 compared to net cash used in investing activities of $117.7 million for 2018. The increase
in net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to an increase in payments for the acquisition of businesses. Net cash
used in financing activities for 2019 decreased by approximately $233.8 million compared to 2018 primarily as aresult of a $216.2
million decrease in funds used for the repurchase of cur commen stock and $25.0 million in net borrowings made under our
revolving credit facility during the 2019 period.

Our consolidated cash balance, including cash equivalents and restricted cash, decreased by approximately $103.2 miilion from
$469.4 million at December 31, 2017 to $366.2 million at December 31, 2018. Net cash provided by operating activities for 2018
was 5271.0 million compared to $366.0 million of net cash provided by operating activities for 2017. The reduction in cash flows
from operating activities was primarily due to organic revenue growth, which resulted in increased working capital Jevels, Net
cash used in investing activities was $117.7 million for 2018 compared to net cash used in investing activities of $138.1 million
for 2017. The decrease in net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to a reduction in payments for acquisitions of
businesses. Net cash used in financing activities for 2018 increased by approximately $24.6 million compared to 2017 primarily

due to an increase in funds used for the repurchase of common stock, partially offset by reduced debt repayments compared to the
prior year.

Debi

We have a credit agreement dated as of August 3, 2016, which provides for a $900.0 million revolving credit facility (the “2016
Revolving Credit Facility™) and a $400.0 milljon term loan (the “2016 Term Loan™) (collectively referred to as the “2016 Credit
Agreement”) expiring August 3, 2021, We may increase the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility to $1.3 billion if additional lenders
are identified and/or existing lenders are willing to increase their current commitments. We may alloeate up to $300.0 million of
available capacity under the 2016 Revelving Credit Facility to Jetters of credit for our account or for the account of any of cur
subsidiaries. Obligations under the 2016 Credit Agreement are guaranteed by most of our direct and indirect subsidiaries and are
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customers to forego the requirement for Sursty Bonds, (b) increase our activities in our business segments that rarely require Sursty
Bonds, such as our building and industrial services segments, and/or (c) refrain from bidding for certain projects that require Surety
Bonds. There can be no assurance that we would be able to effectuate alternatives to providing Surety Bonds to our customers or
to obtain, on favorable terms, sufficient additional work that does not require Surety Bonds, Accordingly, if we were to experience
a reduction in the availability of Surety Bonds, we could experience a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations and/or cash flows.

In the ordinary course of business, we, at times, guarantee obligations of our subsidiaries under certain contracts. Generally, we
are liable under such an arrangement only if our subsidiary fails to perform its obligations under the contract Historically, we have
not incurred any substantial liabilities as a consequence of these guarantees.

We do not have any other matertal financial guarantees or off-balance sheet arrangements other than those disclosed herein.

Contractual Obligations
The fellowing is a summary of material centractual obligations and other commercial commitments (in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Less :

than 1-3 3.5 After
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years
Revolving credit facility (including interestat 2.809%)®  § 523 § . 14 § 3509 '§ = — § —
Term Loan (including interest at 2.86%) O 265.5 22.3 2432 — g
Finance leases 10.2 4.4 4.8 0.9 0.1
Operating leases 207.1 62.5 92.7 61.2 80.7
Open purchase obligations 1,212.7 1,045.0 167.1 0.6 —
Other long-term obligations, including current portion @ 402.6 69.3 3235 9.8 —
Total Contractual Obligations 0% 22404 § 1,2049 § BR22Z § 72.5 % 80.8

i

Amount of Commitment Expirations by Period

=

3 Total Less

.. Amounts than 1-3 3-5 After
Other Commercial Commitments Committed 1 year years years A years
Letters of credit % 1090 & 1090 § — — 8 -~

(13 On August 3, 2016, we entered into a $900.0 million revolving credit facility (the *2016 Revolving Credit Facility™) and a $400.0 million
term loan {the “2016 Term Loan™) {collectively referred to asthe “2016 Credit Agreement™). As of December 31, 2019, the amount outstanding
under the 2016 Term Loan was §254.4 million. As of December 31, 2019, there were borrowings outstanding of $50.0 million under the
2016 Revolving Credit Facility.

(2) Represents open purchase orders for material and subcontracting costs related to construction and services contracts. These purchase orders
are notreflected in EMCOR’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and should not impact future cash flows as amounts should be recovered through
customer billings,

{3) Primarily represents insurance related liabilities, and labilities for deferred income taxes, incentive compensation and deferred compensation,

classified as other leng-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Cash payments for insurance and deferred compensation related

liabilities may be payable beyond three years, however it is not practical to estimate these payments; therefore, these liabilities are reflected

in the 1-3 years payment period. We provide funding to our post retirement plans based on at least the minimum funding required by

appticable regulations. In determining the minimum required funding, we utilize current actuarial assumptions and exchange rates to forecast

amounts that may be payable for up to five years in the future. In our judgment, minimum funding estimates beyond a five year time horizon
cannot be reliably estimated and, therefore, have not been included in the table.

Legal Proceedings
We are a party to lawsuits and other proceedings in which other parties seek to recover amounts from us. While litigation is

subject to many uncertainties and the outeome of litigation is not predictable with asswance, we do not believe that any such
matters will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity,
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inclusive of a cancellation, we recognize revenue over time. For these performance obligations, we use a cost-to-cost input method
to measure our progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation as we believe it best depicts the transfer of
control to the customer which occurs as we Ingur costs on our contracts, However, for those contracts for which we do not have
a right, at all times, to payment for performance completed to date, we recognize revenue at the point in time when control is
transferred to the customer. For bill-and-hold arrangements, revenue is recognized when the customer obtains contrel of the heat
exchanger, which may be prior to shipning, if certain recognition criteria are met.

For certain of our revenue streams, such as call-out repair and service work, outage services, refinery turnarounds and specialty
welding services that are performed under time and materials contracts, our progress towards complete satisfaction of such

performance obligations is measured using an cutput method as the customer receives and consumes the benefits of our performance
completed to date.

Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimation process, it is possible that estimates of costs to complete a performance obligation
will be revised in the near-term. For those performance obligations for which revenne is recognized using a cost-to-cost input
method, changes in total estimated costs, and related progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation, are
recognized on a cumulative catch-up basis in the period in which the revisions to the estimates are made. When the current estimate
of total costs for a performance obligation indicate a loss, a provision for the entire estimated Joss on the unsatisfied performance
obligation is made in the period in which the loss becomes evident. During 2019, there were no changes in total estimated costs
that had a significant impact on cur operating results. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized losses of $10.0
million related to a change in total estimated costs on a transportation project within our United States electrical construction and
facilities services segment, resulting in part from contract scope issues. There were no other changes in total estimated costs that
resulted in a significant impact to our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2018.

The timing of revenue recognitionmay differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. Contract assets include unbilled amounts
from our long-term construction prejects when revenues recognized under the cost-to-cost measure of progress excead the amounts
invoiced to our customers, a5 the amounts cannot be billed under the terms of our contracts. Such amounts are recoverable from
our customers based upon various measures of performance, ncluding achievement of certain milestones, completion of specified
Gnits or completion of a contract. In addition, many of our time and materials arrangements, as well as our contracts to perforim
turnaround services within the United States industrial services segment, are billed in arrears pursuant to contract terms that are
standard within the industry, resulting in contract assets and/or unbilled receivables being recorded, as revenue is recognized in
advance of billings. Also included in contract assets are amounts we seek or will seek to collect from customers or others for errors
br changes in contract specifications or design, contract change orders or modifications in dispute or unapproved as to scope and/
m price, or other customer-related causes of unanticipated additional contract costs (claims and unapproved change orders). Our
Tontract assets do not include capitalized costs to obtain and fulfill a contract. Contract assets are Ueneralﬁy classified as current
within the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, contract assets included unbilled revenues for unapproved change orders of approximately
$33.1 million and $25.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no claim amounts included within
contract assets or accounts receivable. Thers were contractuzlly billed amounts and retention related to contracts with un approved
change orders and claims of approximately $89.0 million and $96.1 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. For

contracts in claim status, contractually billed amounts will generally not be paid by the customer to us unti] final resolution of the
related claims.

Contract lizbilities from our long-term construction contracts arise when amounts invoiced fo cur customers exceed revenues
recognized under the cost-to-cost measure of progress. Contract labilities additionally include advanced payments from our
customers on certain contracts, Confract lighilities decrease as werecognize revenue from the satisfaction oftherelated performance
obligation and are recorded as either current or long-term, depending upon when we expect to recognize such revenue. The lon a-
term portion of contract liabilities is included in “Other long-term obligations® in the Consolidated Balance Sheets,

See Note 3 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers of the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for further disclosure regarding revenue recoguition.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recognized in the period we deliver goods or provide services to our customers or when aur right to
consideration is unconditional. We are required to estimate the collectibility of accounts receivable. A considerable amount of
judgment is required in assessing the likelihood of realization of receivables. Relevant assessment factors include the
creditworthiness of the custemer, our prior collection history with the customer and related aging of the past due balances. The
provision for doubtful accounts during 2019, 2018, and 2017 amounted to approximately $2.6 million, $2.1 million, and $7.3
million, respectively. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, cur accounts receivable of $2,030.8 million and $1,773.6 million,
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We test for impairment of our goodwill at the reporting unit jevel. O reporting units are consistent with the reportable segments
identified in Note 19, “Segment Information™, of the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Datz. In assessing whether our goodwill is impaired, we compare the fair value of the reporting
unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill, If the fair value exceeds the carrying amount, no impairment loss is recognized.
Howeves, if the carrying amount of the reporting umit exceeds the falr value, the goodwill of the reporting unit is impaired and an
impairment loss in the amount of the excess is recognized and charged to operations. The fair value of each of our reporting units
is generally determined using discounted estimated future cash flows; however, in certain circumstances, consideration is given
to a market approach whereby fair value is measured based on a multiple of earnings.

As of the date of our latest impairment test (October 1, 2019), the carrying values of our United States electrical construction
and facilities services segment, our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, our United States building
services segment and our United States industrial services segment were approximately $331.0 million, $369.5 million, $546.8
millicn and $705.2 million, respectively. The fair values of our United States electrical constraction and facilities services segiment,
our United States mechanical constrizction and facilities services segment, our United States building services segment, and our
United States industrial services segment exceeded their carrying values by approximately $1,321.8 million, $2,011.5 million,
$922.3 million and $40.5 million, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, no impairment of our goodwill was recognized. As part of our annual
impairment testing for the year ended December 31, 2017, and as a result of continued adverse market conditions, we tempersd
our expectations regarding the strength of a near-term recovery within our United States industrial services segment, resulting in
a non-cash impatrment charge of $57.5 million,

The weighted average cost of capital used in our annual testing for impairment as of October 1, 2019 was 9.5%, 5.1% and 10.5%
for our domestic construction segments, our United States building services segment and our United States industrial services
segment, respectively. The perpetual growih rate used for our annual testing was 2.7% for all of our domestic segments. Unfavorable
changes in these key assumptions may affect future testing results, For example, keeping all other assumptions censtant, a 50 basis
point incfease in the weighted average costs of capital would cause the estimated fair values of our United States electrical
donstruction and facilities services segment, our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, our United
States building services segment, and our United States industrial services segment to decrease by approximately $108.8 million,
$156.7 million, $98.0 million, and $40.3 million, respectively. In zddition, keeping all other assumptions constant, a 50 basis peint
reductiorrin the perpetual growth rate would cause the estimated fajr values of our United States electrical construction and facilities
services segment, our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, our United States building services
segment, and our United States industrial services segment to decrease by approximately $61.4 million, $30.5 million, $55.7
millicn, and $20.5 miftion, respectively, Given the amounts by which the fair value exceeds the carrying value for each of our
reporting units other than our United States industrial services segment, the decreases in estimated fair values described above
would not have significantly impacted our 2012 impairment test. In the case of our United States industrial services segment,
however, such decreases would canse the estimated fair value to approach its carrying value.

‘We also test for the impairment of trade names that are not subject to amortization by calenlating the fair value nsing the “relief
from royalty payments” methodology. This approach involves two steps: (a) estimating reasonable royalty rates for each trade
name and (b) applying these royalty rates to a net revenue stream and discounting the resulting cash flows to determine fair value.
This fair value is then compared with the carrying value of each trade name. If the carrying amount of the trade name is greater
than the implied fair value of the trade name, an impairment in the amount of the excess is recognized and charged to operations.
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, no impalrment of our indefinite-lived trade names was recognized. The annual
impairment review of our indefinite-lived trade names for the year ended December 31, 2017 resulted in a $0.3 million non-cash
impairment charge as a result of a change in the fair value of a subsidiary frade name associated with a prier acquisition reported
within our United States building services segment.

In addition, we review for the impairment of other identifiable intangible assets that are being amortized whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be fully recoverable. This test compares their carrying values to the
undiscounted pre-tax cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets. 1fthe assets are impaired, the assets are written down
to their fair values, generally determined based on their discounted estimated future cash flows. For the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2017, no impainment of our other identifiable intangible assets was recognized. Far the year ended December 31, 2018,

werecorded a $0.9 million non-cash impairment charge associated with a finite-lived trade name within our United States industrial
services segment,
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ITEM 74, QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We have not used any derivative financial instruments during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, including trading
or speculating on changes in interest rates or commodity prices of materials used in our business.

We are exposed to market risk for changes in interest rates for borrowings under the 2016 Credit Agreement, which provides
for a revolving credit facility and a term loan. Borrowings under the 2016 Credit Agreement bear interest at variable rates. For
further information on borrowing rates and interest rate sensitivity, refer to the Liquidity and Capital Resources discussion in
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. As of December 31, 2019, there
were borrowings of $50.0 miflion outstanding under the 2016 Revolving Credit Facility and the balance of the 2016 Term Loan
was $254.4 million. Based on the $304.4 million borrowings outstanding under the 2016 Credit Agreement, if overall interest rates
were to increase by 100 basis points, interest expense, net of income taxes, would increase by approximately $2.2 million in the
next twelve months, Conversely, if overall interest rates were to decrease by 100 basis points, inferest expense, net of income
taxes, would decrease by approximately $2.2 million in the next twelve months,

it is expected that a number of banks currently reporting information used to set LIBOR will stop doing so after 2021, which
could either cause LIBOR to stop publication or cause LIBCR to no longer be representative of the underlying market. We believe
our exposure to market risk associated with the discontinuation of LIBOR is limited as our 2016 Credit Agreement expires prior
to the end of 2021 and given that we are not exposed to any other material contracts that reference LIBOR.

We are exposed fo construction market risk and its potential related impact on accounts receivable or contract assets on
uncompleted contracts. The amounts recorded may be at risk if our customers® ability to pay these obligations is negatively impacted
by economic conditions. We continually monitor the creditworthiness of our customers and maintain on-going discussions with
customers regarding contract status with respect to change orders and billing terms. Therefore, we believe we take appreprizte
action to manage market and other risks, but there is no assurance that we will be able to reasonably identify all risks with respect
ta the collectibility of these assets. See also the previous discussions of Revenue Recognition from Contracts with Customers and
Accounts Receivable under the heading “Application of Critical Accounting Policies” in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Amounts mvested in our foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at year end. The
resulting translation adjustments are recorded as accunulated other comprehensive (Joss) income, a component of equity, in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. We believe the exposure to the effects that fluctrating foreign cusrenciesmay have on our consolidated
results of operations is limited because our foreign operations primarily invoice customers and collect obligations in theirrespective
local currencies. Additionally, expenses associated with these transactions are generally contracted and paid for in their same local
currencies.

In addition, we are exposed to market risk of fluctuations in certain commodity prices of materials, such as copper and steel,
which are used as components of supplies cr materials utilized in our construction, building services and industrial services
operations. We are also exposed to increases in energy prices, particularly as they relate to gasoline prices for our fleet of
approximately 11,000 vehicles. While we believe we can increase our contract prices to adjust for some price increases
commodities, there can be no assurance that such price increases, if they were to occur, would be recoverable, Additionally, our
fixed price contracts do not allow us to adjust our prices and, as a result, increases in material costs could reduce our profitability
with respect to projects in progress.
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EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For The Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues

Cost of sales

Gross profit ’

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Restructuring expenses

Impairment loss on goodwill and identifiable intangible assets
Gpera-ting income ' '
Net periodic pension (cost) income

Interest expénse '

Interest income

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax provision

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operation, net of income taxes

Net income including noncontrolling interests

Less: Net {incame) loss attributable to noncontrolling inferests
Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc.

Basic earnings (Joss) per common share:

From continuing operations atfributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. common
stockholders

From discontinued operation
Nét income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. common stockholders

Diluted earnings (Joss) per common share:

From continuing operations attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. common
stockholders

From discontinued operation
Net income astributable to EMCOR Group, Inc. commeon stockholiders

Dividends declared per common share

2019 2018 2017
$ 9,174,611 $ 8,130,631 $ 7,686,999
7,818,743 6,925,178 6,539,987
1,355,868 1205453 1,147,012
893,453 799,157 758,714
1,523 2,506 1,577
— 907 57,819
460,892 403,083 328,902
1,553 2,743 1,652
 (13,821) (13,544) (12,770
2,265 2,746 965
450,889 395,028 318,749
125,749 109,106 90,699
325,140 285,922 228,050
— (2,345) (857)
325,140 283,577 227,193
— (46) 3
§ 325140 $ 283531 §  227.196
$ 578 492§ 3.85
— (0.04) (0.01)
$ 578 $ 488§ 3.84
$ 575§ 489§ 3.83
— (0.04) (0.01)
$ 575§ 485 § 3.82
$ 032 §$ 032§ 0.32

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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EMCOR Group, Inc, and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For The Years Ended December 31,
(I thousands)

Cash flows - operating activities:
Net income including noncontrolling interests
Adjustments fo reconcile net income to niet cash provided hy operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of identifiable intangible assets
Provision for doubtful accounts
Deferred income taxes
Gain on sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation
Equity loss {incomé) from unconsolidated entities
Non-cash expense for amortization of debt issuance costs
Non-cash expense from contingent consideration arrangements
Non-cash expense for impairment of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets
Non-cash share-based compensation expense
Non-cash income from chan ges in uri'recognized tax benefits
Distributions from uneconsolidated entities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding the effect of businesses acquired:
Inerease in accounts recejvable
Decrease {increase) in inventories
{Increase) decrease in coniract assets
{Decrease) increase in accounts pavable
Increase in contract liabitities
Increase {decrease) in accrued payroll and benefits and other accrued expenses and liabilities
Changes in other assets and liabilities, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows - investing activities:
Payments for acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sate or disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Investments in and advances to uncensoljdated entities
Distributions from unconsolidated entities
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows - financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Repayments of revolving credit facility
Repayments of long-term debt
Repayments of finance lease Habilities
Dividends paid to stockholders
Repurchase of commen stock
Taxes paid related 1o net share settlements of eauity awards
Issnance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan
Payments for contingent consideration arrangements
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
(Decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year )
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

{1} Includes $1.1 million, $2.3 million, $2.0 million and $2.0 million of restricted cash classified as °

Consolidated Balance Sheet ag of December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

2019 2018 2017
$ 325140 $ 283,577 § 227,193
43,945 38,472 39,915
48,142 43,443 48,594
2,628 2,123 7,264
1,701 4249 (53,358)
(3.981) (517 (1,846)
(984) {1,646) (1.616)
2,990 (347) (864)
1,186 1,186 1,185
1,373 186 317
— 907 37,819
11,386 11,030 9,935
— 723 (5.641)
1,074 3,110 5,506
(135,954)  (146,101)  (80,514)
4,345 (3,515) (4.936)
(10.111)  (30,93%) 12,433
(33,971} 78,554 54,910
51,310 20,726 24,695
49,551 (24,715) 24,017
(4,070} (7,304) 1,036
355,700 271,011 356,049
(300,980)  (72,080)  (107,223)
5,487 1,237 4,014
(48,432)  (43.479) (34,684
(2,252) (3,484) (675)
838 84 475
(345339) (117.722)  (138,093)
50,000 — —
(25,000) —  (100,000)
(15,398)  (15235)  (15202)
(4,571) (1,501) (1,443)
(17.950)  (18,640)  (18.971)
—  (216244)  (93,166)
(6,451) (3,848) (3,462)
6,090 5,765 4,793
(5,917) (3,339} (1,017)
(250) — -
(19.247) ~(253,042)  (228.470)
23592 (3.421) 3,242
(6.294) ~ {103,174) 2,728
366,214 469,388 466,660
$ 359.920 § 366214 §$ 469.388

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

‘Prepaid expenses and other” in the



EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE I - NATURE OF OPERATIONS

References to the “Company,” “EMCOR,” “we,” “us,” “our” and similar words refer to EMCOR Group, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise,

We are one of the largest electrical and mechanical construction and facilities services firms in the United States. In addition,
we provide a number of building services and mdustrial services. We specialize principally in providing construction services
relating to electrical and mechanical systems in all types of facilities and in providing various services relating to the operation,
maintenance and management of facilities, including refineries and petrochemical plants.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidarion

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries and joint ventures.
Significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. All investments over which we exercise significant
nfluence, but do not contrel (a 20% to 50% ownership interest), are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. For
joint ventures that have been accounted for using the consolidation method of accounting, noncontrolting interests represent the
allocation of earnings to our joint venture partners who either have a minority-ownership interest in the joint venture or are not at
risk for the majority of losses of the joint venture.

The results of operations of companies acquired have been included in the results of operations from the date of the respective
acguisition.

Principles of Preparation

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States, requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and labilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
matenally differ from those estimates.

- Our reportable segments reflect certain reclassifications of prior year amounts from our United States mechanical construction
and facilities services segment to our United States building services and our United States industrial services segments due to
changes in our internal reporling structure,

During the third quarter of 2014, we ceased construction operations in the United Kingdom. The results of the construction
operations of our United Kingdom segment for all periods are presented as discontinued operations.

Revenue Recognition

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 606”)
on January 1, 2018. In accordance with ASC 606, revenue is recognized when promised goods or services are transferred tc
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. Refer to Note 3 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers of the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional
information,

For the periods presented prior to the adoption of ASC 606, revenues from long-term construction contracts were recognized in
accardance with ASC Topic 605-35, “Revenue Recognition-Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts.” Revenues from
the performance of services for maintenance, repair and retrofit work were recognized consistent with the performance of the
services, geperally on a pro-rata basis over the iife of the contractual arrangement. Revenues related fo the engineering,
manufacturing and repairing of shell and tube heat exchangers were recognized when the product was shipped and all other revenue
recognition criteria were met.

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated financial statements, we consider all highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three
months or less to be cash equivalents. We maintain a centralized cash management system whereby our excess cash balances are
invested in high quality, short-term meney market insgruments, which are considered cash equivalents, We have cash balances in
certain of our domestic bank accounts that exceed federally insured limits.
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EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

Income Twes

We account for income taxes in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740, “Income
Taxes” ("ASC 740™). ASC 740 requires an asset and Hability approach which requires the recognition of deferred income tax assets
and deferred income tax liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred income tax
assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized.

We account for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740. We recognize accruals of interest related
to unrecoghized tax benefits as a component of the income tax provision.

Valuation of Share-Based Compensation Plans

We have various types of share-based compensation plans and programs, which are administered by our Board of Directors ar
its Compensation and Personne] Committee. See Note 14 - Share-Based Compensation Plans of the notes to consolidated financial
statements for additional information regarding the share-based compensation plans 2nd programs.

We account for share-based payments in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718,
“Compensation-Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718"). ASC 718 requires that all share-based payments issued to acquire goods or
services, including grants of employee stock options, be recognized in the statement of operations based on their fair valoes.
Compensation expense related to share-based awards is recognized over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting
period. For shares subject to graded vesting, our policy is to apply the straight-line method in reco ghizing compensation expense.
ASC 718 requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation expense to be recognized in the Consclidated

“Statements of Operations when the underlying awards vest or are settled,

=

“New Accounting Pronouncements

: On January I, 2019, we adopted the accounting pronouncement issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™)
- . toreplace existing lease accounting guidance. This pronouncement is intended to provide enhanced transparency and comparability

by requiring lessees to record right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities on the balance sheet for most leases. Expenses
associated with leases continue to be recognized In a manner similar to previous accounting guidance. We adopted this
pronouncement utilizing the fransition practical expedient added by the FASB, which eliminated the requirement that entities apply

“thenew Jease standard to the comparztive periods presented in the year of adoption. The adeption of this accounting pronouncement
resulted in the recognition of operating lease right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities on our balance sheet of §220.2
million and $227.1 million, respectively, as of January 1, 2019. Additional required disclosures have been included within Note
17 - Leases of the notes to consolidated financial statements. Such adoption did not have an impact on our liquidity, results of
operations or our compliance with the varicus covenants contained within our 2016 Credit Agreement as described in further detail
within Note 10 - Debt of the notes to consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2019, we adopted the accounting pronouncement issued by the FASB related to the reporting of certain items in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCT™). This guidance provides entities the option to reclassify to retained
earnings certain tax effects stranded in AOCI as a result of tax reform. As part of our adoption of this accountin g Pronouncement,
we elected not to reclassify the stranded tax effects related to the retirement plans of our United States subsidiaries as such amounts
are immaterial, Tax effects remaining in AOCT will be released upon liquidation of each individual retirement plan,

In June 2016, an accounting proncuncement was issued by the FASB which changes the way in which entities estimate and
present credit losses for most financial assets, including accounts receivable. This pronouncermient is effective for annual and
interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adeption penmitted. In preparation for adoption, we have substantially
completed a process to identify and group financial assets with similar characteristics into collective pools. We have additionally
begun implementing processes and internal controls to identify information, including macroeconamic forecasts and key credit
indicators, relevant to estimating expected credit losses. As a result of the procedures performed to date, we do not anticipate that
the adoption of this pronouncement will have a material impact on our financial position and/or results of operations.
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amount of variable consideration to be recognized represents the sum of probability weighted amounts in a range of possible
consideration amounts, and {b) the most likely amount method, whereby the amount of variable consideration to be recognized
represents the single most likely amount in 2 range of possible consideration amounts. When applying these methods, the Company
considers all information that is reasonably available, including historical, current, and estimates of future performance. The
expected value method is typically utilized in situations where a contract contains a large number of possible outcomes while the
most likely amount method is typically utilized in situations where a contract has only two possible outcomes.

Variable consideration is included in the transaction price cnly to the extent it is probable, in the Company’s judgment, that a
significant future reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized under the contract will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved, This threshold is referred to as the variable consideration
constraint. In assessing whether to epply the variable consideration constraint, the Company considers if factors exist that could
increase the likelihood or the magnitude of a potential reversal of revenue, including, but not limited to, whether; (a) the amount
of consideration is highly susceptible to factors outside of the Company’s influence, such as the actions of third parties, {b) the
uncertainty surrounding the amount of consideration is not expected to be resolved for a long period of time, {c} the Company's
experjence with similar types of contracts is limited or that experience has limited predictive value, (d) the Company has a practice
of either offering a broad range of price concessions ar changing the payment terms and conditions of similar contracts in similar
circumstances, and (&) the contract has a large number and broad range of possible consideration amounts.

Pending change orders represent one of the most common forms of variable consideration included within contract value and
typically represent contract modifications for which a change in scope has been authorized or acknowledged by our customer, but
“the final adjustment to contract price is vet to be negotiated. In estimating the transaction price for pending change orders, the
Company considers all relevant facts, including documented correspondence with the customer regarding acknowledgment of
:fandfor agreement with the modification, as well as historical experience with the customer or similar contractual circumstances.

F_Base,d upon this assessment, the Company estimates the transaction price, including whether the variable consideration constraint
“should be applied. .

= Contract claims are another form of variable consideration which is common within our industry. Claim amounts represent
revenue that has been recognized for contract modifications that are not submitted or are in dispute as to both scope and price. In
estimating the transaction price for claims, the Company considers all relevant facts available. However, given the uncertainty
swrrounding claims, including the potential long-term nature of dispute resolution and the broad range of possible consideration

-amounts, there is an increased likelihood that any additional confract revenue associated with contract claims is constrained. The

resolution of claims involves negotiations and, in certain cases, litigation. In the event litigation costs are incurred by usinconnection
with claims, such litigation costs are expensed as incuired, although we may seek 1o recaver these costs,

For some transactions, the receipt of consideration does not match the timing of the transfer of zoods or services to the customer.
For such contracts, the Company evaluates whether this timing difference represents a financing arrangement within the contract.
Although rare, if 2 contract is determined to contain a significant financing component, the Company adjusts the promised amount
of consideration for the effects of the time value of money when determining the transaction price of such contract. Although our
customers may retain a portion of the contract price until completion of the project and final contract settlement, these retainage
amounts are not considered a significant financing component as the intent of the withheld amownts is to provide the customer
with assurance that we wilt complete our obligations under the contract rather than to provide fin ancing to the customer. In addjtion,
although we may be entitled to advanced payments from our customers on certain contracts, these advanced payments generally
do not represent a significant financing component as the payments are used to meet working capital demands that can be higher
in the early stages of a contract, as well as to protect us from our custorer failing to meet its obligations under the contract.

Changes in the estimates of transaction prices are recognized on a cumulative catch-up basis in the period in which the revisions
to the estimates are made. Such changes in estimates can result in the recognition of revenue in a current period for performance
obligations which were satisfied or partially satisfied in prior periods. Such changes in estimates may also result in the reversal of
previously recognized revenue if the ultimate outcome differs from the Company’s previous estimate, There were 1o si anificant
amounts of revenue recognized during the year ended December 31, 2019 related to performance obligations satisfied in prior
periods. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized revenue of $7.3 million associated with the final settlement of
contract value for three projects which were completed in prior periods. For the years ended December 3 1, 2019 and 2018, there
were no significant reversals of revenue recognized associated with the revision of transaction prices.



EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TG CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS - (Continued)

of total costs for a performance obligation indicate a loss, a provision for the entire estimated loss on the unsatisfied performance
obligation is made in the period in which the loss becomes evident. During 2019, there were no changes in total estimated costs
that had a significant impact on our operating results, During 2018, we recognized losses of $10.0 million related to a change in
total estimated costs on a transportatlon project within our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment,
resulting in part from contract scope issues. There were no other changes in total estimated costs that resulted in a significant
impact to our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Disaggregation of Revernes

Ourrevenues are principally derived from contracts to provide construction services relating to electrical and mechanical systems,
as well as to provide a number of building services and industrial services to our customers. Our contracts are with many different
customers in numerous industries. Refer to Note 19 - Segiment Information of the notes to the consolidated financial statements
for additional information on how we disaggregate our revenues by reportable segment, as well as a more complete description
of our business.

The following tables provide further disaggregation of our revenues by categories we use to evaluate our financial performance
within each of our reportable segments (in thousands):

% of % of
2019 Total 2018 Total
United States electrical construction and facilities services:
Commercial market sector : $1,081,737 49% § 839,045 43%,
_Institutional market sector 125,537 6% 110,046 6%
Hospitality market sector 16,985 1% 32,338 2%
“Manufacturing market sector 462,955 21% 388,157  20%
Heaithcal e market sector 88,752 494 126,218 6%
- T1 ansportation market sector 210,515 9% 284,464 14%
s Water and wastewater market sector 19,921 1% 23,337 1%
*Short duration projects 158,619 7% 120,109 6%
TService work 54955 2% 34,105 2%
Less intersegment revenues (3.371) (3,496)
Total segment revenues $2,216,600 $1,854.,323
% of % of
2019 Total 2018 Total
United States mechanical construction and facilities services:
Caommercial market sector $1,185,120 36% $1,057,542 35%
Institutional market sector 313,409 9% 289,882 10%
Hospitality market sector 35,385 1% 93,827 3%
Manufacturing market sector 533,699  16% 393,637  13%
Healthcare market sector 304,622 9% 240,818 8%
Transportation market sector 32,686 1% 19413 1%
Water and wastewater market sector 202,428 6% 176,546 6%
Short duration projects ! 365,721 11% 318413 11%
Service work o 378,839 11% 383,671 13%
Less intersegment revenues {(11,581) {12,908)
Total segment revenues $3,340,337 $2,962.843

(1) Represents those projects which generally are completed within three months or [ess.
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As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, contract assets included unbilled revenues for unapproved change orders of approximately
$33.1 million and $25.2 miltlion, respectively. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no claim amounts included within
contract assets or accounts receivable, There were coniractually billed amounts and retention related to contracts with unapproved
change orders and claims of approximately $89.0 million and $96.1 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. For
contracts in claim status, contractually billed amounts will gensrally not be paid by the customer to us until final resclution of the
related clamms.

Contract liabilities from our long-terim construction contracts arise when amounts invoiced to our customers exceed revenues
recognized under the cost-te-cost measure of progress. Confract liabilities additionally include advanced payments from cur
customers on certain contracts. Contractliabilities decrease as werecognize revenue from the satisfaction of the related performance
obligation and are recorded as sither current or long-term, depending upon when we expect to recognize such revenue. The long-
term portion of confract liabilities is included in “Other long-term obligations” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets,

Net contract liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

2019 2018
Contract assets, current : ' $ 177,830 § 158,243
Contract assets, non-current . — —
Contract liabilities, current : (623,642) - (552,290)
Contract liabilities, non-current 7 (2,142) {2,069)
Net contract ligbilities $ (44795 §  {(396,1i5)

. Included within nef contract liabilities were $406.6 million and $35%.2 miilion of net contract liabilities cn uncompleted
~construction projects as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, as follows {in thousands):

2019 2018
_' Costs incurred on uncompieted construction contracts 3 9,885,192 § 8,656,642
Estimated eamings, thereon 1,349,338 1,172,224
- 11,234,530 9,828,846
Less: billings to date 11,641,082 10,188,023

$  (406,552) § (359,157)

The $51.8 million increase in net contract liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was primarily attributable to the
$47.4 million increase in the net contract liabilities on cur uncompleted long-term construction contracts, partially as & resuit of
the timing of billings to our custemers as amounts invoiced exceeded the revenue recognized on certain large projects in the earlier
stages of completion. Contract assets and contract liabilities increased by approximately $8.2 million and $29.0 million, respectively,
as aresult of acquisitions made in 2015. There was ne significant impairment of contract assefs recognized during the period.

Contract Retentions

As of December 31,2019 and 2018, accounts receivable included $298.5 million and $254.6 million, respectively, of retainage
bifledunder terms of our contracts, Theseretainage amounts represent amounts which have been contractually imveiced to customers
where payments have been partially withheld pending the achievement of certain milestones, satisfaction of other contractual
conditions or completion of the project. We estimate that approximately 88% of this retainage will be collected during 2020,

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, accounts payable included $64.7 million and $43.3 million, respectively, of retainage
withheld under terms of cur subconfracts. These retainage amounts represent amounts invoiced to the Company by our
subcontractors where payments have been partially withheld pending the achievement of certain milestones, satisfaction of other
contractual conditions or upon completion of the project. We estimate that approximately 86% ofthis retainage will be paid during
2024.
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NOTE 4 - ACQUISITIONS OF BUSINESSES

Acquisitions are accounted for utilizing the acquisition method of accounting and the prices paid for them are allocated to their
respective assets and liabilities based upon the estimated fajr value of such assets and Iiabilities at the dates of their respective
acquisition by us.

On November 1, 2019, we completed the acquisition of Batchelor & Kimball, Inc. (“BKI"), a leading full service provider of
mechanical construction &nd maintenance services. This acquisition strengthens our position and broadens our capabilities in the
Southermn and Southeastern regions of the United States, and its results of operations have been inchuded within our United States
mechanical construction and facilities services segment. Under the terms of the transaction, we acquired 100% of BKI's outstanding
capital stock for total consideration of approximately $220.0 million. In connection with the acquisition of BKI, we acquired
working capital of $29.8 miilicn and other net assets of $4.9 million and have preliminarily ascribed $43.6 million to goodwill
and $141.7 million to identifiable intangible assets. Goodwili is calculated as the excess of the consideration transferred over the
fair value of the net assets acquired and represents the future economic benefits expected from this strategic acquisition. The
weighted average amortization period for the identifiable intangible assets, which consist of a trade name, customer relationships,
and contract backlog, is approximately 10,5 vears,

In addition to BKIT, during 2018, we completed six other acquisitions for total consideration of $85.3 million. Such companies
include: (a) a company which provides electrical confracting services in central Towa, the results of operations of which have been
included within our United States electrical construction and facilities services segment, (b) a company which provides mechanical
contracting services in south-central and eastern Texas, the results of operations of which have been included within our United
States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, and (c) four companies within our United States building services
segment which bolster our presence in geographies where we have existing operations and provide either mobile mechanical
services or building automation and controls solutions. In connection with these acquisitions, we acquired working capital of $25.3

_nillion and othernet assets of $1.3 million and have preliminarily ascribed $29.1 million to goodwill and $2%.6 million to identifiable
intangible assets.

*" During 2018, we acquired four companies for total consideration of $71.6 million. Two companies provide mobile mechanical

“services, one within the Eastern region and the other within the Western region of the United States. The third company s a full

“Service provider of mechanical services within the Southern region of the United States. The results of these three companies have

“been included in our United States building services segment. The fourth company provides electrical construction and maintenance
services for industrial and commercial buildings in north Texas, and its results bave been included in cur United States electrical
construction and facilities services segment. In connection with these acquisitions, we acquired working capital of $8.7 million
and have ascribed $26.3 miliion to goodwill and $36.6 million to identifiable intangible assets.

During 2017, we acquired three companies for totzl consideration of $111.9 million. One company provides fire protaction and
alarm services primarily in the Southern region of the United States. The second company provides millwright services for
manufacturing companies throughout the United States. Both of their results have been included in our United States mechanical
construction and facilities services segment. The third company provides mobile mechanical services within the Western region
of the United States, and its results kave been included in our United States building services segment, In connection with these
acquisitions, we acquired working capital of $12.3 million and other net assets of $2.3 million and have ascribed $40.7 million to
goodwill and $56.6 million to identifiable intangible assets,

We expect that all of the goodwill acquired in connection with these acquisitions will be deductible for tax purposes. The purchase
price allocations for the businesses acquired in 2019 are preliminary and subject to change during their respective measurement
periods. The purchase price allocations for the businesses acquired in 2018 and 2017 have been finalized during their respective
measurement periods with an insignificant impact.
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NOTE 7 - INVENTORIES

Inventories as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 consist of the following amounts (in thousands):

2019 2018
Raw materials and construction materials % 0 31365 % 30,006
Work in process ' 7 9,081 ' 12,315
Inventories _ ' ' $ 40446 § 42321

NOTE 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following amounts as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018 {in thousands);

2019 2618
Machinery and equipment : ' - ' - 3 166,087 % - 151,339
Vehicles ' ‘ 59,116 58,205
Furniture and fixtures . 22,13 20,635
Computer hardware/software 104,916 98,415
Land, buildings and leaschold improvements ' 113,020 97,937
- Construction in progress : ' ' 10,236 14,443
. Finance Jease right-of-use assets & 9,609 —
S ' 485,107 440,994
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (328,920} (306,643)

$ 156,187 § 134,351

(1) Finance Jease right-of-use assets are recorded net of accumulated amortization. Prior to the adoption of ASC 842 on Tanuary 1, 2019, assets
: under capital leases were recorded as machinery and equipment or computer hardware/software.

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property, plant and equipment, including finance leases, was $43.9 million,
$38.5 million, and $39.9 millicn for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

NOTE 9 - GOODWILL AND IDENTIFTABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill at December 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately $1,063.9 million and $990.9 million, respectively, and reflects
the excess of the consideration transferrad in a business combination over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill
attributable to companies acquired in 2019 and 2018 has been valued at $72.7 million and $26.3 million, respectively. Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 805, “Business Combinations” (*ASC 805™) requires that all business combinations be accounted
for using the acquisition method and that certain identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination be recegnized
as assets apart from goodwill. Accounting Standards Codification Topic 350, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other” (*ASC 350™)
requires goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, such as trade names, not be amortized, but
instead be tested atleast annually for impairment (which we test each October 1, absent any earlier identified impairment indicators),
and be written down if impaired. ASC 350 requires that goodwill be allocated to its respective reporting unit and that identifiable
intangible assets with finite lives be amortized over their useful lives. As of December 31, 2019, approximately 13.4% of our
goodwill related to our United States elecirical construction and facilities services segment, approximately 28.1% of our goodwill
related to our United States mechanical construction and facilities services segment, approximately 27.2% of our goodwill related

to our United States building services segment and approximately 31.3% of our goodwill related to our United States industrial
services segment.

We test for impairment of our goodwill at the reporting unit level. Our reporting units are consistent with the reportable segments
identified in Note 19, “Segment Information,” of the notes to consolidated financial statements. In assessing whether our goodwill
is impaired, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill, If the fair value exceeds
the carrying amount, no impairment loss is recognized. However, if the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the fair
value, the goodwill of the reporting unit is impaired and an impairment loss in the amount of the excess is recognized and charged
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
were as follows (in thousands):

United States United States
electrical mechanical
construction construction United Seates United States
and facilities and facilities building industrial
services segment  services segment  services segment  services segment Total
Balance at December 31, 2617 $ 125,707 § 256,265 % 255,733 % 327,188 § £64,893
Acquisitions, sales and purchase price
adjustments 7.500 56 18,438 — 25,994
Balance at December 3 1,2018 133,207 256,321 - 274,071 327,188 090,887
Acquisitions, sales and purchase price
adjustments 9,338 48,699 14,987 — 73,024
Intersegment transfers ) e (5,800) — . 5,800 —
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 142,545 % 299220 § 289,158 § 332,988 § 1,063,911

The aggregate goodwill balance as of December 31, 2017 included $268.1 million of accumulated impairment charges, which
were comprised of $139.5 million within the United States building services segment and $128.6 million within the United States
indusirial services segment.

Identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 consist of the following (in thousands):

'

December 31, 2019

- Gross Accumulated
i Carrying Accumulated Impairment
- Amount Amortization Charge Total
¢ Contract hacklog $ 66,45 § (61,651 § — 3 5,004
% Developed technology/Vendor network, 95,661 (60,156) — 35,505
Customer relationships 644,755 (277,601) (4,834) 362,320
Trade names (amortized) 31,148 (21,830) — 9.318
Trade names (unamortized) ’ 251,440 — (52.233) 169,207
Tatal 3 1,089,749 § (421,238) § (57,067 § 611,444
December 31,2018
ross Accumulated
Carrying Accumulated Impairment
Amount Amortization Charge Total
Contract backlog _ $ 58945 % (56,812) § — 3 2,133
Developed technology/Vendor network 95,661 (55,318) — 40,343
Customer relationships 522,855 (240,073} (4,834) 277,948
Trade names (amortized) 31,148 (20,893) — 10,255
rade names (unamortized) - 209,840 — (52233 157,607
Total 3 918449 § (373,096) § (57,067) § 488,286

Identifiable intangihble assets attributable to businesses acquired in 2019 and 2018 have been valued at $171.3 million and $36.5
million, respectively, and consist of contract backlog, customer relationships, and trade names. See Note 4 - Acquisitions of
Businesses of the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional information with respect to acquisitions,

Identifiable intangible amounts are aniortized on a straight-line basis, as it best approximates the pattern in which the economiic
benefits of the identifiable intangible assets are consumed. The weighted average amortization periods for the unamortized balances
remaining are, in the aggregate, approximately 8.5 years, which are comprised of the following: 0.75 years for contract backlog,
7.5 years for developed technology/vendor network, 8.75 years for customer relationships and 10.73 years for trade names.
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Long-term debt in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following amounts as of December 31,2019
and 2018 (in thousands):

2019 2618
Revolving credit facility _ ' 3 50,000 S 25,000
Term loan, interest payable at varying amounts through 2021 254,431 269,620
Unamortized debt issuance costs ' _ ‘ {1,879 -(3',065)
Finance lease liabilities 9,679 4,213
Other . - . ' s — 9
Total debt ' ' 312,231 295,777
Less: current maturities : 18,092 . 16,013
Total long-term debt § 294139 § 275,764

Finance Lease Liabilities
See Note 17 - Leases of the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional information.
NOTE 11 - FATR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We use a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valnation techniques used to measure fair value, The hierarchy, which
gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets, {s comprised of the following three levels:

“" Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

i Level 2 - Observable inputs, ather than Level 1 inputs. Level 2 inputs would typically include quoted prices in markets that are
L not active or financial instruments for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.

- Level 3 —Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the measurement and unobservable.

The following tables provide the assets and ligbilities carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis as of December 31,
2019 and 2018 (in thousands):

Assets at Fair Value as of December 31, 2019

Asset Category Tevel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents & $ 358818 $§ — $ — § 358818
Restricted cash @ 1,102 — — 1,102
Deferred compensation plan assets 30,293 — - 30,295
Total $ 390215 & — § — § 390215

Assets at Fair Value as of December 31, 2018

Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents @ $ 363907 § — § — § 363,907
Restricted cash @ 2,307 — — 2,307
Deferred compensation plan assets © 23,124 e - 23,124
Total $ 389338 § — § — § 389338

(1} Cash and cash equivalents consist of deposit accounts and money market funds with original maturity dates of three months or less, which
are Level 1 assets. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had $164.0 miilion and $161.3 million, respectively, in money market funds.

{2) Restricted cash is classified as “Prepaid expenses and other” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Restricted cash primarily represents cash
keld in account for use on customer contracts.

(3) Deferred compensation plan assets are classified as “Other assets™ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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compared to 2017 was due to the net impact of the Tax Act, including the reduction of the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from

35% 10 21% in 2018, partially offset by the reduction in income tax expense associated with the re-measurement of our net deferred
tax liability balance in 2017.

Items accounting for the differences between income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate and the income tax provision
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were as follows (in thousands):

2019 2018 2017
Federal income taxes at the sté—tutory rate - : : $ - 94,687 % 82,946 §  111.362
State and local i income taxes, net of federal tay benefits 24,904 21,827 15,736
Sta.te tax reserves _ ' 7 — (7 (2,543)
Permanent differences 7,149 6,584 4916
Domestic 111aﬁ1ifach1rh1g deduction — — (10,387)
Excess tax beneﬁt from share-based compensaﬂon (733) (1,227) (1,341)
Goodwill nnpanment ‘ — —_ 17,055
Foreign income taxes (including UK statutory rate changes) (170) 70 (2,586)
Impact of federal rate change on net deferred tax labilities — — {39,343}
Federal tex reserves = (67) (1,247
Other (88) {1,020) (1,123)
A - $ 125749 § 109,106 § 90,699

-

. Our income tax pravision for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 included $0.1 million and $0.6 miltion, respectively,
fo1 the minimum tax on global intangible low-taxed income for certain earnings of our foreign subsidiaries, as required under the
“Faxt Act. The Company has elected fo recognize such tax as an expense in the peried incured.

~ As of December 31, 2019, we had undistributed foreign earnings from certain foreign subsidiaries of approximately $69.8
million. Based on our evaluation, and gjven that a significant portion of such earnings were subject to tax in prior periods or are
indefinitely reinvested, we have concluded that any taxes associated with the repatriation of such foreign earnings would be
immaterial. As of December 31, 2019, the amount of cash held by these foreign subsidiaries was approximately $67.7 million
which, if repatriated, should not result in any federal or state income taxes.

Tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions are recognized only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position would
be sustained on its technical merits. For positions not meeting the “more likely than not™ test, no tax benefit is recognized. As of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had no unrecognized income tax benefits,

We file a consolidated federal income tax return including all of our U.S. subsidiaries with the Internal Revenue Service, We

additionally file income tax returns with various state, local, and foreign tax agencies. The Company is currently under examination
by various taxing authorities for the years 2014 through 2018.
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NOTE 13 - COMMON STOCK
Asof December 31,2015 and 2018, there were 56,219,831 and 55,983,763 shares of our common stock outstanding, respectively.
We have paid quarterly dividends since October 25, 2011, We currently pay a regular quarterly dividend of $0.08 per share.

On September 26, 201 1, our Board of Directors (the “Board™) authorized us to repurchase up to $100.0 million of our outstanding
common stock. Subsequently, the Board has from time to time increased the amount of our common stock that we may repurchase.
Since the inception of the repurchase program, the Board has authorized us to repurchase up to $950.0 million of cur outstanding
common stock. No shares of our common stock were repurchased during the year ended December 31, 2019, Since the inception
of the repurchase program through December 31, 2019, we have repurchased approximately 15.9 million shares of our common
stock for approximately $791.5 miliion. As of December 31, 2019, there remained authorization for us to repurchase approximately
$158.5 million of our shares. The repurchase program has no expiration date and does not obligate the Company to acquirs any
particular amoimt of common stock and may be suspended, recommenced or discontinued at any time or from time to time without
priornotice. We may repurchase our shares from time to time to the extent permitted by securities faws and other legal requirements,

including provisions in our 2016 Credit Agreement placing limitations on such repurchases. The repurchase program has been and
will be funded from our operations.

NOTE 14 - SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

We have an incentive plan under which stock options, steck awards, stock units and other share-based compensation may be
granted to officers, non-employee directors and key employees of the Company. Under the terms of this plan, 3,250,000 shares
were authorized, and 1,160,086 shares are available for grant or issuance as of December 31, 2019. Any issuances under this plan
are valued at the fair market value of the commen stock on the grant date. The vesting and expiration of any stock option grants
and the vesting schedule of any stock awards or stock units are determined by the Compensation and Personnel Committee of our
Bjoard of Directors at the time of the grant. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur.

: The following table summarizes activity regarding our stock options and awards of shares and stock units since December 31,
2016

Stock Options Restricted Stock Units
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Shares Price Shares Price

Balancé, December 31, 2016 143,000 $ 23.06 Balance, December 31, 2016 492288 & 4493
"Granted — —  Granted ' 198,179 §  68.33
“Expired — —  Forfeited (1,200) $ 60.68
Exercised (50,000) $ 2042 Vested ' (180,395) S 44.57
Balance, December 31, 2017 93,000 § 2448 Balance, December 31,2017 508,872 § 54.13
Granted — —  Granted 135259 § 80.37
Expired — — Forfeited (1250) § 71.27
Exercised (53,000} $ 2448  Vested (166,295) § 48.44
Balance, December 31, 2018 40,000 $ 2448 Balance, December 31, 2018 476,586 % 63.52
Granted ' — —  Granted 169,766 § 64.34
Expired — — Forfeited (2,545} § 71.88
Exercised (20,000) $ 2448 Vested (226229) § 51.64
Balance, December 31, 2019 20,000 3 2448 Balance, December 31, 2019 417,578 % 70.24

We recognized approximately $11.4 million, $11.0 million, and $9.9 million of compensation expense for stock units awarded
to non-employee directors and employees pursuant fo incentive plans for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively. We have approximately $8.7 million of compensation expense, net of income taxes, which will be recagnized over
the remaining vesting periods of up to approximately 3 years. In addition, an aggregate of 72,310 restricted stock units granted
to non-employee directors vested as of December 31, 2019, but issuance has been deferred up to 5 vears.

All outstanding stock options were fully vested; therefore, no compensation expense was recognized with respect to stock options
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017,
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NOTE 15 - RETIREMENT PLANS - {Continved)

The change in benefit obligations and assets of the UK Plan for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 consisted of the
following components (in thousands):

2019 2018
Change in pension benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ' $ 281,776 § 332,518
Interestcost . - , - 7,961 © 8,085
Actnarial loss (gain) , 32,866 (27,755)
Benefits paid : _ (12,059) (14,318)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes ' 12,222 (16,854)
Benefit obligation at end of year . - 322,766 281,776
Change in pension plan assets '
Fair vatue of plan assets at beginning of year . ' . 254,194 295,968
Actual return on plan assets o 38,608 (6,489)
Employer coﬁﬁ’ibuﬁons - o 4,428 4,742
Benefits paid ' (12,059) (14,318)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 11,630 (15,709)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 307,001 264,194
Funded status at end of year $ (15765 $  (17.582)

" Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension cost and included in accumulated other comprehensive loss were as follows
{(in thousands):

. 2019 2018
" Unrecognized Josses 7 $ 94,211 § 86,768

" The underfunded status of the UK Plan of $15.8 millien and $17.6 million at December 33, 2019 and 2018, respectively, is
included in “Other long-term cbligations” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, No plan assets are expected to be

retumned to us during the year ending December 31, 2020,

The weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

2019 2018
Discount rate 2.1% 2.9%

The weighted average assumptions used te determine net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2019,2018,
and 2017 were as follows;

2019 2018 2017
Discount rate 2.9% 2.5% 2.71%
Annual rate of return on plan assets 4.9% 5.0% 3.3%

The annual rate of return on plan assets has been determined by modeling possible returns using the actuary’s portfolio return
caleulator and the fair value of plan assets. This models the long term expected returns of the various asset classes held in the
portfolio and takes into account the additional benefits of holding a diversified portfolio. For measurement purposes of the liahility,
the annual rates of inflation of covered pension benefits assamed for 2019 and 2018 were 2.0% and 2.1%, respectively,
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Investments valued using net asset value (“NAV™} as a practical expedient are excluded from the fair value hierarchy. These
investments include: (a) funds which invest predominantly in senior secured debt instruments, targeting diversity across regions
and sectors, as well as funds which invest in diversified credit vehicles that seek higher returns than traditional fixed income,
primarily through investments in U.S. corporate debt, global credit, and structured debt, and (b) funds which aim to provide long-
term income through investment in UK property assets. These investments are redeemable at NAV on a monthly or quarterly basis

and have redemption notice periods of up te 90 days. In addition, certain of these investments are subject to a Jockup period of up
to 24 months.

The methods described above may produce fair values that may aot be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future
fair values, Furthermore, while the Company believes the valuation methodologies are appropriate and consistent with other market
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine fair value of certain financial instruments could result

in a different fair value measurement at the reperting date.

. The following tables set forth the fair value of assets of the UK Plan as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):

Assets af Fair Value as of December 31, 2019

Asset Catesory Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Corporate debt funds $ — § 64314 % — 8§ 64314
Government bond funds — 49,164 — 49,164
Equity fimds — 32,356 — 32,356
Cash ' 32,240 — — 32,240
‘Total plan assets in fair value hierarchy $ 32240 § 145,834 % — 178,074

‘?'Plan assets measured using NAV as a practical expedient;

Debt funds 103,188

~Real estate funds 25,739
Total plan assets at fair value $ 307,001

Assets at Fair Value as of December 31, 2018

Asset Categary Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Corporate delbt funds 5 — 5 37703 8 — § 37,703
Government bond funds — 52,445 —_ 52,445
Equity funds — 35,425 — 35,425
Cash 16,097 — — 16,097
Total plan assets in fair value hierarchy b 16097 & 125573 S — 141,670
Plan assets measured using NAV as a practical expedient;

Debt funds 98,077
Real estate funds 24,447
Total plan assets at fair value : : $ 264,194

(1} Certain investments measurad using NAV as a practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts
presented in the table are intended Lo permii reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the total fair value of plan assets.
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An FIP or RP requires a particular MEPP to adopt measurss to correct its underfunding statns. These measures may include, but
are not limited to: {a) an increase in our contribution rate as a signatory to the applicahle CBA, (b) areallocation of the contributions
already being made by participating employers for various benefits to individuals participating in the MEPP, and/or (¢) a reduction
in the benefits to be paid to future and/or current retirees. In additicn, the PPA requires that a 5% surcharge be levied on employer
contributions for the first year comumencing after the date the employer receives notice that the MEPP is in critical status and a
10% surcharge on each succeeding year unti] a CBA is in place with terms and conditions consistent with the RP.

We could also be obligated to make payments toc MEPPs if we either cease to have an obligation to contribute to the MEPP or
significantly reduce our contributions to the MEPP because we reduce our number of employees who are covered by the relevant
MEPP for various reasons, including, but not limited to, layoffs or closure of a subsidiary assuming the MEPP has unfunded vested
benefits. The amount of such payments (known as a complete or partial withdrawal liability} would equal our proportionate share
of the MEPPs’ unfunded vested benefits, We believe that certain of the MEPPs in which we participate may have unfunded vested
benefits. Due to uncertainty regarding future factors that could trigger withdrawal liability, as well as the absence of specific
information regarding the MEPP’s current financial situation, we are unable to determine (a) the amount and timing of a future
withdrawal liability, if any, and (b) whether our participation in these MEPPs could have a material adverse impact on our financial

position, resuits of operations or lignidity, We did not record any withdrawal Hability for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018, and 2017.

The following table lists all domestic MEPPs to which our contributions exceeded $2.0 million in 2019, Additionally, this table
also lists all domestic MEPPs to which we contributed in 2019 in excess of $0.5 million for MEPPs in the critical status, “red
zone,” and $1.0 million for MEPPs in the endangered status, “orange or vellow zones,™ as defined by the PPA (in thousands):

a P Expiration
PPA Zone Status Contributions Contributions date or range
EIN/ oreater than 5% of expiration
Pension Plan FIP/RP of total plan dates of
Pension Fund Number 2019 2018 Status 2019 2018 2017 comtributions CBA(S)
Janmary
202010
November
< Naticnal Flectrical Benefit Fund 53-0181657 001 Green Green NA § 16901 § 10,700 § 11,572 No 2022
’ Matonal Autoinatic Sprinkler June 2020 1o
- Industry Pension Fund 52-6054620 001 Red Red Tmnplemented 15,034 14,888 14,228 No June 2022
| .- February
Plumbers & Pipefitlers National 2020 to
Pension Fund . 52-6152779 (01 Yellow Yellow Implementad 13,821 11,868 12,550 No August 2026
. April
Sheet Metal Workers National 2020 to
Pension Fund 52-6112463 001 Yellow Yellow Implemented 11,713 10,855 12,895 No June 2024
Pension, Hospitalization &
Benefit Plan of the Electrical April 2020 to
Industry-Pension Trust Accoumt 13-6123601 001 Green Green NA 10,075 10,469 9,489 Ho April 2022
) Tanuary
Eleetrical Worliers Local Mo 26 2020 1o
Pension Trust Fund 52-611751% 001 Green Green NA 8,434 5,485 4,441 Yes Tuly 2021
Pluinhers Pipefitters &
Mechanical Equippnent Service
Local Unicn 392 Pension Plan 31-0655223 001 Red Red Implemented 0,412 6,047 6,084 Yes June 2022
May 2020 ¢
Southern Califomnia IBEW-NECA Noécmbﬂ °
Pension Trust Fund 95-6392774 001 Yellow Yellow Tmplemented 6,277 5,754 3,669 No 2022
February
2020 to
Central Pension Fund of the December
TUOE & Participating Employers 36-6052390 {40 Green Green NA 6,253 6,284 6,070 No 2023
Sheet Metal Workers Pension Plan June 2020 {0
of Northern Califorma 51-611553% 001 Red Red Implemented 6,233 5,488 6,023 No June 2026
Arizona Pipe Trades Pension .
Trust Fund 86-6025734 001 Green Green NA . 6,071 2,640 1,662 Yes June 2020
December
Edison Pension Plan 93-6061681 001 Green Green NA 5,361 3,140 1,628 Yes 2020
- - September
Pipefitters Union Local 537 220
Pension Fund 51-6030859 {01 Green Green NA 4,754 6,438 4057 Yes August 2021
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The nature and diversity of our operations may result in volatility in the amount of our contributions to a particular MEPP for
any given period. That is because, in any given market, a change in the mix, volume of, or size of our projects could result in a
change in our direct labor force and a correspending change in our contributions to the MEPP(s) dictated by the applicable CBA.
Additionally, the amount of contributions to a particular MEPP could also be affected by the terms of the CBA, which could reguire
at a particular time, an increase in the contribution rate and/or surchar ges. Our contributions to various MEPPs increased by
approximately $4.8 million as a result of acquisitions made by us since 2017.

We also participated in an MEPP that is Jocated within the United Kingdom for which we have contributed less than $0.1 miilion-
for each of the years ended December 31,2019, 2018, and 2017, The information that we have obtained relating to this plan is not
as readily available and/or as comparable as the information that has been ascertained in the United States. Based upon the mast
recently available information, the plan is 100% funded. This plan closed to future contributions and participants during 2019,

Additionally, we confribute to certain multiemployer plans that provide post retirement benefits such as health and welfare
benefits and/or defined contribution/annuity plans, among others. Our contributions to these plans were approximately $153.5
million, $135.9 millien, and $13C.9 million for the years ended December 31,2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. Our contributions
to other post retirement beneflt plans increased by approximately $11.0 million &s a result of acquisitions made by us since 2017.
The amount of contributions to these plans is also subject for the most part to the factors discussed above in conjunction with the
MEPPs.

Defined Conrribution Plans

We have defined contribution retirement and savings plans that cover eligible employees in the United States. Contributions to
these plans are based on a percentage of the employee’s base compensation. The expenses recognized for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 for these plans were approximately $32.4 million, $29.8 million, and $28.1 million,
respectively. At our discretion and subject to applicablz plan documents, we may make additional supplemental matching
_contributjons to one of our defined contribution retirement and savings plans. The expenses recognized related to additional
““supplemental matching contributions for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were approximately $6.8 million,
756.1 million, and §5.5 miliion, respectively,

" Our United Kingdom subsidiary also has defined contribution retirement plans. The expense recognized for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 was approximately $6.1 million, $4.9 million, and $3.9 million, respectively.

NOTE 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Contractual Guarantees

We have agreements with our executive officers and certain other key management personnel providing for severance benefits
for such employees upon termination of their employment under certain circumstances.

In the ordinary course of business, we, at times, guarantee obligations of our subsjdiaries under certain contracts. Generally, we
are liable under such an arrangement only if our subsidiary fails to perform its obligations under the contract. Historically, we have
not incurred any substantial liabilities as a consequence of these guarantees.

The terms of our construction contracts frequently require that we obtain from surety companies (“Surety Companies™) and
provide to our customers payment and performance bonds (*Surety Bonds™) as a condition to the award of such contracts. Surety
Bonds are issued in return for premiums, which vary depending on the size and type of the bond, and secure our payment and
performance obligations under such contracts, We have agreed to indemnify the Surety Companies for amounts, if any, paid by
them in respect of Surety Bonds issued on our behalf. Public sector contracts require Surety Bonds more frequently than private
sector contracts and, accordingly, cur bonding requirements typically increase as the amount of our public sector work increases.
[n addition, at the request of labor unions representing certain of our employees, Surety Bonds are sometimes provided to secure
obligations for wages and benefits payable to or for such emplovees. As of December 31, 2019, based on the percentage-of-
completion of our projects covered by Surety Bonds, our aggregate estimated exposure, assuming defaults on all our then existing
cenfractual obligations, was approximately $1.2 bﬂhon We are not aware of any losses in connection with Surety Bonds, which
have been posted on our behalf, and we do not expect to incur significant losses in the foreseeable future,

We are subject to regulation with respect to the handling of certain materials used in construction, which are classified as
hazardous or toxic by federal, state, and local agencies. Our practice is to avoid participation in projects principally invelving the
remediation or removal of such materials. However, when remediation is required as part of our contract performance, we believe

76



EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 17 - LEASES (Continued)

As part of our adoption, we elected to utilize the package of practical expedients permitted under the new standard, which allowed
us to not reassess: (a) whether an existing contract is or contains a lease, (b) the classification for existing leases, and (¢) initial
direct costs. Further, as permitted by the standard, we made an accounting policy election not to record right-of-use assets or lease
liabilities for leases with an initial term of 12 months or less. Instead, consistent with previous accounting guidance, we will
recognize payments for such leases in the statement of onerations on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

We lease real estate, vehicles and equipment under various arrangements which are classified as éither operating or finance
leases. A lease exists when a contract or part of a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. In determining whether a lease exists, we consider whether a contract provides us with both:

(a) the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the identified asset and (b) the right to direct the
use of the identified asset.

Many of our leases include base rental periods coupled with options to renew or terminate the lease, generally at our discretion.
Certain jeases additionally include options to purchase the leased asset. In evaluating the lease term, we consider whether we are
reasonably certain to exercise such options. To the extent a significant economic incentive exists to exercise an option, that option
is included within the lease term. However, based on the nature of our lease arrangements, options generalty do not provide us
with a significant economic incentive and are therefore excluded from the Jease term for the majority of our arrangements.

Our leases typically include a combination of fixed and variabie payments. Fixed payments are generally included when
measuring the right-of-use asset and lease liability. Variable payments, which primarily represent payments based cn usage of the
underlying asset, are generally excluded from such measurement and expensed as incurred. In addition, certain of cur lease
arrangements may contain a lease coupled with an arrangement fo provide other services, such as maintenance, ¢r may require ns
to make other payments cn behalf of the lessor related to the leased asset, such as payments for taxes or insurance. As permitted
by ASC 842, we have elected to account for these non-lease components together with the associated lease component. This election
has been made for each of our asset classes,

'+ The measurement of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities requires us to estimate appropriate discount rates. To the extent the
“Tate Implicit in the lease is readily determinable, such rate is utilized. However, based on information available at Jease
“commencement for the majority of our leases, the rate implicit in the lease is not known. In these instances, we utilize an incremental
‘borrowing rate, which represents the rate of interest that we would pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term.

Our lease arrangements generally do not contain significant restrictions or covenants, however, certain of our vehicle and
equipment leases include residual value guarantees, whereby we provide a guarantee to the lessor that the value of the underlying
asset will be at least a specified amount at the end of the Iease. Amounts probable of being owed under these guarantees are included
within the measurement of the right-of-use asset and lease lability.

Lease Position as of December 31, 2019

The following table presents the lease-related assets and lizhilities reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31,
2019 (in thousands):

December 31,
Classification on the Consolidated Balance Sheet 2019
Assets
Operating lease assets Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 245471
Finance lease assets Property, plant and equipment, net 9,609
Total lease assets | $ 255,080
Liabilities
Current
Operating Operating tease labilities, current & 53,144
Finance Cwrent maturities of long-term debt and finance lease liabilities 4,088
Noncwrent )
Operating Operating lease liabilities, long-term 204,950
Finance Long-terin debt and finance lease liabilities 5,591
Total lease liabilities $ 267773
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Marurity of Lease Liabilities

The following table reconciles firture minimum lease payments on an undiscounted cash flow basis to the lease liabilities reported
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Operating Fipance
Leases Leases
2020 : ' $ 62457 § 4,391
2021 50,505 3,039
2022 o 42,155 1,807
2023 ' 35,223 743
2024 : , 26,049 138
Thereafter 80,661 129
Total minimum lease payments i 297,050 10,247
Less: Amount of lease payments representing interest (58,956) (568)
Present value of future minimum lease payments 5 25809 § 9,679
Cuirent portion of lease liabilities b3 53,144 § 4,083
Noncurrent portion of lease liabilities : 204,950 5,551
Present value of future minimum lease payments $ 258004 % 9,679

S NOTE 18 - ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

. The following presents information about cash paid for interest and income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018,
“and 2017 (in thousands):

. 2019 2018 2017
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 12683 % 12435 § 11,456
Income taxes $ 126,169 § 123,651 § 130,225

NOTE 19 - SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our repartable segments reflect certain reclassifications of prior vear amounts from our United States mechanical construction

and facilities services segment te our United States building services and our United States industrial services segments due to
changes in owr internal reporting structure,

We have the following reportable segments: (a} United States electrical construction and facilities services {involving systems
for electrical power transmission and distribution; premises electrical and lighting systems; process instrumentation in the refining,
chemical processing, food processing and mining industries; low-voltage systems, such as fire alarm, security and process control:
voice and data commiunication; roadway and fransit lighting; and fiber optic lines); (b) United States mechanical construction and
facilities services (fnvolving systems for heating, ventilaticn, air conditioning, refrigeration and clean-room process ventilation:
fire protection; plumbing, process and high-purity piping; controls and filiration; water and wastewater treatment and central plant
heating and cooling; cranes and rigging; miltwrighting; and steel fabrication, erection and welding); (c) United States building
services; (d) United States industrial services; and (2) United Kingdom building services. The “United States building services®
and “United Kingdom building services” segments principally consist of those operations which provide a pertfolio of services
needed to support the operation and maintenance of customers® facilities, including commereial and government site-based
operations and maintenance; facility maintenance and services, including reception, security and catering services; outage services
to utilitics and industrial plants; military base cperations support services; mobile mechanical maintenance and services; floor care
and janitorial services; landscaping, lot sweeping and snow removal; facilities management; vendor management; call center
services; installation and support for building systems; program development, management and maintenance for energy systems;
technical consulting and diagnostic services; infrastructure and building projects for federal, state and local governmental agencies
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Operating income (loss):

United States electrical construction and facilities services

United States mechanical construction and facilities services

United States building services
United States industrial services
Total Unifed States operations
United Kingdom building services

-‘Corpor.a{e administration

Restructuring expenses
Impairment loss on goodwill and identifiable intangible assets
Total worldwide operations

Other corporate items:

Net periodic pension (cost) income
Interest expense
Interest income

Income from continuing operations before income taxes

- Capital expenditures:

United States electrical construction and facilities services
United States mechanical construction and facilities services
United States building services

United States industrial services

Total United States operations

United Kingdom building services

Corporate administration

Total worldwide operations

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment;

United States electrical construction and facilities services
United States mechanical construction and facilities services
United States building services

United States industrial services

Total United States operations

United Kingdom building services

Corporate administration

Total worldwide operations
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2019 2018 2017
161,684 $ 139,430 150,001
225040 219,853 192,167
114,754 93,827 81,720
44340 27,671 39,313
545,818 480,781 463201
18,323 115,930 12,905
C(10L,726)  (90415)  (87,808)
(1,523) (2,306) (1,577)
— (907) - {57,819
460,892 403 083 328,902
1,553 2,743 1,652
(13,821)  (13,544)  (12,770)
2,265 2,746 965
450,889 $ 395,028 318,749
5876 § 5,993 4,797
7,890 7,504 6,665
14,291 10,414 10,745
15,802 18,386 9,696
43,859 42,297 31,903
3,598 370 2,166
975 312 615
48432 '$ 43,479 34,684
7,550 § 6,221 6,545
8,764 7,803 7.504
12,728 10,324 11,051
11,154 9,943 10,589
40,196 34291 35,689
2,942 3,447 3,371
807 734 855
13945 § 38472 39,915
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NOTE 20 - SELECTED UNAUDITED QUARTERLY INFORMATION

(In thousands, except per share data)

Quarterly and year-to-date computations of per share amounts are made independently; therefore, the sum of per share amounts

for the quarters may not equal per share amounts for the year, The results of the construction operations of cur United Kingdom
segment for all periods are presented as discontinued operations.

2019 Quarterly Results

Revemes

Gross profit

Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc,
Basic EPS from continuing operations

Basic EPS from discontinued operation

Diluted EPS from continuing operations
Diluted EPS from discontinued operation

2018 Quarterty Results
.Revenues
=Gross profit

< Jmpairment loss on identifiable intangible assets .

. Net income attributable to EMCOR Group, Inc.
Basic EPS from continuing operations
Basic EPS from discontinued operation

Diluted EPS from continuing operations
Dihuted EPS from discontinued operation

NOTE 21 - SURBSEQUENT EVENTS

March 31 June 30 - Sept. 38 Dec, 31
§2,158,728 $2,324,202 $2287,741 §$ 2,403,540
$ 308754 § 346,380 § 335987 § 364,747
$ 72410 § 83972 $ 81,834 § 86924
$ 129 § 149 % 146 % o154
by 126 § 149 § l46 § 1.54
$ 1.28 % 149 § 145 % 1.54
3 128 § 149 § 145 § 1.54

‘Mareh 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
§ 1,000.388 $ 1,953,886 § 2.047.040 § 2,229,308
$ 269,119 § 290,844 § 309330 $ 336,151
$ — % 907 8 $ —
3 55374 % 70,816 § 79373 % 77.968
$ 095 § 122 % 137 § 1.39

(0.00) (0.00) ©.01) (0.02)
$ 095 § 122 % 136 % 1.37
$ 094 % 1.21 § 136 % 1.38
(0.00) (0.00) (0.01) (0.02)
$ 094 % 121 % 135 § 1.36

In January 2020, we acquired a company for an immaterial amount. This company provides mobile mechanical services within
the Northeastern region of the United States, and its results will be included in our United States building services segment. The
acquisition of this business will be accounted for by the acquisition method, and the amount paid will be allocated 1o its respective

assets and liabilities, based upon the estimated fair value of such assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition by ns.

On February 13, 2020, we became aware of an infiltration and encryption of portions of our information technology network.
This attack disrupted our operations that utilize the impacted portions of the network. We continue to assess the magnitude of the
consequences and we are actively seeking to mitigate the effects. As of the date of this filing, we continue our efforts to restore
the portions of such systems that remain impacted. We are unable to predict when the entire network will be functional. We are
additionally unable to estimate precisely the total costs which will result from the attack and the remediation efforis. We maintain
insurance coverage for these types of incidents, however, such policics may not completely provide caverage for, or offset the

costs of, this infiltration.
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Revenre Recognition from Long-term Construction Contracts

As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company generally recognizes revenue
from long-term construction contracts over time using a cost-to-cost imput method in which the extent of
progress is measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs at completion,
In addition, the revenue recognition process requires the Company to determine the transaction price that
represents the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled. A significant portion
of the Company’s revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 were derived from long-term construction
contracts.

The determination of revenue recognized from long-term construction contracts commenly requires the
Company to estimate varigble consideration that arises from pending change orders, contract claims, contract
bonuses, and penalties, as well as to prepare estimates of the costs to complete contracts. Factors inherent
in the estimation processes include, amcng others, historical experience with customers, the potential long-
term nature of dispute resclutions, actions of third parties as well as the Company’s experience with similar
types of contracts. Due to uncertainties attributed to such factors, anditing revenue recognized from long-
term construction contracts invalved challenging, subjective, and complex judgments.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company’s
controlsrelated to revenuerecagnition from long-term construction contracts. For example, we tested controls
over the Company’s determination and review of estimates of variable consideration, costs to complete, and
the completeness and accuracy of data utilized in conjunction with such estimation processes.

To test the amount of revenue recognized from long-term construction confracts in the current pericd, we
selected a sample of contracts and performed procedures to test the project revenue and cost forecasts. For
example, we obtained and inspected the related contract agreements, amendments, and change orders to test
the existence of customer arrangements and understand the scope and pricing of the related projects;
performed inquiries ef management and project personnel regarding facts and cireumstances relevant to the
accounting for such contracts; tested key components of the estimated costs to complete, including materials,
labor, and subcontractors costs; agreed actual costs incurred to supporting documentation: and recalculated
revenues recognized based on the project's percentage of completion and management's estimate of
transaction price. In addition, we performed certain retrospective review procedures to assess management’s
historical ability to accurately estimate the transaction price and costs to complete contracts as well as to
identify any significant or unusual changes in project revenue and cost forecasts during the period.

86



Description of
the Marrer

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Qur
Audir

Valuation of Intangible Assers from tlie Acquisition of Batchelor & Kimball, Inc.

As further described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year ended December 31,
2019, the Company completed the acquisition of Batchelor & Kimball, Inc. (“BKI™) for total consideration
of approximately $220.0 million. The transaction was accounted for under the acquisition method of
accounting whereby the total purchase price was allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on the estimated fajr value of such assets and liabilities.

Auditing the Company’s accounting for its acquisition of BKI required complex anditor judgment due to
the significant estimation uncertainty inherent in determining the fair value of identified intangible assets
for acquired customer relationships and trade names. The significant estimation uncertainty was primarily
due to the judgmental nature of the inputs to the valuation models used to measure the fair value of these
intangible assets, as well as the sensitivity of the respective fair values to the underlying significant
assumptions. The significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the acquired intangjble assets
included discount rates, customer atirition rate, revenue growth rates, operating margins, and royalty rate.
These significant assumptions are forward-looking and could be affected by future economic and market
conditions.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company’s
controls over the valuation of intangible assets from the BKI acquisition, For example, we tested contrals
over management’s review of the valuation models and the significant assumptions described above.

To test the estimated fair value of the acquired customer relationships asset and trade name asset, we
performed audit procedures that included. among others, assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and festing the significant assumptions discussed above and the completeness and accuracy
of the underlying data used by the Company. For example, we compared the revenue growth rates, operating
margins, and customer attrition rate to historical results of the acquired business and compared the royalty
rate to current industry licensing agreements. We further performed sensitivity analyses to evaluate the
changes in the fair value of the acquired intangible assets that would result from changes in the significant
assumptions, In additien, we Involved internal valuation specialists to assist in our evaluation of the valuation
methodologies and certain significant asswmptions used by the Company.

/s/ ERNsT & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002,

Stamford, Connecticut

February 27, 2020
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as required by Rules 13a-15(b) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934), our Chajrman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Anthony J. Guzzi, and our Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer, Mark A. Pompa, have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule
13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) are effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Qur management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal comtrol over financial reporting (as defined
in Rules 132-15(f) and 15d-15{f) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934). Our internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer or persons performing
similar functions to provide rezsanable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial
statements for external reperting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Qur internal contrel over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that: (a) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of assets, (b) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and Board of Directors, and {c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection ofunautherized
acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that conld have a material effect on our financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or defect misstatements, A control
system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
disurance thatall control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
10 future periods are subject to the risk that contrels may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

-~ On November 1, 2019, EMCOR acguired Batchelor & Kimball, Inc. (“BEI™). Since EMCOR has not fully incorporatad the
internal controls and procedures of BX1into EMCOR s internal control over financial reporting, management excluded this business
from its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, as permitted by
gppiicab]e regulations. EMCOR's internal controi procedurss surrounding the valation of goodwill and identifiable intangible
assets related to this acquisition were, however, included in management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Excluding goodwill and identifiable intangible assets recorded in connection with this acquisition, BKI
accounted for $93.1 million, or less than 2%, of EMCOR s total assets as of December 31, 2019, Including goodwil! and intangible
assets recorded in connection with this acquisition, BKI accounted for $275.9 million, or less than 6%, of EMCOR s total assets
as of December 31, 2019. BKI accounted for approximately $38.6 million, or less than 1%, of EMCOR’s total revenues for the
year then ended.

As of December 31, 2019, our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework established in Internal Control-Tntegrated Framework (2013) issued by the Comimittee of
Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management has determined that EMCOR's
internal control over financial reporting is effective as of December 31, 2019.

The effectivensss of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 has been audited by Ernst & Young
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report appearing in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form

10-K, which such repart expressed an ungualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control aver financial reporting as
of December 31, 2019.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In addition, our management with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer or persons
performing sintilar functions has determined that no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as that term is defined
in Rules 13(a)-15(f) and 15{(d)-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) occurred during the fourth quarter of cur fiscal year
ended December 31, 2019 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control aver financial
reporting,.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEEDULES

{a)(1) The following consolidated financial statements of EMCOR Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries are
filed as part of this report under Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

Financial Statements:
Consolidated Balance Sheets - December 31, 2019 and 2018
Conselidated Statements of Operations - Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017

Consclidated Statements Comprehensive Income - Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and
2017

Consclidated Statements of Cash Flows - Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Equity - Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
Notes to Consolidated Financiai Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

o {a)(2} The following financial statement schedule is included in this Form 10-K report: Schedule IT -
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Al other schedules are omitted because they are not required, are inapplicable, or the
- information is otherwise shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(a3(3) e For the list of exhibits, see the Exhibit ndex immediately following the signature page hereof,
which Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference.
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SCHEDULE I1- VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
{(In thousands)

" Balance at

Beginning Costs and Balance at
Description of Year Expenses Deductions End of Year
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Year Ended December 31, 2019 $ - 15361 ,_ 2,628 (3,523) § ' 14,466
Year Ended Pecember 31, 2018 $ 17,230 2,123 (3,992) § 15,361
Year Ended December 31, 2017 $ 12252 7,264 (2,286) $ 17,230

(1) Deductions primarily represent uncoliectible balances of accounts receivable written off, net of recoveries,
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Agreements with Anthony I. Guzzi, R. Kevin Matz and
Mark A. Pompa

96

Exhibit Incorporated By Reference to or
No. Description Filed Herewith, as Indicated Below
10(a) Form of Severance Agreement (“Severance Exhibit 10.] to the April 2005 Form 8-K
Agreement”) between EMCCR and each of R. Kevin
Matz and Mark A. Pompa
10(b) Form of Amendment to Severance Agreement between  Exhibit 10(c) to EMCOR’s Quarter]lv Report on Form
EMCOR and each of R. KevinMatzend Mark A.Pompa  10-Q for the quarter ended March 31. 2007 (“March
2007 Form 10-0™)
10(c) Letter Agreement dated October 12, 2064 between  Exhibit 10.1to EMCOR’s Report on Form 8-K (Date of
Anthony Guzzi and EMCOR (the “Guzzi lLetter Report October 12, 2004)
Agreement’)
10(d) Form of Confidentiality Agreement between Anthony  Exhibit C to the Guzzi [etter Agreement
(Gurzi and EMCOR
10(e) Form of Indemnification Agreement between EMCOR Exhibit F to the Guzzi Letter Asreement
and each of its officers and directors :
10(£-1) Severance Agreement (“Guzzi Severance Agreement™)  Exhibit D to the Guzzi Letter Aoreement
dated October 25, 2004 between Anthony Guzzi and
EMCOR
10(£-2) Amendment to Guzzi Severance Agreement Exhibit 10¢g-2} to the March 2007 Form 10-Q
10(g-1) Continrnity Agreement dated as of June 22, 1998  Exhibit 10(f) to the June 1998 Form 10-Q
between R. Kevin Matz and EMCOR (*Matz Continuity
Agreement™)
10(g-2) Amendment dated as of May 4, 1999 to Matz Continuity  Exhibit 10(m} to the June 1999 Form 14-0
Agreement :
“T0(g-37 Amendment dated as of January I, 2002 to Matz Exhibit 10{0-3)t0 EMCOR’s Quarterly Reporton Form
- Continuity Agreement 10-Q for the guarter ended March 31. 2002 (“March
K 2002 Form 10-O7)
10(g-4} Amendment dated as of March 1, 2007 to Matz Exhibit 10{n-4} {0 the March 2007 Form 10-Q
Continuity Agreement
10¢h-13 Continuity Agreement dated as of June 22, 1998  Exhibit 10(g) to the Jupe 1998 Form 10-0Q
o between Mark A. Pompa and EMCOR (“Pompa
Continuity Agreement™)
10(h-2) Amendment dated as of May 4, 1999 to Pompa Exhibit 10(n) to the June 1959 Form 14-Q
Continuity Agreement
10(h-3) Amendment dated as of January 1, 2002 to Pompa  Exhibit 10(p-3) to the March 2002 Form 10-Q
Continuity Agreement
10(h-4) Amendment dated as of March 1, 2007 to Pompa Exhibit 10{o-4) to the March 2007 Form 10-0O
Continuity Agreement
103G-1) Change of Control Agreement dated as of October 25,  Exhibit E fo the Guzzi Letfer Aoreement
2004 between Anthony Guzzi (“Guzzi™) and EMCOR
(*Guzzi Continuity Agreement™)
10¢i-2) Amendment dated as of March 1, 2007 to Guzzi  Exhibit 10{p-2) to the March 2007 Form 10-O
Continuity Agreement
103-3) Amendment to Continuity Agreements and Severance  Exhibit 10(g) to EMCOR’s Annual Report ori Form

10-E_for the vear ended December 31. 2008 (2008

Form 10-I)



EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Incorporated By Reference to or
No. Description Filed Herewith, as Indicated Below
10(t} Director Award Program, as Amended and Restated  Exhibit 10(z) to EMCOR’s Annuzl Report on Form
December 16, 2014 10-K for the vear ended December 31, 2014
10(w) EMCOR Group, Inc. Voluntary Deferral Plan Exhibit 10(e¥e) to 2012 Form 10-K
10(v) First Amendmeént to EMCOR Group, Inc. Voluatary — Exhibit 10(e¥e) to 2013 Farm 10-K
Deferral Plan
1G(w) Form of Executive Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Exhibit 10 to 2012 Form 10-K
10(y) Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy Exhibit T0¢hi(h) to 2015 Form 10-K
10{z) Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated June 30,  Exhibit 10(f)(f) to EMCOR’s Quarterlv Report on Form
2017 between EMCOR. and Mark A. Pompa 10-Q for the quarter ended June 39. 2017
11 Computation of Basic EPS and Diluted EPS for the years  Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finangial
ended December 31,2019 and 2018 Statements
14 Code of Ethics of EMCOR for Chief Executive Officer  Exhibit 14 to 2003 Form 10-K
and Sentor Financial Officers
21 List of Significant Subsidiaries Filed herewith
231 Consent of Emst & Young LLP Filed herewith
31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbares-  Filed herewith
Oxley Act of 2002 by Anthony J. Guzzi, the Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer
312 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-  Filed herewith
Oxley Act of 2002 by Mark A. Pompa, the Executive
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
32,1 Certification Pursuant t¢ Section 906 of the Sarbanes-  Furnished
Oxley Actof 2002 by the Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer
322 Certification Pursuant to Seciion 906 of the Sarbanes-  Furnished
Oxley Act of 2002 by the Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
95 Information concerning mine safety violations or other  Filed herewith
regulatory matters
101 The following materials from EMCOR Group, Inc.’s  Filed

Annual Report on Forimm 10-X for the year ended
December 31, 2019, formatted in iXBRL (Inline
eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (1) the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated
Statements of Operations, (ii1) the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income, (Iv) the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (v) the
Consolidated Statements of Equity and {vi) the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K, upon request of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Registrant
hereby undertakes to furnish a copy of any unfiled instrument which defines the rights ofholders of long-term debt of the Registrant’s

subsidiaries.
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LIST OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARTES

Dyn Specialty Contracting, Inc.
MES Holdings Corporatien
EMCOR Construction Services, Inc.
EMCOR Intemational, Inc.

EMCOR Mechaﬁicél/]ﬂgctﬁca} Services (East), Inc.

EMCOR (UK} Limited

EMCOR Group (UK) plc
EMCOR Facilities Services, Inc.
EMCOR-CSI Holding Co. '
FR X Ohmstede Acquisitions Co.
RepconSﬁ‘ickIand, Inc.
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EXHIBIT 21

JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION

Virginia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
England
Engiand
Ohio
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

1, Anthony J. Guzzi, certify that:

1

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of EMCOR Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowlsdge, this report does not contain any untrie statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)), and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particutarly during the peried in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or cansed such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change- in ths registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invelves management or other emplayees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2020 /s/ ANTHONY T, GUZZI

Anthony J. Guzzi
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1358,
AS APOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 CF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of EMCOR Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2019 as filed with the Sscurities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the *Report™), I, Antheny 1. Guzzi,
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that;

I The Report fuily complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, i all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.

Date: February 27, 2020 /s ANTHONY 1. GUZZI

- Anthony I. Guzzi
Chatrman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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Kenneth G. Amold, Commissioner

May 18, 2020

Page two
SUBJECT: Low Participation for Traffic Signal Maintenance Conireet
Bid Contract No, T62250-05M

5. Is the market for the specified goods or services siructrally limited (i.c. are there
geographic, capital, vendor capacity, ssrvice schadule, or other requirements) such
that the greater vendor participation is not possible? Response: Yes, there are five
(3} approved contractors that conld perform the type of work that is needed,

6. Survey vendors (hat received notice of the solicitation but did not respond 1o
determine why the vendor chose not to do so. Typical responses include but are not
limited to:

a. The vendor did not see the advertisement, Response: Three hundred forty-
three (343} vendors were notified. Fifteen (15) vendors viewed the solicitarion
it e-procare, and two (2} vendors picked up the bid package,

b, The vendor does not offer the specified goods/services as a follow-up, ask if
the specification is oo specific to & competitar's product (is the specification
brand- specific! or written to one manufacturer’s or service provider's
offering?). Response: The work specification was not too specific so as to
restrict participafion. One vendor stated thay the fiability that they have ro
qssime is (oo greatl,

¢. The vendar is too busy with other work at this time. Resporser One vendor
contacted stated they were (0o busy 1o bid on the work.

d. The vender is not inferested in pursuing a County contract = this fime-as a

follow-up, as to why this Is the case, Respoase: Vendors cited a concern abost
the arpoant of offier work they had at the time of the contract offering,

/fgﬁw_,‘

seph (7, Pecora

Deputy Commissioner

IGPIHTL:SMD:jd
c: Jane Heudek, Attorney, Public Works
Harold T. Luiz, Director of Traffic Bnpineering
Sheila M, Dukaez, Unit Head Traffic Signal Construction and Operations Unit
APPROVED: DISAPPROVED:
Zsi/f /%f“/é I 05/18/20
Kenneth G. Arnold Dae Kenneth G. Amold Date

Commissioner

Commiasianer



COUNTY OF NASSAU
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

Inter-Departmental Memo

TO: Sheila M. Dukacz, Unit Head, Traffic Signal Construction and Operation Unit
FROM: Office of the Commissioner
DATE: February 24, 2020

SUBJECT:  CSEA Sub-Contracting Approval
Contract T62250-05M
CZ0-018 — Traffic Signal Maintenance

Please be aware in accordance with Section 32-3 of the CSEA/County CBA, the Department has
met with CSEA representatives to discuss your proposed DPW contract referenced above.
Pursuant to Section 32-3 of the CSEA/County CBA, CSEA has withdrawn its ohjection to the
above-referenced contract known as C20-018,

Please prepare the necessary documentation to proceed with your work, Once the advisement |s
certified you may issiie the contracior a Notice to Proceed.

If you have any questions, please speak with Jonathan Lesman.

VIS S N

Roseann D' Alleva
Deputy Commissioner

RD:las

c: Joseph G. Pecora, Deputy Commissioner
Loretta Dionisio, Assistant to Deputy Commissioner
Harold T. Lutz, Director of Traffic Engineering
Jonathan Lesmar, Management Analyst [




]
REQUEST TO INITIATE RTT Number pfD 0037/

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS/REQUEST FOR PRO POSAL/REQUEST FOR BID CONTRACT

PART I: ‘Approvel by the Depuly County Excentive for Operations must be obisined prive (o ANY RFQ/RFIVRFEC
[} RFQ [] RFP [ JRFBC [) In-House or Requircments Work Order

Project Title: _Traffic Signal Maintenance Centracl  T6Z25005M

Department: Public Works Project Manager: _Sheila M. Dulacz P «wgu Dater __January 28, 2020

Service Requested:_ Authorization to Advertise & Let Traffic Signal Maintenance Contract

Justification: This cantraet will epzble us fo fuickly make repairs, modifications and maintain Gie County's existing 1600
traffic signats, 350 miscellaneous devices and 600+ street lights and related equipment 24 hours  day, 7 days a wealt, If this
equipment is nof routinely maintained, there will be safaty issues and concerns, as well as liability fssues that will pecar from
not maintaining equipment. This work must be performed by properly trained, equipped and experienced personnel with the
proper vehicles, 3 m b

Recussted by: . Bepartment of Public Works _ : Deparimeniis ganeyiOffice

Project Cost for this Phase/Contract: (Plan/Design/Canstruetion/Ch/Equipment)  $13,500,000,00

Circle appropriate phass

Total Project Cost; 31 3,500,060_.00___ Date Start Worl: 01401/2021  Duration: 3 years
Ieludes, desigs, constructon mnd O Phase buing requesied Piiass balng requested

Capital Funding Approval YRS @ NO[1 m%mm% @. / ZC/\/ 2@
- ’ SIGNATURE DATE
. A v
Funding Allocation {Capital Project): 62017 ($4,500,000.00-TS.Milfon per yeur),_Operating ($9,000,000.00- 53Million per year)

See Attached Shedl i mu'thyear .
%/ql:j #4},6 | // 08 . /\3’/ Loe Mﬁ}/é’:"
MIFS Entered ! ﬁ /i ) & AIM Eniered; Lf"”’], /j,é/w_ AT 3
si;ﬁzqhmns 6 56 DAT\;{\ i SIGHATURE 2/2¢ J2, DATE
Fun{[iﬂg Code: (O{?O'E’) Q% e Timeshest Code: 2(7 “ov 3?1
use thig o all “sncumbmnees use tis on limeshoes

State Environmen

Type JI Action’s
&7

LebCuality Review Act (SEQRA);
or, Bnvivonmental Assessment Form Required [
Bupplemental Environmental Documentation

Department Head Approval: YES 'E{ RO} /‘4’ ﬁ M

SIGRATURE

DCE/Ops Approval: YES @4 No [ B,U-o\/g,__ g/\&b\,p,,im ZJ 2l / 2050
/

SICNATURE

PART i1: To besubumitfed o Chief Deputy County Exceutive after Qualitica{icus/Propasals/Contracls are reecived from Responding vendors,

Vendor (uote Comment Seo Attnchod Shoot  |_b
t.
2. —_—
kX
4. .
DCE/Ops Approval: YES NO Signature

Version January 2014



Provided, however, that this bond 15 subject to the following additionsl
conditions and limitaticns.

g. In the event that the Frincipal fails to sebmit & financial
tetement when reguired by the County or in the event that an
gxam minaticn ©f the Frincipal indicates to the County thet the
rincipal does not mest the financial reguirements reguired by the
Gunty, the undersigned will, wpon demand, pay to the County of
Hassau, &3 liguidated ﬁamam@a for the Principal's failure toc meet
such requirements, a sum egual to the amount that would have heen
required by a certified check if the =same were delivered in
scocordance with the provisions of the contract documents and
specifications hersin stated.

i

’1:_.; C

b. In case the Principal shall default in the performeance of any
provision the undprbiqned will upon demand pay to the County of
Nassau the full amount of the damages sustained by the Ceounty of
Hassau by reason of such default, except however, it is expresaly
understeod and agrased that the llabnlity of the surety for any anag
all claims hereundesr shall in no event exceed the ameunt of this
obligation as hersin stated.

The Surety, for valus received, hareby stipulates and agrees that the
ghligation of said Sursty and itvs bond shall be in no way impaired or
affected by any extension of time within which the County of Nassau may
zocept such Bid; and szid Surety does hereby waive notice of any such
extension.

Page 3

Nzssan DSounty DRW 27 of 383 Conrac! No. TE2260-D5M
Traffiz Blonst Meintehancs



(Bcknowledgment by Contractor if & corporation)

STATE OF !-i‘:-.ou‘s Uoill g
5. \"!
COURTY OF NOSS g 3
L .
On this Jiy‘% day of fbﬁﬂ} , 20 A0, bpefore me personally
came ;Iﬁ&sﬁfyii Flafio to me known,

who, being by me duly sworn, did depoese and say for himself, that he
resides in .

thet he is the CE0/fAddinf of the ¥alshach Flectric Corp. of L.i.

the corporation described in, and which executed the [foregoing
instrument; that he knows the seal of said corporation; that the seal

affixed to said instrument is such corpeorate seal; that it was so

affixed by order of the Board of Directors of said corporation, and that

he signed his name thereto by like order. !

. DrveME uoaog b \T :
Rotary é‘ubg?i %ﬁggo al New York U{lﬂ?ft i_.l}l £é,.,
0. DIUCESsTely St ks e
Chattbfizd in Sutiof County Notary Public

Commisgon kxpiros Segiembeor 18,20 Aad
\\{Qcknowledgment by Contractor if a partnership)

STARE OF }

A

-

55, ¢ //’

.
COURTY Ok
W \\ /

s rd
On this \\\\\fay of , 20 ; beforo-me personally
came - to me known and known

to me to be a mem%&g\?f o

the firm described™in and which executed the  foregoing bond or
obhligation, and he aa??cwledged to me that he subscribed the name of
sald firm thereto on béhalf of said f£irm /sz the purpose therein

N

mentioned. e
x/// Notary pPublic
:‘,’/ v
{Acknowledgment by Contractor if %/ffﬁdividual.)
STATE OF 1 /f/ x\\\\
3
5. : e
COUNTY OF )
on this day 05//# . 20 ~, before me perscnally
came ~ to me

known and known tome to be the person described in\ﬁqd wno executed the
foregoing instrufient, and he duly acknowledged thaﬁ\gé executed the
~

same. .
yd \\\K

téot‘f{iﬁl ic
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STATE OF NEW YORK
DRPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SKERVICES

CERTIFICATE OF BOLVENCY UNDER SECTION 1111 OF THE NEW YORK INSURANCE
LAWY

It is hereby certified thst

Travelers Casually & Surety Company of America
of Hariford, Connecticut -

a corperation organized under the laws of New York and duly authorized to transact
the business of insurance in this State, Is qualified to become surety or guaranior
on all bonds, undertakings, recognizances, guaranties and other obligations
required or permitted by law; and that the said corporation is possessed of a

capital and surplus including gross paid-in and contributed surplus and

unassigned funds (surplus) aggregaiing the sum of $2,123,684,564.

(Capital $6,480,000), &8 is shown by its sworn financial statement for the quarter
ending, December 31, 2018, on file in this Department, prior fo audit.

The said corporation cannot lawfully exposs itself to loss on any one risk or
hazard to an amount exceeding 10% of its surplus {0 policyholders, unless it shall
be protected in sxcess of that amount in the manner provided in Section 4118 of
the Insurance Law of this Slate.

—
R

SANORE £ In Witness Whereof, | have here-
PO S0 LAY unto set my hand and affixed the

official seal of this Department
at the City of Albany, this 7th
day of April 2020.

Linda A. Lacewell
Superintendent

3
%,
{i. g g e

—

Eller Busxbaum
speacial Deputy Superintendent



TRAVELERE CASUALTY AND BURETY COMPANY OF AIIZRICA
HARTEORD, COMNECTHGUT DE1RE

FENAREIAL STATEMENT AS OF DECEMBER 21, 2H8

GAPITAL STR0M § 0,400,000
e s = LBl EE & SURLOS .

“ASH AND INVEETED CASH §  BO23E24E LIMEARNED FRERKILAS L% T4y ST
e el 3,500, 664357 LOBSED TTE 4T L2
TOnS 2T, 533,044 LOES ADJUSTMENT EXFENEES 174,714,865
MYEETHENT INQOWE DUE AND ACCRLUED 27,250 450 CEREBSEIOMNE AR Y70 AT
ITHER HVESTED ASSETS 3,068,514 TAXES, LIGEHSES AND FEES 4, i S
IRERHILRE BALSNCES 2B%, 384,263 OTHER EXPENSES A% 1724 648
=T DEFERRZR TAY ARBET B2 434,506 CURRENT FEDERAL AND POREKSH FICOME TREES 12E74,957
IEIEIRANGE RECOVERABLE 31,200,628 REHITTANCES AHD ITEME HOT SLLOCATED 17 B34.74%
IECURITIES LERDING REMVESTED COLLATERSL ABSETS 3,732,602 SLIONTS VITHHELD F RETAINED BY COMPANY FOR OTHERS SE 545FTH
ECEAARLES FROK PARENT, SDESIDARIES AND AFRILISTES 11,E31,E25 RETROACTIVE REIMSURAMCE RESTRVE ASSUMED g5 Bt
\SDBEED REINELIRANEE RECEVAR: E AND PAYARLE 57,508 POLCYHRLRER DIVIDERITS 19,6T2 B4E
JTHER ASRETE 3,574,556 PROVEICH FOR REINEURANGE 5,837,208
ADVAHGE PREIAIIS 2,440,
PAYARLE FOR SECLHETIES LEWDING kTE2002
CEDED RENSURANCE NET PREMSUME PAYARLE 456,050 81
OTHER AGCRLIED EXPENSES ARD LIAELITIESR 43 Do
TOTAL LIEBLITIES £ EIER0TF ARR
CAPTAL BTRCK % AR G0
Al i SURPLLIS £33, B0% 78D

OTHER SURALUE e LEBT AL
a TOTAL BURPLUE TD POLICYHRLDERS % 1373 50 H5¢

Bl ABSETS : 3 4.006,700,020 TOTAL LEABILITIES & SLRFLLUE

TTATE OF CORNSCTIOUT ;
SOUTY OF HETFORD £,

STYOF HERTFORD H

UCHARE L DOODY, BEMME DULY SWORN, BAYS THAT HE 18 VICE PRESIDEMT « FINARGE, OF TRAVELERE CABUALTY AND BURETY CLPANY £F AMERICH,
D THAT TT THE BEST OF 415 RMOWLEDEE AHD BELIEF, THE FOREGDING 18 A TRUE AHD SORIECT STATEMERT 4F THE FilRANGIAL GONRITION OF 8410
sCaAP ey A5 OF THE 2IBT 0AY OF DECEMBER, 2025

- Fata s y -3 _- v .
M iy m_a._?% A, 4
WVICE PRESIDENT - FHRAMIE i
. m.ﬂh\\
—
ey S e, S s - ;
SURRCRIBED AMD BVA0ORM TO BEFGRE WME THIS HOTARY PUBLIC

WTH DAY O0F BARCH, 2026 IS
SUBAN M. WEISSLEDER
Hatary Pubiie
& Conuiesion Expires November 28, 2023
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PROPOSAL

Macafide Faz‘r Empiagmenf ?rin-gigsies

NQNEISCRIMINA‘F&DM ]N EMFE_D’YMENT LN N{BRT’ ‘FRH iR_ELAI iZJ

RIS MACERIDE FAIR EMPLOYMENT PRINGIPLES. ~ 7

s gcnofdance wﬂh {Zhaptﬂr 807 of the Laws uf ‘iﬂiﬁ? the bidder, by submisc: ion of this

hid,; certifies thatit or any individual or legal eniity In vidrich the bidder holds.a 10% or -

L qreater mxrnershlp :nteresi mraﬂygﬂﬁiwduat or Iega? Ei’ltii};’ that holds a 10% of gfester

v -:ﬂwnefsmp Interest In Lha bldder eziher {answer yes nr e 'l‘ﬂ -:me or heih ﬂf 1he u::l owmg, e

i ”b}r:) : : . N ) '
i’l} *aa*ufe busme—ss opn:ratmﬂs in harth&m ireland

Ll ‘a’ea HO_X_
_Efg{es '

(3} 313’1! iaku ]awful sﬁ‘eps in gmﬁ} ‘faﬂh Qn{mci any bussnaas Dpe;z-amns ihmy
7 have In Morham hreland in acesr anoe with the ixf’lmBﬂdp Fair Employment -.
T Pﬂm:;tpia vhng o ﬂl:}ﬂdiﬁuﬂl""ilnaill:ln in empiwmnnt and frestomof - -
o wnrift.:ias:ra onpaniunity mgardmg sleh Opefations in Nerthern lreland, and
shall pemmit mdependem mv:mtenna Df thair t;omphdnce wiih such Principlas.

\F(g’aéﬁw Quetamt Loy 1F L

ractors Si th ue} (Name of Business) v

.j{&.?%%‘ 7. ?wfis o
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: isa funﬂma% tnstitution that extends Lwerly ézlﬂlmn d&“llaj"-". ormgre in - tredit 1o afmther person, for

Tt h‘amf-twe awx orm ere, iF thar pwmn m}} use the ﬁean ta pravic d\f, mnds ar serviees in the 1_5111':1'2}’

' seetor in dran

The Ceriifivation is as follows: _ , _
A N &, .C c*]’ﬁfwntmn [Iixtiﬂ‘]f} irfrleris not on the List: Bach perstin, where popson
E means’ u:rur@l = anm corporation, company, lmied libilin: _'oumnw busipeys

' sssceiation; phfinership sociery, trust, or sy olber nobsovernmentul £y,
organtzalion, ur woup, and each pomen signing on’ behatf of any wiher prly,
zertifies, and in the tase of & joimt hid or proposal o parmcmh ip esch pary ﬂ’]m,l{:n
ceriifies as 1o. ita oW orzaization, under pensfly of i?tmlw that o tlie bty 1of s
“knowledge s ldhtﬁw‘f im each person is nol on the list created pursuahl wp waeranh
113} af ‘:m{]i isivn 3 u section 163-a of the State Fmanu Lsm of,

b, Certificalion th 'atﬂw Bidder's investment in [ran is ceasing i The person
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Vehicle #

Equipment and Vehicle List

Description

ANMTTIONEN 230 BRE

71
177
178
1789

186 -

187
188
200
201
202
203
204
205
207
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
218
220
221
222
223
703

1992 CUSTO TRLR, OR
2003 FORD VAN, WH
2003 FORD VAN, WH
2003 FORD VAN, WH
2012 FORD SUBN, BK
2014 FORD SUBN, GY
9014 FORD SUBN, WH

2013 SCORP TRLR, WH
2004 ISUZU FLAT, WH
2004 FORD SUBN, WH
2008 FORD UTHL, WH
2013 CHEVY UTIL, WH
2014 BE/EN TRLR, WH

2011 DODGE UTIL, WH
1893 FORD VAN, WH
2004 FORD UTIL, Wr

1998 FORD UTIL, GY

2044 MANCO TRLR, OR
2008 FORD DELY, WH
2005 FORD UTIL, WH
2007 EORD UTIL, YW
2042 FORD VAN, WH

2043 FORD VAN, WH
2008 FORD UTIL, WH
2012 FORD VAN, WH
2018 FORD VAN, WH
2019 FORD VAN, WH
2009 FORD VAN, WH
2004 INTER UTIL, WH
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PART 5 - SDVOB nformation (use additional blank shects as necessary):

Description of Work

Projected WBE Contract

WBE Contract Scheduled Start

WBE Firm (WBE) P Amount($) and Award Date Date and Completion Date
Name: AV.E.T. . e ricunt ($): Start Date:
Provide materials and ¢ 50,000.00 01/01/2021
Address: 1090 New Loudon Rd mQCw—Ugmjﬂ on an as -
Unit A needed basis.
City: Cohoes
State/Zip Code: NY 12047 Award Date: Completion Date:
12/31/2023
Authorized Representative:
Jason Ambrosino
Telephone No. (518) 793-6699
Name: Veterans Electrical Supply, Inc. Provide electrical Amount ($): Start Date:
rovide eiectrca $ 25,000.00 01/01/2021
Address: 132-20 Jamaica Avenue materials on an as
needed basis.
City: Richmond Hill
State/Zip Code: NY 11418 Award Date: Completion Date:
12/31/2023
Authorized Representative:
Andrew Bauk
Telephone No. (718) 355-8789
Name: Amount ($): Start Date:
Address:
City:
State/Zip Code: Award Date: Completion Date:

Authorized Representative:

Telephone No.
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